# The Economic and Social Research Institute

# IRISH MEDICAL CARE RESOURCES: AN ECONOMIC ANALYSIS

A. DALE TUSSING

Paper 126

November, 1985

## THE ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE COUNCIL, 1985-1986

- \*T. K. WHITAKER, M.SC. (ECON), D.ECON., SC., LL.D., President of the Institute.
- \*P. LYNCH, M.A., M.R.I.A., Chairman of the Council.
- D. J. BUCKLEY, Vice President and General Manager, Merck, Sharp and Dohme (Ireland) Ltd., Co. Tipperary.
- L. CONNELLAN, B. E., ENG., M.I.E.I., Director General, Confederation of Irish Industry. \*SEAN CROMIEN, B.A., Second Secretary, Department of Finance.
- G. DEAN, M.D., F.R.C.P., Director, Medico-Social Research Board.
- N. J. GIBSON, B.SC. (ECON.), PH.D., Professor, Department of Economics, University of Ulster, Coleraine.
- PATRICK A. HALL, B.E., M.S., DIP.STAT., Director of Research, Institute of Public Administration.
- \*W. A. HONOHAN, M.A., F.I.A.
- MICHAEL F. KEEGAN, B.A., B. COMM., D.P.A., F.I.P.M., Secretary, Department of Labour.
- \*KIERAN A. KENNEDY, M.ECON.SC., B.PHIL., PH.D., Director of the Institute.
- MICHAEL J. KILLEEN, B.A., B.COMM., LL.D., Chairman, Irish Distillers Group.
- T. P. LINEHAN, B.E., B.SC., Director, Central Statistics Office.
- \*D. F. McALEESE, B.COMM., M.A., M.ECON.SC., PH.D., Whately Professor of Political Economy, Trinity College, Dublin.
- CHARLES McCARTHY, PH.D., B.L., Professor of Industrial Relations, Trinity College, Dublin.
- \*EUGENE McCARTHY, M.SC.(ECON.), D.ECON.SC., Director, Federated Union of Employers.
- JOHN J. McKAY, B.SC., D.P.A., B.COMM., M.ECON.SC., Chief Executive Officer, Co. Cavan Vocational Education Committee.
- \* J. F. MEENAN, M.A., B.L.
- \*D. NEVIN, General Secretary, Irish Congress of Trade Unions.
- \*TOMÁS F. Ó COFAIGH, Governor, Central Bank.
- JOYCE O'CONNOR, B.SOC.SC., M.SOC.SC., PH.D., Director, Social Research Centre, College of Humanities, National Institute for Higher Education, Limerick.
- D. P. O'MAHONY, M.A., PH.D., B.L., Professor, Department of Economics, University College, Cork.
- LABHRAS Ó NUALLAIN, D.ECON.SC.
- B. PATTERSON, B.A., M.I.I.E., A.I.P.M., Director General, Irish Management Institute.
- S. SHEEHY, B.AGR.SC., PH.D, Professor, Department of Applied Agricultural Economics, University College, Dublin.
- J. SPENCER, B.SC. (ECON), Professor, Department of Economics, The Queen's University of Belfast.
- T. C. TONER, B.COMM., M.B.A., Managing Director, BWG Ltd.
- \*B. M. WALSH, B.A., M.A., PH.D., Professor, National Economics of Ireland and Applied Economics, University College, Dublin.
- T. WALSH, M.AGR.SC., PH.D., D.SC., M.R.I.A.
- \*REV. C.K. WARD, B.A., S.T.L., PH.D., Professor, Department of Social Science, University College, Dublin.
- P.A. WHITE, B.COMM., D.P.A., Managing Director, Industrial Development Authority, Dublin.

\*Members of Executive Committee.

# IRISH MEDICAL CARE RESOURCES: AN ECONOMIC ANALYSIS

Copies of this paper may be obtained from the Economic and Social Research Institute (Limited Company No. 18269). Registered Office: 4 Burlington Road, Dublin 4.

## Price IR£12.50

(Special rate for students IRf.6.25)

A. Dale Tussing is Professor of economics and Director of the Health and Society Program of the Maxwell Graduate School at Syracuse University, Syracuse, New York. He was on secondment to The Economic and Social Research Institute for 1979/81. The Paper has been accepted for publication by the Institute, which is not responsible for either the content or the views expressed therein.

# IRISH MEDICAL CARE RESOURCES: AN ECONOMIC ANALYSIS

A. DALE TUSSING

©THE ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE

DUBLIN, 1985

ISBN 0 7070 0078 5

### Acknowledgements

This work has benefited from the aid and kindness of many people. I want to try to acknowledge some of the help I have received.

My major study of economic aspects of the education system, *Irish Educational Expenditures* — *Past, Present and Future* (Tussing, 1978) was published in 1978. That same year, Professor Kieran A. Kennedy, Director of The Economic and Social Research Institute, suggested that I return to Ireland to "do for the health care system what [I had] done for the education system". I have Professor Kennedy to thank, therefore, not only for suggesting the present study, but for enabling me to develop my interest in the economics of health and health policy, an opportunity which has been valuable to my career. As one consequence I am, as I write a few years later, Director of the Health and Society Program of the Maxwell Graduate School at Syracuse University, Syracuse, New York.

I returned to Ireland in 1979 as Research Professor at The Economic and Social Research Institute to perform this new research. As explained in Chapter 1 of this report, I determined that I would need to conduct a national household sample survey to generate the data necessary for my analysis. The ESRI was sympathetic and encouraging, and approved my research proposal, but was unable to finance the extra costs entailed in the survey. As a consequence, it was necessary for me to spend the next several months in fund-raising efforts. I want to acknowledge the kind and valuable assistance of Mrs. Maura Dempsey, then Assistant Director (Administration), ESRI, in these efforts, which were ultimately successful.

The Central Bank of Ireland made a grant at a crucial time, permitting the project to go forward. Grants from the National Board for Science and Technology, the Voluntary Health Insurance Board, and the Health Education Bureau permitted completion of the survey. None of these grantors is responsible for any of the statements or judgements which appear in this report. The survey itself was conducted by the Survey Unit of the ESRI, at rates lower than those charged external clients. Hence the ESRI also contributed substantially to financing the costs of the survey. I am deeply indebted to these five institutions for their support; without them, this study would not exist.

A great many people were involved in the development of the survey instrument, the conduct of the interviews, and checking and coding responses, and it would be impossible to acknowledge each of them individually. Let me then attempt to acknowledge this debt at least by thanking the ESRI Survey Unit collectively. It is an extraordinarily competent, professional, co-operative and industrious group of people and my reliance on them was total.

Professor Brendan Whelan, Head of the Survey Unit, aided me in developing the survey instrument, a task at which I was a complete novice; and he selected the sample. Dr. Ian Graham of St. Vincent's Hospital gave freely of his time in helping me devise morbidity questions for the survey, questions which, however, had to be omitted (for reasons of time) from the final version of the questionnaire. Leslie Daly of University College, Dublin, was also very helpful at this stage. In

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

acknowledging the help of these people, I do not mean to blame them for any errors in designing the survey instrument. Indeed, there are a number of things I would, in retrospect, have done differently. However, I can also state that the survey was quite successful and I have many people to thank for that.

While the survey instrument was in its developmental stages, I was also aided by commissions that the ESRI received for health-related research. The Institute for Public Administration asked me to prepare the health sections of *Poverty and Social Policy*, the Irish National Report presented to the Commission of the European Communities (Tussing, 1982c). The Oireachtas Joint Committee on State-Sponsored Bodies asked me to act as consultant for its review of the Voluntary Health Insurance Board (Joint Committee on State-Sponsored Bodies, 1980). These commissions were useful in building my knowledge base on the Irish medical care system and I want to acknowledge them.

Computer programming at this stage, involving the original creation and cleaning up of the data set, and aid with the initial analysis, was done by June Ryan of the ESRI, with additional work by John McGregor of Trinity College, Dublin (now of Ryerson Polytechnic Institute, Toronto). Their considerable and very competent contributions are gratefully acknowledged.

My ESRI appointment was for two years, 1979–1981. In that time, I was able to design the project, raise the funds necessary to conduct the survey, develop and conduct the survey, get the data cleaned and entered into the computer, perform some preliminary analysis and survey the relevant international literature. In addition, I completed the two commissions referred to earlier and performed some ESRI duties unrelated to the health project. Most of the statistical analysis and writing was done after I returned to my full-time lecturing and other duties in the Economics Department and the Health and Society Program at Syracuse University.

For more than three years, then, I continued this project, essentially contributing my time, after hours, on week-ends and during summer and holiday leaves. I was willing and indeed glad to do so because of my interest in and commitment to the project. While I am not sure that I would ever want to undertake a project of this scope under such terms again, I do not regret having done so in this instance.

Before leaving Ireland, I was able to discuss aspects of my work with friends, associates and colleagues in this country, to my very great profit. These included David Jacobson of AnCO (now of the National Institute for Higher Education, Dublin); Paul Turpin of the National Economic and Social Council (now with the Department of Industry, Commerce and Tourism); James Raftery, also of NESC; Joe Durkan of ESRI (now with the OECD, Paris); David Rottman and Miriam Wiley, also of the ESRI; Ruth Barrington and Shawn Trant, of the Department of Health; Jimmy Stewart of Trinity College; and Roger Cole, of *In Dublin* magazine. In addition, a number of people provided important help in specific ways. Miceal Ross of the ESRI provided me with data on per capita income by Health Board area and other county data from his own work. Sean Barrett of Trinity College gave me helpful comments on a paper which was an

early offshoot of this study. Richard Sommerville, also of TCD, gave me background information on the Irish medical care system and Anthony Coughlan, of the same institution, made available valuable research materials and gave me useful advice. John Horgan (now of NIHE Dublin) helped as a TD with parliamentary questions.

In addition, at this same time, Professor Alan Maynard of York University gave me very useful advice and encouragement and provided me with copies of studies not otherwise available to me.

During this period, my wife, Ann K. U. Tussing, a scholar and author in her own right, gave me useful advice and encouragement, assisted me in the construction of tables, read and improved my drafts and helped in many other important ways.

At Syracuse University, a number of people also contributed in significant ways to this study. My colleague Professor John Henning gave me advice on statistics and econometrics. Another colleague, Professor Stephen Long (now of the US congressional Budget Office), gave me advice on health economics questions, particularly in the sections dealing with the international literature and with physician-induced demand for medical care. Claire Rudolph, Professor of Social Work, and then Director of the Health Studies Program, gave me valuable administrative support. My Dean, Professor Guthrie Birkhead, supported a research assistantship for me, which made it possible for me to secure the aid of Martha Wojtowicz, who contributed enormously to this study with her computer and statistical work, as well as with her advice and patience. My computer programmers at Syracuse University, Mark Miller and Nelson Pardee, also contributed mightily to this work.

Several people in the US and in Ireland read part or all of various drafts of this study. I am deeply in the debt of all of the following: Denis Conniffe, Gerry Hughes, Kieran Kennedy, Robert O'Connor and Miriam Wiley, of the ESRI; Ruth Barrington and Shawn Trant, of the Department of Health; Paul Turpin of the NESC; Brendan P. Ryan of the Department of Finance; T. O'Grady Walshe of the Central Bank of Ireland; Eamon O'Shea of the Institute of Public Administration; Geoffrey Dean of the Medico-Social Research Board; Ann K. U. Tussing; and an anonymous referee. These advisers saved me from many errors of fact and judgement. Of course, any remaining errors in this study are mine and mine alone.

This is a large work and it went through many drafts and iterations. Consequently, a great many people helped with the typing and I cannot hope to acknowledge each of them personally. Instead, let me thank all of the staff of the ESRI general office, under Mary Cleary, and the secretarial staff of the Health and Society Program at Syracuse University, under Barbara Cico. My deepest thanks also are due to Mary McElhone of the ESRI Editorial Office for supervising the copy editing and printing.

Finally, I want to thank my patient and understanding family for help of many kinds and many kindnesses: my children, Kathy, Michele, Aaron, Nicholas, and Marri; and my wife, Ann, who is a part of me.

# CONTENTS

	Acknowledgements	Page (i)
	General Summary	1
Chap	ter	
1	INTRODUCTION	16
	A. Purpose of the Study	17
	B. Methods: The Survey	20
	C. Methods: Statistical Analysis	22
	D. Outline of the Paper	26
	E. The Author's Point of View	27
2	SOME ECONOMICS OF MEDICAL CARE	29
	A. Medical Care and Welfare	30
	B. A Value on Human Life?	34
	C. How Medical Care Differs from Other Commodities	36
	D. The Economics of Physician Behaviour	41
	E. A "Parkinson's Law" of Medical Care Demand?	46
	F. Empirical Studies of Utilisation	51
	G. Physician-Induced Demand	53
	H. Summary and Conclusions	59
3	MORBIDITY AND MORTALITY IN IRELAND	61
	A. Morbidity and Mortality in Ireland	64
4	THE IRISH SYSTEM OF MEDICAL CARE	74
	A. The Organisation of Public Health Services	74

	B. Delivery of Medical Care	87
5	HEALTH AND MEDICAL CARE EXPENDITURES	113
	A. A Look at Health and Medical Care Expenditures	113
	B. Causes of Expenditure Growth	131
6	UTILISATION OF GENERAL PRACTITIONER SERVICES	142
	A. Determinants of GP Utilisation	143
7	UTILISATION OF OTHER MEDICAL CARE SERVICES AND PREVENTION-ORIENTED CARE	222
	A. Utilisation of Other Medical Care Services	222
	B. Household Expenditures on Other Medical Care	241
	C. Prevention-Oriented Care	247
8	CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	264
	A. Problem Areas	264
	B. Models of Reform	277
	C. First Steps to Reform: A Personal View	284
	References	289
Appen	dices	
Ĩ	STATISTICAL TABLES 1980 ESRI NATIONAL HOUSEHOLD SURVEY OF MEDICAL CARE UTILISATION AND EXPENDITURES	295
II	CALCUALTION OF TABLE 6.1	338
III	SUMMARY OF SURVEY QUESTIONNAIRE, WITH MEANS AND FREQUENCIES	340

# LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
3.1	Health Board Areas: Constitutent Counties, 1981, Population and Area	62
3.2	Selected Mortality Statistics European Community	64
3.3	Irish Life Expectancies 1960–62, 1970–72; Comparison Between 1925–27 and 1970–72	65
3.4	Deaths in Ireland by Selected Causes, per 100,000 Population, 1979, with European Community Rank (from Lowest)	66
3.5	Mortality: Numbers and Rates by Selected Causes of Death by Health Board Area, 1979	69
3.6	Patients Treated in Hospitals, Average Stay, and Total Patient-Days, 1973–1981	70
3.7	Hospital In-Patient Enquiry: Number of Discharges and Average Duration of Stay by Diagnostic Category, 1980	71
4.1	VHI Cover by Category of Health Services Eligibility, 1980, per cent of Population by Age and Sex	82
4.2	Doctors, Nurses and Dentists per 10,000 Population, European Community, 1976	88
4.3	Selected Indicators of Hospital Facilities and Use, European Community, 1976	90
4.4	Occupied Beds in Hospitals and Residential Centres, Numbers per 1,000 Population, UK and Ireland, 1979	91
4.5	Doctors in Ireland and Their Distribution Amongst Health Boards, 1975, Together with Average Fee Levels, Surgery and Home Consultations, 1980	94
4.6	Where Most Recent GP Consultation took place, as per cent of Consultations, by Distance from GP's Office or Surgery	97
4.7	Where Most Recent GP Consultation took Place, as per cent of Consultations, by Category of Eligibility and VHI Cover	97

Table		Page
4.8	Waiting Time at GP's Office or Surgery, by Category of Health Services Entitlement and VHI Cover 1980 — per cent Distribution	98
4.9	Per cent of Patients Waiting More than One Month for Admission to Hospital, and per cent of Patients Waiting More than One Hour at GP's Office or Surgery, by Health Board Area, 1980	99
4.10	Dental Visits, Free and Fee, by Category of Health Services Entitlement	101
4.11	Type of Treatment and per cent Fee-Paying, by VHI Cover, and Average Fee by Type of Treatment, Most Recent Dental Visit.	101
4.12	Practising Dentists, 1983, Number and per 1,000 Population, and Health Board Dentists, 1981, Number and per 1,000 Eligible Persons, by Health Board Area	102
4.13	Distribution of Nurses, Social Workers, Physiotherapists, and Home Helps, Total and per 1,000 Population, by Health Board Area, 1979	104
4.14	Beds in Acute Hospitals, by Type of Hospital, Distribution by Health Board Area, December 31, 1979	105
4.15	Acute Hospitals, Size Distribution (Numbers of Beds) by Health Board Area, December 31, 1979	108
4.16	Psychiatric In-Patients, Admissions 1980, and Patients in Psychiatric Hospitals/Units December 31, 1980 — Numbers and Numbers per 1,000 Population by Health Board Area	111
5.1	Estimated Non-Capital Department of Health Expenditure by Programmes and Services, 1980	115
5.2	Department of Health Capital Expenditure, 1980	118
5.3	Per Capita Income and Expenditure of Health Boards, 1980, Together with Per Capita Household Medical Expenditure, 1980	120
5.4	Household Expenditure on Medical Care, 1980, Ireland by Type of Expenditure: Per Person, Per Household and National Total	123

.

Table		Page
5.5	Household Medical Care Expenditure, 1980, ESRI Estimates Compared with Household Budget Survey, Weekly, by Health Board Area (£)	124
5.6	Total Current Medical Expenditures, Republic of Ireland, 1980	126
5.7	Department of Health Current Expenditure, in Current and Constant (1970) prices, 1965/66–1980	129
6.1	General Practitioner Responsibility for Medical Care Utilisation and Expenditures, 1980	143
6.2	General Practitioner Utilisation, 1980, by Sex, Age Group, Category of Health Services Entitlement, VHI Cover and Head of Household Farmer or Non-Farmer	144
6.3	Logistic Regression of Any General Practitioner Consultations in 1980 (Dichotomous Variables) on Selected Independent Variables, All Persons.	152
6.4	Probability of Any GP Consultations, All Persons, 1980	154
6.5	Regression of Annual Numbers of General Practitioner Consultations, 1980, on Selected Independent Variables, Ordinary Least Squares, Persons with Any Consultations Only	155
6.6	Logistic Regression of Any General Practitioner Consultations in 1980 (Dichotomous Variable) on Selected Independent Variables, Persons in Category I Only	156
6.7	Probability of Any GP Consultations, 1980, Category I Only (Based on Logistic Regression)	159
6.8	Regression of Annual Numbers of General Practitioner Consultations, 1980, on Selected Independent Variables, Ordinary Least Squares, Persons with Any Consultations Only — Category I Only	161
6.9	Logistic Regression of Any General Practitioner Consultations in 1980 (Dichotomous Variable) on Selected Independent Variables, Persons in Categories II and III Only	162
6.10	Probability of Any GP Consultations, 1980, Categories II and III only (Based on Logistic Regression)	164

Table		Page
6.11	Regression of Annual Numbers of General Practitioner Consultations, 1980, on Selected Independent Variables, Ordinary Least Squares, Persons with any Consultations Only — Categories II and III Only	165
6.12	Logistic Regressions of any General Practioner Consultations in 1980 (Dichotomous Variable) on Selected Independent Variables, Mothers Only	166
6.13	Probability of any GP Consultations, 1980, Mothers Only (Based on Logistic Regression)	167
6.14	Regression of Annual Numbers of General Practioner Consultations, 1980, on Selected Independent Variables, Ordinary Least Squares, Persons with Any Consultations Only — Mothers Only.	168
6.15	Logistic Regressions of any General Practitioner Consultations in 1980 (Dichotomous Variables) on Selected Independent Variables, Males Only	169
6.16	Probability of Any GP Consultations 1980, Males Only (Based on Logistic Regression)	170
6.17	Regression of Annual Numbers of General Practioner Consultations, 1980, on Selected Independent Variables, Ordinary Least Squares, Persons with Any Consultations Only — Males Only	171
6.18	Logistic Regressions of any General Practioner Consultations in1980 (Dichotomous Variable) on Selected Independent Variables, Females Only	172
6.19	Probability of Any GP Consultations, 1980, Females Only (Based on Logistic Regression)	173
6.20	Regression of Annual Numbers of General Practioner Consultations, 1980, on Selected Independent Variables, Ordinary Least Squares, Persons with any Consultations Only — Females Only	174
6.21	Logistic Regressions of Any General Practitioner Consultations in 1980 (Dichotomous Variables) on Selected Independent Variables, Persons Aged Over 64 Only	175

Table		Page
6.22	Probability of Any GP Consultations, 1980, Persons Aged Over 64 Only (Based on Logistic Regression)	176
6.23	Regression of Annual Numbers of General Practioner Consultations, 1980, on Selected Independent Variables, Ordinary Least Squares, Persons with Any Consultations Only, Aged Over 64 Years Only	177
6.24	Logistic Regressions of Any General Practitioner Consultations in 1980 (Dichotomous Variable) on Selected Independent Variables, Persons Aged Under 16 Only	178
6.25	Probability of Any GP Consultations, 1980, Children Aged Under 16 Only (Based on Logistic Regression)	179
6.26	Regression of Annual Numbers of General Practitioner Consultations, 1980, on Selected Independent Variables, Ordinary Least Squares, Persons with Any Consultations Only — Aged Under 16 Years Only	180
6.27	Summary of Logistic and OLS Regression Results, GP Utilisation 5 per cent Versions	182
6.28	1980 Household Expenditures on General Practitioner Fees, per Household and Household per Person, by Selected Characteristics	183
6.29	Regression of 1980 Household General Practitioner Expenditures on Selected Independent Variables — Ordinary Least Squares	185
6.30	Regression of 1980 Household General Practitioner Expenditures on Selected Independent Variables — Categories II and III Only — Ordinary Least Squares	186
6.31	Logistic Regressions of Most Recent 1980 GP Consultations a Home Visit (Dichotomous Variable), on Selected Independent Variables	188
6.32	Logistic Regressions of Most Recent 1980 GP Consultation a Home Visit (Dichotomous Variable), on Selected Independent Variables, Persons in Category I Only	189

Table		Page
6.33	Logistic Regressions of Most Recent 1980 GP Consultation on Home Visit (Dichotomous Variable), on Selected Independent Variables, Persons in Categories II and III Only	190
6.34	Logistic Regression of Most Recent 1980 GP Consultations a Home Visit (Dichotomous Variable), on Selected Independent Variables, Persons in Categories II and III only	191
6.35	Probability that Most Recent GP Consultation was Home Visit, Category I Only, Based on Logistic Regression	192
6.36	Probability that Most Recent GP Consultation was Home Visit, Categories II and III Only, Based on Logistic Regression	193
6.37	Average Annual General Practitioner Consultations by Sex and Age, Ireland vs. Britain	195
6.38	Average Annual General Practioner Consultations by Social Group, Ireland vs. Britain	196
6.39	Logistic Regressions of Wait up to One Hour (Dichotomous Variable) in GP's Waiting Room, Most Recent 1980 Consultation, on Selected Independent Variables	198
6.40	Probability of Wait up to One Hour in GP's Waiting Room, Based on Logistic Regression	199
6.41	Correlation Matrix: Medical Care Utilisation, 1980	200
6.42	General Practitioner Referrels and Return Visits Arranged: Per Cent of Consultations (Most Recent Visit) Resulting in Further Care or Treatment Ordered, Prescribed or Suggested	202
6.43	Was Return Visit Arranged at Most Recent GP Visit? — Dichotomous Variable, Logistic Regression — All Persons	208
6.44	Probability that Most Recent GP Visit Resulted in a Return Visit Being Arranged, All Persons, Based on Logistic Regression	209
6.45	Was Return Visit Arranged at Most Recent GP Visit? — Dichotomous Variable, Logistic Regression — All Persons Except Women Aged 18-40	210

Table		Page
6.46	Probability that Most Recent GP Visit Resulted in a Return Visit being Arranged, Females 20-40 Excluded, Based on Logistic Regression	211
6.47	Was Return Visit Arranged at Most Recent GP Visit? — Dichotomous Variable, Logistic Regression — Males Only	212
6.48	Probability that Most Recent GP Visit Resulted in a Return Visit being Arranged, Males Only, Based on Logistic Regression	213
6.49	Was Return Visit Arranged at Most Recent GP Visit? — Dichotomous Variable, Logistic Regression — Females Only	214
6.50	Probability that Most Recent GP Visit Resulted in a Return Visit being Arranged, Females Only, Based on Logistic Regression	215
6.51	Was Return Visit Arranged at Most Recent GP Visit? — Dichotomous Variable, Logistic Regression Category I Only	216
6.52	Probability that Most Recent GP Visit Resulted in a Return Visit being Arranged, Category I Only, Based on Logistic Regression	217
6.53	Was Return Visit Arranged at Most Recent GP Visit? — Dichotomous Variable, Logistic Regression, Categories II-III Only	218
6.54	Probability that Most Recent GP Visit Resulted in a Return Visit being Arranged, Categories II/III Only, Based on Logistic Regression	219
7.1	Logistic Regression of Any Prescribed Pharmaceutical Items in 1980 (Dichotomous Variable)	225
7.2	Probability of any Prescribed Pharmaceutical Medicines in 1980, Based on Logistic Regression	226
7.3	Regression of Annual Number of Prescribed Pharmaceutical Items, 1980, on Selected Independent Variables, Ordinary Least Squares, Persons with Any Items Only	227
7.4	Logistic Regressions of any Specialist Consultations in1980 (Dichotomous Variable) on Selected Independent Variables	228

Table		Page
7.5	Probability of any Specialist Consultations in 1980, Based on Logistic Regression	229
7.6	Regression of Annual Number of Specialist Consultations 1980, on Selected Independent Variables, Ordinary Least Squares, Persons with any Consultation Only	230
7.7	Logistic Regression of any Visits in 1980 to Hospital Out-Patient Department (Dichotomous Variable)	232
7.8	Probability of any Visit in 1980 to Out-Patient Department of Hospital, Based on Logistic Regression	233
7.9	Regression of Annual Number of Visits to Hospital Out-Patient Departments, 1980, on Selected Independent Variables, Ordinary Least Squares, Persons with any Visits Only	234
7.10	Logistic Regressions of any In-Patient Hospital Utilisation (any Discharges) in 1980 (Dichotomous Variable) on Selected Independent Variables	235
7.11	Probability of any In-Patient Visits to Hospital (Discharges) in 1980, Based on Logistic Regression	236
7.12	Regressions of Length of Hospital Stay, Persons Discharged from Hospital in 1980, Ordinary Least Squares	237
7.13	Logistic Regressions of Any Dentist Visits in1980 (Dichotomous Variable) on Selected Independent Variables, All Persons	238
7.14	Probability of any Dental Visits in 1980, All Persons, Based on Logic Regression	239
7.15	Logistic Regressions of any Dentist Visits in 1980 (Dichotomous Variable) on Selected Independent Variables, Children Under 16 Only	240
7.16	Probability of Any Dental Visits in 1980, Children Aged 0–15 Only, Based on Logistic Regressions	241
7.17	Correlation Matrix: Further Medical Care Utilisation Arising Out of Most Recent GP Consultation	242

Table		Page
7.18	1980 Household Expenditures on Medical Care, per Household and Household per Person, by Selected Household Characteristics	243
7.19	Regression of 1980 Household Medical Care Expenditures on Selected Independent Variables — Ordinary Least Squares	244
7.20	Regression of 1980 Household Medical Expenditures on Selected Independent Variables — Categories II and III Only — Ordinary Least Squares	245
7.21	Logistic Regressions of No GP Consultation within Past 5 Years, Including Never (Dichotomous Variable) on Selected Independent Variables	250
7.22	Probability of No GP Visit in 5 Years (Including Never) Based on Logistic Regression	251
7.23	Logisitc Regression of Any Asymptomatic Physical Examination in 1980 (Dichotomous Variable)	252
7.24	Probability of Asymptomatic Physical Examinationin 1980 Based on Logistic Regression	253
7.25	Logistic Regressions of any Immunisations in 1980 (Dichotomous Variable) on Selected Independent Variables, All Persons	254
7.26	Probability of any Immunisations in 1980, All Persons, Based on Logistic Regression	255
7.27	Logistic Regressions of any Immunisations in 1980 (Dichotomous Variable) on Selected Independent Variables, Children Aged Under 16 years Only	256
7.28	Probability of any Immunisations in 1980, Children Aged 0-15 Only, Based on Logistic Regression	257
7.29	Logistic Regressions of any Cervical Cancer Smear (''Pap'') Test in 1980 (Dichotomous Variable) on Selected Independent Variables, Women Aged Over 15 Years Only	258
7.30	Probability of Cervical Cancer ("Pap") Test in 1980, Women Aged Over 15 Years Only, Based on Logistic Regression	259

4

Table		Page
7.31	Logistic Regressions of any Blood Pressure Test in 1980 (Dichotomous Variable) on Selected Independent Variables, Persons Aged Over 15 years Only.	260
7.32	Probability of Blood Pressure Tests in 1980 Persons Aged Over 15 Years Only, Based on Logistic Regression	261
	LIST OF FIGURES	
Figure 2.1	Provider-Induced Demand vs. Price-Induced Demand	Page 48
3.1	Health Board Areas	63
4.1	Organisation of Public Health Services in Ireland	75
4.2	Medical Care Entitlement under the Health Services — Categories I, II and III	78

4.3	Levels of the Medical Care System	87
	•	

# APPENDIX TABLES

Table A.1	Medical Care Utilisation by Sex and Age of Patient	<i>Page</i> 296
A.2	Medical Care Utilisation by Health Services Entitlement Category and VHI Cover	297
A.3	Medical Care Utilisation by Health Board Area of Residence	298
A.4	Medical Care Utilisation by Employment Status of Head of Household	299
A.5	Medical Care Utilisation by Occupation of Head of Household	300
A.6	Medical Care Utilisation by Age Head of Household Completed Full-Time Education	301
A.7	Utilisation of Health Professionals other than Doctors or Dentists, by Type of Health Professional, 1980	303

1 0000		··ə·
A.8	Utilisation of Health Professionals other than Doctors or Dentists, 1980, by Patients' Sex and Age, VHI and Category of Health Services Entitlement, and Health Board Area of Residence	304
A.9	Utilisation of Health Professionals Other than Doctors or Dentists, by Employment Status, Occupation, and Age Completed Full-Time Education of Head of Household	305
A.10	Preventative Care Utilisation by Sex and Age of Patient, 1980	306
A.11	Preventative Care Utilisation by VHI Cover and Health Services Entitlement, 1980	307
A.12	Preventative Care Utilisation by Health Board Area, 1980	308
A.13	Preventative Care Utilisation by Employment Status of Head of Household, 1980	309
A.14	Preventative Care Utilisation by Occupation of Head of Household, 1980	310
A.15	Preventative Care Utilisation by Age of Head of Household Completed Full-Time Education, 1980	311
A.16	Private Medical Expenditures, by Type, 1980: Average Per Household, by Sex and Age of Head of Household (£)	312
A.17	Private Medical Expenditures, by Type, 1980: Average Per Household, by VHI Cover and Category of Health Services Entitlement of Head of Household (£)	313
A.18	Private Medical Expenditures, by Type, 1980: Average Per Household, by Health Board Area (£)	314
A.19	Private Medical Expenditures, by Type, 1980: Average Per Household, by Employment Status of Head of Household (£)	315
A.20	Private Medical Expenditures, by Type, 1980: Average Per Household, by Occupation of Head of Household (£)	316
A.21	Private Medical Expenditures, by Type, 1980: Average Per Household, by Age Head of Household Completed Full-Time Education (£)	317

Page

Table		Page
A.22	Private Medical Exenditures, by Type, 1980: Average Per Person, by Sex and Age of Head of Household (£)	318
A.23	Private Medical Expenditures, by Type, 1980: Average Per Person, by VHI Cover and Category of Health Services Entitlement of Head of Household (£)	319
A.24	Private Medical Expenditures, by Type, 1980: Average Per Person, by Health Board Area (£)	320
A.25	Private Medical Expenditures, by Type, 1980: Average Per Person, by Employment Status of Head of Household (£)	321
A.26	Private Medical Expenditures, by Type, 1980: Average Per Person, by Occupation of Head of Household (£).	322
A.27	Private Medical Expenditures, by Type, 1980: Average Per Person, by Age of Head of Household Completed Full-Time Education (£)	323
A.28	Profile of a Visit with the Doctor (General Practitioner): Further Care or Treatment Ordered, Prescribed, or Suggested, per Most Recent Visit, by VHI Cover and Health Services Entitlement, 1980 (Per cent)	324
A.29	Profile of a Visit With the Doctor (Specialist): Further Care or Treatment Ordered, Prescribed, or Suggested, per Most Recent Visit, by VHI Cover and Health Services Entitlement, 1980 (Per cent)	325
A.30	Whose Idea was Most Recent GP Consultation? Per cent Distribution by VHI Cover and Category of Health Services Entitlement	326
A.31	Whose Idea was Most Recent Specialist Consultation? Per cent Distribution by VHI Cover and Category of Health Services Entitlement	327
A.32	Whose idea was Most Recent Out-Patient Visit? Per cent Distribution by VHI Cover and Category of Health Services Entitlement	328

Table		Page
A.33	Whose Idea Was Most Recent Dentist Visit? Per cent Distribution by VHI Cover and Category of Health Services Entitlement	329
A.34	Who Prescribed Most Recent Pharmaceutical Medicine? Per cent Distribution by VHI Cover and Category of Health Services Entitlement	330
A.35	Whose Idea was Most Recent Hospital Admission? Per cent Distribution by VHI Cover and Category of Health Services Entitlement	331
A.36	Entitlement Under the Health Services and VHI Cover, Per Cent by Age and Sex, 1980	332
A.37	VHI Cover and Health Services Entitlement, by Health Board Area, 1980 — Per Cent Distribution	333
A.38	General Practitioner Consultations, by Usual GP Fee, by Health Board Area	334
A.39	Number of Beds in Hospital Room, By Sex and Age of In-Patient, 1980 — Per cent Distribution	335
A.40	Number of Beds in Hospital Room, By Category of Health Services Entitlement and VHI Cover, 1980 — Per cent Distribution	335
A.41	Health Board Area Location of Hospital and Health Board Area Residence of Patient, 394 Hospital Admissions, 1980	336
A.42	Length of Wait to get into Hospital as In-Patient, by Category of Health Services Entitlement and VHI Cover, 1980, Per cent Distribution	
		337

## General Summary

This is a study of the Irish medical care system from the standpoint of health economics. Though there is some technical material, particularly in Chapters 6 and 7, for the most part the study is accessible to the general reader.

The medical care delivery and financing systems of Europe and North America grew up over the twentieth century with little concern for, or attention to, the implicit incentive structures they contained. Instead, the growth patterns of these systems depended on each country's unique history, as well as ideology, party politics, expediency, and the relative strengths of such factors as the medical professions, civil servants, and religious organisations. As a consequence of inattention to incentives, medical care systems grew increasingly inefficient in their overall economic rationality and explosively inflationary. In the past decade, in most of these countries there has been an intense re-examination of medical care structures and at least the beginnings of systematic reform.

The same has been true of Ireland, with one important exception. With minor qualifications, there is no health economics tradition in this country. There have been no health economists trained as such and pursuing that speciality, and there is no health economics literature, except for peripheral, non-empirical, or minor materials.

This study is intended to begin the process of building such a literature. As a consequence, its focus is broad: it concerns Irish medical care resources in general. The main methods have been (1) to subject the existing structure of the Irish medical care system to analysis from the standpoint of economics, which means concentrating on the incentives structure; and (2) to use statistical techniques to study the determinants of utilisation of medical care, such as physicians' services, hospital out- and in-patient care, pharmaceutical medicines, and dental care.

The study has another major dimension, one which is partly a means to the above end and partly an end in itself. The data base for systematic analysis of medical care resources and utilisation was found to have serious weaknesses and gaps. To help rectify this, and to provide the basis for quantitative aspects of the present study, the author organised a major national sample survey of Irish households. The main results of the survey are extensively reported in a statistical appendix. A great deal of information on Irish medical care utilisation appears for the first time in these tables, and its publication is an important purpose and result of the study. The survey also forms the basis of the statistical analysis of Chapters 6 and 7. The data can be made available to scholars for further analysis upon application to the author.

Because the data were collected from households, and not from doctors or hospitals, the analysis is of necessity households-oriented. This means that the present study is particularly concerned with primary care, and less so with hospitals, even though the Irish medical care system is strongly hospitalsoriented. In one way, this is a weakness in the study. Resource use and cost inflation have been strongly concentrated in the hospitals sector, and the incentive structure faced by hospitals and consultants needs study. After extensively reviewing the Irish medical care system, we conclude that the most important item remaining on the agenda of Irish health economics research is a study of the economics of the hospitals sector. In another way, however, it is a strength of the study. General practitioners, who give most primary care in Ireland, account for only a small fraction of total medical care expenditures; but as "gatekeepers" to the medical care system, and through their referral behaviour, they determine or strongly influence most of the rest. Our estimate, published in Chapter 6, is that spending on GP services accounted for only 5.2 per cent of all Irish medical care expenditures, public and private, in 1980, but that GP decisions conservatively accounted for 66.8 per cent of total expenditures.

This report is structured as follows. After an introductory chapter which among other things discusses the household survey and statistical techniques employed in the study, there is in Chapter 2 a review of the relevant Irish and international literature in health economics. This chapter might serve as a short introduction and review of health economics for university students and others. Chapter 3 constitutes a review of health, or rather of morbidity and mortality, in Ireland, with international comparisons. The Irish medical care system, including the distribution of resources, financing, and eligibility for public health services, is discussed in detail in Chapter 4.

Chapter 5 deals with Irish medical care expenditures. It discusses the recent Irish record concerning cost inflation in medical care and the apparent reasons for it. These reasons seem to concern the incentive structure in Ireland, so this is reviewed. Chapter 5 also presents new estimates, arising out of the survey, of household (private) medical care expenditures. These are combined with published State and Health Board data to yield new estimates of total (i.e., public and private) medical care expenditures.

Chapter 6 reports on extensive analysis of utilisation of general practitioner services, relying primarily on multiple regression analysis, both logit and ordinary least squares. We report on determinants of utilisation of GP services by samples of the whole population and of various sub-groups in the population; of household expenditures on GP services; of GP home visits as opposed to office/surgery consultations; of time spent in GPs' waiting rooms; and of physician-induced demand for medical care by GPs. In addition, we compare patterns of GP consultations between Ireland and Britain; and we compare patterns of GP referrals (return visits arranged, referrals to other doctors, prescriptions written, and referrals to hospital for admission) between persons with different levels of eligibility under the Irish public health services, as well as between Ireland and Britain.

Chapter 7 reports on analysis of utilisation of medical care other than GP services. We report on determinants of pharmaceutical prescription medicines, specialist consultations, visits to hospital out-patient departments, hospital inpatient admissions (discharges), and visits to dentists. We report also on determinants of household (private) expenditures on medical care. And we report on utilisation of a number of preventative services: asymptomatic physical examinations (examinations when one is not or does not believe one is ill or pregnant); immunisation; cervical cancer smear ("pap") tests; and blood pressure tests.

Finally, Chapter 8, Conclusions and Recommendations, has three purposes. First, it reviews a number of problem areas in the Irish medical care system, which require attention. Secondly, it reviews a number of alternative models which have been or might be proposed for the Irish medical care systems, systems toward which the financing and delivery structure might evolve and progress. And thirdly, the chapter and the study conclude with a number of specific proposed changes, meant for adoption now, to bring more economic rationality and cost containment in the Irish medical care system, without sacrificing quality of care or distributional equity.

#### Some Findings Highlighted

In the remainder of this General Summary, we highlight some of the findings of the study. We begin with a brief overview of the Irish medical care system. We then summarise the incentives structure, emphasising aspects which might contribute to over-utilisation and inefficiency. We then offer an overview of empirical findings. We conclude with some highlights of our recommendations.

The Irish medical care system is essentially a market-oriented system in which generous state subsidies play an important role. Individuals are eligible for free or subsidised care in a complex, three-tiered system of benefits. Approximately the lowest third of the income distribution are eligible in Category I, evidenced by Medical Cards. They receive essentially all medical care, including general practitioner services, free of charge. The next approximately 50 per cent of the income distribution are eligible in Category II. They must pay for GP services, but can have free specialist care, both out-patient and in-patient and free hospital accommodation. The latter, however, means accommodation in a public ward, not a private or semi-private room. The remaining group, at the top of the income distribution, are eligible in Category III. They must pay for both GP and specialist care. They can have free hospital accommodation, but again only in a public ward. Those in Category I receive free pharmaceutical medicines; others receive a subsidy toward the cost of such medicines.

The Voluntary Health Insurance (VHI) Board provides health insurance to those who pay for it, which covers services not provided free through the state, including specialist care for those in Category III, and hospital semi-private or, if one pays more, private accommodation. VHI covers out-patient care after a deductible is reached.

General practitioners provide primary care and act as "gatekeepers" to the whole system. They are remunerated on a fee-for-service basis, by the state for persons in Category I, and by the patient, at a higher rate, for all others. Consultant specialists practise from hospitals. They are paid salaries by the hospitals, and they also receive fees from their private patients. The latter include persons in Category III, who are not eligible for free specialist care; and they include persons in Category II and, occasionally, Category I, who prefer to be private rather than public patients. Junior doctors, who work under the supervision of consultants, are salaried by the hospitals in which they work.

The public health services in Ireland are provided mainly through eight regional Health Boards, who in turn receive most of their resources from the Department of Health. There are basically three kinds of hospitals: Public voluntary hospitals, run by religious orders and other non-profit organisations, who receive their budgets from the state; Health Board hospitals of various types and sizes, owned and funded by the Health Boards; and private hospitals, which are essentially financed by their own revenues.

There are important direct and indirect subsidies to private care, especially to private hospital care.

In terms of international comparisons, GP consulting rates are not extraordinarily high. However, GP referrals to other doctors, to hospital in-patient departments, and for hospital admissions, are very high, higher indeed than can easily be explained by the incentives structure. One possible explanation, arising out of the literature, is that Irish GPs, particularly those working in isolated solo practices, are unsure of their own diagnostic abilities and use referrals and hospitals to protect themselves (and their patients) in cases they are afraid they do not fully understand. For whatever reason, Irish hospital admitting rates are extraordinarily high. Hospital costs are high and rapidly rising, and are a large proportion of total medical care costs.

This appears to be a main reason why medical care costs in Ireland have risen at explosive rates. Between 1965/66 and 1980, the average annual rate of increase of Department of Health expenditures was 22.8 per cent, which provides for a doubling of expenditures every three years and four months. When expenditures are deflated by the Consumer Price Index, the average rate of increase over the same period was 10.25 per cent, a rate which means that expenditures double about every seven years. These are truly extraordinary rates of increase, to be sustained for such a long period of time. They are, however, not different in kind from increases sustained in other western countries.

There seems to be a general tendency in these countries for medical care costs to rise explosively. This tendency causes obvious difficulties for governments, insurers, taxpayers, premium payers and patients. The difficulties are exacerbated in times of fiscal stringency. Yet it is a safe guess that if the cost increases, even those as large as noted above, occurred in a context of rapidly rising benefits from medical care, such as occurred earlier in this century when infectious illnesses were brought under control, complaints would be few and muted. But the contrary is true. The cost explosion occurs at a point in history in which, statistically speaking, the benefits are difficult to discern at all.

This is one reason why economists would be inclined to describe the problem as one of economic inefficiency rather than of rising costs *per se*. There is increasing doubt that pouring more and more resources into the medical sector brings as much benefit to society — even in the form of health and life — as the same resources could bring if applied elsewhere. There is also increasing doubt that resources are efficiently distributed *within* medical care.

Because of the special character of medical care as a commodity, certain features are found in virtually all well-developed medical care systems which lead to a tendency for inefficient over-utilisation and cost inflation. In addition, there are features unique to the Irish system which further predispose this system to the same ills.

The need for medical care is unpredictable, and if patients must pay the costs from their own resources the consequences can be financially catastrophic. Hence there is a universal tendency of people to insure against medical care costs. In this context, social provision of medical care should be viewed as a compulsory form of health insurance. Because of the near-universal coverage by insurance, buyers' point-of-purchase prices for medical care are typically lower than average or marginal costs, and may even be nil. If, as economic theory tells us, buyers push their consumption of medical care to the point at which the benefit to them of the last unit is equal to its cost, they will over-utilise medical care in the presence of insurance.

Even in the absence of insurance, the economising role of buyers is weakened by the presumed ignorance of consumers regarding medical care. Most consumers are forced to rely on doctors to make medical care utilisation decisions, except for the initial decision to contact a primary care practitioner. This creates additional problems.

For one thing, in fee-for-service systems such as found in Ireland, providers are not paid for results but for resources used. Outside of medical care, most producers enter the market knowing that if they use fewer resources to produce a commodity, they will be rewarded with higher profits. There are positive incentives to economise. That is usually not the case with medical care, unless financing and delivery systems are carefully organised to achieve such a result (as is discussed in Chapter 8). Instead, any increase in resources used tends to be associated with an increase in revenues of providers.

Second, some providers face what amounts to a conflict of interest. The doctor who economises on patient or public resources faces the prospect of thereby reducing his or her own income as a result. There is a substantial literature in health economics on the subject of economically self-interested physicianinduced demand for their own services. The incentive for this kind of overutilisation disappears when the method of remuneration shifts from fee-for-service to some other method, though other problems can arise.

The structure of Irish charges, fees, insurance, remuneration, and budgets is laid out in detail in Chapter 4. Here we review the incentives arising out of this structure, concerning ourselves primarily with general practitioners, pharmaceutical medicines, consultant specialists, hospitals, and VHI cover.

General practitioners are paid on a fee-for-service basis by the state for public

(Category I) patients, and at a somehwat higher rate by the patient for private (Categories II/III) patients. This remuneration technique encourages GPs to increase resource use. As discussed below, this study provides evidence that some Irish GPs apparently stimulate demand for their own services, in order to increase their own incomes. Not only are GPs provided with incentives to increase numbers of GP consultations, but it appears likely that that increased utilisation is correlated with other types, such as pharmaceutical medicines, laboratory tests and x-rays. To public patients, GP services are free. Thus at best these patients are not provided with incentives to economise on GP resources. Private patients, who do pay fees, do therefore have an incentive to economise on GP resources. If they have VHI cover, on the other hand, and have exceeded their annual deductible amounts, the incentive to economise disappears. No system in Europe or North America provides a greater incentive to resource use than that provided by the Irish system for Category I patients by the combination of services free to patients remunerated to providers on a fee-for-service basis.

As far as their public patients are concerned, the method by which GPs are remunerated offers no incentive for them to use "physician extenders" or paramedical aides. The same can be said of private patients and of reimbursement by the VHI.

Pharmaceutical medicines are furnished free to Category I patients and are subsidised for other patients. The nature of the latter subsidy (full reimbursement after a deductible is reached) is such as to provide little if any disincentive to use by patients. Category I patients have a significantly higher level of pharmaceutical consumption than other patients, even when we control for age, sex, social group and GP utilisation. This may be a consequence, at least in part, of the differences in patient incentives, but it is more likely to reflect physician than patient behaviour. Physicians, not patients, make most pharmaceutical use decisions (though they may take into account patients' economic as well as medical needs), and in general physicians do not bear the costs of such decisions. There is strong evidence of higher prescribing in all those European systems where GPs are remunerated on a fee-for-service basis than in those in which the capitation method is used, and here again the Irish system is predisposed to high resource use. Little in the Irish system encourages provider or patient to economise in the area of pharmaceutical medicines.

Specialists' incentive structures differ as between public and private care. For private patients, specialist consultants are remunerated on a fee-for-service basis, which provides the doctor with no motive to economise, and is likely on the contrary to encourage the opposite behaviour. The VHI publish a list of fee levels at which they will remunerate specialists, and evidently the large majority of specialists do charge the suggested fees. Thus patients have little opportunity to question charges, and fee level is not an aspect in the choice of doctor. Patients covered by VHI are in general given first-penny, 100 per cent reimbursement for in-patient specialist charges. For out-patient services, those covered by VHI are reimbursed in full after a deductible is reached, and it is the same deductible that applies to GP fees and prescription medicines. The level of the deductible is such that a patient who sees a specialist as a private out-patient is likely quickly to reach it, thus effectively cancelling any disincentive it provides. On the other hand, for private patients not covered by VHI, there may be a substantial motive to economise on specialist services. However, there is reason to believe that this is a very small fraction of the population. In sum, specialists have no motive to economise on the application of their services to private patients. Most private patients themselves have little or no motive to economise, though there will be a small motive for out-patient care for those covered by VHI, and a substantial motive for all care for those not covered by VHI.

The private patients referred to in the preceding paragraph are a considerably smaller fraction of the population than private patients of GPs. They consist of those with Category III eligibility, together with such others, mainly in Category II, who prefer private care. Approximately 85 per cent of the population are eligible for free specialist care, both in and out-patient. Consultant specialists providing public care are remunerated on a salary basis. These doctors are, therefore, given an important motive to economise on their own resources. However, they are also encouraged by this incentives structure to apply more resources in the form of junior hospital doctors (a resource provided them without cost) to public patients, and to shift their own energies, at the margin at least, to fee-paying private patients.

Some public patients have an unusually strong motive to use specialist services. For the approximately 50 per cent of the population with Category II eligibility, it is less expensive to see a specialist on an out-patient basis than to see a GP. This unfortunate incentives structure encourages patients to use higher cost specialist services, and shifts the balance away from primary, community care.

Finally, it should be noted that GPs who refer patients to specialists, or specialists who refer patients to other specialists, bear none of the costs of so doing.

Hospitals are, as noted, the main resource users in the Irish system. There is little difference between the situation facing private patients who have VHI cover and that facing public patients. The former are guaranteed full first-penny cover of in-patient charges. The latter pay no charges. None of these patients has significant economic motive, apart from the costs of time, to question a decision to admit them to hospital; to compare hospitals as to charges; to question extra hospital services; or to resist what may seem to them to be over-long stays in hospital. Private patients without VHI cover do have an incentive to economise, but even these motives are sharply reduced by the very considerable direct and indirect state subsidies to private care which are discussed in this report. These subsidies almost certainly induce higher demand for costly private as opposed to public care.

Doctors and not patients make the main hospital utilisation decisions and, in

general, as they do not bear any of the costs they have no motive to economise on hospital resources.

The most important hospital resource use decisions are made, however, when hospitals are provided their annual budgets by the state. How budget decisions are made is somewhat obscure to the analyst, and this process is deserving of study.

*VHI* is the subject of a final comment regarding the incentives structure found in the Irish medical care system. Currently, people are encouraged to purchase VHI cover, and hence to use costly private care, by the nature of the incentives. Substantial tax relief on premia, more favourable than that available for unreimbursed private costs, means that the exchequer pays one-third to one-half of VHI costs indirectly. All of the subsidies to private care, especially those to private hospitalisation, also have the effect of lowering premium rates, by reducing claim payments, and these hence induce people to buy VHI cover. The net effect is that VHI is now too large, from an efficiency standpoint, and this translates into inefficiently high demand for costly private care.

A review of the incentives structure facing providers and patients reveals, then, very few instances in which participants have a significant motive to economise on medical care resources, public or private, and more than a few instances in which there are inducements to use resources.

#### Empirical Results

A brief summary of empirical findings of this study follows.

1. The main correlates of general practitioner utilisation appear to be sex, age and Category of eligibility under the health services. Females use 27 per cent more GP services than males. Males 65 and over use 183 per cent more, and females 65 and over 131 per cent more, than males and females under 65. Persons in Category I, who are public patients of GPs, use 148 per cent more, nearly two and one-half times as much GP services as persons in Categories II and III, who are private patients of GPs. We also find that persons in farming and fishing families use fewer GP services than other persons.

2. These gross or simple relationships hold up, in general, when we use multiple regression analysis, which measures the net effect of these and other independent variables, whilst holding constant the influences of other variables. The analysis was done not only for all persons in the sample, but separately for persons in Category I, Categories II/III, Mothers, Males, Females, Persons aged 65+, and Persons Aged 0-16. In all cases, Category I strongly influenced not only whether people had GP visits, but also for those who did how many visits they had. Age and sex were also persistently strong. GP fee often has a negative influence on visits in the partitioned versions. Farming/fishing families again often showed lower utilisation.

3. Household private expenditures on GP services correlated strongly with category of eligibility, VHI cover, Health Board area of residence and occupation group. Persons in Category I spent on average extremely little, while those

in Categories II and III differed little from each other in spending about £8.50 per person in 1980. Those with VHI cover spent about 60 per cent more than those without. Those living in the Eastern Health Board area spent about 50 per cent more than those in the rest of the country. And people from families headed by professionals, managers and white collar workers spent more than those in working class and farming/fishing families.

4. Not all of these relationships showed up as significant in multivariate analysis. The main net influence was the interaction of Category I and no VHI. Households in areas with high per capita incomes spent more than those in other areas. And persons who had other help with medical care costs, provided through their places of employment, spent about £10 less than those who did not on GP services.

5. Those more likely to have home visits are the very young and the aged; persons other than from farming/fishing families; persons from areas with low ratios of doctors to population; persons from areas with low ratios of persons in Category I to population; and persons who pay low usual GP fees and/or high GP house call fees. In addition, persons in Category I were more likely to have house calls if they lived further from the GP; and persons in Categories II and III were more likely to have house calls if they were covered by VHI.

6. A comparison of Irish and British GP consulting rates shows similar levels overall, but it also shows Irish rates to be lower, relative to the Irish average, than British rates are to the British average, in the higher social groups, and higher in the lower social groups. These results are as predicted on the basis of incentives. Irish GPs appear to refer their patients more frequently to another doctor, to hospital out-patient departments, or to hospital for admission than British doctors. This pattern seems to run contrary to the incentives structure. British GPs are paid on a capitation basis, and it is traditionally held, on the basis of the incentives implicit in that system that doctors so remunerated are quicker than doctors paid on a fee-for-service system to refer their patients to others, since so doing reduces the workload without affecting incomes. One possible explanation for the fact that Irish GPs' referrals exceed those of their British counterparts is that Irish GPs are more likely to work in isolation from other doctors and to lack confidence in their own diagnostic abilities.

7. Irish referral behaviour also differed according to the category of eligibility of the patient. Among persons in Category I, 34.9 per cent of most recent GP consultations resulted in a return visit being arranged with the same GP; among persons in Categories II and III, only 16.5 per cent resulted in a return visit being arranged, giving a ratio of 2.12 to 1. This ratio seems surprisingly high. One reason is that persons in Category I are poorer and older than the rest of the population, and hence are more likely to have health problems requiring a succession of GP visits.

But this pattern of high return visits for persons in Category I is not repeated in the other referrals made by GPs. As compared with the 2.12 ratio of Category I to Category II/III return visit probability, we have the following ratios for other referrals: referred to another doctor 0.70; prescribed medicines, 1.15; referred to hospital out-patient department, 0.95; and referred to hospital for admission, 1.35. If illness and chronic conditions explained the high Category I return visit rate, one would expect similarly high ratios for other kinds of utilisation. Instead, some types of referral show more and some less for Category I than for other patients, but for no type of referral does the ratio approach that found for return visits. However, the result is consistent with what would be predicted on the basis of incentives. A possible explanation is that:

a. GPs wishing to increase their incomes arrange for return visits by persons in Category I. Those in Categories II and III, who must pay for GP services, are more likely to resist extra visits, and GPs may feel better about arranging extra visits for persons who are not charged for them. A specific test for physician-induced demand for medical care is discussed below.

b. Persons in Category II can avail of free out-patient hospital and specialist care, but must pay their GPs. For these patients, it is cheaper to be referred to a specialist or the out-patient department of a hospital than to return to their GPs. If physicians take into account their patients' economic situations they might refer some patients in the manner described.

8. The study includes a test for physician-induced demand by general practitioners. The argument is as follows. Where the supply of GPs is high relative to population, other things being equal, physician incomes will be depressed. If physicians attempt to compensate for reduced income, they will attempt to generate additional demand, in the form of repeated return visits. Thus one hypothesis is that return visits will be positively related to the ratio of GPs to population. In addition, where the (unstimulated) demand for GP services is lower, again physician incomes will be low, and if they compensate, GPs will generate return visits. Therefore, where per capita income is relatively low, we would expect, other things equal, reduced demand, and hence more return visits. Similarly, where the ratio of persons in Category I to population (the Medical Card ratio) is low, again we expect reduced demand for GP services, and reduced GP incomes, and an effort by GPs to stimulate more return visits. These hypotheses of return visits varying positively with ratio of GPs to population and negatively with area per capita income and ratio of Category I persons to population were borne out by our study. In addition, return visits varied with age, were higher for persons in Category I, and fell with increased distance to the GPs office/surgery. These results held not only for all persons in the sample, but generally for sub-groups in the population: males; females; all persons except women aged 20-40; persons in Category I only; and persons in Categories II/III only.

The results seem therefore to bear out the hypothesis of self-interested demand generation by some Irish GPs. This does not necessarily mean that *unnecessary* GP utilisation takes place, though it almost certainly means that some *uneconomic*  utilisation does. That is, it would be wrong to conclude that the induced consultations can have no medical value, or rather no *probability* of medical value. But it is likely that they are not worth their cost — that the same resources, devoted to medical care elsewhere in the system, or to non-medical goods, would yield significantly more value to society.

9. Multiple regression analysis was used to seek the determinants of other kinds of utilisation than GP services, *viz.*, prescription items, specialist consultations, visits to hospital out-patient departments, and in-patient hospital admissions (discharges). All of these were strongly influenced by numbers of general practitioner visits, and usually by numbers of specialist visits as well. These independent variables influenced whether the individual received the service, and for those with any, how many units of the service he or she received. In addition, persons with Category I eligibility were more likely to have prescription medicines and among those with any had more. They also had average hospital stays about two weeks longer than other persons, when other variables were controlled for.

10. Utilisation of dentists' services was influenced by variables different from those affecting most other kinds of medical care. The chief influences were age and social class, the latter measured mainly by the age at which the head of household completed full-time education. Similar results were obtained when the analysis was restricted to children.

11. Household private expenditures on all medical care averaged  $\pounds$ 117.54 per household and  $\pounds$ 32.88 per person in 1980, according to our survey. The most important influence on this level was Category of eligibility under the health services. Those with Category I eligibility had extremely low expenditures; those with Category II eligibility had four and one-half times the expenditures that those in Category I had, while those in Category III had 163 per cent of those of persons in Category II. VHI cover, Health Board area of residence, and social group were also strongly related to household expenditures on medical care, but these presumably reflect mainly category of eligibility.

12. When multiple regression analysis is used, the strong effect of category of eligibility on household expenditures still holds. Households whose head had Category I eligibility and no VHI cover spent £70 less than households whose head had Category II eligibility and VHI cover. Per cent of household with Category III eligibility also had a strong and significant effect: a household with 100 per cent Category III spent £72 more than one with 0 per cent in that category.

13. A separate analysis was done of prevention-oriented medical care. In the survey, we asked, with respect to each household member, when he or she was last seen by a doctor. We asked who, in the previous year, had a physical examination when he or she did not suspect an illness or pregnancy; had been immunised against any illness; had a blood pressure test; or (for adult women only) had a cervical cancer smear ("pap") test. The results included the following:

a. Men were more likely to fail to see their GPs over long periods of time than women. Others likely to fail to see a doctor included persons with Category II eligibility (who must pay to see a GP); persons in the North-Eastern Health Board area; persons in households headed by unemployed persons or farmers/fishers.

b. Physical examinations rise consistently with age. Persons with Category II eligibility are the least likely to have had an examination, as are persons in households headed by the unemployed, or by semi-skilled or unskilled workers, and persons living in the North-Western Health Board area.

c. Immunisations follow a pattern opposite to age. Only one child in six, aged 0-14, was immunised against any disease in 1980, a figure which seems low, though of course every child does not need immunisation in any given year.

d. Women were about 50 per cent more likely to have blood pressure tests than men, even though men are more likely to be victims of high blood pressure and stroke. Most disturbing is the low rate for men aged 15-44, slightly less than half the rate for women at the same age. Public (Category I) patients are nearly twice as likely to have blood pressure tests as private (II/III) patients.

e. Only one adult woman in ten had a cervical smear test, which is an unfortunately low ratio. The most important influence on this form of preventative care appears to be social class. Low income and working class women are much less likely to avail of this test.

#### Conclusions and Recommendations

The report ends with a final chapter offering conclusions and recommendations. As it is recognised that many readers of this chapter will not read the full study, an effort was made to make Chapter 8 self-contained; but readers are reminded that the argument is made, and the conclusions are supported, by the study as a whole.

The conclusions and recommendations are divided into three parts. First there is a discussion of problem areas in the Irish medical care system. Second there is an analysis of alternative models for reforming the system fundamentally. And third, there is a set of proposed changes meant for more or less immediate adoption.

Problem areas are broken into four categories. First are weak spots in the quality of care. It is argued that general practice needs strengthening. The required strengthening involves group and team practice and greater use of non-doctor personnel, including clerical staff, technicians, nurses, para-medical aides, midwives, and social workers. Changes in the incentives structure can help bring about the desired strengthening. Another weak spot in primary care is the evident failure of outreach to the aged poor, and possibly to other disadvantaged or handicapped populations. Routine physical examinations for these

people are likely to be cost-effective. Other weak spots in the quality of care include the following: persons with Category II eligibility used significantly less primary care, and less preventative care, than others; there are indications that specialist care of public patients is inferior to that of private patients; and some hospitals are too small to provide an adequate medical staff.

The second category of problem area concerns the amount and distribution of resources. In general, these problems are minor. There may be mal-distribution of GPs and, especially, specialist consultants, across regions. There appears to be a mal-distribution of social workers and physiotherapists across Health Board areas. There are too few dentists, especially Health Board dentists. There are signs that the North-West Health Board area has too few hospital beds.

The third category of problem area involves anomalies in standards of eligibility for the public health services. We suggest three changes: that eligibility standards be indexed to a national earnings index, to reduce the erosion of benefits in inflationary periods, and to separate the correction of eligibility standards for inflation from real changes in those standards, taking the former out of the political process; that Category I entitlement be made a legal right for those meeting eligibility standards; and that eligibility for Category II be based on the family (i.e., on family income and family size) rather than the individual earner.

The fourth problem area, that of explosive and irrational costs and expenditures, has been a major theme of the report. It concerns to a large extent the incentives structure, which has already been discussed in this general summary. The main incentives problem is that those who make resource-using decisions concerning medical care — patients and providers — frequently do not individually bear the economic costs of those decisions. This problem has a demand side and a supply side.

The demand side refers to the influence of price on patient demand for medical care. Cost-sharing, under which the patient pays at the point of use some part of the cost of providing the care, can help control demand and hence utilisation. However, the position taken in this report is that as a *general* technique for limiting utilisation it is liable to have the undesirable effect of limiting mainly or only the types of care which we least want to limit, *viz.*, self-initiated primary care. Instead, we urge use of cost-sharing to shift utilisation from high-cost and/or low-priority uses to their opposites — to alter the pattern rather than the level of demand.

The supply side refers to the influence of remuneration techniques and other incentives on resource-using medical care decisions made by providers. It is generally conceded in health economics that supply side incentives are more crucial than demand side incentives in influencing utilisation. Two arenas dominate the discussion: physician remuneration; and hospital budgeting or reimbursement.

The main alternative to fee-for-service remuneration of physicians is capitation, under which physicians are paid according to the number of patients they
have, rather than the number of times they see them, or the number of services they provide. There is considerable evidence on a world-wide basis that capitation reduces utilisation, and further that it reduces pharmaceutical prescribing rates as well. An alternative is the reorganisation of medical care delivery into pre-paid group plans (PPGPs) such as health maintenance organisations (HMOs), under which patients purchase all medical care, and not merely physicians' services, on a capitation basis.

Methods by which hospitals are budgeted or reimbursed are as important as or more important than the ways in which physicians are remunerated. The report advocates some technique by which hospitals are budgeted by formulae so that their resource-using decisions are separated from factors influencing their incomes, so that they are rewarded for any economies and penalised for inefficiency. This is an area where further research in Ireland is required. Indeed, the report describes this as the most important single item on the Irish health economics research agenda.

In the next section, we review and assess four alternative models which have been or might be offered for the Irish medical care system: the insurance model; the incremental growth model; the competitive pre-paid group plan model; and the national health service model.

The insurance model, which roughly corresponds to systems in use in Belgium and Canada, was proposed a few years ago by a working party of the Irish Medical Association. The incremental growth model was once but is no longer advocated by the Irish Congress of Trade Unions, and approximates the past pattern of development of the Irish system. Both of these proposals contain attractive features which it would be desirable to incorporate in the Irish system. Both are rejected as models for reform, however, as they fail to improve upon the allimportant incentives structure, and in some ways worsen it.

The same is not true of the two other models, both of which then warrant serious consideration. The competitive pre-paid group plan model is marketoriented and capitalistic, while the national health service model is centralised and socialistic.

Pre-paid group plans (PPGPs) are organisations established for the purpose of providing comprehensive medical care to their clients for a set annual pre-paid fee. The best-known and most common type of PPGP in the United States is the Health Maintenance Organisation or HMO. HMOs are growing and successful in the US, but still enrol only about 10 per cent of the population. They have incentives to keep their clients healthy, to use resources efficiently, and to emphasise preventative care. According to evaluation studies, they reduce costs 20 to 33 per cent, with the savings concentrated in hospitalisation.

Irish readers are familiar with the national health service model, as it obtains in neighbouring Britain and Northern Ireland. The term refers to a centralised, non-market system in which resource-using decisions are made administratively at the macro level, and made, as elsewhere, by physicians, through referral, prescribing, etc., decisions, at the micro level. Because in such a centralised system it is possible to determine total medical care spending in advance, and as well to determine its regional and functional allocation, it is possible to limit spending, and its growth, to any level.

The Irish system has grown by fits and starts in an *ad hoc* manner, without any apparent model or set of guiding principles in mind. While it is not suggested that there be immediate or fundamental change, such as adopting one of these models, it is suggested that an attempt be made to develop a national consensus on the goal toward which the system might progress in coming years.

The immediate goal is not, however, so much further development as rationalisation of the present system. The paper concludes with a set of proposals meant for present rather than ultimate consideration. These proposals include the following.

It is proposed that free general practitioner service be extended to everyone, and that GPs be remunerated by the state on a capitation basis. At the same time, it is proposed that charges be imposed for out-patient hospital and consultant specialist services, and for in-patient hospital care, for those who currently receive these services without charge. This set of changes, taken together, is intended approximately to balance in terms of overall expenditures, the added cost of free GP care being roughly equal to the increased revenues arising out of the new charges. None of the new charges is intended to cover full costs. Inpatient hospital charges should be high enough to assert social priorities in favour of out-patient over in-patient care, and of primary care where possible.

It is proposed that the remaining subsidies to private care be reduced, that private hospital patients be charged the costs of all services provided to them, and that tax relief for VHI premia be abandoned. There are also proposals for medical audit and peer review; incentives to group practice and physicians' auxiliaries; enabling legislation for PPGPs; increases in dental resources; expansion of the conception of, and increased resources for, health education; and expanded funds for research. In the last category, we refer not to basic medical research, to which others will have to speak, but rather three other matters. First, we argue that the Department of Health should have a continuing research concern with air quality, occupational health and safety, prevention of poisoning in the home, road safety and other aspects of prevention. Second, we argue for improved collection of epidemiological data, more routine collection of morbidity data from general practitioners and periodic in-depth studies. Third, we argue that Ireland needs health economists and other social scientists trained in such disciplines as social policy analysis relating to health and medical care, not only in the public service and research institutions but in the universities.

The author is aware of the difficulties, especially the political ones, inherent in an attempt to make such significant changes in the medical care system. At the same time, he believes that the proposals will attract broad support, especially when their long-run as well as their short-run implications become fully clear.

### Chapter 1

# INTRODUCTION

This is a study of the use of medical care resources in the Republic of Ireland. This definition of our subject gives us two focuses; utilisation *per se*, that is, doctor consultations, hospital admissions and services, pharmaceutical prescription items, etc.; and expenditures as expressed in money terms, which reflect the opportunity costs of utilisation.

There are two important reasons for a study of medical care resources in Ireland.<sup>1</sup> One is that medical care is increasingly expensive in this country, and has been the subject of explosive expenditure growth in recent years. By our calculations (see Chapter 5), medical care used approximately 10 per cent of Gross National Product in 1980, a percentage which has itself been rising rapidly.<sup>2</sup> There is a widespread impression that this expenditure growth has not been accompanied by corresponding increases in the benefits from medical care, so that most of the increase is in a sense pure cost inflation. Even though there may be more resources (input) used, both labour and non-labour, there is no corresponding increase in product (output). Unlike general inflation, the cost inflation in this area uses resources. The price level increase in the medical care area has been very much more rapid than in the economy at large (as measured, e.g., by the Consumer Price Index). To that extent, medical care absorbs real resources transferred from elsewhere in the economy. Hence there is a need to examine the rationality and efficiency of medical care expenditures and resource use. We want to see whether structural characteristics within the Irish medical care financing and delivery scheme account or help account for this explosive growth. By implication, we want to see whether changes in the structure of the system can reduce the rate of cost inflation, and make the system more efficient and responsive. This study concludes that they can.

The second reason for a study of this sort is to be able to understand better the

<sup>1</sup>Unless otherwise noted, the terms "Ireland" and "Irish" in this study pertain to the 26-county Republic of Ireland.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>This measure differs from published ones, relating Department of Health expenditures to GNP, in a number of ways. It excludes non-medical care Department of Health expenditures. On the other hand, it includes private expenditures, estimated by the author, and it includes public capital expenditures. See Chapter 5.

#### INTRODUCTION

operation of an extremely important sector of the economy. The medical care sector would in many respects be no less important if it used but 3 per cent of GNP. Its importance does not derive solely from its resource use; in a meaningful way, its resource use derives from its importance.

This study is addressed to several audiences. It is addressed to my fellow economists and social scientists and is meant to contribute to economic knowledge. It is also addressed to a more general audience, including politicians, civil servants, other policy-makers, journalists and the public. An effort has been made to keep the study accessible to this general audience, and, in general, it is. Some sections will be difficult for general readers, but the thread of the argument, it is hoped, will be clear.

The principal readership addressed is in Ireland. But it is also intended that this study fill a void in the international literature on the Irish medical care system. Therefore, pains are taken to describe the Irish medical care system in detail.

The first section of this chapter discusses the purposes and limits of the present study. The second section discusses the methods used. The latter includes a large nation-wide sample survey conducted for the author by the Survey Unit of The Economic and Social Research Institute. The third section discusses statistical method. The fourth describes the outline of the present volume. The fifth and final section deals with the author's preconceptions and opinions.

## A. Purposes of the Study

When the author undertook an initial review of the Irish medical care system, he found the following four things:

1. A good medical care delivery system. The evidence at hand indicates that the Irish medical care system generally provides care of high quality, using up-to-date methods and resources, and that this care is, in general, available to all, whatever their income or social class, and whatever their region of residence. While there are weak spots in both the quality and the distribution of care, as there inevitably are in any system, Ireland has good reason to be pleased with the overall development of its medical care system. The organisation of medical care in Ireland is in general preferable to that of the United States of America, with which the author is also very familiar, though it of course lacks the latter's enormous resources.

2. A complex medical care financing scheme. The pattern of eligibility for free and subsidised medical care, the patterns of direct and indirect state subsidy, the intricacies of private insurance provided by a state-sponsored body, and the interaction of these with the fiscal system are so complex as to be understood by very few people, even within the system. To an extent, this complexity reflects an ingenious mix of the features found in other medical care systems, capitalistic and socialistic. To an extent, however, it also reflects unplanned and often uncontrolled growth, as influenced by party politics, and by struggles amongst affected interest groups.

3. Enormous data gaps. Like most countries, Ireland collects and publishes data on its medical care system primarily where the statistics arise as a byproduct of administering public programmes, mainly the health services. This leaves some very considerable and important gaps, particularly for economic analysis. Virtually all data on the private sector are absent, for example, general practitioner utilisation data for two-thirds of the population; and household expenditure data for the whole population.<sup>3</sup> Moreover, data on the public sector is provider based rather than household based, so we can usually infer very little about the distribution of or the determinants (or correlates) of utilisation, even in the public sector, from official data. Because of these gaps, it was determined that a national household survey of medical care utilisation and household expenditures was necessary. The survey is discussed in a later section.

4. Little relevant literature. As will be clear as we proceed, we are unable to build upon the base of an established Irish health economics literature, especially as regards empirical analysis. (The large international literature is reviewed in Chapter 2.) Much has been published on the edges of the topic. Culyer and Maynard wrote an extremely useful survey of the Irish system (NESC No. 29, 1977). The authors rank as two of the world's leading health economists, and their publication filled a major void. But no new empirical work was done, and the authors worked within the data gaps referred to above. There have been international comparative studies with chapters or sections on Ireland (e.g., Abel-Smith and Maynard, 1978); short articles (e.g., Barrett, 1979); policy papers (e.g., Dowling, 1978); and papers on closely related subjects (e.g., Kaim-Caudle, 1969, 1970a and 1970b). But there is neither a thorough-going review of the system nor any statistical or econometric study.<sup>4</sup>

We wanted to build upon this uncertain foundation and prepare a study which would contribute to the two objectives mentioned at the beginning: understanding better the important medical care sector of the economy, and finding whether the system could be made more efficient and less explosively expansionary. Given the foundation and the objectives, it was clear that the present study would have the greatest chance of success if it had the following

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>There are, of course, published data on private care from the Voluntary Health Insurance (VHI) scheme (see Chapter 3). But without further data, we do not know how much private care is not financed by VHI, nor do we know the distribution through the population of VHI membership — how many persons, for example, with each level of eligibility under the health services have taken VHI cover. In addition, there are estimates of household expenditures from the Household Budget Survey (see Chapter 7); but again we lack correlates with category of eligibility and other important variables.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>This list excludes the author's own previous publications on the Irish medical care system and related topics, all of them prepared as by-products of the present study. See Tussing, 1980a, 1980b, 1981a, 1981b, 1982a, 1982b, 1982c, 1982d, 1983a, 1983b, 1983c, 1984a, 1984b and 1984c.

#### INTRODUCTION

four characteristics: it had to be a broad and general study, essentially covering the whole of the system, rather than focusing more narrowly, while more deeply, on one aspect, such as hospital admissions. Second, it had to concentrate on the determinants of utilisation of the main parts of the system. Since many if not most utilisation decisions in medical care are made by physicians, this concentration implies some analysis of the economics of the behaviour of physicians, as well as of patients. Third, it had to be system-oriented and policy-relevant. In addition to empirical analysis of utilisation, it was thought to be important to review and examine the medical care system, as a system, with attention to the incentive structure, from an economic standpoint. And fourth, as already noted, it had to be based on new data, in addition to official sources. Indeed, the collection and publication of the data, apart from the analysis, was deemed by itself to be an important objective of the study. For this reason, a large part of the present paper is given over to the publication, in the Appendix, of utilisation and expenditure statistics, for the use of scholars, policy makers and the general public.

We do not, it is obvious, claim that this work is the last word in its subject area. It indeed comes closer to being the first. It is hoped that other economists and social scientists from other disciplines will follow, to correct the errors of omission and commission in this study, fill in gaps, address in detail issues only introduced in the present study, and ultimately, make the present study obsolete.

One difficulty, however, which stands in the way of such an outcome, is the fact that there are no health economists trained as such and acting as such in Ireland, in the civil service, in research institutes, or in the universities.<sup>5</sup> This is truly unfortunate and should be rectified. The medical care sector, as noted earlier, used 10 per cent of GNP in 1980; the health care sector, which is larger (see below), used still more. And medical care, as we argued earlier, is important in its own right, wholly apart from its large share in GNP. In such circumstances, that there should be no health economists in a country in which there is no shortage of economists is regrettable, and a reflection, in the end, on the universities.

While we have claimed breadth for this study, in one sense it is truly narrow. Our concern is only medical care, and not the economics of health; it is by and large limited to acute care; and it is by and large limited to traditional care.

It is customary to distinguish between "health care" and "medical care." Health care includes but is not limited to medical care. The latter involves the diagnosis, care and/or treatment by medical personnel of persons who are or might be ill or pregnant; and preventative services such as examinations and immunisations, given by medical personnel. Medical personnel are usually defined as doctors and nurses, or others under their supervision. Health care

<sup>5</sup>Since this was written, Mr. Eamon O'Shea, who had completed an M.Sc. in Health Economics at the University of York, joined the staff of the Institute of Public Administration, with duties including but not limited to health economics work. There was previously a trained health economist in the Department of Health, but he moved to a non-health economics position and was replaced by a successor not trained in health economics. There are some trained economists currently active in analysing health issues; but the number of even these is too small.

includes medical care, but adds to it some important health-related services outside of medical care proper. Prime responsibility for one's health rests with one's self, or one's parents or other responsible family members, with the aid and advice of authorities and trained personnel. Health care includes, then, nutrition, exercise, non-prescription preparations such as vitamins and analgesics and other health-related personal care and behaviour. It includes the contribution to fitness, healthy lives and health education, by schoolteachers, coaches, the media, the Health Education Bureau and others. Finally, it includes long-term care, outside of hospitals, of the handicapped and of the infirm aged.

These definitions are not precise and there are borderline questions. Are dentists, Health Board social workers and home helps, within the medical care system? The answer is not certain, but they are included in the present study, though they do not have a central role.

We have also stated that the present study is limited to acute care. Long-stay institutional care, including psychiatric care, is not covered. These are important topics and they are not omitted out of any denigration of their significance. Careful economic analysis of them is an important task facing social scientists in Ireland. But beyond a given point, additional breadth in a study such as this one, comes at enormous sacrifice of depth, and/or at such a cost in terms of time as to delay the culmination of the study beyond its likely usefulness. In addition, as will be noted later, the household survey method proved ineffective in obtaining accurate data concerning psychiatric hospital stays of household members.

We have stated, finally, that the present study is limited to traditional care. Some of what is often called "fringe" medicine is practised in Ireland, by personnel as varied as homoeopaths, acupuncturists and what might be called selftrained folk chiropractors. Nothing either positive or negative is implied by their omission from this study. It will readily be seen that methodological difficulties would have been faced attempting to incorporate these practitioners in the present study.

### B. Methods: The Survey

As noted above, the author administered a national household survey on Irish medical care utilisation and household expenditures.<sup>6</sup> The survey was conducted by the Survey Unit of The Economic and Social Research Institute, under the direction of Brendan J. Whelan, director of the survey unit, by approximately 50 trained and experienced interviewers, under the supervision of Mrs. E. M. Colbert-Stanley.

The survey was supported, in part, by the Central Bank of Ireland; the Health Education Bureau; the National Board for Science and Technology; and the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The author also conducted a small postal survey of some employers who were identified in the household survey as providing employees, and sometimes their families, with some kind of help with medical care costs (see Chapter 5).

INTRODUCTION

Voluntary Health Insurance Board.<sup>7</sup> The author is profoundly grateful to these sponsors; without their timely aid, this study could not have been undertaken. It should be added that only the author is responsible for the content of this study; the sponsors neither asked for nor were offered the right to approve or disapprove methods or text at any stage.

The sample was selected using the RANSAM system as described in Whelan (1979). A sample of 65 primary sampling units (clusters) was randomly selected from the Electoral Register with probability proportional to the size of the cluster. Twenty individuals were then selected from each cluster by means of a systematic random sample. This gave an initial sample of 1,300 names, distributed in all eight Health Board areas (see Chapter 3). These names constituted an epsem (equal probability of selection) sample of persons from the Electoral Register.

The response rate was 82 per cent, providing data from 1,069 households, somewhat better than the target of 1,000. Most of the non-response arose from non-contact, person deceased, moved, etc.; the refusal rate was only 3.7 per cent.

Information was collected on each household member, so there are a maximum of 4,522 observations. However, for most purposes of this report, including all of the Appendix and text tables, an adjustment was made. Since the objective was to obtain a representative selection of individual household members for analysis, it was necessary to re-weight the data in order to obtain unbiased estimates of household characteristics. The probability of a given household cropping up in the sample was proportional to the number of electors in the household. Hence, the data from each household was re-weighted by a factor inversely proportional to the number of persons aged 18 and over in the household. This restored the representative character of the sample. Weighting reduced the number of individuals in the sample to 3,755, though the number of households remained at 1,069.

This weighted sample was used in text and appendix statistical tables, and in grossing up to yield some state-wide estimates. For purposes of statistical analysis, however, in most cases only one observation per household was used, as is described in the next section.

The survey was conducted in January, 1981, and dealt (with very few exceptions) with medical care utilisation and household expenditures occurring in the calendar year 1980.

The survey questions do not include any pertaining either to morbidity or to household or individual income. Both were included in a pilot survey conducted in November, 1980. Morbidity questions absorbed an enormous amount of interview time in order to obtain useful results, such that they would have displaced many important utilisation questions. Hence they were dropped from the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>The sponsors are listed alphabetically. The Economic and Social Research Institute also contributed to the survey and to the study as a whole. Also see the acknowledgements for others who assisted personally.

final questionnaire. It is unfortunate that this had to be. Morbidity data would have been extremely useful in our analysis of utilisation and expenditures, mainly as a control variable. Income responses in the pilot study provided undependable estimates; results, where apparently incorrect, were usually on the low side.<sup>8</sup> The survey does include a number of income proxies, such as category of health services eligibility (see Chapter 4), social group and education of head of household.

The survey questions included some pertaining to psychiatric in-patient care of household members. The results, when grossed up, yielded numbers smaller than 10 per cent of actual totals as reported in official sources. Evidently respondents did not want to tell interviewers about psychiatric care of relatives. The inference is that a large stigma attaches to psychiatric care, which is regrettable for many reasons. No similar difficulty arose with respect to any other category of medical care. Psychiatric care results were discarded and are not used in this study.

The survey questions were, for the most part, retrospective. Households were asked to recall numbers of general practitioner consultations, pharmaceutical prescription items, and other utilisation data, and household expenditures on medical care, for the previous year, without the aid of diaries or logs. Thus our results may be affected by errors of recall. In using the resulting data, we are implicitly assuming that these errors are both positive and negative and have a mean of zero. The questionnaire included numerous questions regarding utilisation, referrals, expenditures, etc., which served both as aids to memory and as cross-checks on responses. Each set of responses was subsequently checked for internal consistency and plausibility by an experienced team of interviewers and coders. An unknown number of errors of recall surely persist, which will reduce  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , t, F and  $\chi^2$  statistics in our empirical work.

In addition to errors of recall, the survey is of course affected by sampling error. While the overall sample size is large, for sub-samples (e.g., for regions) sampling errors will be larger than for overall, national figures.

The main results of the survey are reported in Tables A.1 through A.42, in Appendix I. These tables are discussed briefly in that appendix. A summary version of the questionnaire, with means and frequencies, appears in Appendix III.

### C. Methods: Statistical Analysis

The principal statistical method employed in this study is multiple regression analysis. Where the question involves *utilisation* of a particular type of medical care, analysis is usually carried out in two steps. First, we seek the determinants of whether there was any utilisation at all by the individual. Thus our equations

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Most of the respondents were housewives who, it is said, are in Ireland sometimes given a fixed household allowance by their husbands and do not actually know how much money income the household receives.

## INTRODUCTION

have a dichotomous dependent variable, taking the values of 0 (no utilisation in 1980) or 1 (any utilisation). Second, for persons with any utilisation only, we seek the determinants of the number of units of utilisation (number of general practitioner consultations, number of pharmaceutical prescription items, etc.). In this case, the dependent variable is continuous and can take values greater than one.

With respect to certain utilisation equations — specifically, those dealing with preventative care, such as blood pressure tests — the second step, above, is omitted, and the analysis is limited to the dichotomous step. Similarly, in regressions where the dependent variable measures whether, at the patient's most recent GP visit, a return visit was arranged, the analysis is limited to the dichotomous form. Where the dependent variable is household expenditures on medical care, as opposed to physical units of utilisation, there is no dichotomous step and only a continuous dependent variable appears.

We discuss below a number of issues pertaining to the dichotomous dependent variable equations. We then turn to issues relating to the continuous dependent variable equations. Finally, we discuss some matters pertaining to both.

Where the dependent variable is dichotomous, it is inappropriate to use OLS (ordinary least squares), for two reasons. One is that there is likely to be heteroscedasticity in the error term. (Heteroscedasticity is discussed later in this section.) The other is that, with OLS, there is no guarantee that the predicted values of the dependent variables will lie within the 0, 1 interval. Obviously values lying outside this interval are meaningless. In these cases, we have employed a procedure based on a cumulative logistic probability function, which we refer to throughout as a logistic regression, or logit. (For a discussion, see Section 8.1 of Pindyk and Rubinfeld, 1976; Section 12.5 of Theil, 1978; or Aldrich and Nelson, 1984.) The procedure produces a model  $\chi^2$  and  $\chi^2$  statistics for each coefficient, as well as an R<sup>2</sup> which measures the fit of the model. This R<sup>2</sup> is analogous to but not the same as the familiar OLS R<sup>2</sup>. It has the value such that

$$R^2 = (model \chi^2 - 2v)/(-2L(O))$$

where v is the number of variables in the model excluding intercepts and L(O) is the maximum log-likelihood with only intercepts in the model. There is a fairly serious penalty for loss of degrees of freedom, from adding variables to the model. If this -2v correction is ignored, R has a value of 0 if the model is of no value and 1 if it predicts perfectly, and  $R^2$  is the proportion of log-likelihood explained by the model. Many authorities believe that no such general, summary measure as this  $R^2$  should be reported for logit (or probit) analyses and all recommend caution (Aldrich and Nelson, 1984). However, we report this  $R^2$  in all cases. Where we have used OLS and logistic regressions for the same dichotomous dependent variables, in precisely the same models, they have produced essentially similar results, though OLS  $R^2$ s are usually higher than the logit  $R^2$ s (See Tussing, 1983a).

The left-hand side of logistic regressions are equal to  $\log p/1 - p$  where p is the probability of the event (e.g., any utilisation). Thus the parameters estimated

are difficult to interpret intuitively. To provide, in each case, an intuitively understandable counterpart of the regression, we have used the regression to calculate exemplary probabilities for the events predicted and these are reported in separate tables. In general, the procedure is to "plug in" specified values of the independent variables, multiplying them by their respective coefficients, adding the intercept term and solving for p. The specified values of the independent variables begin with the mean values of continuous variables and typical values for qualitative variables; and then we vary each of these, including, for continuous variables, at least their minimum and maximum values, and for qualitative variables, usually all of their possible values.

The OLS utilisation regressions for persons with any utilisation are candidates for two kinds of problems: sample selection bias and heteroscedasticity.

Sample selection bias arises because in these OLS regressions we have excluded all persons without utilisation and hence our sample is no longer a random one.

Heckman and others have shown that the bias amounts to omission of a righthand-side variable and can be interpreted as an ordinary specification error, and that this can be dealt with by using the "Inverse Mills ratio" (or hazard rate) in an OLS regression as an additional regressor. The Inverse Mills ratio is produced as a by-product of a probit model with a dichotomous dependent variable. (Heckman, 1976; see also Gronau, 1974; Lewis, 1974; Stromsdorfer and Farkas, 1980). Because heteroscedasticity seemed probable with the OLS regressions, a Goldfeld-Quandt test was performed on these, and in about half of the equations significant heteroscedasticity was discovered. We have decided to bypass the usual solution for this problem, namely experimenting with various transformations of the variables until one producing homoscedastic error terms emerged. This decision was made on two grounds. One is that this study includes an extremely large number of regression equations, and repeatedly re-performing these analyses would have been prohibitively costly, in both time and money. Secondly, the parameters of equations with transformed dependent variables are extraordinarily difficult to interpret. Instead, we have adopted a different strategy. Heteroscedasticity does not bias the parameter estimates, though standard errors and t-statistics will be biased (in an uncertain direction). In equations with heteroscedasticity, we have added 10 per cent to the critical values of t (for reported significance levels of 1 and 5 per cent). This is in the same spirit as Theil's suggestion, in another context (in discussing regression strategy), that,

Given the present state of the art, the most sensible procedure is to interpret confidence intervals, coefficients, and significance limits liberally when confidence intervals and test statistics are computed from the final regression of a regression strategy in the conventional way. This is, a 95 per cent confidence coefficient may actually be an 80 per cent confidence coefficient and a 1 per cent significance level may actually be a 10 per cent level (Theil, 1978).

#### INTRODUCTION

This is a conservative approach, but as t-statistics are reported in all cases, the reader may adopt a more or less conservative one as suits his or her point of view.

We now discuss issues common to both dichotomous (logit) and continuous (OLS) dependent variable regressions.

As noted above, survey data were collected from 1,069 households, on 4,522 individuals. Because household members were not statistically or causally independent of each other, we included only one member per household in regressions (except the expenditure regressions, which were done on a household basis anyway). This adjustment was achieved by sampling our sample, randomly taking one observation per household. A number of such samples were taken, one for regressions including all persons, another for regressions limited to females, another for males, another for children aged under 16, etc. Because in each case sampling bias is introduced (in an all-child regression, for example, any individual child's chances of being included are inversely proportional to the number of children in the household), we include as a control variable the number of persons in the household, in the all-child sample).

In the regressions, we test specific hypotheses drawn from a theoretical model which is in turn drawn from the relevant literature. In each case we report results on the "full model," i.e., with all the independent variables in the model included. In addition, we report on the "5 per cent version," including only variables which meet a 5 per cent significance test.

We tested extensively for two-, three- and even four-way interactions amongst the variables in our models. Our interaction terms are two or more independent variables multiplied by each other. In general, only two kinds of interactions produced significant results. One was a four-way interaction of dichotomous independent variables (producing still another dichotomous independent variable), based on sex, age group, category of eligibility in the health services and whether the person had Voluntary Health Insurance (VHI) cover. (In regressions partitioned by sex, this of course collapses to a three-way interaction.) The other kind of successful interactions were created by multiplying regional variables: the ratio of GPs to area population; the ratio of persons covered by Medical Cards to area population; an index of per capita income; and, sometimes, the ratio of consultants to population.

Where a variable is included in a regression on its own (main effects) and in one or more interactions, and when the coefficients of these variables take different signs, the direction of the net effect of that variable is not obvious from the regression itself. Here the exemplary probabilities calculated from logistic regressions, discussed above, do double duty. As we vary the value of such a variable from its minimum, through its mean, to its maximum, holding other variables constant, we can observe the effect on the calculated probability. In effect, we have the partial derivative of probability with respect to the variable.

Where we have an interaction term, or where a variable is included in the form of a quadratic (as is the case with age: both age and age-squared are includ-

ed in all regressions), we have calculated a joint test of the significance of the variable. Using the coefficients obtained from our regressions, e.g., the coefficients of age and age-squared, we construct a new variable for age and re-run the regression. The coefficient of the new variable is 1.0, and all other results are as in the previous version (except that we appear to have an added degree of freedom); but interest attaches to the t-test of the new, constructed variable, for that provides a joint test of the significance of that variable. In general, such joint tests produce stronger t-tests than the original, separate parameters, because the latter naturally are reduced by multicollinearity. This test measures the effect of including the variable in all its forms in the model, and is equivalent to an F-test comparing the residual sum of squares where the variable is included with that where the variable is excluded.

In general, our multiple regression equations explained between ten per cent and one-third of the variance in our dependent variables. These figures are about average for microdata, especially where medical care is concerned. They would have been raised, perhaps considerably, had we morbidity and income data.

## D. Outline of the Paper

This volume has eight chapters, including this Introduction, which is Chapter 1, in addition to the Appendix, already discussed.

Chapter 2 introduces some economics of medical care. It discusses the ways in which medical care is similar to and different from other commodities produced and distributed in a market economy, and in particular how these relate to the peculiar ways in which medical care is financed. Medical care is provided in every country of which we have knowledge with point-of-use prices and fees which are either nil or far below cost, and we must explain both the reasons for and the consequences of that fact. Chapter 2 discusses the welfare economics of medical care, that is, how medical care fits into the traditional economics notion of optimality. And it reviews the international literature on the subjects of medical care utilisation and physician behaviour. Thus it sets the theoretical background for the present study.

Chapters 3 and 4 set the factual background, concerning Ireland in particular. Chapter 3 discusses Irish morbidity and mortality, in a European setting. Chapter 4 discusses in detail the organisation, financing and delivery of medical care services in Ireland. In the process, it discusses the incentive structure and other economic dimensions of the system.

Chapter 5 reviews the level and growth of expenditures — public, private and total — in three categories: medical care, health and Department of Health. The growth rate in expenditures has been extraordinarily high and appears unsustainable. Explanations for this rapid growth, especially those relating to the incentive structure, are offered and the details of this structure, as set out in Chapter 4, are gathered together to provide a concise analytic summary.

Chapters 6 and 7 report the main statistical findings of this study. Chapter 6 is

#### INTRODUCTION

devoted to general practitioner (GP) services, which are pivotal in the Irish system. Included is a major discussion of the problem of self-interested physician-generated demand for their own services by Irish GPs. Chapter 7 deals with all other kinds of care, with preventative services and with household medical care expenditures.

Chapter 8 is devoted to conclusions and recommendations. In it, some detailed recommendations are made with respect to particular features of the Irish system. Then four alternative models of fundamental reform or re-structuring are reviewed and assessed. Finally, the author sets out his own proposals for reform.

## E. The Author's Point of View

The author has tried, successfully he believes, to prevent his views from unduly affecting his analysis. None the less, in a work of this kind, it seems appropriate for him to set out his views regarding medical care, and especially regarding the kind of health and medical care systems he would hope someday to see in Ireland.

It should be an ultimate goal, the author believes, of the development of the health services in Ireland and everywhere, that needed health care be available to all, without charge at the point of use. It is to be emphasised that this is not a conclusion of the present study, but an ultimate goal favoured by the author. Indeed, the conclusions, dealing with present problems, are rather different.

The author believes that the same quality of care should be provided to everyone, irrespective of income, social class, education, region, sex, or age. There should be effective outreach of the health services, so that those who are ill are assured of coming to the attention of the right practitioners and of being given treatment.

Health should not be the sole or even the primary domain of the medical profession. First responsibility for care should be with the individual. Expanded programmes of occupational and personal safety, preventative care and health education are needed, to reduce morbidity and mortality associated with modern living, such as from heart attack, stroke and cancer. People should be made conscious of the costs to them and to society of unhealthy lifestyles. Ireland needs, far more than exists today, a cost-conscious and health conscious population.

For this to occur, it will be necessary that physicians share more information with their patients, abandoning the authoritarian model in widespread use, in favour of a more modern one, which emphasises two-way communication between doctor and patient. The doctor and patient should work together, in partnership, rather than in subject-object relationship.

This work is being written in a time of fiscal crisis and budgetary stringency, no less in the medical care area than in others. The main focus of the present work is not on development of the health services, but as already noted on economising, on controlling, on stopping the explosive growth of medical care expenditures. Consequently, in spite of his long-run goals, the author proposes charges for a number of medical care services currently provided without charge (though there are also proposed shifts in the opposite direction). This study is not a brief for a visionary future system, but a careful and objective analysis of the current situation. But the author firmly believes that none of the objectives stated above is inconsistent with an efficient and economically rational medical care system. We will return to this theme in Chapter 8.

## Chapter 2

# SOME ECONOMICS OF MEDICAL CARE

Medical care is a commodity. It may differ in a number of respects from other commodities in its human significance, in its manner of production and consumption, and in other respects, but it remains a commodity. In Ireland, its production uses roughly an estimated 10 per cent of Gross National Product (1980), as we will see in Chapter 5, a figure which is both fairly typical for the developed world, and rising.

The concept of economic rationality or efficiency applies to medical care, as to other commodities. Economic efficiency requires that medical care have the right or optimal share of society's productive resources, that these be applied in an appropriate or optimal mix within medical care, and distributed across the component parts of medical care in an optimal manner. Using a conventional exercise in microeconomics, it can be shown that when certain conditions are met, economic efficiency so defined can be attained through the operation of the market, with medical care sold at prices equal to the added cost to society of providing one more unit. In general, according to this exercise, if a commodity is produced and consumed without major external effects in private markets under competitive conditions, there normally is no need for regulation or collective provision in order to ensure that approximately optimal quantities are provided. Individuals will compare the cost to them, which is also the cost to society, of incremental units of that product, with their benefits and arrive at individual optimum solutions. There are objections to this exercise, but they need not be discussed, as the necessary conditions are not met in the case of medical care: the market fails, because of the properties of medical care as a commodity. In this chapter, we will review the properties of medical care as a commodity, and the conditions of its delivery, as a background to our subsequent discussions and analysis of the Irish medical care system. First we will review the position of medical care in the economy as a whole, from the standpoint of welfare maximisation. This will take us briefly into the question of placing an economic value on human life. We will then review the ways in which medical care is thought to differ from most other commodities, especially within the context of market failure. One way in which it arguably differs is that doctors, who are suppliers of medical care services, also significantly influence demand. The economics of physician behaviour will be examined in the next section. Following that, the possibility that a form of "Parkinson's Law" explains medical care demand will be reviewed. Finally, the empirical literature on medical care utilisation will be reviewed.

#### A. Medical Care and Welfare

Medical care enters into positive and normative economic models in ways which, even when they are reduced to their simplest, are somewhat intricate. Medical care presumably influences the state of health of the population, though it may not in fact be among the most important such influences. Via health, it influences the productivity of the labour force and hence the level of output. Therefore, medical care is capable of both direct and indirect influences on human welfare. Similarly, output has both direct and indirect influences on health. Best and Smith (1980) have presented a usefully compact way of displaying the role of medical care in the determination of social welfare.

First, we begin with what economists call a "production function" — the set of relationships that determine the amount of output in a firm, in an industry, or even in the economy as a whole. Our economy-wide production function is expressed in the most general possible way:

$$\mathbf{Q} = \mathbf{Q}(\mathbf{X}, \mathbf{I}) \tag{1}$$

which says that output (Q) depends on (is a function of) resources — capital, labour, technology, etc. (X), and of the level of illness in the system (I). Output is positively related to resources and negatively related to illness.

Output can be divided into medical care, M, and other output, C:

$$\mathbf{Q} = \mathbf{M} + \mathbf{C} \tag{2}$$

Next, we have an illness production function,

$$\mathbf{I} = \mathbf{I}(\mathbf{C}, \mathbf{M}, \mathbf{Z}) \tag{3}$$

which tells us that illness is a function of medical care and other output, and of Z. Z is a set of exogenous factors and attributes, such as age, sex, and genetic distributions, and the like. We withhold for a moment discussion of whether these relationships are positive or negative.

Finally, we have what economists call the welfare function (or objective function),

$$W = W(C, I) \tag{4}$$

which states that social welfare depends on non-medical output or C and on the level of illness. (Medical care, M, does not appear, because it is a means to an end rather than an end in itself.) This is a highly oversimplified view of what social welfare depends upon, but it will serve our purposes here. C increases social welfare and I reduces it. It can be shown that welfare maximisation, as in (4), requires that the welfare benefits from additional non-medical output be equated with the benefits of additional medical care output:

$$\frac{\Delta W}{\Delta C} = \frac{\Delta W}{\Delta M}$$
(5)

The reasoning is simple. If they were unequal, there would be an opportunity to redistribute society's resources and get an improvement in welfare. If a pound spent on non-medical output added more to welfare than a pound spent on medical output, society could shift a pound from the latter to the former and increase total welfare. Only where they are equal is it impossible to increase welfare through resource shifts.

Equation (5) is more complex than it appears. The welfare effects of nonmedical output are both direct and indirect, via illness. The welfare effects of medical output are *only* indirect. We can rewrite (5) as follows:

$$\frac{\Delta W}{\Delta C} + \frac{\Delta W}{\Delta I} \times \frac{\Delta I}{\Delta C} = \frac{\Delta W}{\Delta C} \times \frac{\Delta C}{\Delta I} \times \frac{\Delta I}{\Delta M}$$
(5a)

The left-hand side gives the direct effect of non-medical output on welfare, added to the effect of illness on welfare times the effect of non-medical output on illness. We will discuss in a moment the directions of these effects. The righthand side gives the effect of medical output on welfare; this is the product (reading from right to left) of the effect of medical care on illness, the effect of illness on non-medical output, and the effect (again) of non-medical output on welfare.

Let us turn to an examination of the directions of these relationships. First, illness certainly reduces output and hence C. The direct effect of output, C, on welfare is always assumed in economics to be beneficial: C increases W. What is the effect of C on I? Until recent years, this relationship was always assumed to be negative. The higher the level of output and income in society, the better were presumed to be housing, sanitation, nutrition, and the like, and through them health. But we have reached a point in many industrial societies where the major causes of morbidity and mortality — heart disease, hypertension, cancers, motor vehicle accidents, other accidents and violence — can be interpreted as consequences to a considerable extent of either the production or the consumption, or both, of output. That is, we may have reached a point at which the relationship is changing from negative to positive. Best and Smith suggest that the relationship between I and C is ordinarily U-shaped, and that the "levelling out effect" in the USA and the UK began as long ago as 1930. For Ireland the 1950s or even 1960s would seem a better guess. (There may be a third stage, at which the sign becomes negative again. The USA, Canada and Finland, have through changes in lifestyle, managed to reduce the incidence of heart disease and stroke in the 1970s. But Ireland along with Britain and other countries seems to be far from this third phase.)

It is interesting as well to consider the relationship between I and M. Of course it is normally assumed that increasing the amount of resources devoted to medical care will reduce the level of illness in society, i.e., that the sign is negative. But there is little if any statistical or historical support for such an assumption. As Fuchs has stated,

... The connection between health and medical care is not nearly as direct or immediate as most discussions would have us believe. True, advances in medical science, particularly the development of anti-infectious drugs in the 1930s, '40s, and '50s, did much to reduce morbidity and mortality. Today however, differences in health levels (between developed countries or within them) are not primarily related to differences in the quantity or quality of medical care. Rather, they are attributable to genetic and environmental factors and to personal behaviour. Furthermore, except for the very poor, health in developed countries no longer correlates with per capita income. Indeed, higher income often seems to do as much harm as good to health, so that differences in diet, smoking, exercise, automobile driving and other manifestations of "life-style" have emerged as the major determinant of health. (Fuchs, 1974.)

No doubt expenditures on medical care account in numerous individual instances for reduced incidence and prevalence of disease, for shorter spells of illness, and for reduced mortality. But medical care expenditures are also reflected in convenience, comfort, amenity, dignity and other laudible objectives; in tolerance of and ability to "live with" illness, in ways which are not reflected in reduced morbidity statistics; and in incomes of medical professionals and other personnel. The relationship between I and M is almost certainly negative, but the strength of the relationship is probably smaller than is commonly assumed.

Best and Smith group the causes that might account for an increase in I, the level of illness, into three categories.

First, illness might increase as a result of an increase in the prevalence of one or more of the infectious diseases. These diseases are those which arise as a result of exposure to a "disease agent" in the form of a specific pathogen. They include a number of familiar bacterial diseases such as whooping cough and typhoid fever, as well as viral diseases such as measles and influenza. Until as recently as 50 years ago, infectious diseases figured prominently amongst the most common causes of premature death in all industrialised countries. And while some infectious conditions persist as important causes of morbidity (e.g., the common cold and influenza; bronchitis and pneumonia) and premature mortality (e.g., certain respiratory conditions of early infancy), it is generally recognised that these conditions account for a declining proportion of the total disease burden in all industrialised countries.

Second, illness might increase as a result of an increase in the prevalence

of conditions that are associated primarily with a natural or biological process. The most obvious conditions within this category are those that frequently accompany the ageing process ... Other conditions within this category include genetically contingent problems such as cystic fibrosis; congenital abnormalities; and certain "natural" complications of childbirth ...

Thirdly, illness may increase as a result of an increase in the prevalence of non-infectious conditions related primarily to lifestyle or other environmentally-determined factors. The conditions falling into this category have been variously labelled "the diseases of civilisation", "the diseases of modern economic development", or "modern epidemics". Included here are those conditions that are the most common causes of premature mortality in industrialised societies (e.g., ischaemic heart disease, accidents and many forms of cancer) as well as some of the most important causes of morbidity (e.g., smoking-related respiratory problems, many occupational illnesses and dental caries).

The third group of conditions have become the most common causes of premature mortality in most industrialised countries not only as a result of the unhealthy conditions and environmental influences of life in such countries, but also as a result of the decline, due both to income growth and to health and medical developments, in the first category, infectious diseases. The consequent lengthening of expected human life accounts for a larger number of aged persons, and consequently increases in the prevalence of conditions in the second group. Conditions in the second and third groups differ from those in the first in the degree of their apparent responsiveness to outlays on medical care, and it has been suggested that medical care is as a consequence now characterised by decreasing returns. It certainly is true that we have little if any improvement in mortality tables to show for the rapid expenditure increases in the last two decades (Barrett, 1979).

While recognising that the distinctions are over-simple and ignore interactions, Best and Smith note that the conditions in the first group are the most amenable to *cure* in the usual sense; those in the second group tend not to be cureable and usually require attention to rehabilitation and *care*; and those in the third group are also not often cureable in the usual sense, and require an approach emphasising *prevention*. The idea that the link between M and I may be weakly negative, and that returns to W and even I may be greater from concentrating additional resources on what Best and Smith call "C-centred measures" amounts to an updating of the old adage that an ounce of prevention is worth a pound of cure.

Evidence bearing on the magnitude, and even on the sign of the link between I and M is very limited. Auster Leveson and Sarachek (1969) analysed interregional differences in age-sex-adjusted mortality rates in the United States, in order to estimate the net elasticity of health with respect to medical services (i.e., the per cent change in mortality rates of American states with a one per cent change in medical services while controlling for other influences). They found an elasticity of -0.1. The elasticity for education (-0.2) was, however, higher. Positive net elasticities were found for cigarette smoking (+0.1) and, interestingly, family income (+0.2). The latter may bear on the question, raised earlier, of the direction of the link between C and I.

## B. A Value on Human Life?

Equation (5), which states the conditions for welfare maximisation, says that the added contribution to human welfare of the last pound or penny spent on non-medical output must be the same as the added contribution of the last pound or penny spent on medical care. Welfare maximisation also requires that  $\Delta W/\Delta M$  be the same throughout the system — that the final expenditure on hospitals in Cork yield the same benefit to society as the final expenditure on pharmaceuticals in Sligo and the final expenditure on medical education in Dublin.

While such criteria may seem appropriate in making judgements about, e.g., highways or drainage, it may seem novel to apply them to health care. After all, in the final analysis, is not the business of health care the saving of lives? How can the value of a human life be weighed against, e.g., a new car or a telephone? Can it be that economists are about the business of setting explicit or implicit values on human lives, and comparing such values with the benefits from consumer goods, public investment and the like?

The answer is that *society* places an implicit value on human life, a value incidentally which is far from infinity, and economists observe, note and report this. There exists a fairly sizeable literature in economics on the value of human life, and it is virtually all empirical — that is, it is based on observation of behaviour of society (cf. Bonamour, 1983).

The first step in the economics of the value of human life is to distinguish between the value of the life of a known individual and the value of an abstract or anonymous generalised human life. If we ask, how many lives per year can we save if we improve a dangerous turn in a highway, or buy a new ambulance, or enforce emission controls on motor vehicles, or operate blood pressure clinics, and if we decide on the basis of such calculations whether to undertake the necessary costs, we are implicitly placing a value on an abstract human life. Assuming that the whole population is equally at risk in each case, so that we are not making interpersonal or intergroup comparisons, economic efficiency would require that we treat human life as of equal value in each case — that we not spend more to save human life in medical care, for example, than in highway safety. On the other hand, however, if a specific child falls down a mine shaft, a yachtsman is lost at sea, or a particular patient requires an available but costly treatment, society will typically spend far more, and sometimes a virtually unlimited amount to save a life. It is an understandable quirk of human psychology that leads us almost without exception to value the known over the unknown individual. Economists of course regard the behaviour of society toward the abstract, anonymous person, and not that toward the known individual, as the accurate indicator of the value placed by society on human life generally.

It is worth pointing out that applying the concept of "economic efficiency" to health and medicine does not imply the subordination of medical considerations to budgetary or accounting ones, but rather means that (a) the level of medical care expenditure is such that the contribution to human welfare of the final expenditure on medical care is equal to that of the final expenditure on other goods; and (b) that the contribution to human welfare be the same for the final expenditure in each part or aspect of the medical care system. The first rule would be violated if either too much or too little of society's resources were expended on medical care. If medical expenditure were excessive, the final pound or penny spent on health care would add so little to human welfare, that a re-allocation to other human needs and wants, such as food, housing and recreation, would actually raise welfare. The "final" expenditure refers to the least urgent one — the one which would be sacrificed if the money were no longer available and if we were free to vary expenditures flexibly. If medical care expenditures were insufficient, then the contribution to human welfare of the last pound or penny would exceed that of any other activity, and a re-allocation in favour of medicine would provide for an increase in human welfare. The second rule would be violated if there were such an imbalance in the medical care system as the following. If there were too many resources devoted to hospital care, compared with infant screening, then the contribution of the last pound or penny to the latter would add more to human welfare than that of the former. Total welfare could be increased with a re-allocation of resources.

As noted, since society explicitly or implicitly sets a value on human life, then human life can be figured into this concept of efficiency. Let us assume for the moment that all human life is valued equally by society. This assumption is merely an expository convenience, and it is not argued that it is, or should be, true. If it were, then the two assumptions tell us, *inter alia*, that the same final resource expenditure would be made on the saving of lives by each branch of the medical care sector, and by and in the rest of society. This conclusion also means that the total number of lives saved is maximised. This obviously does not imply the subordination of medical considerations to economic ones.

If society decides to set a different value on the lives of different persons, that changes the outcome only in detail. If the rich, the young, senior politicians, etc., are to be favoured, then one can merely attach weights to the values of their lives (e.g., a cabinet minister is worth 1.5 ordinary persons, etc.) and the outcomes stated above are correct in terms of weighted lives.

We should not, of course, equate medical care with life-saving. A large and evidently increasing proportion of medical care is directed at improving the quality of life and not at life-saving *per se*.

#### IRISH MEDICAL CARE RESOURCES

### C. How Medical Care Differs from Other Commodities

Medical care is one sector of the economy in which economic efficiency has in recent years been of major and growing concern. For a variety of reasons, most health care systems seem to contain major areas of irrationality from an economic standpoint; these manifest themselves in imbalances as well as in unrelenting cost increases. The irrationality shows up, e.g., in the extraordinary range of implicit values attached to a human life, depending on whether the concern is prevention or cure, what therapies are used, and where, in or out of the medical care system, the judgement is made.

In virtually every country in the world, medical care is delivered either free at the point of use<sup>9</sup> or at net prices (i.e., prices net of reimbursement or tax relief) which are not only below average costs, but almost certainly below marginal costs as well. In most of these, medical care is financed mainly by government, through either general revenues and exchequer payments, or social wefare contributions and trust fund payments. Even where the state's involvement is less (as, e.g., in the USA), private, voluntary insurance covers a substantial part of costs, leaving the user to pay either nothing or a small amount at the point of use. (In the USA, 70 per cent of medical care costs are covered by third-party payments, either public or private.) These practices suggest that medical care is either some kind of public good, or at least a special kind of private good.

It might be assumed by some that medical care is often financed or subsidised because it is *essential* to human life. Essentiality is not a characteristic which is either unique to medical care or true of all aspects of medical care. The market is used to distribute commodities such as food and clothing which are more certainly and generally essential to life. We look, then, to the theory of public goods for an explanation, but return to the question of essentiality later.

The theory of public goods (or of market failure) provides us with a number of categories of goods which may, to the extent there is demand for them, be provided through some type of public finance: pure public goods; quasi-public goods, which have significant external benefits; goods (such as products of public utilities) produced under conditions of decreasing costs; merit goods; and others.

It is clear that medical care does not meet the definition of a pure public good. Individuals can consume different amounts; there is rivalry in consumption (i.e., the consumption of medical care by individual A uses resources which then are unavailable to produce goods for individual B); and people can easily be excluded from consumption of medical care if, for example, they do not pay. Medical care is essentially a private good.<sup>10</sup>

Medical care is, however, certainly sometimes affected by externalities.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>When medical care is described herein as "free" or "free at the point of use" what is meant is that there is no fee or charge associated with use. Of course, medical care is never free in the resource or opportunity cost sense.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>This may not be true of some aspects of health care outside of medicine, especially such preventative services as food inspection, anti-pollution programmes, etc.

Individual A's medical care can figure in B's utility function in two important ways. First, infectious or communicable disease, from colds to cholera, involves obvious externalities, and there is clearly a social demand for the prevention, treatment, or isolation of cases of such diseases in individual A. These *public health* aspects of medical care have the most venerable tradition of public finance; and while as noted earlier infectious disease is absolutely and relatively less important in the health of nations today than it was one, two and three generations ago, our medical care delivery and financing arrangements today are dominated to a considerable extent by a picture of health and medicine based on those earlier conditions.

Only 2 per cent of Irish current public expenditure on health goes to prevention of infectious diseases, health education, food hygiene services, and child health examinations combined (Table 5.1 below). Other countries have similar findings. Barrett (1979) cites Lees as estimating that only 5 per cent of medical expenditures can be justified on the grounds of the benefits to third parties of disease prevention. This type of externality, then, does not appear to be the principal reason for the social finance of health care.

Arguments can also be made for some public intervention in the case of decreasing cost industries, which can never be effectively competitive, and where anything approaching marginal cost pricing implies losses. But no one seriously argues that medical care fits into this category.<sup>11</sup>

In a seminal paper, Arrow (1963) argues "the special economic problems of medical care can be explained as adaptations to the existence of uncertainty in the incidence of disease and in the efficacy of treatment". Uncertainty regarding the incidence of disease implies some type of *insurance* solution, and public finance of health care can with little loss in accuracy be regarded as a form of compulsory insurance. But why compulsory? This is a point to which we will return presently.

Uncertainty "in the efficacy of treatment" is a more complex and subtle point than would first appear. Medical care is a highly technical field of knowledge, and medical practice represents the culmination of an extraordinarily long training programme. Hence a vast gulf separates, or appears to separate, the general public from physicians, in terms of understanding of illness and its treatment. The public turn to doctors to determine whether they are in fact ill; to diagnose what illnesses they suffer from; to choose what is the appropriate treatment; and, to an extent, to determine whether the treatment has been successful. That is, the patient is likely to be uncertain regarding the quality of care received *before*, *during and after* the treatment.

This uncertainty, combined with the vital nature of the services provided, and their frequent personal and sensitive character, make it impossible for the buyer to deal in the market in any ordinary way with the providers of medical care. Instead, there has developed a unique sort of relationship between doctor and

<sup>11</sup>An exception of some practical importance concerns resource lumpiness or discontinuities, as, e.g., physicians in sparsely settled areas.

patient, requiring an extraordinary degree of trust. These factors mean, interalia, (i) that the state or the medical profession have an obligation, met through licensing and related techniques, to assure that all doctors are at least minimally competent;<sup>12</sup> (ii) that price competition, advertising, etc., as among physicians, hospitals, etc., are viewed as inappropriate and even unethical; (iii) that primary care physicians not only advise patients but often actually decide on their behalf on the course of treatment, whether that involves return visits, referrals, pharmaceutical medicines, hospital admissions, or some other (resource-using) form of treatment; (iv) that the same applies as well to specialists and other doctors to whom patients invest their trust; (v) that the medical profession therefore is in a position of determining, to a unique degree, the demand for their own services; and finally (vi) that for all these reasons, reliance on an unregulated, unsubsidised market will not avail to provide economic efficiency in the usual sense. One of the basic conditions necessary for economic efficiency in a market solution is the independence of supply and demand, and medical care clearly does not meet this requirement.<sup>13</sup> (We return to physician behaviour later in the chapter.)

Rawls has argued in his celebrated book (1971) for a major degree of progressive income and wealth redistribution, approaching complete equality,<sup>14</sup> on the following grounds. Suppose we were able to decide the shape of society's income distribution without knowing our own positions, as individuals, in it. For example, let us imagine a conference held on the day before the universe is begun, of all potential populators of the universe; and one question addressed in the conference is the degree of economic equality or inequality to be achieved in society, *before* each of us knows our individual economic positions. Rawls argues that most people would insist on a risk-averting "maximin" strategy, of maximising the position of the poorest members of society, because of the possibility each person faces that he or she will be one of these persons. Redistribution is viewed as a form of insurance.<sup>15</sup>

Rawls' proposal is obviously only a philosophical abstraction, a *gedanken* exercise. But on a more practical level, social means for the provision of medical care are arranged in every country in large part on a similar basis. People know their positions in society's income distribution, but they do not know whether they

<sup>12</sup>The logic of this argument would appear to require periodical re-examination and re-certification of physicians, or some other technique to assure the public that its doctors remain competent. Nothing of the sort is done in Ireland, nor anywhere else, so far as it can be determined.

<sup>13</sup>Where supply and demand are interdependent, price may be indeterminant, and/or may not relate to marginal evaluations of buyers.

<sup>14</sup>Since any redistributive process can involve unavoidable disincentive effects on labour force participation, investment, etc., which in turn can reduce output, after some point attempts to transfer income to the poor may, paradoxically, reduce the income of the poor. Rawls would cease the redistributive process at that point. That is, the target is maximum income for the poorest, rather than equality of income *per se*.

<sup>15</sup>Arrow (1963) had some years earlier argued that "a good part of the preference for redistribution expressed in government taxation and expenditure policies and private charity can be reinterpreted as desire for insurance", on similar grounds.

will be ill, what illnesses they will face, or what the costs of those illnesses will be; so they insist on a medical care system which will provide adequately for their own care and treatment if the worst should happen. Again, public provision of medical care is viewed as a form of compulsory health insurance.

And again, why compulsory? The answer to that appears to reside in the concept of "merit good". Stripped of flowery and mystifying language,<sup>16</sup> a merit good is one provided by government even though it is essentially a private good, because leaders feel that consumers do not know what is in their best interests. Consumers may lack the technical expertise or the far-sightedness to provide adequately for their *own* needs, so benign and paternal government compensates by providing essentially private goods.

Public finance of medical care is in effect a provision of insurance. It is financed through mandatory payments (ordinary taxes and social insurance contributions), providing for universal eligibility (within defined economic groups) *because society is unwilling to accept the consequences of individuals' failure to insure*. Reliance on voluntary insurance would require that the fraction of the population who are so myopic as not to purchase cover, and who have no other resources to purchase medical care, simply be denied that care should it be required.<sup>17</sup> But such an outcome would be intolerable and unacceptable to a majority of the population, because medical care is viewed as *essential*. Society then insists that coverage be universal.<sup>18,19</sup>

The assumption that low-income persons might be more likely than others to fail to insure may account for the general view of national health services as progressively redistributive even in systems (such as the British NHS) where utilisation is significantly higher in the higher socio-economic groups (Black, 1980).

To summarise this section so far: (i) medical care today is basically a private good; (ii) however, the market cannot efficiently be used for its provision because

<sup>18</sup>This is true even of the USA, which relies primarily on "voluntary" health insurance rather than any state device. "Voluntary" is in inverted commas because for the most part it is provided as a product of collective bargaining contracts between unions and employers. Union negotiators prefer health insurance to higher cash incomes for their members because they too, are unwilling to accept the consequences of individuals' failure to insure, i.e., because medical care is a merit good, provided not through the state but through another vehicle.

<sup>19</sup>One might instead view the case as one of an altruistic or sympathetic externality, i.e., where the ability of individual A to avail of needed medical care figures in the utility function of individual B. The difference is mainly a semantic one, as the argument is essentially the same in both cases.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>"While consumer sovereignty is the general rule, situations may arise, within the context of a democratic community, where an informed group is justified in imposing its decision on others.... These are matters of learning and leadership which are an essential part of democracy reasonably defined..." (Musgrave, 1959).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>Though they are decidedly exceptional, there are some parts of the USA where fire brigades are supported by voluntary fee payments by householders; and occasionally one reads of the brigade being called out to watch the burning of houses owned by non-fee payers. (The brigade stands by, to prevent the fire spreading to houses owned by its clients). Most places in the world would reject such a system, because they would be unwilling to countenance the burning down of homes of those too myopic to pay fire brigade fees.

#### IRISH MEDICAL CARE RESOURCES

buyers lack sufficient knowledge; (iii) physicians, to whom buyers have implicitly delegated the role of agent, do not bear the resource costs of their decisions; (iv) uncertainty about future morbidity and its costs makes the provision of insurance necessary; and (v) such insurance is a merit good and hence health care is provided through some explicit or implicit form of compulsory insurance.

As a consequence of the foregoing, the market is either abandoned or interfered with, and much medical care is provided at a zero price, or at point-of-purchase prices which are well below social opportunity costs of providing the care. Let us, in the next few paragraphs, discuss the consequences of this in terms of zero prices, bearing in mind that prices and fees which are non-zero but below social opportunity costs have similar effects but to lesser degrees.

While one can argue, on the basis of the considerations discussed above, that prices ought to be zero, or (to phrase it positively rather than normatively) that prices will be zero in medical care, this outcome creates problems of economic efficiency. Where no decision maker, patient or provider, bears an added cost when a resource is used, such resources are apt to be treated by all concerned as free. This problem does not reside uniquely in public finance of medical care; it plagues private insurance — voluntary as well as compulsory — as well. In insurance, the problem is referred to as "moral hazard", the tendency of insurance to increase the likelihood of the contingency insured against. To take an example outside of the health area, one would probably be far more careful abour fire hazards if one's home or business were not covered by fire insurance. If fire insurance did not exist as an institution, some firms would go to extraordinary lengths to prevent or limit fire, and staffing procedures, building structures, and materials would all differ, as compared with the existing situation. It follows that the existence of fire insurance may mean that there are more fires, overall, than there would otherwise be. Likewise, the existence of health insurance, or its public-sector equivalents, means more utilisation and more cost (which are the contingencies insured against, not illness), than if full-cost fees were charged for each use of the health services, i.e., than if there were no insurance. Yet it does not follow that fees should therefore be charged, just as it does not follow that fire insurance should be abolished.

Economic theory tells us that where a product's price is effectively zero, users will push their use to the point where their marginal evaluation of the product is zero. (This abstracts from time costs, discussed in Section F.) An implication is that unless some other rationing device is employed, people may use the health services to deal with problems such as headaches, cramps, itches and other discomforts; with only mildly disturbing symptoms which do not portend serious illness; and with loneliness and isolation, where other, less socially costly solutions to the same problems are available and would be preferrable. Zero pointof-use pricing can lead to many situations in which social opportunity costs of medical care utilisation will exceed marginal social benefits.

There are three possible budgetary consequences of such excessive utilisation demands. One might be a corresponding increase in supply, requiring an in-

crease in taxation (or in the government borrowing requirement). A second would also be a corresponding increase in supply, but financed by cuts elsewhere in the budget, e.g., in education or social welfare expenditures. If annual public medical care budgets are fixed by a process unrelated to such demands, then the third alternative consequence, that some members of the public be deprived of needed care, is more likely (Culyer, 1971). This point needs noting because some commentators might otherwise take the position that there is no such thing as excessive utilisation demand, and that efforts to curtail access through pricing or regulation are improper.

## D. The Economics of Physician Behaviour

As noted, doctors either make or influence many, possibly most, resource-using medical decisions. It is important to consider how doctors make such decisions, and whether they make them, or can be led to make them, in ways which contribute to economic efficiency. We discuss theory here, and return to the subject again later when we deal with empirical studies of utilisation.

Primary-care physicians are the gateways to the medical system for most persons and in most cases. They provide access, often the only access, to specialists, hospitals and prescription medicines. They regulate such access, and their own services, according to patient need and possibly other criteria. Hence they have a rationing function, one which in many systems, especially those in which medical care is provided free at the point of use, is the dominant one in terms of resource utilisation. Commenting on this rationing function, Culyer and Maynard (NESC, No. 29, 1977) observed,

In all countries with which we are acquainted, the rationing function has been left to physicians who not only (under any system of remuneration in current use) have a clear incentive to press always for more resources (except possibly physicians) in health care but who also do not have any clear instructions from society as to how their rationing function is to be discharged.

In an angry response, the physician-editor of the *Irish Medical Journal* (70:12, 1977) replied, "Perhaps no single sentence of the Report will illustrate the fundamental difference in philosophy between doctors and economists...." The editorial specifically denied that health services must inevitably be rationed. "Doctors do not ration services, nor will they readily submit to 'clear instructions from society'. A doctor has a fiduciary relationship with his individual patient. He is there to see that his patient gets the necessary treatment."

Doctors do of course ration services, in the sense above, which is the sense intended by Culyer and Maynard; what the editorial might have meant will be considered in a moment. The question at hand is *on what basis* doctors make decisions that have resource-utilisation implications.

There are three models of physician behaviour. It is likely that more than one,

and possible that all three, operate to some extent in explaining physician behaviour in all medical care systems. The three are the *agency* model; the *self-interest* model; and the *medical ethics* model. Only the first two are represented in the economics literature.

Agency model: Perhaps the most popular concept of physician behaviour in the economics literature is that of the so-called "agency role of the physician", which is due to Feldstein (1974). The patient indicates his or her financial position, insurance coverage, and relevant preferences to the doctor, who then uses technical medical expertise to act for the patient as the patient "would for himself if he had the appropriate expertise". If and to the extent that the physician acts in the sole interest of the patient, "it would be difficult if not impossible to distinguish the agency relation from the traditional model of independent consumer behaviour on the basis of observed household consumption. ... If the agency relationship is complete, it can essentially be ignored for the analysis of demand." Though Feldstein concedes that the relationship is not complete, he argues that "available evidence ... does seem to support the notion of a generalised agency model of household demand for hospital services."<sup>20</sup>

Self-interest: Doctors are, among their other roles, economic beings, and in Ireland they are almost all independent professionals. It would be surprising indeed if they did not act in their own economic self-interest. The notion that physicians often do have their own economic self-interest at heart, even where it may conflict with that of the patient, has a considerable degree of support in the empirical literature, as we will see below. Most of the empirical literature on demand generation by physicians comes from North America, where the health care delivery system differs from that found in Ireland. In North America, specialists provide primary care, and GPs (general practitioners) are a vanishing species. Primary care physicians who order hospitalisation, surgery, etc., are often in the position of creating demand for their own services. In Ireland, none of these is true: there is ordinarily no obvious self-interest on the part of general practitioners to generate demand for hospital admission, surgery, or specialist care. Instead, self-interest among general practitioners would lie primarily in generating higher levels of GP consultations, especially arranging multiple return visits. GPs, as we will see in the next chapter, are paid on a fee-for-service basis by the state for those covered by Medical Cards, and by the patient, at a higher average rate, for other members of the population.

Medical ethics: It is sometimes claimed that the medical profession has an

<sup>20</sup>A recent illustration of the agency model as articulated by an Irish physician appeared in a recent *Irish Times* series on "the drug culture". "Look", the doctor is quoted as saying, "if I prescribe a drug for a GMS (public) patient, I will prescribe the best available, which may or may not be the most expensive. But if it is a private patient, who I know has a large mortgage and other liabilities, then I will think harder before I prescribe a drug at all". The remainder of the doctor's statement seems to be derived from some other model of behaviour, however, and not the "medical ethics" model, either: "This [thinking harder before prescribing a drug for a private patient] is partly because I have time to think about it, whereas the GMS scheme does not pay me enough to give the same time and thought to the GMS patient", *Irish Times*, March 9, 1981.

obligation to treat the patient at hand without concern for economic considerations. An assertion that doctors follow this principle appears to lie behind the Irish Medical Journal's assertion, quoted above, that doctors do not ration services. If doctors act on the basis of an ethical code requiring them to provide the care or treatment necessary to the patient at hand, whatever the cost, there may in fact be conflicts between medical ethics and economic efficiency. Examples are many of instances in which the medical care system has concentrated large amounts of resources on prolonging for short periods of time the lives of certain patients with poor prognoses, even when other aspects of the system have inadequate resources to provide for timely care for all who need it. Such behaviour conflicts with economic efficiency by attaching heavier implicit weights to the lives of persons known to the medical care system than to those not known. The fact that doctors and hospitals typically use whatever resources are necessary to treat the patients who present themselves with injuries and diseases, though the system may fail in some areas of prevention and effective outreach, constitutes another example of the rule that in the calculus of the value of human life, the known individual outweighs the abstract, statistical person several times over.

Putting these models into more familiar economics language, we might summarise them as follows: *Agency:* maximise each patient's utility or welfare, in so far as it relates to medical care. The marginal utility of medical and nonmedical expenditures are equalised. *Self-interest:* maximise the doctor's own utility, a function (positive) of income, (negative) of work, and (probably negative) of demand inducing. *Medical ethics:* maximise the patient's health regardless of cost. The focus is on the patient, not on society.

In order to understand how economic factors may bear on physicians' decisions, we need to know how doctors' incomes are determined. There are basically three techniques for remunerating physicians: *fee-for-service*, *capitation* and *salary*. There are, of course, a number of possible hybrid combinations of these. Each method and its principal characteristics can be briefly described:

*Fee-for-service:* This is, in a sense, the original method. Doctors, as independent professionals, are paid so much per item of service, as are such other professionals as solicitors and accountants. When GPs are paid on a fee-for-service basis, they are normally paid, whether by the patient or by a third party, a predetermined fee for each consultation. A premium will typically be added for a home and/or after-hours' visit. Irish GPs are compensated in this fashion, as we will see in the next chapter. In some medical systems, the fee will vary according to what service the doctor provides (give injection, write prescription, etc.). For specialists, the nature of fee-for-service varies. For out-patient services, i.e., where patients are not admitted to hospital for at least an overnight stay, the fee is normally either per consultation or per time period. For in-patient services, i.e., where the patient is admitted to hospital, the fee is usually set according to the procedure or condition treated (e.g., so much for an appendectomy), though in some systems there have been doctors who were paid on the basis of the number of days the patient spends in hospital. This per diem technique is mentioned here, as it is

regarded by the profession as a fee-for-service method, though strictly speaking it is not.

*Capitation:* This method is employed in a number of European medical care systems, most notably in the United Kingdom's National Health Service (NHS). In addition, some doctors employed in Health Maintenance Organisations (HMOs — see Chapter 8) are also paid on a capitation basis. Under the capitation approach, patients choose one general practitioner and are registered on that doctor's list of patients; and the GP is paid according to the number of such patients on that list, irrespective of the number of consultations. Normally, however, the GP will also be compensated on a fee basis for extra services, such as late hours, or home visits. Specialists can also be paid on a variant of the capitation method. In some systems, for example, patients see specialists only on referral from a GP, and patients are, in effect, put on a specialist's list for a month, once such a referral occurs. The one-month listing is indefinitely renewable. The specialist is then paid according to the number of patients on that monthly list, irrespective of the number of patients on that monthly list, irrespective of the number of patients on that monthly list, irrespective of the number of patients.

Salary: General practitioners and other primary-care physicians are paid by salary in socialised systems in Israel, in Eastern Europe and in some HMOs. In addition, specialists in many systems and junior hospital doctors in almost all systems are also paid by salary. As with the capitation method, additional amounts, on either a fee-for-service or a time (e.g., hourly) basis, may be paid for additional work.

*Characteristics:* The medical ethics model of physician behaviour implies no difference in doctors' judgements arising out of method of remuneration. The agency model suggests that physician behaviour will vary according to the cost to the patient, but is silent on the effect of method of remuneration, except as this is related to patient cost. The self-interest model does imply differences in behaviour in different types of schemes.

If we assume (see section F, below) that doctors are like other people in wanting, within some limits, high incomes and low workloads, the self-interest model predicts the following, among other things. (1) There will be more physicianinduced consultations, and hence more total consultations, per patient in a feefor-service system than in others, cet. par. (2) As a corollary, if consultations per patient and per physician are higher in this system, then time per consultation may be lower. (3) In systems where the primary care physician also performs surgery and other in-patient procedures, as in North America, there will be more hospital admissions in fee-for-service systems than in others; and similarly, where the primary care physician also maintains a laboratory and a staff of technicians, as in Germany, there will be more out-patient tests than in other systems. (4) In capitation systems, doctors will try to maximise the size of their lists. (However, a limit is normally placed on list size.) (5) In capitation and salary systems, doctors will seek to minimise patient contact time, both in terms of numbers of consultation and in terms of their length. (6) There will be more referrals to other doctors by GPs in capitation or salary schemes, than in fee-forservice, to minimise the GPs' own efforts. (7) The fee-for-service system will tend to be the most sensitive to market influences, with the doctor losing incomes both through patients consulting less and by patients transferring to other doctors where patients are not satisfied. The capitation system is less sensitive, as doctors lose income only when patients seek another doctor. The salary system would be the least sensitive, as dissatisfied patients do not threaten doctor income at all, at least directly. For this reason, in a salary system, the doctor may require supervision; or, to put the point the other way around, one tends to find salaried doctors mainly where supervision is feasible.

(8) As a corollary of (1), certain other types of medical care than physician consultations, but not including referral to other physicians, may be subject to higher utilisation, cet. par., under a system in which primary care physicians are paid on a fee-for-service basis. The reason is that a larger number of consultations implies more opportunity for, and more patient expectation of, physicianinduced utilisations. Since primary care physicians are gateways to the whole medical care system, methods of remunerating them reverberate throughout the structure. In light of frequent doctor complaints that patients seem always to expect a prescription to be written at the end of each consultation, the selfinterest model would especially predict more pharmaceutical prescriptions to be written under the fee-for-service system than the other two. On a priori grounds one would also expect such out-patient referrals as for x-rays and laboratory tests, which are strongly associated with doctor consultations, also to be higher in a fee-for-service system. (9) A related point is that another corollary of (7) is that patient expectations, e.g., for pharmaceutical prescriptions as an outcome of GP consultations, would have somewhat more force in the fee-for-service approach than the capitation method and considerably more than in a salary system.

Abel-Smith (1983) reports that 1975 doctor consulting rates in Western Europe showed an apparently strong effect of remuneration technique. Of four countries surveyed, England, with its capitation method of remuneration, had the fewest average consultations per year (3.5). The others, in ascending order, were Belgium (6.3), Italy (11.5), and FR Germany (12, 1976).<sup>21</sup>

Within the European Economic Community (EEC), there is wide variability in per capita pharmaceutical prescribing rates, ranging from 4.5 items per person per year in the Netherlands to 21 per cent in Italy. The six countries with the highest prescribing rates, ranging from 9 to 21 (with an unweighted average of 10.25) all remunerate doctors on a fee-for-service basis, and three countries with the lowest prescribing rates, ranging from 4.5 to 6.9 (with an unweighted

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>As the present paper is drafted, three studies of medical care costs and expenditures in the European Community have been published; Abel-Smith and Maynard (1978); Michel (1978); and Abel-Smith and Grandjeat (1978). These concerned organisation and financing; cost of hospitalisation; and pharmaceutical consumption, respectively. No volume on primary health care has yet appeared.

average of 5.9), all use the capitation method (Abel-Smith, 1983).<sup>22</sup> Italy recently completed a major reform in its health care system, shifting, *inter alia*, from a fee-for-service system to a capitation one. During the transition, it was found that "the number of consultations per patient under fee-for-service payment was on average greater than under capitation payment" (Abel-Smith and Maynard, 1978).

There is evidence that hospitals are also affected by the method of remuneration.

Where hospitals are paid per day of care, there is an incentive on the hospital to extend the length of stay to secure payment for as high a proportion of staffed beds as possible unless patients are waiting to be admitted. Moreover, the cost falling on hospitals tends to be lower for later than earlier days of stay so that high occupancy is more profitably attained by longer stays than more admissions (Abel-Smith and Maynard, 1978).

# E. A "Parkinson's Law" of Medical Care Demand?

It was once believed that some objectively defineable notion of health or medical care "needs" existed, and that a medical care system, if it operated properly, should be expected to match resources to those needs. Such ideas seem naïve today.

Instead, it appears that demands for health care are in effect insatiable, at least in the aggregate. There is no objectively defineable and limited concept of medical need, nor is there an objectively defineable and limited concept of appropriate care of treatment. Consequently, economists have begun to talk of "an advanced form of Parkinson's Law" operating in the medical care area (Office of Health Economics, 1979). The original "law", due to C. Northcote Parkinson, was that work expands to fill the time available. In medical care, there appear to be two versions of the "law".

According to the first, "it appears that to whatever extent health care facilities are expanded they will generally still all be used; and at the same time there will remain a steady pool of 'unmet' demands'' (Office of Health Economics, 1979). There is impressive evidence for this within the British NHS. Culyer (1976) shows that despite rather large changes in the throughput capacity of British hospitals (defined as number of hospital beds available, divided by the average length of hospital stay), the total waiting list has remained remarkably constant, and the waiting list per capita even more so, over a 16-year period. Culyer cites two reasons for this phenomenon.

<sup>22</sup>Based on 1973, 1974, 1975, or 1975 data depending on country; hence Greece is not included. The Irish figure was for public patients only. The Italian figure was for doctors paid on a fee-forscrvice basis under the main health insurance scheme. However, under that scheme, doctors paid on a capitation basis prescribed less than doctors paid on a fee-for-service basis (Abel-Smith, 1983). First, the increase in throughput capacity has come about primarily through a fall in the average length of stay. This means that even though hospitalisation is free in the NHS, the "time-price" or cost of medical care in terms of one's own sacrifice of valuable time, had fallen, thus inducing an increase in utilisation as a movement along a demand curve. This, however, is the less important of the two explanations offered by Culyer.

Much more important, however, is the fact that the demand for care is mediated by doctors whose perception of need, operationally and at the level of the individual patient, is what really decides whether a patient is admitted. Since doctors also control supply, the usually convenient separation of resource allocation problems into a demand side and a supply side (the two blades of Alfred Marshall's 'scissors') ceases to be valid, for the factors affecting one side can no longer be supposed to be independent of the factors affecting the other: a necessary prerequisite for the valid application of demand/supply analysis. Supply increases, therefore, instead of reducing the excess demand (as mediated by doctors), tend not only to enable the meeting of existing demands, but encourage GPs to refer more patients to hospital, and hospital doctors to assign more people to the waiting list, until a more or less "conventional" waiting time is again reached.

According to the second notion of Parkinson's Law, an increase in the quantity of physician services in relation to population will give rise to a compensating rise in per capita physicians' services. In contrast to the first version, where physicians are regulating the use of *other* medical care resources, here physicians are argued to be stimulating or accepting increased utilisation of their *own* services, in order to maintain their incomes.

Figure 2.1, based on two diagrams employed by Reinhardt (1978), illustrates the concept of provider-induced demand, and permits a distinction between it and price-induced demand. The initial supply curve  $(S_0)$  and demand curve  $(D_0)$  provide the initial equilibrium price  $(P_0)$  and quantity  $(Q_0)$ . Then it is supposed that there is an outward shift in supply (to  $S_1$ ) caused, e.g., by an increase in the number of doctors (relative to population). If the market is competitive and supply and demand are independent, price falls (to  $P_1$ ) and output rises (to  $Q_1$ ). An increase in the ratio of doctors to population results in an increase in the rate of consultations per capita. This is not what is meant by supply-induced increases in demand. It might be called price-induced demand, and it represents an ordinary adjustment process, found in conventional markets. If doctors influence demand in this case, they do so only within the context of an agency model.

This solution indicates a fall in average physician incomes. The rise in the number of doctors, if it is indicated by the rightward shift in S, exceeds the rise in Q, indicating that the average doctor's workload has fallen. The unit price has also fallen. Therefore, average physician income has fallen. Again, this is the

result expected in a normally competitive market.

Now let it be supposed that doctors are willing and able to induce a compensating increase in demand for their own services and that the demand curve shifts outward to  $D_{IA}$ . In this case, which represents true provider-induced demand, quantity rises (to  $Q_{IA}$ ) and so does price (to  $P_{IA}$ ). Empirically, the market looks very much like one with an upward-sloping demand curve: increases in supply are associated with increases in price. If we observe such a positive correlation between the doctor-population ratio, and doctors' fees, assuming that we have controlled for other influences, we could take it as evidence that we have a self-interest model of physician-induced demand.



Figure 2.1: Provider-Induced Demand vs. Price-Induced Demand

However, it needs to be added that a *negative* correlation between the physician-population ratio and fees does not provide evidence contrary to the self-interest model. The rightward induced shift in demand may be affected by,

e.g., limits to doctors' market power, patient resistance, or doctor distaste for self-interested demand induction. If the demand curve shifts only, e.g., to  $D_{1B}$ , which is a compensating shift within the self-interest model, price will rise only to  $P_{1B}$ , and we will observe a negative correlation between the physician-population ratio and price, just as in the price-induced case.<sup>23</sup> There is no *a priori* way to determine whether fee levels will actually rise (Anderson, House and Ormiston, 1981). Hence we may well find no significant relationship between fee levels and physician supply, even where we control for demand-influencing variables.

Some of the empirical evidence on self-interested behaviour will be reviewed in a moment. Health economists have been described as falling into two groups, the "Ns" (for narrow) and "Bs" (for broad), the latter, unlike the former, assuming that the physician "is a predominant force in determining utilisation patterns due to his/her ability to form consumer/patient preferences and to provide information on which patient choices are made" (Evans, 1976). Sloan and Feldman (1978), whose paper when read in conjunction with Reinhardt's (1978) interpretation, is the most thorough review of the empirical literature available, and who regard themselves as Ns, comment that the difference between the two groups is one of degree and not of kind, and note that *neither* view is well supported by the empirical literature:

There are substantial differences between economists who espouse the supply-created demand view, the B's, and the neo-classical economists, the N's. The former stress anomalies of the health care market while the latter rely on formal theoretical methods and econometrics and emphasise similarities with other markets. Though less formal, the B's have called attention to features of the industry that the N's might miss. Frequently, the N's have met the challenges. Even so, applied econometric studies based on the standard theory often report low  $R^2s$ , and some of the variables are only proxies for the theoretical concepts. ...

Supplier-induced demand is not an "all or nothing" matter in which opponents of the supplier-induced demand notion are forced to find evidence ruling out supplier-induced demand shifts entirely. Rather, at issue, is whether supplier-induced demand represents a major demand determinant. We find that the B's have been much too hasty in concluding it is.

Sloan and Feldman's views to the contrary notwithstanding, those policymakers and budget drafters responsible for developing techniques to control health care cost expansion appear to have concluded that a form of Parkinson's Law operates with respect to both hospitalisation and to physician services. The neo-classical model would be consistent with *expanding* the number of physicians in order to reduce medical care costs. In the USA, it has come to be accepted that *restricting* the number of physicians is a technique which belongs on a list of "mutually reinforcing strategies" for controlling health care costs, not only in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>The discussion of Figure 2.1 is based on the discussion by Reinhardt (1978).
order to limit the utilisation of physician services themselves, but also to limit other medical care expenditures influenced by physicians (Raskin, Coffey and Farley, 1980). In the USA, it has been estimated that 70 per cent of personal medical care expenditures are controlled by physicians, and that in 1972, the average physician generated an average expenditure of \$240,000, which is equivalent to approximately IR $\pounds$ 330,000 in 1981, taking account of inflation and the exchange rate. (Raskin, Coffey and Farley, 1980.) (See Chapter 6 for an estimate of Irish physician influence.) A number of countries in the European Community are reported to be restricting the number of medical students, because:

it is widely believed that an increase in the number of doctors per thousand population results in higher costs of health care, quite apart from the cost of the remuneration of the extra doctors, because of the costs they generate in their prescribing of medicines and their authorization of diagnostic tests, hospital admissions and therapeutic procedures (Abel-Smith and Maynard, 1978).

The Netherlands, Denmark, France and Germany are pursuing this course of action, as is, in a sense, Ireland.<sup>24</sup>

Similarly, both the USA (Raskin, Coffey and Farley, 1980) and all members of the European Community (Abel-Smith and Maynard, 1978) restrict hospital construction and expansion in order to limit the number of beds, per thousand population, as a cost-containment method.

A related implication is that hospital budgets should not be allocated on the basis of utilisation. In the NHS, it was shown (Feldstein, 1967) that regions with more beds hospitalised more people, who had longer average stays. In other words, "the supply of beds created its own demand" (Maynard and Ludbrook, 1980). If then budgets were allocated according to "need", and if the latter were defined in terms of utilisation and average stay, then existing patterns would merely be reinforced and replicated. While this analysis was based on a non-market medical care system, it appears to apply generally.

Thus the notion of a medical "Parkinson's Law" is an extremely important development in both the conceptualisation of markets for medical care and in the control of health care expenditures. While not all economists are equally convinced of the self-interest aspects, none seems to be advocating increases in

<sup>24</sup>In 1978, the size of the entering medical school class in Ireland was cut by 15 per cent. But this appears to have been more addressed to the decline in overseas opportunities than to control of Irish health expenditures. Legislation in the US and in Canada in 1976, limiting the entry of foreign medical graduates (devices adopted in *those* countries to control the growth of health expenditures), reduced access to what theretofore had been major outlets for the Irish doctor surplus; the reduction in class size should be seen as a response. In spite of the cut, Irish medical schools continue in the early 1980s producing from 350 to 370 graduates per year, when only 200 to 250 will be needed, according to a survey conducted by the Royal College of Physicians in Ireland. The survey also indicated that 80 per cent of medical graduates did not have permanent posts five years after graduating, *Irish Times*, 5 June, 1981.

the physician or hospital-bed stock as a way of controlling expenditures and quite a large number advocate the opposite policy.

# F. Empirical Studies of Utilisation

There is a growing empirical literature on the determinants of utilisation of medical care. Many studies show utilisation to depend on *health* status and proxies for health, including age, sex and social class; on *income* and proxies for income, including social class and educational attainment; on *price*, and proxies for price, including insurance cover, distance to medical facilities, waiting times, sex and age; on *availability* of medical care resources, especially hospital beds; and on *physician* characteristics and market conditions. Each of these is discussed in turn.

Health. Where data are available, health status explains much of the person-toperson variation in medical care utilisation. (Bice and White, 1969; Rutten, 1978; van der Gaag, 1978; Held and Manheim, 1980). Many empirical studies are, however, conducted where health data are not available. Some close substitutes are sometimes available, such as days lost from work (May, 1975). In other cases, weaker proxies must be employed. Age is presumably correlated with health problems, and most types of medical care utilisation are positively correlated with age (see, e.g., Feldstein, 1967; Held and Manheim, 1980), except that, with respect to some, a U-shaped relationship holds instead, with utilisation high in infancy, then falling through early childhood and rising again. Hence age squared is often used along with age (Rutten, 1978; van der Gaag, 1978). Many studies show that females use more medical services than males (e.g., Feldstein, 1967; Rutten, 1978; van der Gaag, 1978). This is mainly a matter of morbidity and pregnancy, but sex, and to an extent age, may be proxies for price, as will be discussed below. Many studies show social class to be related to utilisation (Feldstein, 1967; Bice and White, 1969; Bice, et al., 1973; Rutten, 1978; van der Gaag, 1978) though the relationship may be complex. Persons of lower social class presumably have more health care problems. It is known that in Ireland, at least, they smoke more tobacco, are more likely to be overweight and to exercise less (Mulcahy, Graham, Hickey and Daly, 1980). But social class is also related to income, and as well to attitudes, preferences and other similar influences on utilisation.

*Income.* Income has, for reasons just mentioned, a positive association with preference for medical care and negative relationships with need. Thus it is useful to be able to measure the impact of income whilst controlling for the influence of health (or its proxies). Most studies have found a significant positive income elasticity for medical care consumption (e.g., Feldstein, 1967; Andersen and Benham, 1970; Phelps and Newhouse, 1975), though the elasticities are low (0.1-0.4). Mean regional income also has a similar effect (Held and Manheim, 1980). Social class may act as a proxy for income. Where social class is measured by occupational category, it reflects characteristics other than income. For example, the morbidity and behavioural differences between farmers and urban workers are not limited to income alone. In the event, occupational category has been found in the United States to have a significant relationship to utilisation, with middle class workers using more medical services than the highest or the lowest category workers, while agricultural workers had far lower consumption than non-agricultural workers (Bice, *et al.*, 1973). Educational attainment is often used as an alternative to occupational level as a measure of class. Conceptually, it has some advantages over occupational level as a measure of class.<sup>25</sup> One US study (Bice, Eichhorn and Fox, 1972) found a positive relationship between educational attainment and medical consumption.

Price. Prices consist of money prices, which are not relevant to all medical care systems, and time prices, which are relevant to all. A difficulty in measuring money-price elasticity is that output is not always easily defined in homogeneous units. For example, if price and quality are correlated, price elasticities will be underestimated (Feldstein, 1974). Specification of net price is a problem where there are co-insurance, deductibles, tax relief, etc. None the less, most studies indicate negative price elasticities (e.g., Fuchs and Kramer, 1972), but there are exceptions, subject to interpretation. Feldstein (1970) finds a positive relationship between price and utilisation, which he interprets as showing a permanent excess demand for medical care, though others have disagreed with his interpretation. The extent or type of insurance cover may substitute for or complement price data in arriving at net price where the latter are not available (Fuchs and Kramer, 1972; Rutten, 1978; van der Gaag, 1978). Time prices are costs of utilisation, in the form of travel time (as measured by distance to doctor, hospital, etc.) and time in waiting room, etc. (Phelps and Newhouse, 1975). These may be measured indirectly by doctor-area density or doctor-population ratios (see physician behaviour, below). Where private insurance and/or public entitlement to health services are extensive, time prices may be more important than money prices (Acton, 1973). The opportunity cost of time spent in travel or waiting rooms may be higher for the employed than for the unemployed, those not in the labour force and the retired. Where utilisation is higher for these groups — e.g., for women or the aged — that fact may reflect a lower opportunity cost, as well as health status.

Availability. The availability of medical care resources, especially hospital beds but also including physicians (see physician behaviour, below) has such a strong effect on utilisation that it often overwhelms the other variables. This effect lends support to a supply-creates-demand or "Parkinson's Law" hypothesis as discussed in the preceding section (Feldstein, 1967, 1971, 1971a; May, 1975; Rutten,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>Low income may be a consequence as well as a cause of health status. To a lesser extent, occupational level may as well. Educational attainment, however, does not vary as a person's health varies and consequently has some advantages in empirical work.

1978; van der Gaag, 1978; Held and Manheim, 1980). The availability of resource A (e.g. physicians) also influences the utilisation of resource B (e.g., hospital admissions), though resources that appear as substitutes in one study show up as complements in another, and often results are counter-intuitive (e.g., Feldstein, 1967, 1976; Davis and Russell, 1972, May, 1975).

*Physician.* Rutten (1978) and van der Gaag (1978) show that individual doctors vary considerably in the utilisation they order or generate for their patients, even where all the variables discussed above, and others, are controlled for. Given sex, occupational level, nature of insurance cover (in the Dutch system), presence or absence of serious disease, and of psycho-social problems, and given type of residence, the maximum difference between GPs of similar age and identical sex practising in the same area with similar clientele was 30 per cent for number of GP contacts and around 40 per cent for probability of referral to a specialist. These are differences not associated with any model of physician behaviour described above, reflecting only differences in individual physicians' training, experience, methods, attitudes, etc. The differences are quite significant, and point to considerable doctor influence over patient utilisation. They help explain as well the low  $\mathbb{R}^2$ s found in most studies, where it is impossible to control for individual physician influence.

## G. Physician-induced demand

Most empirical studies of physician behaviour focus on testing the self-interest hypothesis. Two main propositions are tested in this literature. One is that where doctors are paid on a fee-for-service basis, utilisation levels are higher than where capitation or salary methods are used, where similar clientele are served. The basis of this proposition was discussed above, in Section D. The other is that where the ratio of physicians to population is high, a situation which by itself would depress physician incomes, physicians stimulate compensatory increases in the demand for their own services. The latter proposition is limited, for obvious reasons, to physicians working in fee-for-service systems. The basis of this proposition was discussed above, in Section E. These two branches of the empirical literature will be discussed in turn.

Monsma's (1970) study in the United States is an important early one in the remuneration literature. He found a higher level of surgery in an American feefor-service institutional arrangement than in an otherwise identical system under which the doctors were salaried; and evidence is produced suggesting that all appropriate surgery was, in fact, performed in the salaried case. The apparently excess surgery concentrated on the removal of putatively redundant organs: appendicectomies, tonsillectomies and hysterectomies. Rutten (1978) and van der Gaag (1978) found higher utilisation levels in The Netherlands, in fee-for-service than in capitation systems, controlling for patient characteristics and other variables.

Health Maintenance Organisations (HMOs) are private medical care pro-

viders found mainly in the United States. Patients pre-pay for medical care on an annual fee basis, so that they in effect pay for all medical care and not merely GP services, on a capitation basis. A large literature shows lower utilisation, especially hospitalisation, under HMO arrangements. (For a review, see Luft, 1978). HMOs will be discussed in more detail in Chapter 8.

On the other hand, it also appears that similar patterns of variability, albeit at different levels, exist in different countries for common surgical practices, irrespective of method financing. McPherson, Wennberg, Hovind and Clifford (1982) examined surgery rates for tonsillectomy, haemorrhoidectomy and five other common procedures in three states in the north-eastern United States and in Norway and England. They found that while surgery rates were quite a bit higher in the United States, where a fee-for-service system generally obtains, patterns of variability were the same in the three countries, suggesting a less important role for method of finance than shown in other studies.

On balance, the evidence points strongly to higher utilisation levels where feefor-service methods are used.

However, Ireland, which generally employs the fee-for-service method, probably has lower levels of self-interested physician-generated demand than other fee-for-service countries. This is because the strict separation of general practice from hospital-based specialist care, and the fact that Irish GPs do not generally provide x-ray or pathology services as do primary-care physicians in many other countries, means that there are severe limits on practical opportunities for physician-generated demand. That is, the propensity of physicians to pursue their own economic self-interest when carrying out their agency roles depends not only on the method of remuneration, as traditionally argued, but also on the method of delivery of medical care (Tussing, 1983c). Delivery of medical care in Ireland is discussed in Chapter 4.

We turn now to the second proposition in the literature, that of compensatory physician-induced demand. If markets for physician services were conventional, doctors would be more or less evenly distributed geographically, subject to two qualifications to be noted presently. If there were a disproportionate tendency of doctors to locate their practices in favoured locations (e.g., Dublin), that would drive down physician fees and lower their incomes; lower physician densities in more remote areas (e.g., Donegal) would raise fees and incomes. These incentives would induce physicians to relocate (e.g., from Dublin to Donegal), thus smoothing out the regional distribution of physicians. The qualifications are as follows: If patients in one area had a stronger preference or need for medical care, and hence a higher demand, that would, ceteris paribus, raise demand and fee levels in that area, meaning that it could support more physicians. Thus physician densities should relate to community health needs. If physicians had strong locational preferences, such that they might be willing to accept lower incomes were they to locate in favoured areas, that could explain uneven geographical distributions of physicians.

Fuchs and Kramer (1972) and Fuchs (1978) find that doctors in the US tend

to locate their practices according to community amenity levels, and to the availability of hospital beds, without relation to community health needs. Fuchs and Kramer estimate a simultaneous four-equation system in which the doctorpopulation ratio is endogenous, and has a negative effect on workload, and a positive effect on doctor services per capita. The utilisation equation controls for net money price, so the model is not that of price-induced demand but rather supplier induced demand, as in Figure 2.1. Fuchs, whose 1978 study will be discussed further below, shows that physician supply is in part determined by factors unrelated to demand, especially by the attractiveness of the area as a place to live — ingeniously measured by per capita hotel receipts in the locality.

There are essentially two branches of this literature, depending on the theoretical device used to limit physician-induced demand in the model. If doctors have the ability to shift patients' demand curves, as in Figure 2.1, and if they are profit-maximisers, as is implied in the self-interest hypothesis, they might be expected to shift demand as much as they are able, irrespective of doctor-population ratios. Such behaviour would be inconsistent with the compensatory demand stimulating hypothesis, and would moreover be virtually impossible to detect empirically. In the literature, two devices are relied upon to limit or constrain doctors' demand stimulation in self-interest models. One is the assumption that doctors aim for exogenously determined "target incomes" (linked, e.g., to the incomes of other professionals in the community). If doctors' locational decisions are also exogenously determined, target incomes can be achieved or approached by compensatory demand stimulation. Examples of target income studies are Evans (1974); Evans, Parish and Sully (1973); Fuchs (1978); Fuchs and Kramer (1972); Hixson, et al. (1980); Newhouse (1970); and Sweeney (1982).

The other device, used in the context of a theoretically more elegant utilitymaximising model, is to assume that doctors have a distaste for demand stimulation. That is, utility is increased by income, reduced (within the relevant range) by work, and reduced by unnecessary or excessive treatment or other demand stimulation. This model also yields compensatory demand stimulation. (Wilensky and Rossiter, 1980; Sloan and Feldman, 1978). The two models yield similar predicted physician behaviour.

Evans (1974) wrote an early and important article in the compensatory literature. Using Canadian data, he showed that physicians appear to have target income and workload levels, based on their training, expectations and previous experience, and that discrepancies between these targets and actual experience lead to adjustment behaviour, if income and workloads are below target, demand generation takes place. If physicians feel over-worked and underpaid, prices are raised either through upward revision of fee schedules, or through independent adjustments in billing behaviour. He also found a general tendency for physician prices to be higher in regions where physicians are plentiful than where they are scarce, a finding consistent with the shift to demand curve  $D_{IA}$ and price  $P_{IA}$  in Figure 2.1. The elasticity of utilisation with respect to the physician-population ratio was estimated to be on the order to 0.4, which is relatively high.

Held and Manheim (1980) found that in Quebec the GP-to-population ratio is positively associated with cost and the revisit rate, though the elasticities are small; and the specialist-to-population ratio has an even smaller negative effect on cost and the revisit rate. Their study concerns hypertension, which they argue is "a medical condition which allows considerable discretion to the physician in determining treatment mode, and patient initiation of care is considerably less than in many other chronic conditions. It would therefore appear to be a natural candidate for testing the hypothesis of physician inducement." Their results show that the cost of treatment for hypertension is not independent of local physician supply, but increases as the number of general practitioners increases, and decreases as the number of specialists increases, "The magnitude of both these effects, however, tends to be fairly small. Interestingly, the change in costs is associated more with the cost per visit than with the number of visits." They conclude, "The results presented here suggest that if physician inducement is present, the magnitude is not large." The low positive elasticity for GPs and low negative elasticity for specialists is not as damaging to the hypothesis as the authors believe, however, in light of Reinhardt's analysis (Figure 2.1). A small increase or even decrease in utilisation associated with a rise in the number of physicians (in a cross-section sense) is consistent with a significant amount of compensatory physician demand generation, as in the shift to  $D_{1B}$  in Figure 2.1. As Reinhardt notes, a positive relationship between price and supply is more damaging to the "N" (or agency) model than a negative relationship (especially a small one) is to the "B" (or self-interest) model.

Fuchs (1978), already cited above in relation to physician location, studied the supply of surgeons and the demand for operations in the USA. Surgery in America provides an especially useful test of the self-interest model. Operations are more well-defined than many other medical procedures, and thus provide a better quantity measure, though quality can still vary with price. The "excess demand" interpretation (of, e.g., Martin Feldstein) can be ruled out, as US data unequivocally point to an excess supply of surgeons. It was noted above that the physician-population ratio might be interpreted as a proxy for time-price. A higher ratio implies a shorter distance to travel, and/or a shorter wait in the office, thus encouraging more utilisation without a need to resort to demand generation for the explanation. But Fuchs argues that time costs "are likely to be less relevant for in-hospital operations because the psychic costs of surgery and the time costs of hospitalisation are likely to be large relative to the time costs of search, travel and waiting". The results provide impressive support for the thesis that surgeons shift the demand for operations. Other things equal, a 10 per cent increase in the surgeon/population ratio results in about a 3 per cent increase in per capita utilisation. A higher surgeon/population ratio is associated with higher fees (as in  $P_{1A}$  in Figure 2.1).

Most of the studies cited have employed aggregated cross-section data, which

regress, for example, mean utilisation rates on doctor densities for metropolitan areas or other regions (including whole American states). Mitchell, Cromwell and Dutton (1981) use individual patient data, and also find evidence of compensatory demand inducement amongst U.S. surgeons, affecting surgery rates and, especially, fees. However, they find no inducement in rural areas and considerable inducement in densely populated urban areas.

Pauly, in an important book (1980), and Pauly and Satterthwaite (1980), emphasise the significance of information in individual patient-based empirical models. Patients with adequate information on price and quality of medical care - taken to be persons with more education, or persons who live in rural areas do not show significant compensatory demand-inducing effects in Pauly's test of a target-income model. Only less-educated urban residents, whose access to information is most limited, are subject to significant inducement as measured by utilisation levels. Pauly and Satterthwaite advance the theory that physicians' monopoly power increases as the number of physicians in a market (measured by the ratio of physicians to area, rather than to population) increases, because the increase in numbers is associated with a fall in the amount and quality of consumer information (especially as regards alternative providers). They find physician-to-population ratios strongly correlated with physician-to-area ratios, and speculate that the former may just be a proxy for the latter in many demand-inducement models. However, Mitchell, Cromwell and Dutton, cited above, with a larger and more varied data set, in which the correlation between the two ratios is lower, find that the inclusion of the physician-to-area variable actually increases the significance of the physicianto-population variable, in explaining utilisation levels.

All of these studies are affected, more or less, by the identification problem referred to earlier: it is necessary to infer the existence of physician-induced demand from utilisation levels (aggregate or individual) because we have no way of directly observing physician behaviour, and consequently, we cannot discern a shift in demand, especially from  $D_0$  to  $D_{1B}$ , from movement along a more gently sloped demand curve. An important exception is the study of Wilensky and Rossiter (1981), whose unique data set from the USA includes "... a direct measure, from the patient's perspective, or the perspective of a member of the patient's household, of who initiated the demand for each visit..." the doctor or the patient. They also have extensive data on physicians, linked to the household sample. They found 39 per cent of consultations to be physician initiated. Their empirical work uses the probability that a visit is physician-initiated, rather than utilisation itself, as the dependent variable. Wilensky and Rossiter found a strong relationship between physician initiation and local physician density. There was also a strong relationship between physician initiation and proportion of the doctor's bill paid by the family, which the authors believe also supports the self-interest model, though it would appear to be consistent with the agency model as well. Other interesting relationships discovered provide additional evidence for the self-interest model. For example, young doctors are significantly more likely to initiate consultations than older doctors. For primary care physicians, as physician age increases from 25 to 65, which is perhaps the plausible range of most practising physicians' ages, the probability of physician initiation falls from 0.51 to 0.39, holding constant other influences at their means. And for non-primary care specialists, outside (non-practice) doctor income significantly influences physician initiation. As outside income increases from 0 to \$25,000 per year, the likelihood that a consultation will be self-initiated by the physician declines from 0.76 to 0.65, *ceteris paribus*. These results seem strongly supportive of the self-interest model.<sup>26</sup>

It is worth noting one final aspect of these empirical studies of utilisation and of physician-induced demand. They often have low adjusted  $R^{2}s$ , sometimes as low as .050, though more usually in the range .100 or .250, in spite of the presence of a number of highly significant coefficient estimates. While the analyses reported obviously bear on the hypotheses tested, it would be hard to argue that we have gone very far in explaining the person-to-person or region-to-region variability in utilisation with the types of equations estimated.

These results, taken together, are not definitive. Empirical results are always subject to interpretation, and more high-powered and rigorous models and tests will undoubtedly come in the future. One important step, for example, would be to replicate compensatory physician-induced demand studies in a capitation system such as Britain. If we were to find that in Britain, physician density was significantly associated with return visits or physician-initiated visits, we might have to discard our interpretation that the source of the observed behaviour was physician economic self-interest (Tussing, 1983c). But the evidence is mounting that the doctor's own income and workload are an important consideration when she or he influences utilisation patterns. The evidence is strong enough to conclude that medical care systems should give attention to organising themselves — their methods of service delivery, their methods of finance, and their methods of remunerating providers - so that, consistent with other objectives, excessive utilisation is not encouraged, while appropriate utilisation is not discouraged. In the remaining chapters of this study, and especially Chapter 6, Irish data will be analysed, the determinants of utilisation in this country will be estimated, and attention will be given, along with other issues, to physician initiation. The subject of changes in the organisation, financing and delivery of medical care will reappear in Chapter 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup>Wilensky and Rossiter use all the independent variables discussed previously in this section. Their work had not been referred to above because their equations predict physician initiation, not utilisation *per se*. They find that patient age does not significantly influence the probability that a visit is physician initiated, but that sex does, with a higher rate of physician initiation among female patients. Poor health status is associated with higher probability of physician initiation. Educational attainment affects physician initiation outside of primary care, among specialists seen on referral. Family income has a significantly negative effect on physician initiation.

## SOME ECONOMICS OF MEDICAL CARE

# H. Summary and Conclusions

Expenditures on medical care have an association with the extending of life that is weak and growing weaker. The types of morbidity and mortality which are increasingly predominant in Western societies are not as amenable to medical intervention as was the case in the past, and decreasing returns appear to apply to the use of economic resources for medical care. The past two decades have seen rapidly rising medical expenditures in virtually every country, but little progress in life expectancy. It is difficult, however, to make any but the most general statements about returns to medical expenditures, because of the general lack of scientific studies of the efficacy and cost-effectiveness of existing medical procedures.

The concept of economic rationality applies to medical care as a commodity and to human life as well. But it is evidently accepted in all countries that economic rationality in these areas cannot be achieved in the market, with buyers paying prices equal to social opportunity costs for medical care services. Though medical care appears to be a private good, with only limited external benefits, the market fails because the vital condition of independence of supply and demand is absent. Instead, the physician — the most important supplier of medical care services — either influences or controls a large part of the demand for it, on behalf of the buyer. Two other problems limit use of the market. Because of the uncertainty that most members of the public face concerning the timing and extent of their future use of medical care, they require and demand some form of insurance cover. A consequence is a significant element of moral hazard when and if markets are relied upon. Even if there were to be no government intervention and even if medical care were priced at marginal costs, there would be a tendency for over-utilisation, because of moral hazard. Second, medical care appears to be a merit good. Society refuses to accept the consequences of some members' failure to insure voluntarily; thus medical insurance is made compulsory, through government or some other institutional device.

The special characteristics of the institutional techniques for the delivery of medical care services have led to theoretical and empirical search for understanding of the determinants of utilisation, and in particular for understanding the behaviour of the physician, a central figure. Medical care utilisation appears to depend in predictable ways on the patient's health, age, sex, income and social class, as well as on price, etc. It also appears to depend, in a way analogous to a Parkinson's Law applied to medical care, on the available supply of medical care resources, especially physicians and hospital beds. In addition, there is considerable evidence that doctors exercise their influence over patients' medical care decisions at least in part in such a manner as to maximise their own selfinterest, especially their incomes, when that is made possible by the financing and delivery arrangements in a particular society.

A number of problems are created by the following, taken together: the interdependence of supply and demand, with at least some applicability of the selfinterest model; a money price below marginal cost, with a limit of zero, and attendant moral hazard; use of alternative, non-market rationing techniques; and the medical Parkinson's Law. One consequence is economic irrationality. Medical care resources appear to be distributed in ways that do not equate the marginal benefit, in life-saving or other terms, of final expenditures across all aspects of medical care systems. Some patients apparently over-use certain medical care resources, with the likely consequence that others either must queue for more crucial services, or not avail of them. Another consequence is medical harm. Over-surgery, over-prescribing and excess application of other medical procedures are not only inefficient and costly; they are bad for patients. And finally, these problems help explain, though they do not fully explain, the rapidly rising costs of medical care in virtually all industrialised societies.

## Chapter 3

# MORBIDITY AND MORTALITY IN IRELAND

This chapter discusses Irish morbidity and mortality. Chapter 4 reviews the organisation, financing, and delivery of medical care services in Ireland, and Chapter 5 discusses Irish medical care expenditures and their growth.

Ireland may appear rather typical with respect to all three subjects. The Irish death rate from all causes ranks second lowest, along with Italy, in the European Community.<sup>27</sup> The medical care system has been accurately described as "as good as the next" (Nowlan, 1977). Like almost all other Western countries, Ireland has experienced rapidly rising medical care costs in recent years, both absolutely and relatively to Gross National Product or Gross Domestic Product (GNP or GDP).

These statements, though they are true, conceal much. For Ireland has a unique pattern of morbidity and mortality, different from those of its European neighbours. It has a unique system or organisation and financing of medical care, reflecting this country's history, needs and politics. And Ireland faces particularly difficult problems today and in the future in attempting to control health expenditures.

Public health services in Ireland are delivered through a decentralised organisation consisting of eight regional, multi-county Health Board areas. Though it is not yet time to discuss organisation (see Chapter 4), as some of the data to be presented are given by Health Board area, it is useful briefly to introduce the areas. The eight areas are listed in Table 3.1 and shown in Figure 3.1.<sup>28</sup> Their populations ranged in 1981 from 202,146 in the Midlands to 1,194,735 in the Eastern Health Board area. Those aged 65 and over, who are particularly significant to the health services, ranged from 8.4 per cent of the population in the Eastern region, to 14.5 per cent in the North-Western Health Board area, in 1979.

<sup>27</sup>References to the European Community are to the nine nations who were members in 1980, prior to the accession of Greece.

<sup>28</sup>The eight Health Board areas are identical to the eight Planning Regions, except that County Meath is in the North-Eastern Health Board area and the Eastern Planning Region, and Roscommon is in the Western Health Board area but in the Midland Planning Region. (The Health Board area called "Southern" is the same as the Planning Region called "South-Western.")

Health Board	Constituent Counties	Population 1981	Area, sq. mls.
Eastern	Dublin	1,194,735	1,792
	Kildare		
	Wicklow		
Midlands	Laois	202,146	2,519
	Longford		
	Offaly		
	Westmeath		
Mid-Western	Clare	308,212	3,038
	Limerick		
	Tipperary North Riding		
North-Eastern	Cavan	288,980	2,448
	Louth		
	Meath		
	Monaghan		
North-Western	Donegal	208,195	3,147
	Leitrim		
	Sligo		
South-Eastern	Carlow	374,575	3,631
	Kilkenny		
	Tipperary South Riding		
	Waterford		
	Wexford		
Southern	Cork	525,235	4,695
	Kerry		
Western	Galway	341,327	5,328
	Mayo		
4	Roscommon		

Table 3.1: Health Board Areas: Constituent Counties, 1981 Population and Area

For comparison purposes, Irish data on mortality, morbidity and medical care are sometimes shown together in this chapter with figures for the other members of the European Community. It is recognised that there are considerable differences among these countries, with respect to their populations, areas, incomes, industrial structures, age compositions, meteorological conditions, etc., and that direct comparisons may often be misleading. But data on deaths per 100,000 population by cause, or on hospital beds per 1,000 population, or on per cent of GNP devoted to health services, are difficult to interpret apart from a comparative context. Hence, such comparisons, when cautiously interpreted, serve a useful purpose. Cultural, linguistic and meteorological similarities make comparisons with the United Kingdom particularly apt.



Figure 3.1: Health Board Areas.

#### IRISH MEDICAL CARE RESOURCES

# A. Morbidity and Mortality in Ireland

Our discussion begins with mortality and morbidity, so it is worth a reminder that the relationship between them and medical care or health expenditures does not appear to be a strong one. Evidence from among the developed countries gives us no reason to believe that those nations spending more, either per capita or in relationship to income, on medical care or health programmes will necessarily experience observably better health conditions (See Chapter 2).

The Irish life expectancy at birth, shown with comparable statistics from other countries in Table 3.2, is high. Female life expectancy in 1970 was, however, the lowest in the Community, at 73.5; male life expectancy was above the median, at 68.8. As Table 3.3 shows, there has been a substantial improvement in both of these figures between 1925–27 and 1970–72. Male life expectancy at birth has increased by 19.9 per cent; for females, the increase has been 26.9 per cent. A closer look at Table 3.3 reveals that the improvement, for males, has been greatest in the early years of life, especially the first year. During the same 45 year period, male life expectancy at 25 increased by only 9.2 per cent; and life expectancy at 65 and 75 actually fell during the period. For females, the improvement has been spread more evenly over the years of age, partly reflecting reductions in maternal mortality. Note also the comparison between 1960–62 and 1970–72. For males, life expectancy at every age except 0 and 75 actually *fell* during the period. For females, the very age continued to grow at a modest pace.

Table 3.2 also records infant and maternal mortality rates. The reported 1980 Irish rate of infant mortality of 11.2 deaths per 1,000 is the Community median.

	Infant mortality per 1,000	Maternal mortality per 1,000 births, 1975	Lift expecto at birth,	è ancy 1970 Gamala			
Slale	birins, 1980	or (1974)	maie	Jemaie			
German Federal Republic	12.6	0.39	67.4	73.8			
France	10.0	0.25 (c)	68.3	75.9			
Italy	14.3	0.25	69.0	74.9			
Netherlands	8.6	0.11	70.7	76.5			
Belgium	11.0	0.04 (c)	67.8	74.2			
Luxembourg	11.5	(a)	67.0 (e)	73.9			
United Kingdom	12.1	0.14 (d)	68.6	74.9			
Ireland	11.2	0.07 (f)	68.8 (b)	73.5 (b)			
Denmark	8.4	0.06	70.5	75.4			

 Table 3.2: Selected mortality statistics

 European Community

Notes: (a) Absolute number too low to establish meaningful rate. (b) 1971. (c) 1972. (d) 1973. (e) 1974. (f) Source: Statistical Abstract of Ireland, 1976.

Source: Eurostat, Social Indicators for the European Community except as in (f).

		1970-72	1960-62	Percentage change between 1925–27 and 1970–72
Males:				
Number of additional years a				
person can expect to live at age	0	68.8	68.1	+19.9%
	1	69.2	69.3	+13.1%
	5	65.5	65.7	+10.1%
	25	46.3	46.4	+9.2%
	45	27.6	27.8	+4.2%
	65	12.4	12.6	-3.1%
	75	7.3	7.1	-5.2%
Females:				
Number of additional years a				
person can expect to live at age	0	73.5	71.9	+26.9%
_	1	73.8	72.7	+21.4%
	5	70.0	69.0	+18.2%
	25	50.5	49.5	+19.1%
	45	31.4	30.7	+16.3%
	65	15.0	14.4	+11.9%
	75	8.5	8.1	+1.2%

Table 3.3: Irish life expectancies, 1960-62, 1970-72; comparison between 1925-27 and 1970-72

Source: Irish Statistical Bulletin, Various issues, as cited in Dept. of Health (1980).

The maternal mortality rate, quite low at 0.07 in 1975, rose a bit to 0.14 in 1979, and fell to provisional figures of 0.04 in 1980 and 0.00 (nil) in 1981. (Some problems of international comparison of perinatal and infant mortality are discussed in Kirke (1981) and Kirke and Brannick (1981)).

In Chapter 2, it was noted that in developed countries, morbidity and mortality due to infectious diseases had declined drastically over the past two generations, while conditions associated either with natural or biological processes (mainly ageing), and especially conditions relating primarily to lifestyle or other environmentally-determined factors, were increasing in significance, both absolutely and relatively to other causes. This is true no less in Ireland than elsewhere. Mortality associated with smallpox, scarlet fever, whooping cough, measles, typhoid and other infectious diseases has fallen dramatically. The most striking and important improvement has involved tuberculosis, once a major killer in Ireland, and today a relatively minor one. In 1925, the Irish tuberculosis death rate was 156.6 per 100,000 population. In 1935, the rate was still as high as 126.9 and in 1945, 125.1. It was at that point that the significant drop began. By 1955, the death rate was only 30.4 per 100,000; by 1965, 11.6; and 1975, 5.0. Indeed, as Table 3.4 indicates, the death rate for all infective and parasitic diseases stood at only 10.5 (males) and 8.3 (females) per 100,000 in 1979. On the other hand, cancer was in the 1960s and 1970s the single fastest rising cause of death in Ireland. Though the death rate from cancer (neoplasms) was among the lowest in the Community, Table 3.4 shows it to be second only to heart disease as a cause of death in Ireland. Both cancer and heart disease are regarded as significantly influenced by lifestyle and environmental conditions, though heart disease is also strongly associated with the ageing process. The death rates for lung cancer place Ireland higher (worse) in the "league table" than those for cancer in general, perhaps reflecting the fact that Ireland is reported to have the second highest, and possibly the highest, cigarette consumption rate in the Euro-

· ·	Deaths per	r 100,000	Ireland's	EC Rank
Cause	Male	Female	Male	Female
Infectious and parasitic diseases	10.5	8.3	5	8
Neoplasms	204.0	170.8	1	2
of which lung cancer	37.3	20.4	3	8 <sup>(a)</sup>
Ischaemic heart disease	313.5	181.4	7	6
Respiratory system, diseases of	139.9	108.2	8 <sup>(a)</sup>	8 <sup>(a)</sup>
of which bronchitis	44.7	22.6	$5^{(a)}$	8 <sup>(a)</sup>
Digestive System, diseases of	28.4	24.8	$2^{(a)}$	$1^{(a)}$
of which cirrhosis of the liver	4.2	2.4	1	1
Other diseases	81.9	76.2	4 <sup>(a)</sup>	3 <sup>(a)</sup>
External causes of injury	77.8	33.6	$3^{(a)}$	1 <sup>(a)</sup>
of which motor vehicle accidents	27.9	9.3	4	2
of which suicide	8.6	2.9	2	1
All causes	1,104.1		4	3

 Table 3.4: Deaths in Ireland by selected causes, per 100,000 population, 1979, with

 European Community rank (from lowest)

*Note:* Except as in Note a, below, rank order based on 1974 data for Italy; 1976 for Germany, France, Netherlands, Belgium, Denmark, and the United Kingdom; 1977 for Luxembourg; and 1979 for Ireland.

<sup>(a)</sup>Rank order based on 1972 data for Italy; 1974 for Belgium, Luxembourg, France, and the United Kingdom; 1975 for Germany, Netherlands, and Denmark; and 1979 for Ireland. *Sources:* For Ireland, *Report on Vital Statistics 1979*, Central Statistics Office, Dublin, 1983. For other

Sources: For Ireland, Report on Vital Statistics 1979, Gentral Statistics Office, Dublin, 1983. For other countries (for ranks), Eurostat, Social Indicators for the European Community, 1980, except as in note a, 1977 edition.

pean Community.<sup>29</sup> Essentially, a non-industrial city, Dublin experiences air pollution comparable to that found in the most industrial cities of Europe (Walsh and Bailey, 1979). Ireland is also said to have the highest bowel cancer mortality rate in the Community. Death rates from heart disease, while as noted higher than those from any other cause, appear to have stabilised in the last decade.

After heart disease and cancer, the third most important cause of death in Ireland is respiratory disease, which consists primarily of pneumonia and bronchitis. This cause of death is worthy of particular attention, because the Irish rate, together with the British, stands apart from those of other developed countries, in the European Community or outside. Ireland and the UK have very similar mortality rates from respiratory illness; the other seven members have rates which are considerably lower. Irish meteorological conditions, which are in general shared with those of Britain, are important in explaining this exceptional mortality experience. Cigarette consumption and air pollution also play a part.<sup>30</sup> As will be noted below, respiratory problems are particularly acute in Dublin.

The Irish death rates for diseases of the digestive system are, by contrast, among the lowest in the Community, in fact in the world. The reported Irish death rate from cirrhosis of the liver, a disease associated with excessive alcohol consumption, is the lowest in the Community. (This contrasts with the reported alcoholism rate; see Table 3.7). The Irish rate for external causes of injury accidents, violence, suicide, etc., is quite low, and the rate of suicide is the lowest

<sup>30</sup>A 1975 international study to determine the effects of air pollution on respiratory disease pointed to particularly severe problems in Dublin (Medico-Social Research Board, 1977). The Medico-Social Research Board, which conducted the Irish part of the study, reported on results in 19 urban areas, including Dublin, Cork and Galway in Ireland. Primary school children, chosen as to be sensitive indicators of the respiratory health of the whole population, were surveyed to determine the prevalence of the following respiratory symptoms: cough; breathlessness; wheezing; asthma. The children were categorised as to whether there was a tobacco smoker in the same household. The highest prevalences of respiratory symptoms in the entire survey were found in Dublin and in the three English cities in the study, all of them highly industrial: Hartlepool, Middlesbrough and Stockton. The Dublin rate was the highest in the study for the categories, boys with a smoker in the home, and girls with no smokers; and was third highest for girls with a smoker in the home. The rates exceeded those of such highly industrialised cities as Lyon, Paris, Milan and Venice. Setting aside rankings, the actual rates were alarming. More than one-third of Dublin boys and girls with a smoker in the home, and of girls with no smoker, reported respiratory symptoms. Cork and Galway reported about half the respiratory symptoms reported in Dublin.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>Figures for 1978 showed, in descending order of magnitude, the following Community "league table" for cigarette sales per person: Luxembourg, 3,019; Ireland, 2,398; United Kingdom, 2,247; Germany, 2,008; Netherlands, 1,693; Belgium, 1,625; Italy, 1,573; France, 1,554; and Denmark, 1,454. (*Irish Times*, January 29, 1980). However, it should be noted that these statistics relate to sales, rather than consumption; and as Luxembourg has a lower rate of tax than adjoining states indeed, the lowest rate of cigarette tax in the Community — it is possible that its sales figures are inflated by large sales to foreign consumers. Thus, it appears likely that per capita consumption may be higher in Ireland than in any other member state.

reported in the Community, though more reporting errors are thought to affect suicide than any other cause of death. The rate for motor vehicle accidents is somewhat higher, and while below the Community average, is none the less cause for concern.

In Table 3.5 death rates for selected causes are compared among the eight Irish Health Board areas. It will be seen that the North-Western Health Board area has the highest death rate at 12.2 per 1,000 population, 27 per cent higher than the rest of the country. This is explained in part by demographic differences; 14.9 per cent of the North-West's population is aged 65 or more, as compared with 11.1 for the country as a whole. This contributes to an explanation of the higher circulatory (including heart) disease and cancer death rates. The North-Eastern area has a motor vehicle accident death rate which is almost double that of the rest of the country (28.1 per 100,000 in the North-Eastern, as compared with 15.9 in the other seven regions, and 17.0 for the country as a whole).

Irish morbidity data show similar patterns to those shown by mortality data. In 1980, 543,698 patients were treated in Irish public (Health Board and Voluntary Public) hospitals, and another 41,483 were treated in private hospitals (Table 3.6). This amounts to one discharge for every six persons. Of the total, 372,899 are included in the Hospital In-Patient Enquiry (or HIPE), which are the best morbidity data available. (The difference is due to non-reporting by some hospitals. There are no data on ambulatory morbidity.) The 1980 HIPE data are shown in Table 3.7. Accidents, poisonings and violence accounted for the largest number of hospital stays (discharges) followed by diseases of the respiratory system.

In addition to respiratory disease, some diseases and congenital conditions are known to be particularly prevalent in Ireland. Coeliac disease occurs in Ireland at three times the rate in England and Wales, and is particularly prevalent in the West of Ireland. There is a region of endemic goitre in South Tipperary. A condition called "farmer's lung," caused by inhaling material from mouldy hay, is common in North-West Ireland (Shelley, *et al.*, 1979). Schizophrenia is also more common in Ireland: among males aged 25–34, the Irish rate is treble that of England and Wales.<sup>31</sup> "Dublin shares with Belfast," O'Donovan (1976) reports, "the unwelcome distinction of having the highest frequency of neurological malformations (anencephalous and spina bifida) in any community in which records are available."

A number of conditions show marked differences between rural and urban prevalences, and these for the most part relate to lifestyle and environmental influences, especially what appear to be higher rates of alcohol consumption and cigarette smoking, and poorer air quality, in urban areas, especially Dublin. HIPE data show five conditions for which the reported prevalences among men

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup>However, schizophrenia prevalences are sensitive to the particular definition employed and cross-national comparisons are not always valid.

	Eastern	Midland	Mid- Western	North- Eastern	North- Western	South- Eastern	Southern	Western	Ireland
Total deaths	9,294	2,049	2,856	2,700	2,501	3,855	5,616	3,919	32,790
Crude death rate (per 1,000 population)	8.0	10.4	9.5	9.6	12.2	10.5	10.9	11.7	9.7
INFANT MORTALITY								-0	000
Total deaths	344	53	91	76	42	107	133	52	₂ 898
Rate (per 1,000 live births)	13.3	12.4	14.2	12.1	10.2	13.1	12.2	8.2	12.4
NEO-NATAL MORTAL	ITY								
Total Deaths	221	29	76	56	24	67	93	27	593
Rate (per 1,000 live births)	8.5	6.8	11.9	8.9	5.8	8.2	8.5	4.3	8.2
CIRCULATORY SYSTE	EM								
Total deaths	4,260	1,147	1,599	1,389	1,342	1,994	2,878	2,238	16,847
Rate (per 100,000 population)	365.7	579.4	531.6	494.4	656.6	543.6	557.2	666.0	500.2
CANCER									
Total Deaths	1,907	318	494	490	413	693	1,025	605	5,945
Rate (per 100,000 population)	163.7	160.6	164.2	174.4	202.1	188.9	198.5	180.0	176.5
MOTOR VEHICLE AC	CIDENTS								
Total deaths	202	37	32	79	22	67	84	48	571
Rate (per 100,000 population)	17.3	18.7	10.6	28.1	10.8	18.3	16.3	14.3	17.0

Table 3.5: Mortality: numbers and rates by selected causes of death by Health Board area, 1979

Source: Central Statistics Office, as cited in Department of Health (1981).

			* Public hospitals				
Year	Patients treated, public hospitals <sup>(a)</sup>	Patients treated, private hospitals	Average stay (days)	Patient days (× 1000) <sup>(b)</sup>	Patient days per capita		
1973	418,279	(n.a.)	12.4	5,187	1.7		
1974	441,011	(n.a.)	11.3	4,983	1.6		
1975	456,140	40,240	11.4	5,200	1.6		
1976	472,898	41,535	10.8	5,107	1.6		
1977	489,533	39,268	10.3	5.276	1.6		
1978	512,261	40,968	10.4	5,404	1.6		
1979	519,654	41,231	9.6	4,989	1.5		
1980	543,698	41,483	9.7	5,274	1.6		
1981	559,563	(n.a.)	9.4	5,260	1.5		

Table 3.6:	Patients	treated	in	hospital,	average	stay	and	total	patient-	days,
				1973-19	981					

<sup>(a)</sup>Health Board Hospitals plus Voluntary Public Hospitals. <sup>(b)</sup>Patients treated (col. 2) multiplied by average stay (col. 4).

Source: Department of Health.

in Dublin County Borough was greater than 150 per cent of that in rural districts in 1970-72. In all five cases, Dublin prevalence rates exceeded those in the remaining urban districts, with rural rates still lower. The five, in descending order of excess Dublin prevalence over rural rates, were cancer of trachea, bronchus and lung, 202 per cent; cirrhosis of liver, 192 per cent; tuberculosis of respiratory system, 161 per cent; pneumonia, 158 per cent; and bronchitis, emphysema and asthma, 157 per cent.<sup>32</sup> Of the five, four are respiratory conditions, the exception being cirrhosis of the liver. That condition, pneumonia, and tuberculosis are associated with high consumption of alcohol, while lung cancer and chronic bronchitis are well known correlates of high cigarette consumption. Adult males in the Dublin area smoked 36 per cent more cigarettes than rural men in 1971, and alcohol expenditure was 48 per cent higher, per capita, in urban than rural households in 1973 (Ward, Healy and Dean, 1978). This study was conducted more than a decade ago, and conditions may well have changed in the intervening years.

Neither mortality nor morbidity data are recorded on a socio-economic class basis (except psychiatric admissions, discussed below). There is some crude evi-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup>Among women, no excess prevalence exceeded 150 per cent, but the following exceeded 125 per cent: pneumonia, 145 per cent; benign and unspecified neoplasms, 143 per cent; cancer of trachea, bronchus and lung, 141 per cent; and bronchitis, emphysema and asthma, 129 per cent. Thus Dublin women have higher rates of respiratory illness than rural women, though the difference is not so great as among men. In 1971, adult females in the Dublin area smoked 90 per cent more cigarettes than rural women (Ward, Healy and Dean, 1978).

	Marriehart		Average
Diagnosis	of cases	%	of stav
		10.0	
Accidents, poisoning, and violence	50,650	13.6	8.1
Diseases of the respiratory system	39,510	10.6	11.4
Symptoms and ill-defined conditions	36,627	9.8	7.8
Special admissions and consultations	33,845	9.1	5.7
Diseases of the digestive system	35,062	9.4	9.3
Diseases of the circulatory system	33,539	9.0	17.1
Diseases of the genito-urinary system	27,690	7.4	7.6
Neoplasms	18,383	4.9	15.9
Diseases of the nervous system and			
sense organs	20,415	5.5	10.5
Infective and parasitic diseases	13,615	3.7	12.4
Diseases of the musculo-skeletal system			
and connective tissue	15,041	4.0	15.4
Diseases of the skin and subcutaneous			
tissue	9,977	2.7	8.1
Endocrine, nutritional and metabolic			
diseases	8,553	2.3	11.8
Congenital anomalies	6,890	1.8	10.6
Diseases of the blood and blood forming			
organs	3,715	1.0	9.2
Miscellaneous	19,387	5.2	8.8
Total	372,899	100.0	10.2

Table 3.7: Hospital in-patient enquiry: number of discharges and average duration of stay by diagnostic category, 1980

*Note:* The Hospital In-Patient Enquiry does not cover all discharges from hospitals. See Table 3.6. *Source:* Hospital In-Patient Enquiry, Medico-Social Research Board.

dence pointing to higher prevalences of certain conditions among persons of lower incomes. These include diseases of the digestive system; neoplasms; diseases of the respiratory system; diseases of the circulatory system; and accidents, poisonings and violence.<sup>33</sup> There is also independent evidence pointing to higher rates of heart disease among lower socio-economic groups (Mulcahy, Graham, Hickey and Daly, 1980).

In 1983, approximately 4,000 women giving addresses in Ireland had legal

<sup>33</sup>These are conditions reported at least one-third more frequently in HIPE than in comparable reports from the Voluntary Health Insurance Board, the latter being drawn from a somewhat higher socio-economic group, though the two groups substantially overlap (see Tussing, 1982c). abortions performed in England. Nearly 60 per cent were from County Dublin, though only about one-third of Irish women aged 15-29 lived in Co. Dublin at the time of the 1981 Census (Medico-Social Research Board, 1984).

In 1980, there were 27,098 reported admissions to psychiatric hospitals and units of general hospitals,<sup>34</sup> approximately one admission for every 124 persons. Over one-fourth of the admissions (26 per cent) were for the diagnosed conditions alcoholism or alcoholic psychosis. Nearly as many, 24 per cent, were for schizophrenia and 21 per cent were for manic-depressive psychosis. The Medico-Social Research Board (1981) reports on admission rates per 100,000 population, by socio-economic group, as established by the reported occupation of the head of household. Reported admission rates are strongly associated with social class. The unskilled manual rate of 1,621.6 admissions per 100,000 population, dominated by the same three conditions (led however by schizophrenia rather than alcoholism), implies one admission for every 62 persons in this group. Their rate is more than twice the national average. In descending order, the three socio-economic groups with the next highest admission rates were other non-manual (1,057.7 per 100,000); other agricultural (975.1); an intermediate non-manual (950.3). These are also relatively low socio-economic groups. It is clear that reported admission to psychiatric hospital or unit is consistently and significantly inversely related to socio-economic status (Medico-Social Research Board, 1981).

Irish emigrants to England show a similar pattern of psychiatric admissions, decidedly different from that of UK residents. "Irish male immigrants had twice and female immigrants 1.7 times the expected number of first admissions to psychiatric hospitals in South-East England in 1976 when expected number was based on the age- and sex-standardised rates of first admission of the population born in the United Kingdom living in the region. Admission for alcoholism and alcohol psychosis was five times higher in men and four times higher in women, and for schizophrenia 2.4 times as high in both sexes ... Marital state, socio-economic group, and occupation may partly account for the high number of admissions for alcoholism and schizophrenia ..." (Dean, Downing and Shelley, 1981).

A health and mental health problem of significant though localised proportions which has apparently arisen only recently is the high use of addictive illegal narcotic drugs in areas of high unemployment and disadvantage in Dublin City, especially in the North-Central region (Medico-Social Research Board, 1982).

The following stand out in our review of Irish mortality and morbidity: Life

<sup>34</sup>The psychiatric survey was said to be nearly complete in 1979. All psychiatric units and hospitals, with the exception of a unit in one voluntary general hospital reported (O'Hare and Walsh, 1979). "The year of the survey, 1977, was the first year since the War in which there was an overall decline in the number of admissions to psychiatric hospitals. This is partly attributed to a greater provision of community-based psychiatric services. It could be that higher socio-economic groups make more use of these facilities and this could account for the relative drop in their rates of admission," (Tussing, 1982c). expectancy at birth is high in Ireland, though the level for women is the lowest in the European Community. Infant and maternal mortality are low and seem to be falling. Like other European countries, Ireland has experienced significant improvements in infant mortality, and in the toll of infectious and parasitic diseases, in the twentieth century. The death rate for cancer is the lowest in the Community, but this is the most rapidly growing cause of death in this country. The second fastest rising cause is motor vehicle accidents. Heart disease is the single leading cause of death, cancer the second and respiratory disease is the third. The last stands out as uniquely high in both Ireland and Britain. Respiratory illness seems to be suffered in Ireland more by low- than high-income persons, and more by urban than rural populations. Cancers in general and accidents and violence also appear to be suffered disproportionately by members of lower-socio-economic groups, as are all reported causes of admission to psychiatric hospitals or units. In addition, lung cancer and cirrhosis of the liver appear to be more prevalent in urban than in rural populations.

# Chapter 4

# THE IRISH SYSTEM OF MEDICAL CARE

The Irish system of medical care can be described in the following terms. It is a "dual" system, with both public and private components. The two parts contain large elements of cross-subsidisation, and the nominally private side is financed largely, perhaps mainly, by government. The public side is decentralised in administration, at least far more than is common elsewhere in the Irish public service. However, as the regional Health Boards have virtually no independent sources of income, and receive practically all their funds from the Department of Health, the system is more centralised than in many other countries having local health authorities. The private system has an effectively functioning Voluntary Health Insurance Board, a state-sponsored body.

The public scheme provides for three classes of eligibility, with the number of free services or the extent of subsidisation depending (mainly) on one's income. It is intended that no one be deprived of needed care for economic reasons, and this goal is close to being met.

The standard of care is high, and medical personnel have available to them all modern methods and materials, though there are specific problems, e.g., those arising out of the organisation of general practice and out of the age of some of the main hospitals. Primary care is provided by general practitioners; specialists are seen mainly on referral; and though lip-service has been paid to community care, the system remains strongly a hospital-centred one.

As the foregoing implies, the Irish system of medical care consists in fact of a number of constituent sub-systems: an organisation structure for the public health services, centred on regional Health Boards; a scheme of entitlement to publicly financed services; a structure for private care; a scheme for private, voluntary insurance; and a system for the delivery of medical care services. These constituent sub-systems will be examined, in turn, below.

## A. The Organisation of Public Health Services

Figure 4.1 shows the administrative structure of the health services. The Minister for Health is a member of the Government, which draws its authority from the Houses of Parliament (the Oireachtas). He or she heads a Department of



Figure 4.1: Organisation of Public Health Services of Ireland.

Health which has primarily a planning, budgeting and reporting function, and which itself spends only about one per cent of current public health outlays. Services on the ground are provided by and through the eight regional Health Boards (Hensey, 1979). This description probably understates the strong controlling power the Department has over the Health Boards and other health agencies.

Each Health Board runs a hospital programme and a community care programme. Community care consists of preventative health services, the general practitioner services, dental and public health nursing services and social work. Most of these are operated at a local (usually county) level rather than at a Health Board level. The Director of Community Care must be a qualified doctor, and under him or her there are employed medical officers, dentists, public health nurses, health inspectors, community welfare officers, social workers, midwives and home helps.

In addition, general practitioner (GP) services come under Community Care. The GPs are not, however, Health Board employees, but are independent professionals who provide services on a fee-for-service basis. Those persons eligible for free GP care (see below) have their fees paid for them by the state. Claims for fees in respect of services provided are submitted monthly by doctors to the General Medical Services (Payments) Board and doctors are paid directly by the Board. The Board is nationwide, established jointly by the eight Health Boards. The GMS (Payments) Board also pays pharmacists who dispense pharmaceutical medicines for the same clients. (Broken lines to GPs and pharmacists in Figure 4.1 indicate that they are not public employees but rather independent, private professionals, even though they are part of the system providing public medical care.)<sup>35</sup>

There are, broadly speaking, three kinds of hospitals in Ireland. Health Board hospitals are owned, financed and operated by the Health Boards. Voluntary Public Hospitals are owned in the main by religious orders and receive their budgets directly from the Department of Health. Private hospitals, discussed later, do not appear in Figure 4.1. Within the Health Boards, a distinction is made between general hospitals and special hospitals, the latter including hospitalisation for psychiatric, geriatric and mentally handicapped patients. Consultant specialists in Voluntary Hospitals, though they may receive a salary (as discussed later), like to think of themselves as independent professionals with contractual rather than employer-employee relationships with the hospitals. Junior doctors, nurses, physiotherapists, and other hospital staff are, on the other hand, Health Board (or Voluntary Hospital) employees.

The one remaining box in Figure 4.1 is that of Comhairle na nÓspidéal, the hospital council, which regulates the types and numbers of consultants appointed to Voluntary Public and Health Board hospitals, and also acts as a general advisory body on the hospital services. The line running from Comhairle na nOspideal to consultant specialists in Figure 4.1 might well be thought of as running in the opposite direction, as the consultants dominate the council. The Department of Health seems inclined to establish independent agencies to carry out aspects of its work which for one reason or another it feels cannot be done

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup>Certain former permanent District Medical Officers have guaranteed incomes and a small number claim salaries instead of fees. Other such doctors have guaranteed incomes but opt for fee payment. In addition to fees paid by the GMS (Payment) Board, fees to former District Medical Officers and allowances to other doctors participating in the scheme are paid by Health Boards. See Note 47.

within the departmental framework. Other examples, besides Comhairle, include the Health Education Bureau, the Post-graduate Medical and Dental Council and the National Social Service Board.

As will be discussed in Chapter 5, hospitals account for approximately 75 per cent of public health expenditures (general hospitals something over 50 per cent, and the special hospitals something over 20 per cent); Community Health Services about 15 per cent; other Community Care and Preventive Services together account for another approximately 5 per cent; and administrative costs about 5 per cent.

The Department of Health provides the Health Boards with annual budgets from which they make their own allocations. The Department also provides money directly to Voluntary Hospitals, "on behalf of" Health Boards. (This relationship between Health Boards and Voluntary Hospitals explains the broken line between them in Figure 4.1.)

### The System of Entitlement

The Irish health care system provides a complex system of entitlement to free or subsidised medical care. Basically, there are three groups of services or benefits. There are, first, those to which all persons, regardless of income or situation, are entitled. There are, second, some additional services or benefits to which all but approximately the highest 15 per cent in the income distribution are entitled; and there are, third, the comprehensive benefits — consisting of virtually all medical care services, provided free of charge at the point of use to which the lowest third of the income distribution are entitled.

The pattern of entitlement is shown in Figure 4.2. (Figure 4.2 is intended to show the principal services and does not include every type of service and there are qualifications to some of the items shown. See the current leaflet published by the Department of Health, "Summary of Health Services." For a useful handbook on entitlement, see Gormley, 1980.) Note that everyone in Ireland is entitled to free hospital accommodation, in a public ward only. In addition, all persons are eligible for free specialist out-patient services, including x-ray and diagnostic procedures, if these are carried out at a public hospital, even though the person may be a patient in a private room, ward, or hospital. There are free services available to victims of infectious diseases, and chronic illnesses, and to children suffering from mental illness, mental handicap, or acute leukaemia. In addition, all persons are entitled to assistance with the cost of pharmaceutical medicines, though the form of assistance varies with category of eligibility. Persons in Categories II and III are eligible for subsidies.<sup>36</sup> The benefits available to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup>As of March, 1980, households bore the cost of the first £8 of prescribed medicines in a month and were reimbursed by their Health Boards for an outlay in excess of that amount. As of 1984, the refund was the excess over £28.

#### IRISH MEDICAL CARE RESOURCES

## Figure 4.2: Medical care entitlement under the Health Services – Categories I, II, and III\*

Category III

Category II

General practitioner care. Dental, Ophthalmic, and aural services. Maternity: medical, surgical, and midwifery services. Infant welfare service. Consultant specialist services, out-patient and in-patient. Prescribed medicines: Prescribed medicines: subsidy toward cost of provided free. those not provided free (below). Hospital accomodation (exclusive of doctors' fees) in public ward of public hospital. <u>Specialist out-patient services</u> including x-ray and diagnostic proce-dures (excluding consultants' fees - see above) if carried out at a public hospital (even for patients of private hospitals). Infectious diseases: immunisation, hospital treatment. Chronic illness: all persons, prescribed medicines; children only, certain illnesses, hospital treatment. Mental handicap, mental illness: children only, hospital services. Mental illness and acute leukaemia: Children only, prescribed medicines. \_\_\_\_\_ Infant screening and child health examinations.

\*Category I eligibility covers roughly the lowest third of the income distribution, and Category III roughly the highest 15 per cent. See text.

Category I

all, including the drugs subsidy scheme, are the only benefits available to persons in Category III.<sup>37</sup>

There are two differences between Categories II and III. The main one is that persons in Category II receive free consultant specialist services, while those in Category III must be private patients of consultant specialists, whether on an inpatient or an out-patient basis, except of course for the infectious or chronic illnesses for which all services are free to all. In addition, maternity care is available from GPs under the mother and infant scheme without charge to persons in Category II but not to those in Category III.

Those in Category I receive all the services available to those in Category II, and in addition receive free GP care and dental, ophthalmic, and aural services, including the cost of dentures, eyeglasses and hearing aids. In addition, as noted above, the full cost of prescription medicines, and not merely a partial subsidy, is provided to persons in Category I.

In general, persons in all three Categories use the same facilities and see the same doctors. Persons in Category I are entitled to choose their own general practitioners, and most GPs with public patients have private patients as well, and vice versa. However, it has sometimes been argued that GPs spend less time with public patients.<sup>38</sup> Private patients pay fees which are, in general, roughly 1.6 times those paid on behalf of public patients. Private patients of consultant specialists are almost always treated by the consultant personally, while public patients may have to wait longer for admission to hospital, while private patients can "queue-jump", though our survey showed no difference in wait for admission either by eligibility category or Voluntary Health Insurance cover (see Appendix Table A.42).

As indicated in Figure 4.2, persons in Category I are eligible for free dental care from dental officers employed by the Health Boards or from dentists in private practice who render their services on a fee-per-item basis to the Health Boards. In addition, children are eligible, where the dental problem came to light in a school health examination, or at a health clinic or health centre.<sup>39</sup> However, patterns of eligibility for free or subsidised dental care are more complex than this indicates. Complications arise from two facts. (1) There never have been enough Health Board dentists to provide a comprehensive dental service to all who are eligible. Hence services are provided on a priority basis to such groups as pre-school and National School children, nursing and expectant mothers, the aged and the handicapped. Those with Category I eligibility falling outside these groups find that as a practical matter they cannot avail of dental

<sup>37</sup>Tax relief for VHI premiums and for most unreimbursed private medical expenditures, discussed somewhat later, constitute important forms of public aid for medical care not shown in Figure 4.2.

<sup>38</sup>See Note 20, Chapter 2.

<sup>39</sup>The children eligible are those referred under the Health Act, 1970, broadly speaking pre-school and National School children.

services for which they are nominally eligible. (2) There is another scheme for dental care, operated by the department of Social Welfare. Workers (but not their dependants) qualify through Social Welfare contributions and receive free or subsidised care from a private dentist who is on the Department's Dental Panel.<sup>40</sup> Thus, many persons with Category II or III eligibility qualify for or receive free dental care.

Category II eligibility is determined quite differently from Category I. Category I eligibility is based on income, number of dependants, household expenses and exceptional expenses involved in travel to work. In addition, any other consideration such as chronic illness can be taken into account at the discretion of the CEO (Chief Executive Offices) of the Health Board. In Category II, only earnings are considered. Thus a single person with a given earnings and a family of ten with the same earnings are deemed to have the same need. This approach may create hardships for a large family with earnings above the Category II eligibility threshold, who have large consultant specialist bills. As no adjustments are made for living or commuting expenses, the difficulty could be acute for some families with large household costs, etc. It seems more appropriate to take family size into account.

If there is only one earner in the family, the Category II limit applies to that person, and eligibility extends to everyone in the family. But if both husband and wife have incomes, each one's eligibility is determined by her or his own earnings, and the children are deemed to be dependants of the parent with the higher income. This creates the anomaly that should a spouse take work, thus raising family income, he or she might thereby gain Category II eligibility previously lacking because the other spouse's income was too high. In other words, a rise in income can be the occasion for a gain in entitlement.

As of June 1983, the Category II eligibility cut-off was  $\pounds 11,000$ . Let us assume a hypothetical family consisting of husband, wife and children, with  $\pounds 12,000$ annual income. If one parent earned the entire  $\pounds 12,000$ , no one would be eligible under Category II. If one parent earned  $\pounds 9,000$  and the other  $\pounds 3,000$  then the whole family would be in Category II. In Chapter 8, some changes in this scheme are suggested.

Beginning in 1983, farm income has been assessed factually for both Category I and Category II eligibility.

Among our 1980 survey respondents, approximately 33 per cent were covered in Category I, 49 per cent in Category II and 18 per cent in Category III. However, these distributions did not apply to individual age groups. For example, in the 65 and over age category, 76 per cent were in Category I, 21 per cent in Category II and only 3 per cent in Category III.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup>Persons under 21 years of age need at least 26 social welfare contributions, and persons over 21 need at least 156 contributions, of which 26 are in the year immediately preceding the claim. Filling, scalings and extractions are free, while dentures, crowns, inlays and bridges are subsidised (Gormley, 1980).

There were also significant regional differences in the distributions of eligibility. Category I eligibility varied from 20 per cent (in the Eastern) to 46 per cent (in the Mid-Western). The Category II range was smaller, varying from 37 per cent (in the North-Eastern) to 54 per cent (in the Eastern). Category III representation ranged from only 7 per cent (in both the Midland and the Western) to a high of 26 (in the Eastern). The Eastern Health Board area was the least typical in the country, having either the highest or lowest in each category. By contrast the South-Eastern area was the most representative, with its profile neatly matching that of the Republic as a whole. (See Appendix Tables A.36 and A.37 for details.)

## The Private Sector

When we refer to the "private sector" of the Irish medical care system, we refer to that part in which fees or charges are imposed, and where patients may not avail of the service unless they pay for them. Public bodies can act in the private sector (e.g., one might take a private or semi-private room in a public hospital), and private providers can offer services in the public sector (e.g., GPs, who are independent private professionals, provide services in the Medical Card population). As used here, "private sector" does not necessarily imply that the fee or charge covers the full economic cost, average or marginal, of providing the service. Such a strict definition would mean that the private sector would probably not exist in Ireland, as subsidies to the private sector, as defined here, are quite important.

The private sector, so defined consists of the following:

- General practitioner care for persons in Categories II and III (roughly two-thirds of the population).
- Dental, ophthalmic and aural services for about 30 per cent of the population.
- Maternity care for women in Category III.
- Consultant specialist services for persons in Category III.
- Maternity care, consultant specialist services and other services for persons eligible for free care but who elect private or semi-private accommodation.
- Prescription medicines for persons in Categories II and III. (As noted, significant subsidies apply; hence one might wish to regard the "private sector" component as consisting of the net cost to consumers.)

Subsidies to the private sector are discussed presently. Estimates of private household medical care expenditures in 1980 appear in the next chapter.

Seven per cent of households in our survey reported that other bodies or organisations, mainly employers, provided them with help toward their medical care costs. Estimates of the money amount of this aid, which forms part of private medical care expenditures, appear in the next chapter.

### VHI: Voluntary Health Insurance

Private medical insurance, i.e., insurance purchased by individuals against

private medical costs, is available through the Voluntary Health Insurance Board. The VHI, as it is known, is a state-sponsored body, organised by the state, and run by a Board whose members are appointed by the Minister for Health. It is characteristic of the blending of private and public sector in Ireland that private insurance for private medical bills is provided by a state enterprise. The VHI by virtue of its enabling legislation (Voluntary Health Insurance Act, 1957) has a virtual monopoly on private health insurance in Ireland.

Approximately 25 per cent of the population of Ireland are covered by VHI insurance (see Table 4.1). This coverage is not uniform across the categories of eligibility under the Health Services, however. Only about 4.6 per cent of persons with Category I eligibility, and 19.8 per cent of those with Category II eligibility have cover, according to our survey. By contrast, 77.7 per cent of those with Category III eligibility have cover. Those with only Category III eligibility, and without VHI cover, amount to only about 4 per cent of the population. Thus when both health services eligibility and VHI cover are considered, 96 per cent of the population are assured of first-penny protection against cost of hospitalisation, both with respect to hospital charges and with respect to doctors' fees.

Membership in VHI is proportionately higher among persons in Category III, not only because they must pay their own consultant specialist bills, inpatient and out-patient, but also presumably because they have a higher demand for private care.

Since the inception of VHI, cover has concentrated on hospital bills. Under the scheme introduced in April 1979, coverage has two sections. One covers doctors' fees when subscribers are hospitalised. Coverage is so designed that in the

<u> </u>	Category I	Category II	Category III	All persons
Males	4.3	17.4	77.2	24.2
0-14	2.5	17.0	75.9	27.9
15-44	8.8	16.0	74.9	25.1
45-64	1.4	17.3	87.6	27.0
65+	3.3	31.0	51.4	11.9
Females	4.8	22.6	78.2	26.8
0-14	2.7	18.0	84.0	31.4
15-44	10.4	22.8	68.4	30.0
45-64	2.0	27.8	78.8	25.6
65+	4.1	32.8	20.0	9.8
All Persons	4.6	19.8	77.7	25.5

Table 4.1: VHI Cover by category of Health Services eligibility, 1980, per cent of population by age and sex

vast majority of cases doctors' bills are covered in full.<sup>41</sup> The doctors' fees section of benefits can be purchased jointly with a hospital plan, or separately under the name, "Public Ward Scheme." Only about 3 per cent of subscribers opt for that scheme, however; that is, about 97 per cent choose one or another of three hospital plans. This implies that most people who buy VHI cover do want private (or semi-private) hospital accommodation and private consultant care. Under the three hospital plans, subscribers are covered, respectively, for charges for semi-private or private rooms in public hospitals; private rooms in public hospitals or semi-private rooms in private hospitals and nursing homes; and private rooms in any hospital or nursing home. When a hospital plan is purchased, the VHI guarantees to cover 100 per cent of hospital maintenance charges (at the type of accommodation chosen). Thus the VHI normally provides its subscribers with first-penny coverage of hospitalisation. That is, when a VHI subscriber enters hospital, she or he can be confident that the VHI will cover all costs. In other countries, by contrast, health insurance funds usually require some form of subscriber cost-sharing, normally either a flat charge unrelated to the size of the bill; a percentage share; or a deductible. We will comment further on this point in the next chapter.

In addition to hospital maintenance, the hospital plan section of coverage also provides for a number of out-patient benefits. "Day surgery", i.e., surgery performed without admission to hospital for an overnight stay, is covered on the same terms as in-patient surgery, i.e., on a first-penny basis. General practitioner and out-patient specialist fees, and prescription medicines to the extent not provided or subsidised by the Health Board, are covered subject to an annual deductible and an annual ceiling.<sup>42</sup> The deductible has the property that before it is reached, medical expenses are born in full, and after it is reached, they are wholly free.

For an analysis of VHI benefits, see the Report of the Joint Committee on State-Sponsored Bodies (1980). In it, the committee commented:

The structure of the ... scheme, together with its active and successful promotion, may generate an increase in demand for semi-private and private rooms in public hospitals, and rooms in private hospitals, so that at any given time the demand may exceed the supply.

In other words, the more successful the Board is in selling its policy, the less likely any individual member is to receive the benefits contracted for. This is so, of course, only if new private and semi-private capacity is not added to the Irish hospital system; continued rapid growth in VHI membership certainly could

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup>As of 1983, subscribers were required to purchase 18 units of cover in this section and could buy as many as 30. The VHI recommends at least 24. As an example, each unit provided  $\pounds$ 1 of cover for a specialist consultation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup>As of 1983, the deductible was £120 for a family and £72 for an individual; the annual ceiling was £800, £1,000 and £1,200, respectively, in the three plans.

translate into the provision — mainly by the state — of more such private accommodation. Our survey revealed that, for whatever reason, half of hospitalised patients with VHI cover in 1980 were in rooms containing five or more beds (Appendix Table A.40).

Though the VHI is a state enterprise, the state has never provided it with any direct financial assistance, nor does it stand ready to underwrite losses. The state does, however, provide the VHI with an important form of indirect assistance. Subscribers are permitted to deduct premia, in full, against taxable income. The Joint Committee commented,

The effect of this provision is the same, in terms of cost to the Exchequer and in aid to VHI and its members, as an explicit cash grant equal to the amount of tax reduction experienced by the members. No estimate exists, however, of the amount. The Deputy General Manager of the VHI told the Committee that he believed there was a "substantial sum involve." To any individual subscriber, the cash value of the income tax provision is equal to the amount of the subscription premium multiplied by the subscriber's marginal income tax rate, be it 25, 35, 45, 55, or 60 per cent. Because the VHI draws its membership disproportionately from among those with higher incomes ..., it is fair to assume that many subscribers have relatively high marginal income tax rates. Hence it is conservative to estimate that income tax relief provides an indirect subvention to the VHI of at least onethird of its subscription income.

(Income tax rates have since been revised and are now 35, 45, 55, 60 and 65 per cent; the implicit subsidy is presumably somewhat higher.)

We argue in the next chapter that the VHI is now too large, in its membership subscriptions, its excessive growth in part a consequence of indirect subsidies.

There are some important economic consequences to be noted of the VHI's monopoly in Ireland. According to the literature on the economics of health insurance, there are two predictable differences between competitive and monopoly situations in the provision of health insurance (P. J. Feldstein, 1979).

Where there is competition, sub-groups in the population with a low probability of a claim (the low-user population) pay lower premia than those with a high probability of making a claim (the high-user population). For example, premium levels often depend on age. In the USA, smokers are often required to pay higher premia than non-smokers. Insurance companies are forced by competition to equalise the benefit-premium ratios (the ratios of total benefits paid to total premia collected) for major sub-groups in the population.

By contrast, monopoly health insurance underwriters tend to establish a single set of premia which apply to the whole population — a so-called "community rate". This is precisely what is done by VHI. In that case, benefit-premium ratios for sub-groups are not equalised. Instead, the low-user population has a low benefit-premium ratio and the high-user population has a high benefit-premium ratio (probably higher than 1.0). Hence there is a redistribu-

tion from the former to the latter. While one effect is probably to put health insurance within reach of more people, and in particular to make it accessible to more aged people, this pricing policy of health insurance has been criticised by economists on efficiency grounds:

Depending upon the price elasticity of demand for insurance, low-user groups would, under community rating, demand less insurance. Like an excise tax that is placed on some goods and services and hence distorts their relative prices, a community rate is a tax on the insurance premium of a low-risk person (Feldstein).

The second difference between competition and monopoly in the provision of health insurance is that where the former prevails, the public will normally be presented with choices regarding the benefits for which they would like to buy insurance and regarding the amount of co-payment (deductibles, co-insurance). Monopoly insurers, by contrast, are more likely to offer a single plan or "package" for all insured. Like the community rating system, the single plan also involved implicit patterns of cross-subsidisation.

As noted, the VHI offers three plans — A, B and C — for different types of hospital accommodation. In addition, they offer the so-called "public ward scheme" which only provides for doctors' fees. These options provide an extremely narrow choice set, exactly as health insurance theory predicts. Moreover, as the plans A, B and C are not separately funded, there may be crosssubsidisation of one plan by another. This could include subsidisation of subscribers generally using private hospitals (Plan C and some Plan B subscribers) by those generally using public hospitals (Plan A and some Plan B subscribers).

### Subsidisation of the Private Sector

As has been noted, higher-income persons do not have the same entitlement to the state health services that medium and low-income persons have. There is a three-tiered system of benefits, tapering away as income rises. In spite of that fact, the state may in Ireland be more generous with the upper-income person with respect to medical care than in, e.g., the UK, where the National Health Service is available to all, irrespective of income, as paradoxical as that may sound.

The reason is that in the UK, the NHS endeavours to make a sharp separation between public and private sectors and to avoid aiding the latter. Hence the state aids high income persons in the UK only to the extent that they use services which are common to all. (However, according to the UK's "Black Report" (Policy and Planning Unit, 1980), high-income persons make more, and more effective, use of the NHS than do low-income persons.) In Ireland, while highincome persons do not qualify for the whole range of public services they can avail of substantial subsidies for private services. Private medicine thrives in Ireland in part because it receives much public aid.

It is beyond the scope of the present study to make quantitative estimates of
these subsidies. Such estimates are in principle possible and would be a useful research topic. Here we will content ourselves with a listing and description of the main subsidy elements.

The principal subsidies are in private hospitalisation, i.e., where persons are private patients of the consultant specialist, and take accommodation in private or semi-private rooms in public hospitals, or any accommodation in private hospitals.

If such patients choose private or semi-private rooms in public hospitals, the room charge does not recover the cost incurred by the hospital in providing the room. The difference is an implicit subsidy. There is also a small subvention to private nursing home and private psychiatric hospital care.<sup>43</sup>

Public hospitals are today built and expanded on the basis of state capital grants. The pay of junior doctors, nurses, other professional and non-professional staff comes from the state. These facilities are put at the disposal of consultant specialists, to use for their private patients, without charge to the doctor. It is understood to be an implicit part of the remuneration of consultant specialists who work in public hospitals that the consultant's private patients will be served by hospital equipment and staff.

As was indicated in Figure 4.2, private patients receive free out-patient specialist services, including X-ray and diagnostic procedures, from public hospitals, even if they are patients at private hospitals.

Finally, there are two important kinds of tax relief available to private patients. First, there is tax relief on VHI premia, by which according to the conservative estimate quoted above of the Joint Committee on State-Sponsored Bodies the state provides the VHI and its subscribers with an amount equal to at least one-third of its subscription income. Secondly, tax relief is available on unreimbursed medical expenses in excess of £50 for an individual or £100 for a family.<sup>44</sup> This provision seems little known, and in 1979 only 1,681 refunds were made to claimants, for a total of £296,342 (Dáil Proceedings, 28 May, 1980).

Given the foregoing, an educated guess is that the state pays, directly or indirectly, over half the cost of private care.

<sup>44</sup>Unlike the tax relief on VHI premia, that on unreimbursed medical expenses is retrospective. Taxpayers file a form (MED. 1) and receive a refund — from the Inspector of taxes, not from the Department of Health — equal to their own tax rates times the eligible expense, after the deductible amount. For purposes of this provision, the following are not considered to be qualifying health expenses: routine maternity care, routine ophthalmic treatment, or routine dental treatment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup>As of 1983, the following schedule of daily room charges prevailed for private and semi-private patients in public hospitals: Health Board regional hospitals and Voluntary Public teaching hospitals, private, £55 and semi-private, £40; Health Board County Hospital and Voluntary Public non-teaching hospitals, private £40 and semi-private £33; and Health Board District Hospital, private £21 and semi-private £16. (Source: Department of Health.) As of 1983, the subsidies to daily charges were as follows: homes providing nursing care only, £4.75; mainly for old people, £4.50; and private psychiatric hospitals, teaching, £2.25; and non-teaching, £1.30 except no subsidy for short-stay patients. (Source: Department of Health.)

## THE IRISH SYSTEM OF MEDICAL CARE

## B. Delivery of Medical Care

Medical care systems have been described as having four levels (Rutten, 1978). At the first level, that of primary care, there stand the general practitioners (see Figure 4.3). GPs provide two kinds of services. They provide a large fraction of out-patient care, to patients with more common and routine problems or conditions — infectious illnesses, orthopaedic problems, routine obstetrics, etc. The GP also "plays an important role as the person who decides whether or not a patient will be treated at a higher and more costly level of care" (Rutten, 1978). In other words, patients typically enter the system at the first level. Most go no further, but a fraction are referred to a specialist at the second level. According to our survey, 7.1 per cent of 1980 GP consultations involved a referral to another doctor. Certain specialists provide primary care. That is,



Source: Adapted from Rutten, 1978.

Figure 4.3: Levels of the Medical Care System

patients may go to them directly, without first seeing a GP. These primary-care specialists include paediatricians, gynaecologists, obstetricians and psychiatrists.

At the second level is out-patient specialist care. This care is usually provided in a clinic or office located at a hospital, by the consultant specialist or by a junior hospital doctor working under the former's direction. In 1980, according to our survey, the average person in Ireland had 3.6 consultations with a general practitioner and 0.4 consultations with a specialist. However, as we will see in Chapters 6 and 7, where utilisation is discussed, there is considerable variability in utilisation, according to age, sex, category of eligibility under the Health Services, etc.

Table 4.2 shows Ireland with 12.0 doctors per 10,000 population, though adjusting Eurostat data to correct the population estimate would raise the figure to 12.6. Either figure places Ireland near the bottom of the European Community, with only Luxembourg reporting a lower ratio of doctors to population. It must be emphasised that this does not necessarily reflect against the Irish medical care system. The "Parkinson's Law" phenomenon discussed in Chapter 2 suggests that an increase in supply of physicians could generate more "need" for physicians' services. There seems to be no basis for asserting that there is a doctor shortage in Ireland, though there may be problems with the geographic distribution of doctors, with the North-Western area at a particular disadvantage.

Non-doctor health professionals - dentists, nurses, social workers, opticians,

State	Doctors per 10,000 population	Nurses per 10,000 population	Dentists per 10,000 population
German Federal Republic	19.9	30.0	5.2
France	16.3	40.2	5.1
Italy	22.5	36.0	( c)
Netherlands	16.6	31.0	3.3
Belgium	20.4	$35.9^{(a)}$	3.1
Luxembourg	11.3	47.2 <sup>(b)</sup>	3.2
United Kingdom	13.8	41.5	2.4
Ireland	12.0	59.1	2.7
Denmark	19.5	58.8	8.8
Ireland's Rank (from lowest)	2	9	2 <sup>(d)</sup>

Table 4.2: Doctors, nurses and dentists per 10,000 population, European Community, 1976

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup> 1971; <sup>(b)</sup> 1970; <sup>(c)</sup> Not available; <sup>(d)</sup> Rank of eight; (Italy not available.) Source: Eurostat, Social Indicators for the European Community, 1960-1978. chiropodists, etc. — also practice in Ireland, some on a referral basis, some providing primary care, some as supporting staff. Table 4.2 shows Ireland to have the highest ratio of nurses to population in the European Community. This ranking probably reflects, in part, the hospitals orientation of the Irish system, as compared with community care, and probably also reflects some substitution of nursing for physician personnel. Table 4.2 also shows Ireland to be second lowest (after the United Kingdom) in ratio of dentists to population. There are acknowledged deficiencies in the Irish dental care system, with an inadequate number of dentists overall, especially Health Board dentists.

The third level of the medical care system consists of acute or general hospitals. Ideally, patients enter hospitals as in-patients only on the basis of a referral by a specialist. The fourth level consists of long-stay or special hospitals, and nursing homes, and similar residential facilities. Comparative statistics do not report on hospitals in precisely this manner. Table 4.3 shows Ireland to have among the lowest ratios in the European Community of hospital beds (other than psychiatric) to population, but to be among the highest in the rate of hospital admissions. These seemingly contradictory statistics require efficient use of beds, and Table 4.3 does show Ireland to be lowest in average stay and highest in cases treated per bed per year (both in ties with Denmark). On the other hand, Ireland leads the Community, and by a very wide mark, in ratio of psychiatric beds to population.<sup>45</sup>

These statistics, which are from *Eurostat*, have been criticised on the criterion of comparability. Irish-UK comparisons from Table 4.3 are particularly suspect, as the Irish figure is limited to acute beds only (including maternity), while the UK figure includes nursing homes. Table 4.4, which was compiled by James Raftery of the National Economic and Social Council, and published in NESC No. 73 (1983), compares Ireland (i.e., the Republic) with Northern Ireland, England, Scotland and Wales, by type of bed use. Ireland has more acute beds per head of population than England, Scotland, or Wales, and somewhat fewer than Northern Ireland. Ireland has significantly more long-stay beds, and more beds of all types, per head, than any of the UK countries (NESC No. 73, 1983).

The progress of individual patients through the medical care system does not always follow exactly the idealised four-level model. As noted, according to our survey, 7.1 per cent of all general practitioner consultations in 1980 led to a referral to another doctor (usually a specialist), while 14.1 per cent of all specialist consultations led to a referral to another doctor. Of all specialist consultations, 85 per cent were either return visits or referrals from other doctors; and of first visits (i.e., excluding return visits), 80 per cent were referred by other

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup>These statistics need some qualification. Ratios of beds to population have not been adjusted for population age distribution. The patient population in Irish psychiatric hospitals includes a large number of persons who are not mentally ill, viz., mentally handicapped adults and geriatric patients for whom more appropriate facilities are not available. Because of such differences in bed use, international comparisons can be misleading if inappropriate inferences are drawn, e.g., concerning the comparative prevalence of mental illness.

		_	-	÷ -	
State	Hospital <sup>(a)</sup> beds per 1,000 population	Hospital <sup>(a)</sup> admissions per 1,000 population	Average stay in hospital <sup>(a)</sup> (days)	Cases treated per bed per year <sup>(a)</sup>	Psychiatric beds per 1,000 population
German Federal Republic	10.0	163	18	17	1.8
France	8.1	168	14	22	$2.5^{(e)}$
Italy	8.6	171	13	20	$2.0^{(d)}$
Netherlands	5.2	104	15	20	1.8
Belgium	6.4	( c)	12	( c)	$2.7^{(d)}$
Luxembourg	7.1	119 <sup>(d)</sup>	13	19	3.8
United Kingdom	8.7 <sup>(.b)</sup>	$115^{(b,e)}$	22 <sup>(b)</sup>	$14^{(b)}$	3.0
Ireland	5.8	162	11	28	$4.9^{(d)}$
Denmark	6.4	172	11	27	2.1
Ireland's Rank (from lowest)	2	4 <sup>(f)</sup>	$1/2^{(g)}$	8 <sup>(f)</sup>	8

Table 4.3: Selected indicators of hospital facilities and use, European Community, 1976

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup> Excludes psychiatric; <sup>(b)</sup> Includes nursing homes; <sup>(e)</sup> Not available; <sup>(d)</sup> 1975; <sup>(e)</sup> 1974; <sup>(f)</sup> Rank of eight (Belgium not available); <sup>(g)</sup> Tied for first, second.

Source: Eurostat, Social Indicators for the European Community, 1960-1978.

				Northern	
	England	Wales	Scotland	Ireland	Ireland
Acute specialities <sup>(b)</sup>	2.1	2.1	2.5	3.5	3.2
	(2.8)	(3.1)	(3.5)	(4.2)	(3.8)
Maternity per 1,000 females aged 15-44 <sup>(c)</sup>	1.4	1.4	1.9	2.2	2.2
	(1.9)	(2.1)	(2.6)	(2.9)	(2.7)
Psychiatric mental illness <sup>(d)</sup> mental handicap	3.1	3.1	4.7	$3.8^{(g)}$	5.2
,	(3.5)	(3.4)	(5.1)	(4.6)	
Geriatric <sup>(e)</sup> per 1,000 persons aged 65+	24.7 <sup>´</sup>	31.3	30.7	33.3	39.5
Other <sup>(f)</sup>		_		_	0.4
Total beds per 1,000 population	9.1	10.3	11.9	$11.4^{(g)}$	13.5

Table 4.4: Occupied<sup>(a)</sup> beds in hospitals and residential centres, numbers per 1,000 population, UK and Ireland, 1979

Notes:

<sup>(a)</sup> "Occupied" rather than "available" bed population ratios have been used because data on the latter are not collected in all cases. The figures in parentheses show ratios for "available" beds, where possible.

<sup>(b)</sup> UK data from *Regional Trends 1982*, HMSO, Table 4.4. Ireland's data from *Statistical Information Relevant to the Health Services 1981*, Table G1, excluding maternity, psychiatric and geriatric assessment beds, all district hospitals, cottage hospitals and all private hospitals.

<sup>(c)</sup>UK data as (b). Ireland's data: Statistical Information Relevant to the Health Services.

<sup>(d)</sup>UK data by combining Table 4.4 and 4.15 *Regional Trends 1982*. Ireland's statistic was derived by combining Health Board Psychiatric Hospitals and Units, Special Psychiatric Hospitals, acute psychiatric beds, Special Residential Centres for the Mentally Handicapped.

<sup>(e)</sup> UK data as for (d). Ireland's statistic was derived by combining acute geriatric assessment beds, longstay District Hospitals and the 1980 data on Health Board Geriatric Units (including private and voluntary Hospitals and Homes) in *Statistical Information Relevant to the Health Services*, 1982.

<sup>(1)</sup>"Other" comprises Short Stay District Hospitals and Cottage Hospitals, which do not fit easily into any of the other categories. <sup>(g)</sup>Northern Ireland's statistic excludes mentally handicapped.

Sources: Health Services: The Implications of Demographic Change, National Economic and Social Council, No. 73, Dublin, November, 1983.

doctors. Of all hospital admissions, 58.5 per cent were originated by general practitioners and only 21.7 per cent by other doctors. Hence GPs appear to have a greater role in hospital admissions than the model would indicate. These and other aspects of utilisation and referral patterns are discussed in greater detail in Chapter 6 (see also Appendix Tables A.28 through A.35).

In the following sections, we will discuss, in turn, general practitioners, specialists, other professionals, general hospitals and special hospitals.

# General Practitioners

Though Irish medical care revolves around the General Practitioner, only about 7 per cent of total medical care expenditures (about 5 per cent of public and 15 per cent of private expenditures) are for GP services (see next chapter). Approximately 42 per cent of Irish doctors with medical practices are general practitioners; the remainder are specialists (about a quarter of the total), most of whom base their practices in hospitals, and junior hospital doctors (about a third) (see Table 4.4). These statistics again reflect the strong hospitals orientation of the Irish medical care system and its relative weakness in community primary care.

Results of our survey show that private patients (those in Categories II and III) paid a usual fee averaging £3.75 per consultation in 1980 (see Table 4.4). The mean charge ranged from £3.39 in the North-Western Health Board area to £3.95 in the Eastern. The usual fee for a home visit averaged £5.38, and ranged from £5.03 in the Midland area to £5.70 in the North-Eastern, reflecting a premium of roughly £1.50 for house calls. About 20 per cent of all consultations are home visits.

Fees for public (i.e., Category I) patients, paid by the state, are considerably lower. From October, 1980, to the end of the year, the basic fee was  $\pounds 2.34$ , or 62 per cent of the average private fee, for office visits within normal hours. A schedule of fees payable for house calls, according to the distance from the doctor's surgery, and the time of day, could bring the fee up to as high as  $\pounds 17.66$  (for a call after midnight to a home more than ten miles distant). The 1980 schedule of fees is found in the Appendix. The overall average payment in 1980 per consultation reflecting fee schedules (which changed twice during the year) was only  $\pounds 2.63$ , about 64 per cent of the overall average private fee of  $\pounds 4.08$ . Payments are made by the General Medical Services (Payments) Board (See Figure 4.1).<sup>46</sup>

<sup>46</sup>As of 1977, 75 per cent of GPs in the General Medical Services choice-of-doctor scheme were paid wholly on a fee basis; another 19 per cent were paid on a fee basis, subject to a guaranteed minimum annual payment; and 6 per cent were paid entirely by salary. Prior to the choice-ofdoctor scheme, those persons covered by Medical Cards were treated by District Medical Officers under the so-called dispensary system; when the change took place District Medical Officers were given some choice as to remuneration, and the latter two groups of GPs not paid wholly on a fee basis are former District Medical Officers who chose the remuneration methods indicated. GPs in their private practices work entirely on a fee basis, except for a handful, mentioned earlier, who supply GP services for employers and are remunerated on a capitation basis. While the fee level was, then, significantly higher for private than public patients, the public rate is in a sense compensated for by the very much higher consulting rates among patients in this category, as we will see in Chapter 6.

Prior to 1972, public patients were treated in dispensaries by salaried practitioners known as District Medical Officers (who also might have had significant private practices). In 1972, the "Choice of Doctor" scheme was introduced, by which public patients were permitted to select their own GPs, subject to the latters' acceptance, from among those in the area who were participants in the scheme. Most doctors who participate have private patients as well. Though these GPs remain private, independent professionals and cannot in any sense be considered as state employees, they do not have free entry into the scheme. Instead, they may enter an area and accept Category I patients only when a vacancy occurs, and in that case the position will be advertised and a number of applicants may compete. GPs are usually limited to 2,000 Medical Card patients, thus helping assure a more even geographical distribution of doctors. This rule is not applied in some (Western) areas with low ratios of doctors to population.

When the Government proposed the "Choice of Doctor" scheme in a White Paper in 1966, it stated a preference for the capitation method of remuneration (see Chapter 2), the technique then found in the UK and two other EEC countries, and recently adopted by Italy as well (Stationery Office, 1966). "For the Department [of Health], capitation had the main advantage of being relatively cheap and difficult to abuse. It was also easy to calculate expenditure from year to year. ... The Department ... disliked fee-for-service because they feared it would prove too expensive and would be abused by unscrupulous doctors" (Barrington, 1973). The organised medical profession argued and lobbied strongly for fee-for-service, and the disagreement held up the major health legislation of which the scheme was a part. In the end only a change of Ministers after a General Election broke the deadlock, in favour of a fee-for-service system.

There are no statistics on utilisation under the dispensary system, but it is generally agreed that the change to the new system of fee-reimbursed private GPs was associated with a major rise in uptake and utilisation. In the first year of its operation, the General Medical Services (Payments) Board proved to be seriously underbudgeted; in other words, predicted utilisation levels, based on scattered bits of data from the dispensary scheme and from private practice, fell short of actual levels.

Table 4.5 shows that in 1975 there were 4.8 general practitioners in Ireland for each 10,000 persons in the population. This ratio varied from 4.3 (in the Mid-Western area) to 6.0 (in the Midland area). These ratios presumably reflect doctors' locational preferences more than policy decisions. The doctor shortage in the North-Western area is rather more severe than that area's reported 4.5 ratio would indicate, as the population in that three-county region (Donegal, Sligo, Leitrim) has a materially higher proportion of aged persons than any other and average distance to the doctor is greater. it is well known that medical

	Eastern	Midland	Mid- Western	North- Eastern	North- Western	South- Eastern	Southern	Western	Ireland
No. of GPs - total	527	112	123	124	87	161	223	156	1.513
GPs - Choice of Doctor scheme	453	84	91	93	87	127	199	142	1.276
No. of Consultants	446	24	51	37	25	143	48	79	853
No. of Junior Doctors	682	34	71	66	35	171	51	149	1.259
No. of Public Health Doctors	36	10	22	10	10	17	15	12	132
Total Doctors	1,691	180	267	237	157	554	275	396	3.757
GPs per 10,000 population	4.9	·6.0	4.3	4.7	4.5	4.6	4.6	4.8	4.8
Consultants									210
per 10,000 population	4.2	1.3	1.8	1.4	1.3	2.9	1.4	2.4	2.7
Doctors per 10,000 population	17.1	10.1	9.9	9.7	8.4	11.9	8.4	12.7	12.6
Average GP fee - surgery (f)	3.95	3.53	3.57	3.62	3.39	3.84	3.77	3 44	3 75
Average GP fee – home $(f_i)$	5.51	5.03	5.47	5.70	5.12	5.22	5.09	5.53	5.38
Average no. of home visits as							2100	5.00	0.00
per cent of consultations	23.2	17.3	17.7	18.1	22.9	23.7	21.0	16.9	20.6

 Table 4.5: Doctors in Ireland and their distribution amongst Health Boards, 1975, together with average fee levels, surgery and home consultations, 1980

Source: GP fees and home visits, author's survey. Other data, Department of Health, 1982, and NESC No. 29, 1977.

care needs (and utilisation rates) of aged persons are significantly greater than those of the rest of the population. While 10.7 per cent of Ireland's 1979 population were aged 65 and over, 14.5 per cent of the North-Western area's population (and only 8.4 per cent of the Eastern area's) fell in that age group. The North-Western area has only about half the ratio of GPs to aged population as is found in the Eastern Health Board area.

A price may be paid for the doctor shortage in the North-West area. Our survey shows that people in this area are least likely, by far, to have physical examinations when they do not suspect they are ill pr pregnant. Preventative care is discussed in Chapter 7.

There is general agreement that some aspects of Irish general practice need strengthening. Doctors should make more use of clerical and ancillary or paramedical help. At present, there is no financial incentive for them to do so, as the GMS (Payments) Board will only pay for consultations with GPs and not with other medical or para-medical personnel. Few doctors are involved in any form of group practice. Perhaps 30 per cent of GPs are in practices of two or more doctors.

A study of general practice, initiated and planned by the South of Ireland (i.e., Republic of Ireland) Faculty of the Royal College of General Practitioners, and carried out by GPs in the early 1970s, concluded:

With few exceptions, general practice in Ireland is a free enterprise type of medical care. It has been described as having cottage industry qualities, and because single-handed practices predominate, consulting hours, quality and variety of services vary enormously... Shortage of money in many areas leaves the doctor practising from his home, or a rather ramshackle outlying dispensary. Advances in technical medical care, surgery premises, [and] doctor grouping are, of course, developing in the cities, but, by and large, general practitioners outside these areas continue to practice from their homes, using little or no ancillary help, relying heavily on wives for quasi-secretarial and other administrative services.

There are some indications, especially from referral rates, that the level of acute medical care is more haphazard than in the United Kingdom, and Irish doctors still having a too ready recourse to direct hospital admission to solve their patients' problems (Gowen, 1972).

This last comment is in reference to the alleged tendency of some GPs, uncertain of their diagnostic abilities, to refer their non-routine cases to hospital for tests or admission. Whatever the reasons, the Irish rate of admission to hospital is high by European standards, as we have seen (Table 4.3). The situation on the ground is known to have improved since 1972, when the above was written, but in 1976, an authoritative commentator noted,

The isolation of the Irish general practitioner both geographically and intellectually needs urgent attention (Shannon, 1976).

On the other hand, some GPs are beginning to practice in Community Health Centres, such as the modern and progressive centre operated out of the District Hospital in Dungloe, Co. Donegal. In that centre, the district medical officer, public health nurse, and other health board community care personnel, have their offices, whilst the area's GPs, paying rent as private tenants, also maintain their offices and surgeries there. The adjoining hospital provides x-ray and other facilities.

Research elsewhere indicates that the optimal organisation of physician practices involves two or more doctors practising together, using a variety of "physician extenders" such as nurse practitioners and physician assistants. These studies indicate, however, that most physicians employ less than the optimal number of aides, and that their practice sizes (in terms of physicians) are sub-optimal. While the results cannot readily be translated to Ireland, in the absence of such research, it may fairly be assumed that Irish practice sizes and use of physician extenders are frequently sub-optimal as well (P. J. Feldstein, 1979.)

GP consulting and prescribing rates are considerably higher for public than for private patients, a fact which probably reflects both the demographic and socio-economic differences between the two groups and the economic incentives facing physicians, as will be discussed in greater detail in later chapters. Also discussed later will be some evidence pointing to demand stimulation by GPs, especially of public patients, for reasons relating to the GPs' own economic selfinterests. The GMS (Payments) Board monitors consulting and prescribing rates, and refers excessive rates to a peer review group who, after investigation, are empowered to impose penalties which can include warnings, reduced remuneration, or termination of a doctor's GMS contract. (GMS (Payments) Board, 1980.) These penalties are sometimes imposed, 47 but those penalised are not identified. "Excessive" or "abnormal" consulting and prescribing rates are defined by reference to average patterns. Hence any systematic general tendency of doctors to over-prescribe or to stimulate excessive consulting rates would not come under scrutiny under this review procedure, nor would behaviour which resulted in statistical results still within the range considered normal.

As Table 4.6 indicates, where consultations took place — in the GP's office/surgery or in the patient's home — varied according to the distance between these. Home visits appear to have risen with distance until the latter reached 5 miles, then to have fallen rather precipitously, possibly reflecting increasing doctor resistance to long trips. Table 4.7 suggests that there may be a somewhat greater propensity for home visits for public (Category I) patients than for private patients, but no difference according to presence or absence of VHI cover.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup>In 1980, cases involving 17 doctors were referred for investigation, and in 15 of these remuneration was reduced. In addition, one case referred in 1979 resulted in 1980 in a contract termination (General Medical Services (Payments) Board, 1981).

Distance to GP (first that applies)	Patient's home	GP's office or surgery	Elsewhere
Under 1 mile	17.6	80.4	2.0
Under 2 miles	17.3	80.6	2.1
Under 3 miles	21.6	77.8	0.6
Under 5 miles	27.0	71.9	1.1
Under 10 miles	17.0	82.5	0.5
Over 10 miles	11.3	88.2	0.5
All persons	19.1	79.5	1.4

Table 4.6: Where most recent GP consultation took place, as per cent of consultations, by distance from GP's office or surgery

 

 Table 4.7: Where most recent GP consultation took place, as per cent of consultations, by category of eligibility and VHI cover

Eligibility and VHI cover	Patient's home	GP's office or surgery	Elsewhere
All VHI	1.91	80.0	0.9
All non-VHI	19.1	79.3	1.6
All Category I	23.1	75.8	1.1
VHI	25.7	73.3	1.0
non-VHI	22.9	75.9	1.1
All Category II	15.5	82.7	1.8
VHI	17.2	81.8	1.0
non-VHI	15.0	83.0	2.0
All Category III	19.7	79.3	1.0
VHI	19.7	79.7	0.6
non-VHI	19.5	78.0	2.5
All persons	19.1	79.5	1.4

Table 4.8 reports on how long patients had to wait in waiting rooms, etc., to be seen by their GPs.<sup>48</sup> Roughly one person in six had to wait more than an hour. No apparent difference exists between public and private patients in this regard.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup>In general, as explained in Chapter 1, although the respondent in our survey is the housewife, data pertain to each member of the household. However, it was felt that the respondent would be unlikely to know about waiting times of other household members, so all data pertaining to waiting times, including all data in Table 4.7, pertain to the respondent only. This may introduce a bias. Persons found in the home by survey interviewers are probably less likely than other household members to have outside employment or to be full-time students. Thus, they may be able to schedule their visits to the doctor so as to minimise waiting time. Whether this is the case is, of course, not known.

	Up to 30 minutes	Up to 1 hour	Up to 2 hours	Over 2 hours	Total persons <sup>(b)</sup>
All VHI	64.0	28.8	4.4	2.8	100.0
All non-VHI	52.0	29.2	13.9	5.0	100.0
All Category I	52.9	31.5	11.4	4.3	100.0
VHI	61.2	36.8	2.0	0 <sup>(a)</sup>	100.0
non-VHI	52.5	31.2	11.9	4.5	100.0
All Category II	52.4	29.2	13.8	4.6	100.0
VHI	60.6	30.6	7.3	1.5	100.0
non-VHI	50.3	28.9	15.4	5.4	100.0
All Category III	65.8	24.4	5.4	4.3	100.0
VHI	66.7	26.6	2.6	4.1	100.0
non-VHI	62.8	17.0	15.1	5.0	100.0
All Persons	55.0	29.1	11.5	4.4	100.0

Table 4.8: Waiting time at GP's office or surgery, by category of Health Services entitlement and VHI cover, 1980 – per cent distribution

<sup>(a)</sup>Less than 0.05 per cent.

<sup>(b)</sup>Totals may not add due to rounding.

Persons with VHI cover, for reasons which remain unclear, had significantly less waiting time than persons without, irrespective of income group (as indicated by category of eligibility). One possible explanation is that GPs who are not in the choice-of-Doctor scheme may cater to those with VHI cover and may have shorter waiting times. Another is that those with VHI cover may be more likely to have telephones, permitting them to avoid long waits by making advance appointments. Table 4.9 indicates a very considerable range in Health Board area percentages of patients waiting more than one hour at a GP's office or surgery, from a quite acceptable 5.1 per cent in the Midland area, to a quite unacceptable 39.1 per cent in the North-Western, reflecting the latter's low ratio of doctors to population, especially aged population.

These Health Board area differences in waiting time reflect underlying differences in doctor-to-population ratios; utilisation levels; and population characteristics such as social class. Further statistical analysis of waiting time, reported in Chapter 6, shows no net explanatory effect of Health Board area when such underlying differences are controlled for.

A review of general practice in Ireland, as regards Category I patients, with up-to-date information, analysis and recommendations for change, appears in the Report of the Working Party in General Medical Service (1984), which was published too late to be systematically discussed in the present report. Some of the recommendations are, however, reviewed in Chapter 8.

Tab	le 4.9:	Per	cent	t of pati	ents wai	ting	more	than	one	mont	h for	admis	sio	n to
hospital,	and per	· cent	of	patients	waiting	mor	e thai	n one	hou	r at i	GP's	office	or	surgery,
				by I	Health E	Boara	l area	, 198	30					

Health Board Area	Hospital	GP Surgery
Eastern	6.1	16.4
Midland	0 <sup>(a)</sup>	5.1
Mid-Western	O <sup>( a)</sup>	11.8
North-Eastern	10.0	17.1
North-Western	2.3	39.1
South-Eastern	9.0	9.1
Southern	1.9	16.7
Western	7.8	13.8
Ireland	7.8	14.6

<sup>(a)</sup>Less than 0.05 per cent.

# Specialists and Other Hospital Doctors

Most specialists are consultants and base their practices in hospitals. Comhairle na nOspidéal, the hospital council (see Figure 4.1), regulates the numbers and types of consultants in health board and public voluntary hospitals and determines qualifications for those appointments.

Consultants whose specialities make it appropriate (physicians, surgeons, obstetricians, gynaecologists, etc., but not anaesthetists, pathologists, radiologists, etc.) control certain beds in the hospitals in which they practise. With rare exceptions, only their patients occupy these beds; and these doctors control the flow of these patients through the hospital.

In 1983, a new common form of contract for all hospital consultants was introduced. For consultants practising from Public Voluntary Hospitals, the new arrangement replaced the widely-criticised "pool" system.<sup>49</sup> All consultants are now salaried and they have liberal benefits — pensions, annual leave, sick leave, study leave, etc. — as well as tenure. Their salaries remunerate them for their public-patient work. They are paid on a fee-for-service basis by their private patients.

The VHI distributes to consultants a schedule of fees for various surgical and medical procedures at levels at which they are prepared to remunerate those with VHI cover. It would be extraordinary for a consultant to charge less than

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup>The Health Boards, under this now abandoned system, paid the hospitals for public patients on a patient-day basis, for in-patient care. While the Department left it to the hospitals to divide out the payment, not concerning itself with the method by which consultants were individually remunerated, in fact, the consultants were known to be remunerated on a patient-day basis. This system was alleged to lead to excessively long (and inter-regionally varied) hospital stays (Kelly, 1976).

the amount listed by VHI. Some may charge more, but as the patient must pay the full difference between the fee and the VHI rate, such specialists are in the minority. The VHI periodically up-dates their "suggested" fee schedule, which is a significant influence on consultant fees in Ireland.

As Table 4.5 indicates, there is considerable variation in the ratio of consultants to population, from a low of 1.3 per 10,000 in the Midland and North-Western to a high of 4.2 in the Eastern Health Board area.<sup>50</sup> These patterns reflect the distributions of hospital beds and, in particular, the concentration of major teaching hospitals in Dublin. While geographic parity is neither practical nor desirable, the more than three to one disparity probably means excessive inter-regional inequities, and these deserve review by the medical profession as well as by Comhairle na nOspidéal and the Department of Health.

Specialist doctor care may be an important exception to the general rule that medical care of equal quality is available to persons in all categories of eligibility. Private patients are more likely to be cared for personally by the consultant, while public patients are served by junior hospital doctors. More seriously, a 1975 Irish Medical Association Working Party questioned whether the latter were competent to deal with their patients' problems (Mulcahy, *et al.*, 1975). This issue is discussed further in Chapter 8.

## Dentists

Persons eligible in Category I are entitled to free dental care from dentists employed by Health Boards and paid by salary. In addition, persons eligible under the Social Welfare scheme can get free or subsidised dental care from private dentists, who are remunerated by the Department of Social Welfare on a fee-for-service basis. The remainder of the population pay for private dental care, on a fee-for-service basis, out of their own resources.

As noted earlier, many persons with Category I eligibility find themselves for practical purposes unable to avail of free dental care, while some better off people with Categories II and III eligibility qualify for the Department of Social Welfare Dental Benefit Scheme. Table 4.10, based on our survey, shows that 53.6 per cent of reported most recent dental visits were free. Of those persons covered in Category I, 70.4 per cent had free dental visits, as did 53.6 per cent of those in Category II and 41.5 per cent of those in Category III. The average fee paid by those paying fees was £16.45.

Fees vary, of course, according to the treatment, as indicated in Table 4.11, which also indicates that dental visits for check-up only were more likely to be free than those for any other purpose.

VHI does not at present cover dental care, apart from some surgery and in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup>These figures do not reflect subsequent expansion of Letterkenny Hospital and the related increase in consultants. Comhairle na nOspidéal report that in May, 1983, the ratio of consultants to population was 1.9 per 10,000 population in the North Western and 4.1 in the Eastern Health Board areas.

Category of Entitlement	% Whose most recent dentist visit was free	% Paying for most recent dental visit	Average fee recent dental visit, excluding free visit
	70.4	29.6	( a)
Ĩ	53.6	46.4	( a)
III	41.5	58.5	(a)
All	53.6	46.4	£16.45

Table 4.10: Dental visits, free and fee, by category of Health Services entitlement

<sup>(a)</sup>The differences among these means were not statistically significant.

cases of accident, but it is of interest none the less to compare those with and those without VHI cover. Table 4.11 indicates that 40.3 per cent of dental visits were by persons with VHI cover (though they formed only 25.5 per cent of the population). This figure varies by type of treatment from a low of 29.2 per cent for dentures to a high of 54.4 per cent for check-up only. Fees were paid for 55.6 per cent of visits by those with VHI cover; for those without, the figure was 40.3 per cent.

Table 4.11 also gives the main purpose of each person's most recent dental visit. Something of the crisis intervention nature of Irish dental care is indicated by the fact that 22.7 per cent of visits were for the purpose of extraction!

Table 4.12 reports on the geographic distribution of practising dentists and dentists employed by Health Boards. Dental resources are not evenly distributed, especially when one takes into account areas as well as populations to be served.

	V.	HI	Non-VHI		Total			
Treatment <sup>(a)</sup>	% of Total	% Fee paying	% of Total	% Fee paying	% of Total	% fee paying	Average fee (£) <sup>(b)</sup>	% of visits
Check-up only	54.4	44.9	45.6	18.3	100.0	32.8	6.58	17.0
X-ray	46.2	50.0	53.8	57.1	100.0	55.8	23.97	1.1
Filling	45.1	55.9	54.9	44.1	100.0	49.4	14.87	44.2
Extraction	25.0	63.8	75.0	48.3	100.0	52.2	13.66	22.7
Dentures	29.2	67.9	70.8	30.9	100.0	41.7	37.85	9.3
Other	39.7	60.9	60.3	45.7	100.0	51.7	27.85	5.7
All	40.3	55.6	59.7	40.3	100.0	46.4	16.45	100.0

 Table 4.11: Type of treatment and per cent fee-paying, by VHI cover, and average fee by type of treatment, most recent dental visit

<sup>(a)</sup>If a visit had more than one purpose, then treatment given is main purpose of visit except "Check-up only" is chosen only where there was no other treatment.

<sup>(b)</sup>Excluding free visits.

Health Board	Number of practising dentists (1983)	Dentists per 1,000 population <sup>(a)</sup>	Health Board dentists (1981)	Health Board Dentits per 1,000 eligible persons <sup>(b)</sup>
Eastern	445	0.37	66	0.24
Midland	38	0.19	11	0.12
Mid-Western	57	0.18	18	0.17
North-Eastern	55	0.19	16	0.14
North-Western	47	0.23	11	0.09
South-Eastern	93	0.25	22	0.14
Southern	182	0.35	43	0.25
Western	58	0.17	27	0.15
Ireland	975	0.28	214	0.17

Table 4.12: Practising dentists, 1983, number and per 1,000 population, and Health Board dentists, 1981, number and per 1,000 eligible persons, by Health Board area

<sup>(a)</sup>Dentists in 1983 divided by 1981 populations.

<sup>(b)</sup>Persons eligible in Category I, from Dept. of Health.

Source: Department of Health.

Table 4.12 shows that there are 0.28 dentists per 1,000 persons, which amounts to one dentist for every 3,500 persons; and 0.17 Health Board dentists per 1,000 persons eligible in Category I, which amounts to one dentist for every 5,900 eligible persons. Both figures are low; the latter figure is critically so. By contrast, Norway and Sweden have approximately one dentist for every 1,000 persons; the USA and France have about one to every 2,000 persons; and Italy has one for every 5,000 persons (Wiley, 1984). As seems often to be the case with health and medical resources, the North-Western Health Board area has a significantly lower resource level, per eligible person, than any other region; the Southern and Eastern Health Board areas are the most favoured.

Clarkson (1982) reports that the average number of persons served by one dentist in Ireland fell from 4,130 in 1971 to 3,330 in 1980, an important achievement, though much more progress is necessary. He reports comparative European figures which range from about 1,000 (Norway and Sweden) to 5,000 (Italy), though most countries seem to be in the area of 2,500. Table 4.2, above, which does not include Italy, indicates that in the European Community only the United Kingdom had a lower ratio of dentists to population than Ireland in 1976 and that all other states had considerably higher ratios.

The reason for the shortage concerns economic incentives for dentists, rather than under-production by Irish dental schools. Indeed, there is a well-established pattern of emigration by Irish dental graduates (Wiley, 1984).

A thorough review of the Irish dental care system, as well as of the relevant international literature, appears in Wiley (1984).

### Other Personnel

As we will see in Chapter 7, approximately one person in four sees her or his

dentist at least once each year, and approximately one person in six uses the services of personnel other than a doctor or a dentist — a nurse, a social worker, a physiotherapist, etc. — at least once a year. Sometimes these professionals are seen on referral from a physician; sometimes they in effect provide primary care.

Table 4.13 reports on the distribution of nurses, social workers, physiotherapists and home helps, as provided by Health Boards, among the eight Health Board areas. Nurses are more uniformly distributed across the country than are doctors. The Eastern Health Board area, as is so often true of medical care resources, has a significantly higher ratio of social workers and of physiotherapists to population than elsewhere, approximately treble the rest of the country in the case of social workers, and more than double in the case of physiotherapists.

### General Hospitals

The third level of medical care, as indicated in the schematic diagram of Figure 4.3, is in-patient hospital care. We turn to a discussion of the system of acute hospitals.

As is indicated in Table 4.14, there are several types of hospitals, but these break down into three main categories: *Health Board (or Public) Hospitals*, which are owned and managed by the state, through the Health Boards, and which receive most of their funds from the exchequer; *Public Voluntary Hospitals*, which, like public hospitals, receive most of their funds from the state, and which are under some state jurisdiction, but which are owned and managed by private charitable bodies, mainly religious orders or congregations; and *Private Hospitals*, which, like public Voluntary Hospitals are owned and managed, on a not-forprofit basis, by private charitable bodies, mainly religious, but which are not under the aegis of the state, except that private hospital patients are eligible for services provided by specialist departments of public hospitals.

Of the three, the oldest are the Public Voluntary Hospitals, established as charities either by philanthropic individuals from the early eighteenth century or under enabling legislation of the Irish Parliament in 1765. The first charitable hospital was founded in 1718 and still exists as Jervis Street Hospital in another building. Public Voluntary Hospitals are concentrated in and around Dublin and, to a lesser extent, Cork. Indeed, more than 75 per cent of Dublin's hospital beds are in Voluntary Public Hospitals. Of 44 Voluntary Public Hospitals, 16 are teaching hospitals and these have an average of 280 beds each. The remaining 28 have an average of 140 beds each. Public Voluntary Hospitals receive grants from the Department of Health, "on behalf of" the Health Boards in the respective areas.

There are five types of Health Board Hospitals. The largest, with the greatest number of specialised units, are the Regional Hospitals, most of which are teaching hospitals. They averaged 270 beds in 1979. They are located in Dublin, Cork, Galway, Limerick, and Waterford, i.e., in all Health Board areas except the Midland, the North-East, and the North-West. (The North-East has, how-

			Nu	rses					Social	Workers			Phy there	osio- apists	Home	Helps
Health Board	Hospital total	Hospitai per 1,000 pop.	Public health	Other	Total non- hospital	Non- hospital per 1,000 pop.	Com- mun- ity care	Medical	Psychi- atric	Other	Total	Per 1,000 pop.	Total	Per 1,000 pop.	Total	Per 1,000 pop.
Eastern	7,470	6.41	367	722	1,089	0.93	86	86	31	108	311	0.35	194	0.17	1,823	1.56
Midland	1,087	5.48	97	101	198	1.00	13	0	1	9	23	0.12	12	0.06	317	1.60
Mid-Western	1,768	5.87	109	183	292	0.97	8	0	0	29	37	0.12	16	0.05	343	1.14
North-Eastern	1,332	4.74	115	248	363	1.29	9	2	1	10	22	0.08	16	0.06	493	1.75
North-Western	1,277	6.26	107	111	218	1.07	26	2	1	10	39	0.19	16	0.06	838	2.98
South-Eastern	2,028	5.52	155	63	218	0.59	17	0	0	35	52	0.14	29	0.08	287	0.78
Southern	3,165	6.13	153	147	300	0.58	33	2	4	19	58	0.11	45	0.09	829	1.61
Western	2,478	7.37	169	85	254	0.76	35	0	4	20	59	0.18	35	0.10	732	2.18
Ireland	20,552	6.10	1,272	1,660	2,932	0.87	227	92	43	240	601	0.18	363	0.11	5,662	1.68

Table 4.13: Distribution of nurses, social workers, physiotherapists, and home helps, total and per thousand population, (a) byHealth Board area, 1979

<sup>(a)</sup>Census of Population, 1979. Source: Dail Proceedings, 24 June, 1980

		th Board Hos					Beds per			
Health Board Area:	Regional	County	District	Other <sup>(a)</sup>	Total	– Voluntary Public	Total Public	Private	Total beds	1,000 persons
Eastern	165	277	428	283	1,153	6,481	7.634	682	8.316	7.01
Midland	0	413	231	0	644	114	758	90	848	4 94
Mid-Western	524	229	183	120	1.056	190	1.246	70	1 316	4 31
North-Eastern	0	596	39	82	717	383	1,100	0	1,010	3.85
North-Western	0	477	222	0	699	0	699	28	797	3 51
South-Eastern	265	587	464	140	1.456	136	1 592	75	1 667	4 48
Southern	877	424	764	299	2 364	676	3 040	428	3 468	6.63
Western	603	339	216	183	1.341	204	1 545	141	1 686	4 97
Total Beds	2,434	3,342	2,547	1,107	9,430	8,184	17,614	1,514	19,128	5.59
Number of hospitals	9	24	54	11	98	44	142	16	158	

Table 4.14: Beds in acute hospitals, by type of hospital, distribution by Health Board area, December 31, 1979

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup> Fever and orthopaedic. Source: Department of Health.

ever, a large Voluntary Public Hospital, and the North-West has a large County Hospital.)

County Hospitals averaged 140 beds in 1979. Only one County Hospital, that in Manorhamilton, Co. Leitrim, had fewer than 100 beds (it had 66). But as a rule County Hospitals have fewer specialised units than either Regional or Voluntary Public Hospitals. The 54 District Hospitals, on the other hand, are extremely small, averaging fewer than 50 beds in 1979. The two other categories, grouped under "Other" in Table 4.12, are Fever Hospitals and Orthopaedic Hospitals, together averaging 100 beds.

In addition to Voluntary Public and Health Board Hospitals, there are also Private Hospitals, which comprise about 10 per cent of the hospitals, but account for only 8 per cent of the beds.

There are two issues regarding the size and distribution of hospitals. One pertains to the distribution of hospital beds per capita. As of December 31, 1979, there were in the Republic 5.59 beds for every 1,000 persons. As Table 4.3 above indicates, this put Ireland on the low side, as far as European comparisons are concerned. But 5.59 per 1,000 is by no means an inadequate number of beds. A standard adopted in the United States in 1978 was that no more than four hospital beds should be available per 1,000 population, except that larger numbers might be required in more sparsely settled rural areas, or where there were large numbers of elderly persons.<sup>51</sup> Although this standard is excessively mechanical and cannot be directly transplanted to Irish conditions in any case, it does provide an interesting benchmark. As Table 4.14 shows, the Eastern and Southern Health Board areas exceeded it somewhat in 1979. The Midland, Mid-Western, and South-Eastern Health Board areas had fewer than 4.5 beds per 1,000; the North-Eastern area came closest to the US standards; and only the North-Western Health Board area fell significantly short. The addition of 59 beds at Letterkenny Hospital since then, assuming no reductions elsewhere in the North-Western area, will have raised that area's bed total (Table 4.14) to 786, and the beds per 1,000 population (using 1981 population) to 3.78 — still the lowest in the state. Many people in the North-Eastern Health Board area live reasonably close to the major Dublin hospitals, and indeed our survey disclosed that 38 per cent of those resident in the North-Eastern Health Board area who were discharged from hospital in 1980 had been patients in hospitals in the Eastern Health Board area (see Appendix Table A.41). The same cannot be said of the North-Western Health Board area, which on the population density

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup>U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, *National Guidelines for Planning Goals*, reprinted in Rapoport, Robertson and Stuart (1982). The standard applies to "short-stay" beds only. Adjustments are permitted where the ratio of persons aged 65 years and over to population exceeds 12 per cent. In Ireland, the North-Western is the only Health Board area in which the aged population exceeds 12 per cent. The standard also provides for an adjustment where a majority of the residents would otherwise be more than 30 minutes travel time from a hospital. Aside from upward adjustments, "4.0 beds per 1,000 population is a ceiling, not an ideal situation."

criterion (the area includes large sparsely settled areas) might merit a higher ratio of beds of population. In addition, the North-West has the largest proportion of population aged 65 and over, which normally implies a higher demand for hospital services. The North-West, in spite of recent expansion, may still be underserved by hospital facilities.

The unequal distribution of beds is explained partly, but only partly, by the concentration of specialised beds in regional urban centres. The Eastern Health Board area not only has a higher ratio of specialised beds to population, but also a higher ratio of general medical and surgical beds as well. Data for 1972 cited by Maynard (1976) show 1.85 general medical beds per 1,000 population in the Eastern area, as opposed to 1.26 for Ireland as a whole and only 0.58 for the North-West area (the lowest).

It is sensible that more specialised units be found only in regional urban centres, and this explains some of the inter-regional differences in bed-topopulation ratio. According to our survey, of 394 reported hospital admissions (discharges) in 1980, 46 (or 12 per cent) involved a person resident in one Health Board area using the services of a hospital in a different Health Board area. The Eastern Health Board area, unsurprisingly, was the only net recipient: 35 of its 155 patients (23 per cent) came from elsewhere, mainly from the North-Eastern area. The Southern area was neither a net sender nor a net recipient; it "broke even." All other areas sent patients to other areas, mainly to the Eastern. (See Appendix Table A.41.)

Of course, we do not know how much of this migration for hospital care was the result of regional centralisation of specialised facilities and how much was due simply to the mal-distribution of beds. The ratios reported give us merely the results of these processes. As Culyer and Maynard, commenting on the unequal distribution of hospital beds in Ireland, state,

The causes of such inequalities are complex. History is an important explanatory variable. Hospital bed stocks are often aged and built to serve populations which have long since either declined or migrated to other areas. Geographically unequal incomes and the geographically unequal philanthropic propensities of past generations are two other important variables. Another factor is that because of economies of scale, specialised units are small in number, tend to be located in the East and people travel there to use them. These inter-regional flows blur the character of the crude statistics ... but they do not account for the magnitude of the inequalities. ... (NESC, 29, 1977).

The second issue regarding these data concerns the fact that there are a great many very small hospitals in Ireland. Table 4.14 reports that there are 89 hospitals with fewer than 100 beds, of which 52 have fewer than 50 beds. In 1968, the Fitzgerald Report (Stationery Office, 1968) argued,

We consider that the small hospital of less than 200 beds with one surgeon and one physician is no longer capable of adequately meeting public needs. While in some instances there will be special local factors to justify having a smaller hospital, we recommend that the broad policy should be to establish General Hospitals of not less than 300 beds.

As Table 4.15 indicates, only 13 of Ireland's 158 hospitals have more than 300 beds. These account for approximately 25 per cent of total acute beds. When hospitals are too small, they will either be inadequately staffed and equipped, or they will be inefficient and costly, or both. A minimal hospital should have x-ray and pathology departments; it should have two or preferably three surgeons and physicians, and two obstetricians, to provide 24-hour coverage and to allow for annual leave, illness, etc. If this minimal staff is not employed in a small hospital, it will not provide adequate service; if it is employed, the small hospital will not have enough patient activity to utilise them efficiently.

Moreover, there are indications from US research that larger hospitals may provide higher output quality. Hospitals where fewer than 200 open-heart operations were done in a year had death rates 24 per cent higher than the average (adjusted for severity of case mix); those where more than 200 such operations were performed had death rates 23 per cent below the average (Luft, Bunker and Enthoven, 1979).

In a sense, approximately half of the District Hospitals are not truly acute hospitals. The Department of Health classifies District Hospitals according to average length of stay. There were 26 District Hospitals in 1979 whose average length of stay was under 30 days, and the group average length of stay was 15.7 days (compared with 8.3 for Regional Hospitals, 7.3 for County Hospitals, and 9.6 for Voluntary Public Hospitals). The remaining 28 with average lengths of stay of 30 or more days had a group average of 113.3 days. These hospitals' services more nearly resemble those of institutions providing skilled nursing, convalescent and geriatric care than acute or short-stay care.

The Fitzgerald report recommended that most of the small hospitals be down-

Health Board Area:	1-50	51-100	101-200	201-300	301-400	401-500	501-600	601-700	Total
Eastern	4	10	17	6	5	2		1	45
Midland	4	3	4			_		_	11
Mid-Western	4	4	4		1	-		—	13
North-Eastern	3	1	4		1				9
North-Western	5	2	1	1		_			9
South-Eastern	13	5	3	2					23
Southern	16	8	8	1	1		1		35
Western	3	4	3	2		1	_	_	13
Total	52	37	44	12	8	3	1	1	158

 Table 4.15: Acute hospitals, size distribution (numbers of beds) by Health Board area, December 31, 1979

Source: Department of Health

graded to nursing homes, health centres, etc., but there was considerable resistance at local level to the loss of a hospital facility. In the mid-1970s it was decided that each Health Board would determine which of its County Hospitals it would develop as a general hospital for the region and which it would downgrade. Hospitals were selected and planning and building began. But local pressure in the localities where hospitals were to be downgraded proved to be greater than the will to rationalise the system, and it was agreed that practically every County Hospital would provide the minimum requirements of a general hospital. The *Irish Times* has stated that "the policy of a 'hospital within sight of every polling booth' has triumphed" (December 11, 1978). Though politics are not the only reason for the retention of so many undersized hospitals, it can hardly be doubted that many of these hospitals provide an inadequate acute hospital service to their communities.

It has been estimated that approximately 25 per cent of Irish hospital beds are either in private accommodation (only one bed in the room) or "semi-private" accommodation (two to four beds), the remainder being in public wards with five or more beds (Joint Committee on State-Sponsored Bodies, 1980). This accords with our survey, in which 10.8 per cent of patients reported only one bed in their rooms, and 16.1 per cent reported two to four, for a total of 26.9 per cent private and "semi-private." Females of all ages except middle age (45-64) are more likely than males to take private accommodation (Appendix Table A.39). As noted earlier, all persons are eligible for hospital in-patient care in a public ward, but (as Appendix Table A.40 shows) only 85 per cent of persons with Category I eligibility, 70 per cent with Category II eligibility and 54 per cent with Category III eligibility were in rooms with 5 or more persons. As also noted. many people purchase VHI cover in order to be entitled to private or semiprivate accommodation. Among those with VHI cover, almost exactly half had private or "semi-private" accommodation, and half were accommodated in larger wards. Among those without VHI cover, only 20 per cent were in private or "semi-private" accommodation.

Table 4.9 above, reports that 7.8 per cent of patients had to wait one month or more to be admitted to hospital. Of these, 1.6 per cent had to wait more than a year (not shown in Table 4.9). These figures do not indicate a serious problem in aggregate though there may be local problems in some areas. By Health Board area, the numbers waiting at least a month ranged from insignificantly small to 10.0 per cent. It is sometimes argued that people buy VHI cover, at least in part, in order to avail of private (or "semi-private") care precisely in order to "queuejump" and avoid long waits for admission. Our survey shows no difference between VHI and non-VHI patients in length of wait (Appendix Table A.42). Likewise, no difference is indicated according to category of health services eligibility.

Table 4.3, above, shows Ireland with the shortest average length of general hospital stay in the European Community (tied with Denmark) in 1976, and with the highest number of cases treated per bed per year. Department of Health

data show a general downward trend in average stay, which stood at 10.4 in 1979 (averages by type of hospital have already been cited above). It would not be correct, however, to conclude that length of stay is not a problem. Lengths of stay vary considerably around the country for the same diagnosis and treatment (Kelly, 1976) indicating the likelihood of excessive stays in some cases. Length of stay should be the object of attention from the Department of Health, as part of a strategy aimed at strengthening and encouraging primary and other community care, and shifting resources away from costly hospitalisation. We will return to this question in the final chapter.

Another source of concern is admitting rates, which are high and rising. Table 4.3 shows there to be a low group (UK, Netherlands, Luxembourg) and a high group (the others), the latter including Ireland. The Irish rate rose from 141 per 1,000 in 1975 to 162 in 1976. In 1978 and again in 1979, there were 166 hospital discharges for each 1,000 persons in the population. A high rate of hospital admissions (or discharges) may be evidence of too ready resort to hospitalisation by doctors, and represents a high-cost alternative (and often a medically inferior one as well) to community care. Admitting rates, too, should be the object of the Department's attention, as part of the same strategy aimed at shifting the centre of gravity in the direction of primary care in the community, as will be discussed in the final chapter.

#### Special Hospitals

The special hospital programme forms only a small part of the present study. For reasons mentioned in Chapter 1, our survey results are unreliable in the area of psychiatric hospitals and units and are not presented. Questions were not asked concerning long-stay care of mentally handicapped or other handicapped, or of the aged. Analysis of this sector of care would require special analysis and tools not employed here.

For adults, eligibility follows the same principles in psychiatric as in general hospitals. For children under sixteen, psychiatric services are free, irrespective of family means. As with general hospital care, psychiatric care in private hospitals is subsidised by the state. Roughly one-eighth of current health expenditure goes for psychiatric care. As of the end of 1980, as Table 4.16 indicates, there were approximately 13,000 patients in psychiatric hospitals and psychiatric units of general hospitals in Ireland, a figure which appears to be decreasing steadily each year. The total number of long-stay psychiatric patients in Irish hospitals has fallen from 16,400 in 1970, to 15,000 in 1975, to 13,343 at the end of 1980. The scope for further reductions in the psychiatric hospital in-patient population over time is reflected in the fact that no less than 3,000 or about 22 per cent of the total, are over 65 years of age and have spent more than five years in hospital. The development of community-based psychiatric services, along with the development of specialist geriatric and mental handicap services, will all combine to reduce the total number of in-patients. The numbers of mentally handicapped adults in psychiatric hospitals has shown a consistent decline over recent years.

Psychiatric beds are as unequally distributed as acute beds — though rather differently. The Department of Health does not publish numbers of psychiatric beds, but rather patients on register. The national average for December, 1980, as shown in Table 4.16, was just under four patients per 1,000 population; but three Health Board areas (the Eastern, North-Eastern and Southern) had fewer than three patients per 1,000, and four (the Midland, North-Western, South-Eastern, and Western) had more than five. The ratio of the highest to the lowest exceeds two to one. Where long-stay patients tend to stay in facilities far from their homes, difficulties are imposed for family members and friends who might visit them.

Table 4.16 also reports on admissions, which appear except in recent years to have risen consistently, a trend which is reconciled with declining numbers of patients in residence by falling lengths of stay, due in part to modern methods of treatment. It will be observed that admissions are somewhat less unequally distributed than patients. Admissions to psychiatric hospitals and units now appear to have reached a plateau, having risen consistently in every year from 1945 until 1977.

			Patients	in Hospital,
	Admissi	ions in 1978 Number per	Decemb	er 31, 1980 Number per
Health Board Area	Number	1,000 population	Number	1,000 population
Eastern	8,069	6.77	3,337	2.80
Midland	1,492	7.39	1,164	5.77
Mid-Western	3,309	9.87	1,369	4.44
North-Eastern	2,118	7.33	709	2.45
North-Western	2,183	10.51	1,090	5.25
South-Eastern	3,641	9.72	2,183	5.83
Southern	3,623	6.90	1,464	2.79
Western	2,774	8.14	2,027	5.95
Ireland	27,098	7.88	13,343	3.88

Table 4.16: Psychiatric in-patients, admissions 1980, and patients in psychiatric hospitals/units December 31, 1980 – numbers and numbers per 1,000 population, by Health Board area

*Note:* Numbers per 1,000 population are ratio of numbers of patients in area, whatever their Health Board area of original residence, to population resident in Health Board area. Of the 12 private psychiatric hospitals in the country, eight, including all of the large ones, are situated in the Eastern Health Board area, and accommodate about 1,000 patients, who would be drawn from all parts of the country. The Eastern area numbers and rates may be significantly inflated as a consequence. Rates per 1,000 population are based on 1981 census figures for 5th April, 1981. Total admissions of 27,098 include 159 non-national admissions.

Source: Admissions, Medico-Social Research Board; Patients in hospital, Department of Health.

It is worthwhile commenting on the role alcoholism and alcohol-related disorders play in psychiatric admissions. Alcoholism and alcohol psychosis accounted for 15 per cent of admissions in 1970, while only ten years later alcohol-related psychiatric disorders accounted for 26 per cent of admissions. Indeed, there was an increase between 1970 and 1980 of about 16.3 per cent in non-alcohol related admissions, compared with a 33 per cent increase in all admissions over the same period. Alcoholism has therefore assumed the proportions of a major and central problem in so far as the psychiatric services are concerned.

In this chapter, we have reviewed the system of medical care in Ireland. We have examined the organisation of the public health services and of the private sector; the system of eligibility for free and subsidised medical care; the Voluntary Health Insurance scheme; and the system for delivery of medical care, including professionals — doctors, dentists, and others — and institutions — general and special hospitals. We have seen that some important medical care resources seem to be mal-distributed across the country. The North-West Health Board area, in particular, seems to suffer in inter-regional comparisons.

In recent years, medical care — public and private — has absorbed an increasing share of Gross National Product, as both costs and utilisation levels have risen dramatically. We turn in the next chapter to medical care expenditures, how they are financed and how they are rising.

### Chapter 5

ø

# HEALTH AND MEDICAL CARE EXPENDITURES

Health and medical care costs and expenditures appear to be rising significantly faster than the average level of all prices and GNP, respectively, in virtually all developed countries, whatever their form of organisation and financing of their health services. And all countries appear to be earnestly searching for methods of controlling and rationalising their health and medical care expenditures.

Ireland is no exception to this global rule. Indeed, recent increases in health expenditures in Ireland are large, even by world standards. In this chapter, we review data on expenditures in part A; and we discuss the sources of cost inflation and expenditure growth and possible techniques to deal with them in part B.

### A. A Look at Health and Medical Care Expenditures

In this part, we review Irish health and medical care expenditures, their composition, regional distribution and recent growth. In the process, we report new estimates of private medical care expenditures. First, however, we must distinguish between health expenditures and medical care expenditures, and between either of them and Department of Health expenditures.

# "Health Care" vs. "Medical Care"

As noted in Chapter 1, it is conventional to distinguish between "health care" and "medical care." The former is the broader category and includes the latter. *Medical care* involves the care and/or treatment of ill (or pregnant) persons by medical personnel, usually defined to include doctors and nurses (and possibly others, but usually under the supervision of or on referral from doctors or nurses), or in medical facilities such as hospitals; and preventative services (including examinations) by or under the supervision of medical personnel or in medical facilities. As a rule of thumb, medical care virtually always involves doctors, though that is not a definitional necessity.

Health care includes medical care, but adds to it the following: (1) Care of one's self, through nutritious diet, exercise, administration of (usually nonprescription) medicines and other therapies, and such. (2) Preventative services and treatment outside the aegis of medical personnel, as by or through health education (in school or by such organisations as the Health Education Bureau), nutritionists and dieticians, food hygiene inspectors and numerous others. (3) Long-term care, outside of hospitals, of the handicapped and of the infirm aged.

These definitions are imprecise and, in application, arbitrary. Are dentists, psychologists, or social workers "medical personnel"? When is research to be defined as part of "medical care"? Are nursing homes sometimes to be considered "medical facilities", and if so, when? Yet, in spite of imprecision and arbitrariness, the point can safely be made that medical care constitutes the core of health care and certainly involves doctors, nurses, prescription pharmaceutical medicines and hospitals.

If we distinguish between health care and medical care, so too must we distinguish between health care expenditures and medical care expenditures. To these two categories we must add a third: *Department of Health Expenditures*. This last is not really a definitional category, but rather an administrative device. In Ireland, it includes, for all practical purposes, virtually all *public* health care expenditures. It omits, however, a small volume of public expenditures outside the Department of Health, such as the Dental Care Scheme of the Department of Social Welfare, which might be considered health expenditures.<sup>52</sup> It omits, of course, *private* health care expenditures. It includes, on the other hand, some related expenditures not usually considered health care expenditures, such as a variety of welfare or transfer programmes which for historical reasons are administered by the Department of Health. In 1980, these expenditures, collectively known as the Community Welfare Programme, amounted to £46.835m, or more than 6 per cent of Department of Health current expenditures.

Department of Health expenditures are thus not an entirely satisfactory measure of health or medical care expenditures, both for what they omit (private and other public health care expenditures) and for what they include (nonhealth care expenditures such as the Community Welfare Programme). Yet, they are frequently used as a proxy for either health care or medical care expenditures and they will be so used here in much of our discussion. The reason is that Department of Health expenditures provide the only conveniently available, reasonably consistent series covering a number of years.

#### Department of Health Expenditures

Table 5.1 reports on estimated current (non-capital) Department of Health expenditures in 1980. Also reported are three concepts of the total, together with three sets of percentages of the total. Total A,  $\pounds$ 732.000m, is the estimated total of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup>It also does not include medical care and other health care expenditures made outside the Department of Health or Health Boards by state or local public agencies on behalf of their own employees, including the Defence Forces, nor does it include the costs of a variety of health (not necessarily medical) related functions of public bodies, ranging from sanitary services under the Department of the Environment to in-school health education or to services provided by County Councils to Travelling People.

	Expenditure	Per cent of total <sup>(a)</sup>				
Programme and Service	£ million	A	B	C		
Community Protection Programme						
Prevention of infectious diseases	3.150					
Child health examinations	6.100					
Food hygiene and standards	1.400					
Drugs Advisory Board	0.220			,		
Health Education	1 500					
Other preventive services	0.630					
Total	13.000	1.8	1.9	$1.5^{(b)}$		
Community Health Services Programme						
General Practitioner Service (including						
prescribed drugs)	56.000					
Subsidy for drugs purchased by persons	001000					
ineligible under 2.1 above	6 500					
Refund of cost of drugs for long-term illnesses	0.000					
(including hardship cases)	3 500					
Home nursing services	12 000					
Domiciliary maternity services	1 200					
Family planning	1.200					
Dental Services	9 500					
Onbthalmic Services	0.000					
Aural Services	2.400					
Total	90.400	12.3	13.2	14.5		
Community Welfare Programme		- 4.0	1014	11.0		
Cash payments to disabled persons	95 750					
Mobility allowances	23.750					
Cash navments to persons with contain	0.150					
infactions dispares	0 5 60					
Matamaitu aash muuta	0.560					
Allowerser for Secretarian 22	0.150					
Anowances for constant care of	0.105					
nandicapped children	2.185					
Cash payments to blind persons	0.590					
Home neip services	4.300					
Meals-on-wheels services	1.400					
Grants to voluntary welfare agencies	3.800					
Supply of free milk	0.800					
Boarding out of children	0.750					
Payments for children in approved schools	2.800					
Welfare homes for the aged	3.600					
Total	46.835	6.4		_		
Psychiatric Programme						
Service for diagnosis, care and prevention of						
psychiatric ailments	90.000					
Payments for patients in private psychiatric						
hospitals	3.500					
Total	93.500	12.8	13.6	15.0		

 Table 5.1: Estimated non-capital Department of Health expenditure by programmes

 and services, 1980

# IRISH MEDICAL CARE RESOURCES

	Expenditure	Per	r cent of tota	(a)
Programme and Service	f, million	A	B	С
Programme for the Handicapped				
Care in special homes for mentally				
handicapped	33.600			
Care of mentally handicapped persons in				
psychiatric hospitals	13.100			
Care in day centres for mentally handicapped	1.800			
Assessment and care of blind	0.900			
Assessment and care of deaf	0.700			
Assessment and care of persons otherwise				
handicapped	7.100			
Rehabilitation service	2.450			
Total	59.650	8.1	8.7	
General Hospital Programme				
Services in regional hospitals	83 200			
Services in public voluntary hospitals	160.000			
Services in health board county hospitals and	100.000			
homes	80 500			
Contributions to patients in private hospitals	8 800			
Services in district hospitals	17 300			
Services in health board long-stay hospitals	35,000			
Ambulance services	9,000			
Total	393 800	53.8	57 5	63 3
Total	555.000	55.0	01.0	00.0
General Support Programme				
Central administration	4.415			
Local administration (Health Boards)	18.000			
Research	1.100			
Superannuation	7.800			
Finance charges (including interest on				
borrowings, insurances), etc.	3.500			
Total	34.815	4.8	5.1	5.6
Gross Non-Capital Total — All Programmes				
(/M)	732 000	732 000	685 165	621 765
	752.000	752.000		021.705
Income				
Charges for maintenance in private and semi-				
private accommodation in public hospitals				
and other income of health agencies	31.000			
Net Non-Capital Total	701.000			

# Table 5.1: Continued

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup> Total A consists of all items, and equals  $\pounds732.000$ m. Total B omits Community Welfare Programmes and equals  $\pounds685.165$ m. Total C equals Total B, minus Programme for the Handicapped, and the last four items under Community Protection Programme, and equals f621.765m. Details may not add to totals because of rounding. <sup>(b)</sup>Prevention of infectious diseases plus child health examinations, as a per cent of Total C.

Source: Data from Department of Health.

all Department of Health expenditures in 1980. It will be seen that the General Hospital Programme accounted for 53.8 per cent of Total A. Total B, which omits expenditures on the Community Welfare Programme, amounts to  $\pounds 685.165m$ . The General Hospital Programme accounted for 57.5 per cent of Total B. Total C omits not only expenditures on the Community Welfare Programme, but also those on the Programme for the Handicapped, and on the non-medical components of the Community Protection Programme, *viz.*, the last four items shown. Total C, then, is  $\pounds 621.765m$ , and the General Hospital Programme accounts for 63.3 per cent of that total.

It will be recognised that Total A is the same as Department of Health expenditures (excluding capital expenditures), and that Totals B and C are approximations, respectively, of *public* health expenditures and *public* medical care expenditures, as defined above, though omitting non-Department of Health public expenditures.

The percentage breakdowns in Table 5.1 are striking. The Community Health Services Programme, which is roughly equivalent to primary care, used only 14.5 per cent of Total C in 1980, and of that only about 9 per cent for GP (general practitioner) services and prescription medicines for persons with Category I eligibility. (Eligibility is discussed in Chapter 4.) The biggest user of resources, by far, was the hospital system. The General Hospital Programme spent an estimated  $f_{393.8m}$ , or (as noted) 63.3 per cent of Total C. These figures show how strongly hospital-oriented are the public health services in Ireland. Moreover, in spite of talk about strengthened community care, the share of (all three versions of) total expenditures devoted to the General Hospital Programme has been creeping upward in recent years. They increased by more than five percentage points in the three years 1977-80 (National Economic and Social Council No. 53, 1980), but levelled off in 1983, as will be seen presently. In order to control the growth of medical care expenditures, it will be necessary to control outlays under the General Hospital Programme. This will probably require strengthening primary, community care.

The Department of Health and the Health Boards have a reputation for skilled and efficient administration, and that appears borne out by Table 5.1, which shows only 4.8 per cent of Total A (the relevant total in this case) spent on the General Support Programme (of which only 0.6 per cent, about one-eighth, is spent on central administration in Dublin, and 2.5 per cent, slightly more than half, on Health Board administration). On the other hand, this same item shows a pitifully small amount, 0.15 per cent of Total A, spent on research.

It will be noted that the  $\pounds732.0m$ , spent in 1980 by the Department of Health was partially offset by income of  $\pounds31.0m$ , so that net expenditure, i.e., the amount provided from the Exchequer for current Department spending, was  $\pounds701.0m$ . The income figure is surprisingly low.

The same hospitals orientation applies, unsurprisingly, to capital expenditures of the Department of Health, as reported in Table 5.2. General hospitals spent about 64 per cent of the total and virtually all the rest went to psychiatric

	× £1000	Per cent <sup>(a)</sup>
General hospitals, total	22,447	64.1
of which Health Boards	11,770	33.6
of which Voluntary Public	10,677	30.5
Psychiatric hospitals	1,375	3.9
Mental handicap	6,521	18.6
of which Health Boards	405	1.1
of which Voluntary bodies	6,116	17.5
Geriatric accommodation	1,229	3.5
Others, miscellaneous, and minor schemes	3,430	9.8
Total capital expenditure	35,002	100.0

Table 5.2: Department of Health Capital Expenditure, 1980

*Notes:* <sup>(a)</sup>Detail do not add to 100 per cent because of rounding. *Source:* Department of Health.

hospitals and long-stay facilities.

A fuller account of public health-related expenditures would add  $\pounds 4.6m$  in dental care and  $\pounds 0.2m$  in aural and optical care expenditures of the Department of Social Welfare to all three totals.

We have concentrated on 1980 for comparability with our survey results, and with some detailed Health Board income and expenditure data, which are both for that year. The percentage distributions have changed little in subsequent years. As percentages of Total A, expenditures changed as follows between 1980 and 1983, with estimated 1984 outlays in parentheses: community protection, 1.8 per cent to 1.6 per cent (1.6 per cent); community health services, 12.3 per cent to 12.7 per cent (12.8 per cent); community welfare, 6.4 per cent to 7.9 per cent (8.1 per cent); psychiatric services, 12.8 per cent to 12.6 per cent (12.7 per cent); services for the handicapped, 8.1 per cent to 10.4 per cent (10.3 per cent); and general hospital services, 53.8 per cent to 54.8 per cent (54.5 per cent). (Department of Finance, 1984.)

## Sources of Funds

Ireland is one of the few countries in Europe not to finance a significant portion of its public health services through social insurance contributions. While those with Category II and III eligibility are required, as noted in Chapter 4, to pay health contributions, these financed only 6.5 per cent of current Department of Health expenditures in 1980. Of the remainder, 92.0 per cent came from the Exchequer, 1.3 per cent from the European Community and 0.2 per cent from the Hospitals Sweepstakes. In the capital programme, 1.4 per cent derived from the Hospitals Sweepstakes, and the remainder from the Exchequer.<sup>53</sup>

The fact that health contributions are levied at a low rate on a taxable income which reaches a ceiling (1 per cent on the first  $\pounds$ 11,000 of income in 1983) means that there is some potential for increasing income from this source. As it stands, once the ceiling is reached, health contributions become, in effect, a per capita tax on earners, and hence are extremely regressive. While on the surface it might appear that this income group, which corresponds to Category III, receives much more limited services than others, hence justifying the contributions ceiling, in fact the considerable subsidies, direct and indirect, to private care (as discussed in Chapter 4) warrant consideration of applying this tax to all incomes. However, it must be conceded that the added revenues would be modest in comparison with the resources required to finance the health services.

As will be discussed below, current net expenditures of the Department of Health constituted 8.1 per cent of Irish Gross National Product in 1980. When capital outlays are included, the share rises to 8.5 per cent. (It is appropriate to add capital outlays because current expenditures do not include a depreciation item.)

# Regional Distribution

All except about 2 per cent of Department of Health current expenditures are in the form of grants, either to the eight regional Health Boards (70 per cent of grants) or to voluntary agencies (30 per cent), mainly Voluntary Public hospitals. The grants to voluntary agencies are made "on behalf of" the appropriate Health Boards.

Table 5.3 reports on grants to Health Boards, other income of Health Boards, and Health Board expenditures, on a total and per capita basis, for 1980. Per capita Health Board expenditures in Ireland averaged £197.92 in 1980, and ranged among Health Boards from a low of £180.48 in the North-Eastern area, to a high of £239.92 in the Western area (line 6, Table 5.3).

Table 5.3 also shows (line 1) the distribution of grant payments made to or on behalf of Health Boards to have averaged £196.23, with a range of from £178.18 (North-Eastern area) to £237.36 (Western area). Per capita grants are not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup>As the Sweepstakes are associated in the minds of many with the finance of Irish hospitals, a brief review in a footnote seems appropriate. The Hospitals Trust Fund was established by legislation in 1933, with its income to be derived from sweepstakes on horse racing, and its outlay to be used for capital expenditures by and to cover current operating deficits of the Voluntary Public Hospitals. In its day, the Trust Fund made a major contribution to health care finance, especially to capital expenditure. As late as 1966, the Government could state in a White Paper, "The main source of funds for capital expenditure on the health services has been the Irish Hospital Sweepstakes. From 1 April 1948 to 31 March 1965, capital expenditure on the provision of hospitals and other institutions amounted to £34.9 million. Of this, £21.6 million was provided from the Sweepstakes." (Stationery Office, 1966.) But Sweepstakes income has not risen with the cost of medical care, and its relative role has been eroded significantly since then, and it is no longer an important source of hospital finance.

Table 5.3: Per capita income and expenditure of Health Boards<sup>a</sup>, 1980, together with per capita household medical expenditure,1980

		Health Board								
		Eastern	Midland	Mid- Western	North- Eastern	North- Western	South- Eastern	Southern	Western	Ireland
1.	Per capita grant payments made to or on behalf of Health Boards <sup>(b)</sup>	180.20	215.49	191.21	178.18	236.73	193.20	197.75	237.36	196.23
2.	Per capita income of Health Boards	184.86	229.99	201.70	186.60	247.41	203.17	207.56	250.63	204.95
3.	Per capita hospital expenditures, Health Board <sup>(b)</sup>	127.38	<sup>·</sup> 134.41	106.59	112.59	128.13	120.99	130.22	151.14	127.95
4.	Per capita expenditure on General Practitioner Services and General Medical Services,									
	Health Boards	22.63	32.48	24.45	25.28	51.37	24.64	26.55	47.27	28.60
5.	Per capita community care expenditure,									
	Health Boards	34.13	46.49	38.29	38.28	64.61	36.39	41.40	62.13	41.56
6.	Per capita health expenditure, Health Boards, total	184.10	220.48	190.70	180.48	233.03	188.84	195.60	239.92	197.92
7.	Per capita household medical expenditures <sup>(c)</sup>	44.65	18.39	22.59	29.48	20.40	23.44	31.94	35.30	32.88
8. =	Per capita public and household medical expenditures <sup>(e)</sup>	228.75	238.87	213.29	209.96	253.43	212.28	227.54	275.22	230.80

Notes:

<sup>(a)</sup>Income (line 2) and expenditure (line 6) differ primarily with respect to timing. Per capita income (line 2) consists of grant payments (line 1) plus other income. The Department of Health provides grants to Health Boards, and to others (mainly Voluntary Hospitals) on behalf of Health Boards. Health Board expenditure can be grouped into General Hospital expenditure, Special Hospital expenditure, Community Care, and others. Line 3 includes both General and Special hospitals. General Medical Services (line 4) are part of Community Care (line 5). The total (line 6) is the sum of hospital expenditure (line 3), Community Care expenditure (line 5), and other. Central Department of Health and VHI administrative costs excluded.

<sup>(b)</sup>Includes payment to Voluntary Hospitals and others on behalf of Health Boards.

<sup>(c)</sup>Sum of lines 6 and 7.

Source: Lines 1-6 are derived from Department of Health data; Dail Proceedings, 5 May, 1981. Line 7 is derived from our own survey. Line 8 combines the two.

expected to be equal among Health Board areas, but rather should reflect proportion of the population with Category I (and, to a lesser extent, Category II) eligibility; population density; age distribution of population; the array, in terms of size, age and distribution, of hospitals with which each area is endowed; etc. Line 2 reports per capita total income, the difference between that and line 1 being other income, mainly hospital room charges. Line 3 reports on per capita hospital expenditures, which is the sum of Health Board expenditures and Department grants to voluntary hospitals in each area.<sup>54</sup> Per capita hospital expenditures of £127.95 are 64.6 per cent of per capita total Health Board expenditures. The range is somewhat greater than expected, from a low of  $\pounds$ 106.59 in the Mid-Western area to a high of  $\pounds$ 151.14 in the Western. Line 4 reports on expenditures on the General Practitioner Services and General Medical Services, i.e., GP care and prescription medicines, for those with Category I eligibility. The range here seems to reflect the distribution of the Medical Card population throughout the country. The striking thing about this line is the relatively low level of these expenditures. Per capita GMS expenditures (note: not per eligible person, but per head of population) of £28.60 was only 14.5 per cent of all expenditures made by or on behalf of Health Boards. Line 5, community care, includes line 4 together with the rest of the Community Health Services Programme. Lines 7 and 8 concern private, household expenditures, and will be discussed later in this chapter.

These data are not routinely published by the Department of Health, and surfaced only as the result of a parliamentary question posed in the Dail. It is recommended that data on grants to, income of and expenditures of Health Boards be published regularly.

### Household Medical Care Expenditures

In order to provide the basis for estimates of private, household expenditures on medical care, our survey included questions of the following sort:

Would you please try to estimate how much money, altogether, the household spent on general practitioners' fees in 1980?

Similar questions were asked in nine other categories, including "other".

Four things should be noted about these questions. First, as noted in Chapter 1, they are retrospective, and thus may be affected by errors of recall, though we have tried to minimise this problem in the design of the survey.

Second, the data are for a whole calendar year. Thus there is no need to attempt seasonal adjustments.

Third, data are for whole households, not for individuals. Thus we cannot

<sup>54</sup>It will be noted that this statistic is something of a hybrid, in that *net expenditures* of Health Board hospitals are added to *grants* to Voluntary Hospitals in each area. It would have been conceptually more appropriate to have added net expenditures by Health Board hospitals to net expenditures of Voluntary Hospitals, but the latter data were not available.
report on expenditures by age or sex, except by age or sex of the head of household. Because we know the number of persons in each household, we are able to divide each household's medical care expenditures by that number to obtain medical care expenditures per person; but this is not the same, obviously, as having expenditure data on each individual.

The fourth point to be noted concerning these survey questions is that households were not asked to deduct VHI or Health Board reimbrusement and then to report *net* expenditures on medical care. It was determined that such procedure would be excessively confusing and could result in additional error. As VHI and Health Board reimbursement data are available in aggregate, it was not thought to be necessary to ask these questions. Instead, households were asked to provide gross medical care expenditure information. Data reported here should be read with that understanding.

The results are reported in summary form in Table 5.4 and in detail in Appendix Tables A.19 through A.30. It is estimated that in 1980, households spent an average of £117.54, or an average of £32.88 per person, on medical care. This is grossed up to a national total of  $\pounds 107.4$  m, after the deduction of  $\pounds 6.5$  m for Health Board reimbursement for pharmaceutical medicines (the latter a Department of Health statistic). The largest component was prescription medicines (before the deduction of Health Board reimbursement), at £8.90 per person,  $\pounds 30.77$  per household and  $\pounds 30.8m$  nationwide ( $\pounds 24.3m$  net). The second largest component of gross, and the largest component of net, household medical care expenditures is hospital and specialist charges, out-patient and in-patient combined, which were  $f_{28.38}$  per household,  $f_{7.95}$  per person and  $f_{27.6m}$ nationally. The third largest was general practitioner fees, which were £20.69 per household, of £5.68 per person and £19.7m nationally. These three - prescription medicines, hospital charges and specialist fees and GP fees — constituted 68.6 per cent of gross and 66.7 per cent of net medical expenditure by households. The relatively low share of hospital and specialist charges in the total reflects the patterns of eligibility for public health services, as well as the considerable public subsidisation of private hospitalisation (both discussed in Chapter 4).

## Other Estimates of Household Expenditures

The Central Statistics Office, in its Household Budget Survey (HBS), collects information on household medical care expenditures. Its methods and definitions are different from ours, but some comparisons are useful. The HBS leaves log books with households and they record all of their weekly expenditures. The survey is continuous, so some households are sampled in every month. The expenditures are net and can be combined with VHI premia to yield a total defined somewhat differently from ours.

The two surveys are compared in Table 5.5. The averages for the state are remarkably similar, as indeed are the estimates for most of the Health Board areas. Sampling differences as well as methodological and definitional differ-

Type of Expenditure	Per person (£)	Per household (£)	National total (£m)
General practitioner fees	5.68	20.69	19.7
Hospital and specialist charges, total Of which:	7.95	28.38	27.6
Specialist fees, out-patient	1.86	7.53	6.5
Hospital charges, out-patient Hospital and specialist charges, in-patient <sup>(b)</sup>	0.28 5.81	1.05	1.0 20.1
Prescription medicines <sup>(c)</sup>	8.90	30.77	30.8
Non-prescription medicines	3.02	10.58	10.5
Dentists' fees and charges	4.08	16.43	14.1
Other health professionals <sup>(a)</sup>	0.98	3.17	3.4
Eyeglasses	2.11	7.02	7.3
Other medical expenditure <sup>(e)</sup>	0.15	0.50	0.5
Total	32.88	117.54	113.9
Substract Health Board reimbursement medicines, 1980	for pharm	aceutical	-6.5
Net household medical care expenditur	20		$\frac{-0.5}{107.4}$
rier nousenoiti metricar care experiuttur	L L		107.4

Table 5.4: Household expenditure on medical care, 1980, Ireland, by type of expenditure: per person, per household and national total<sup>(a)</sup>

*Notes:* <sup>(a)</sup> Excludes expenditures made by employers on behalf of employees and dependents. <sup>(b)</sup> Includes ambulance transport and any ancillary charges relating to hospitalisation. <sup>(e)</sup> Ignores Health Board reimbursement for pharmaceutical medicines, estimated at  $\pounds$ 6.5m in 1980. Net household prescription medicine expenditure estimated at  $\pounds$ 24.3. <sup>(d)</sup> For a partial list, see Table A.7, Appendix. <sup>(e)</sup> Includes medical, surgical and nursing devices and equipment, hearing aids, etc. *Source:* Author's survey (see Ch. 1), except Health Board reimbursement for pharmaceutical medicines, for which source: Department of Health.

ences account for the differences. Note that ESRI figures are gross medical expenditures, without deducting VHI reimbursements, but without adding VHI premia; while HBS figures are for net medical expenditures, after deduction of VHI reimbursement, to which we have added VHI premia. The two figures are conceptually the same, therefore, except that VHI administrative expense is included in the HBS figures, and there are timing differences.

The similarities in the state averages increases our confidence in the totals, reported in Table 5.4.

It is also useful to compare our estimates of total household medical care expenditures with claims against the VHI. The VHI reporting year begins 1 March and ends 28/29 February, while our figures are on a calendar year basis.

#### IRISH MEDICAL CARE RESOURCES

		HBS		
Health Board Area	ESRI	Medical Expenses	VHI Premia	Total
Eastern	3.10	2.28	0.75	3.03
Midland	1.26	1.54	0.31	1.85
Mid-Western	1.38	1.42	0.49	1.91
North-Eastern	2.25	1.49	0.40	1.89
North-Western	1.36	1.22	0.21	1.43
South-Eastern	1.70	1.56	0.34	1.90
Southern	2.31	1.96	0.58	2.54
Western	2.04	1.30	0.30	1.60
Ireland	2.26	1.80	0.52	2.32

Table 5.5:	Household media	al care expenditure	e, 1980: ESRI	estimates compare	d with
	household Budg	et Survey, weekly,	by Health Boa	rd area (£)	

Sources: ESRI: Present Survey; HBS, David Rottman, "The Distributive Effects of Public Expenditure and Taxes: Policy Implications." Forthcoming.

However, the VHI estimate an approximate two-month average lag between the incurring of medical care expenses and their payment of claims, so our 1980 data are roughly comparable with their reporting period ending 28 February, 1981.

In that year, the VHI paid claims of  $\pounds 27,532,000$ . These are mainly but not entirely in-patient hospitalisation expenses. We have estimated  $\pounds 27,600,000$  in in- and out-patient hospital specialist charges, of which  $\pounds 20,100,000$  is for inpatient care. Part of our estimated  $\pounds 19,700,000$  in GP fees and  $\pounds 24,300,000$  in net prescription costs may also have been recoverable from VHI. Our conclusion is that our estimates are consistent with VHI reported claims.

## Other Private Medical Care Expenditures

As noted in Chapter 4, some employers and others provide help in a variety of ways for employees, dependants, members and others, with their medical bills. We were able to make only the most approximate estimates of non-household private medical care expenditures.

Survey respondents were asked,

"In addition to the VHI or the Health Board, is there any other body or organisation that helps you with your medical care costs?"

If the answer was yes, they were asked to identify the organisation. Seven per cent of respondents answered in the affirmative. All the organisations identified were contacted and asked what services or benefits they provided; who was covered (e.g., employees only, pensioners, spouses, other dependants); how many persons, total, were covered; and what was the annual cost.

In all, 29 organisations were identified and contacted of which 13 responded with information, but only 7 responses were usable in estimating outlays. Fortunately, these 7 included employers of great range in size (from 400 employees to 20,000), and they included public, semi-state and private organisations. It is difficult to generalise regarding the types of services offered. The average annual cost or outlay was estimated at  $\pounds$ 9.96 per household member, or  $\pounds$ 35.17 per household. There was less variation in the average cost than in the nature of the services provided. These amounts gross up to an estimated  $\pounds$ 2.385m for Ireland in 1980. If we add an estimated 10 per cent administrative overhead, we get a total for non-household private medical care expenditures of  $\pounds$ 2.624m.

#### Total Medical Care Expenditures

In Table 5.6, private medical care expenditures (Column 1) can be compared with public medical care expenditures, as defined earlier (Column 2) and with total expenditures (Column 3). Private medical care expenditures are estimated at 15.2 per cent of the total. This percentage varies widely, however, when we examine the five main components: general practitioner care, prescription medicines, hospitals (combining in- and out-patient, and hospital and specialist charges), dental care, and other. (Note that non-household private is included in "other" because it was impossible to allocate by type or purpose of expenditure.) Household expenditure was 51.2 per cent of GP fees; 33.3 per cent of prescription medicine costs; only 5.4 per cent of hospital and specialist charges; 51.8 per cent of dental care costs; and 41.6 per cent of other medical care costs. These figures once again reflect the hospitals orientation of the public system, which can be criticised as reflecting perverse incentives, encouraging use of costly hospital and specialist care as compared with primary, community care by GPs.

The distribution of total medical care expenditures is worthy of review. The largest share is given over to hospital care, 69.1 per cent. Prescription medicines are next, at 9.8 per cent, followed by "other," 7.8 per cent. Only 5.2 per cent of total public and private medical care outlays went to general practitioner care, which is the linchpin of the system. An even smaller amount, 3.7 per cent of the total, went to dental care, a part of the system in need of attention.

In Chapter 4 (Table 4.5), it is reported that there were 1,513 General Practitioners in 1975. We have no figure for 1980, but if it is assumed the number had risen to 1,600, our estimate of £38.5m in total GP fees yields an average GP income of £24,000. The typical full-time GP probably received more, as some of our estimated 1,600 GPs had only part-time practices. The estimate does not, of course, take account of the costs of operating a practice; net income is less.

We can combine the figures presented thus far in some other ways to yield interesting aggregates. If we add the estimated  $\pounds 113.1m$  of private medical care expenditures to Department of Health current expenditures and to Department of Social Welfare dental, aural and optical expenditures, to create a rather heterogeneous "total health expenditure" (one which includes non-medical

Type of Expenditure	(1) Private <sup>(b)</sup>	(2) Public <sup>(c)</sup>	(3) Total
	£m	£m	£m
General Practitioner	19.7	18.8	38.5
Prescription medicines	24.3	48.6	72.9
Hospital: total	27.6	487.3	514.9
Dental care	14.1	13.1	27.2
Other <sup>(d)</sup>	24.1	33.9	58.0
Overhead <sup>(e)</sup>	3.3	30.3	33.6
Total	113.1	632.0	745.1

Table 5.6: Total current medical expenditures Republic of Ireland, 1980<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes:

<sup>(a)</sup>Medical expenditures differ from health expenditures or Department of Health expenditures. See text.

<sup>(b)</sup>Household expenditure only, except  $\pounds$ 2.4m other private included in "Other" and  $\pounds$ 0.2m in "Overhead."

<sup>(e)</sup>In addition to Department of Health medical expenditures, this column includes  $\pounds$ 4.6m of Department of Social Welfare expenditures on dental care, and (under "Other")  $\pounds$ 0.2m of Department of Social Welfare aural and optical care expenditures. In addition,  $\pounds$ 0.5m, or 10 per cent, is added for estimated administrative overhead in the Department of Social Welfare.

<sup>(d)</sup> "Other" expenditure included in Column (1) includes private, non-household expenditure, unallocated by type; household expenditure on health professionals other than doctors or dentists; eyeglasses; medical, surgical and nursing devices and equipment; hearing aids; etc. "Other" expenditure included in Column (2) includes other Community Health Services Programme,  $\pounds^{24.4m}$  (home nursing, home maternity, dental, ophthalmic, aural services); and part of Community Protection Programme,  $\pounds^{9.24m}$  (prevention of infectious diseases, child health examinations); and  $\pounds^{4.8m}$  in Department of Social Welfare expenditures (see note (c)).

<sup>(e)</sup>Total Department of Health overhead of £34.815m (central administration, local or Health Board administration, research, superannuation, and finance charges) allocated between medical and non-medical expenditures according to amounts in these. £0.5 is added for estimated Department of Social Welfare overhead (see note (c)). Private overhead is the sum of household and non-household, where household is estimated VHI administrative cost for calendar year 1980 and non-household is based on the assumption that it is 10 per cent of medical expenditures. Sources: Column (1), author's survey; Column (2), Department of Health.

Department of Health expenditures, but excludes non-medical private health expenditures), the total of £849.9m is 9.8 per cent of GNP. We have no estimate of non-medical private health expenditure, but if we assume these to be the same percentage, 15.2 per cent, of total health care expenditures that private medical care expenditures are of total medical care expenditures, we obtain an estimate of £152.1m for private health care expenditures, which gives an estimate of total health care expenditure of £1,002.0m, or 11.6 per cent of GNP. This is a less heterogeneous and more conceptually defensible measure, but because it relies on untested assumptions it is of problematic accuracy.

If we then add  $\pounds 35.0$ m in public capital expenditure (from Table 5.2) to this

total, we obtain a grand total of  $\pounds 1,037.0$ m in health care expenditure for 1980, which was 12.0 per cent of GNP. This figure excludes private capital spending, on e.g., private hospitals, GP surgeries, dispensing chemists' facilities, etc., but in the private sector capital costs (in the form of depreciation charges, etc.) presumably are (or should be) explicitly or implicitly provided for in the setting of charges, and adding them again at this point would involve double-counting. Conceptually, this is our best figure, and though it includes some components that are only estimated, the results are not very sensitive to different assumptions used in making these estimates. Hence we are justified in saying that in 1980, health care used "about" 12 per cent of GNP and that medical care used "about" 10 per cent.

We can return briefly to Table 5.3 above. The estimated household medical care expenditure of £32.88 varies regionally (line 7). The low is £18.39 in the Midland region, while the high is £44.65 in the Eastern region. It is not surprising to find that the regional variation in total public and household per capita medical care expenditures (line 8) is much less than in public (line 6) or household (line 7) individually. Indeed, the two largest regions, the Eastern and the Southern, have total per capita expenditures which are very close to the national average. The range is from £209.96 in the North-Eastern to £275.22 in the Western. Only the Western region is above the national average in both public and household per capita expenditures. Four regions — the Mid-Western, the North-Eastern, and the North-Western and, very slightly, the Southern — are below both national averages.

Average household and per capita expenditures also vary by age and sex of household head; category of public health services eligibility; VHI cover; and labour market status, occupation group and education of the head of household. Detailed statistics on these appear in Appendix Tables A.19 through A.24 (household averages) and A.25 through A.30 (per person averages). We review these figures briefly.

Per household and per person comparisons are useful for different purposes. These comparisons may diverge where numbers of household members vary. For example, households with male heads spent £139 per household and £35 per person, while those with female heads spent £46 per household and £26 per person. Male-headed households spent 302 per cent of female-headed household expenditures, but because female-headed households are smaller, on a per person basis the ratio was only 135 per cent (Appendix Tables A.19 and A.25).

As might be expected, category of eligibility appears to make the greatest difference in household expenditures. This is so, as noted in Chapter 4, for two reasons: first, those with Category III eligibility are eligible for fewer public services than those in Category II, while those in Category II are eligible for fewer than those in Category I. Hence more private expenditures are required in Category III than II, and more in II than I. Second, those with higher incomes are expected to have higher demands for medical care in general, and private care in particular, even apart from eligibility for public services. These surmises are borne out in Tables A.20 and A.26. The latter shows per capita spending of approximately  $\pounds 67$  in Category III,  $\pounds 41$  in Category II and only  $\pounds 9$  in Category I. As might be anticipated, the difference between Categories III and II is the greatest for hospital costs and that between II and I is the greatest for GP fees.

It is to be emphasised that Tables A.20 and A.26 cannot be used to determine either what Category I or II eligibility is "worth," or the "cost" of lesser eligibility in Category II or III. Differences in per capita expenditures reflect not only differing eligibility, but different needs (including those associated with demographic aspects) and preferences.

The same tables show some differences according to VHI cover. Per capita spending for those with VHI cover was  $\pounds 60$  whilst that for those without VHI cover was only  $\pounds 24$ . However, this probably exaggerates the difference, since VHI cover is strongly correlated with category of eligibility. Within each Category of eligibility, the difference between VHI and non-VHI is less (only  $\pounds 18$ , for example, in Category III).

It is not surprising to find (in Table A.28) that per person medical expenditures are greater where the head of household is employed than when that person is unemployed, retired, or has some other labour market status. We find (Tables A.23 and A.29) apparent class differences in household medical expenditures, with the highest outlay by those in households whose head is classed as a professional, manager, or employer ( $\pounds$ 71); the next where that person is a salaried employee or intermediate non-manual worker ( $\pounds$ 47); and then relatively smaller differences among the other four groups, which are, in descending order, skilled manual worker ( $\pounds$ 28); other non-manual worker ( $\pounds$ 26); farmer, agricultural worker, or fisher ( $\pounds$ 22); and semi-skilled or unskilled manual worker ( $\pounds$ 19). Again it must be noted that these differences can reflect differences in eligibility and VHI cover, in demand (for both medical care and private care), and medical need (though the pattern appears contrary to morbidity patterns, to the extent we know them).

Social class differences are also reflected in Appendix Tables A.24 and A.30, which report expenditures by the age the head of household completed his or her full-time education. The regularity of this association is striking, with a nearly unbroken rise in expenditures with educational level.

In order to capture the *net* influence of these differences in persons — their category of eligibility and VHI cover, the age, sex, labour market status, occupation and education of the head of the household, and of Health Board area — it is necessary to use multiple regression analysis or some equivalent form of multivariate analysis. Results of such are presented in Chapters 6 and 7. (To the extent that these independent variables are correlated with each other, however, we will not be able to capture the net influence of each through multivariate analysis.)

## Growth in Expenditures

As noted, we do not have reasonably consistent series for either medical or health care expenditures covering a number of years, so for comparisons over time we are forced to rely on Department of Health expenditures.

The rapid rate of general inflation in Ireland in the 1970s and 1980s may tend to mask the extraordinary rate of cost and expenditure growth in the health care area. Table 5.7 shows how really explosive the latter growth has been.

In Table 5.7, Column 1 reports on nominal (i.e., current price) growth in Department of Health expenditures. These expenditures have risen seventeen times in just under fourteen years. The average annual rate of increase between 1965/66 and 1980 was 22.8 per cent, a rate which provides for doubling every three years and four months!

<i>prices</i> , 1903/00-1980					
Year <sup>(a)</sup>	(1) In current prices £m	(2) In constant 1970 prices, £m <sup>(b)</sup>	(3) % change in (2) from previous year	(4) As % of GNP	
1966/67	41.0	51.5	9.8	3.8	
1967/68	44.9	54.8	6.4	3.8	
1968/69	50.6	58.7	7.1	3.8	
1969/70	59.2	64.1	9.2	3.9	
1970/71	76.2	76.2	18.9	4.4	
1971/72	86.6	80.8	6.0	4.4	
1972/73	108.1	91.3	13.0	4.5	
1973/74	142.8	108.3	18.6	5.1	
1974	179.6	116.5	$7.6^{(c)}$	6.0	
1975	242.6	130.2	11.8	6.5	
1976	274.6	124.9	-4.1	6.0	
1977	328.0	131.3	5.1	6.0	
1978	400.0	148.7	13.3	6.4	
1979	505.0	165.7	11.4	6.9	
1980	701.0	197.0	18.9	8.1	

Table 5.7: Department of Health current expenditure, in current and constant (1970) hricas 1065/66 1080

Notes:

<sup>(a)</sup> Year ending 31 March through 1973/74; year ending 31 December thereafter. Figures shown for 1973/74 and 1974 overlap for three months.

<sup>(b)</sup>Deflated by Consumer Price Index. Years ending 31 March deflated by index for year ending previous 31 December. <sup>(a)</sup>Compares 12 months ending 31 March 1974 with 12 months ending 31 December 1974.

Source: Department of Health (Column 1). National Income and Expenditure, various issues (GNP, CPI).

This rather remarkable rate of increase reflects: (a) the increase in *prices* or unit costs of health care services (e.g., the rise in physician fee levels, or in hospital room daily charges); (b) the increase in *quantity* or volume of health care services (and other Department of Health services) provided; and (c) the transfer of certain health care expenditures from the private to the public sector and from local authorities to the state. The implication of (c) is that the rate of increase in total, as opposed to state, health care expenditures, were it known, would almost certainly be less than the reported figure for public expenditures.

Increases in price or unit cost, as in (a), are not known, as there is no index of health care prices in Ireland. Analytically, these increases are the product of the general price increase, as measured, e.g., by the Consumer Price Index, and the rise in health care prices relative to the average, which is not known. The latter, unknown increase reflects real resource shifts to health care from the rest of the economy. When the price of a commodity rises relative to other prices, typically it means that in order to maintain the same output quantity or volume relationships it is necessary to shift resources from elsewhere in the economy to the production of that commodity. Hence these changes are not merely nominal "inflationary" movements. Column (2) reports Department of Health current expenditures in constant 1970 prices, i.e., adjusted for the rise in consumer prices generally and not for increases in prices in the health sector. Column (3) shows the percentage change in inflation-adjusted health care expenditures from the previous year. The average annual rate of increase between 1965/66 and 1980 was 10.25 per cent. This rate and the rate of increase of nominal expenditures cited earlier are averages of annual increases, and are not disproportionately affected by the beginning and ending values. This is a truly extraordinary real rate of increase, particularly to be sustained for such a long period of time. It is much more economically significant, and hence striking, than the higher rate of increase in nominal or current-price expenditures. It provides for a doubling the ratio of Department of Health expenditures to the CPI every seven years and one month.

Column (4) reports on Department of Health expenditures as a per cent of Irish Gross National Product. This represents another way, alternative to Column (3), of representing real expenditure growth. This rapid increase is also remarkable and is presumably unsustainable. The figures reported exclude capital outlays. They also exclude private health care expenditures. As noted earlier, it is estimated that total health care expenditures were 12.0 per cent of GNP in 1980, as compared with the 8.1 per cent reported in Table 5.7 for Department of Health expenditures relative to GNP.

Care should be taken not to read more into Table 5.7 than appropriate. The rise in real Department of Health expenditures, and in Department of Health expenditures as a percentage of GNP, is certainly not wholly a bad thing. As said earlier, part of it reflects expansion of services, much of which was in response to real needs. But it must also be said that the increase of the last several years is unsustainable, and it will clearly be necessary to bring under control what in a

number of ways seems to have been uncontrolled growth. It also almost certainly reflects, to an extent, an irrational pattern of expenditures. We will comment on these issues below.

# B. Causes of Expenditure Growth

Health expenditures are the product of prices and quantities. Because so many health expenditures are governmental, and because in any case we lack an index of private health service prices, we cannot decompose recent health expenditure growth into its price and quantity components. Consequently, we do not know what part of the expenditure growth is volume (e.g., patient days in hospital) and what part is price. One reason it is particularly difficult to make this separation is that volume growth includes quality change. For example, if the number of services routinely provided by hospitals to patients increases over any period of time, or if the same services are provided by persons with more training, then to that extent the rise in patient-day costs reflect volume rather than price, even though to all intents it presents itself to us in the form of a price change.

Our general inability to separate the price and quantity components of expenditure growth is less troublesome, however, than it might at first appear. It is really expenditure growth and not merely price inflation that constitutes the central fiscal problem; expenditure growth in the health area requires the transfer of resources from elsewhere in the economy.

In Ireland, real (CPI-adjusted) Department of Health expenditures have risen 318 times in 13<sup>%</sup>/<sub>3</sub> years (Table 5.7). In the United States, where there are health price index data, medical care prices rose 2.0 times in 13 years (1965-78), a comparable period. In the US, price increases were led by nursing homes and hospitals. Nursing home unit prices rose 3.4 times in the same period and led all other categories. Hospital unit prices rose 2.5 times, but were of greater absolute significance than nursing home costs. When one surveys other countries, the US result appears universal: hospital costs have been the main source of medical care cost inflation in recent years.

It seems reasonable to suppose that similar patterns have been followed in Ireland. As we have seen, hospital costs are a high *and rising* proportion of total Department of Health, health and medical care expenditures. The public General Hospital Programme was responsible for 53.8 per cent of Department of Health expenditures, 57.5 per cent of estimated public health expenditures and 63.3 per cent of public medical care expenditures in 1980, and the first of these rose more than five percentage points in three years. O'Hagan and Kelly (1984) note that between 1966 and 1979, average cost per patient week in Irish hospitals, relative to GDP per capita, increased from 3.386 to 6.929, an increase of 104.6 per cent, which they describe as "quite dramatic".

There are no published studies of Irish hospital costs. Elsewhere, the causes of hospital cost inflation appear to concern, first and foremost, a major and continuing increase in *resource intensity* per patient (P. J. Feldstein, 1979). While adaptation to technological change in hospitals plays a role, in the sense that new technology is expensive to implement and raises per patient costs, that is neither the sole nor even the major explanation for rising resource intensity. Instead, the explanation seems to lie in the following: First, there appears to be a continuing increase in diagnostic tests, pathology, x-rays and the like, associated with each medical or surgical procedure for which a patient might be hospitalised. That is, instead of many wholly new procedures involving new equipment and/or therapies, there appears to be more use of existing ones. Secondly, there appear to be more specialised and highly qualified personnel performing existing functions, a change which may not appear to be, but is, an example of increased resource intensity.

The move to a new hospital usually speeds up these processes. In old hospitals, older and less resource-intensive methods are used. When a new hospital comes into use, per-patient charges may suddenly rise by as much as one-third, a rule of thumb often used in Britain and in continental Europe. The changes are not avoided, however, by continuing to use older hospitals; they are only made gradual and steady rather than discontinuous.

To describe this form of hospital cost inflation is not to explain it. The ultimate causes of rapid medical care cost increases appear to lie in the incentive structures facing patients and providers, combined with the open-endedness of medical care. Moreover, this explanation extends beyond hospitalisation to cover most other aspects of medical care as well. These problems were discussed in Chapter 2 and we will return to them in the next section.

In addition to rising resource intensity, hospital cost inflation elsewhere is explained by rising wage rates. Where products are produced under conditions of slower-than-average productivity growth (with productivity measured in terms of resources used per patient day, or other similar measure), then the price of that product (also measured in patient day or similar terms) will necessarily rise relative to all prices. This phenomenon, sometimes called "Baumol's Disease," appears to apply to services (i.e., intangibles, as distinguished from physical commodities) in general and to health and medical care in particular. "Baumol's Disease" itself probably accounts for, and will continue to account for, from 2 to 3 per cent growth in relative prices in the medical and health care areas, even apart from other influences.<sup>55</sup> Though these are price changes, they do not resemble general price inflation, because they do involve real resources. Other things held constant, they involve a rise in the share of society's economic resources devoted to medical and health care.

## The Incentive Structure

Alain Enthoven, Professor of Economics at Stanford University in the USA, in a heralded and widely-quoted book on health care cost increases and cost con-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup>Baumol's Disease, in the context of rising educational expenditures, was discussed in Tussing (1978), pp. 68-71.

tainment in that country, stated,

Many factors contribute to the cost increase: general inflation in the economy, ... better and more widespread insurance coverage, new technology, an ageing population, ... and others. Some contributors have been surprises. In the 1960s we almost doubled the number of students entering our medical schools, only to find in the 1970s that more doctors mean more doctoring and higher fees. Overall, there has been much over-use of services (excessive hospital stays, duplication of tests), overinvestment, and waste.

I believe, however, that the main cause of the unnecessary and unjustified increase in costs is the complex of perverse incentives inherent in our predominant system for financing health care. The "fee-for-service", or piecework, system by which we pay doctors rewards the doctor with more revenue for providing more, and more costly, services, whether or not more is necessary or beneficial to the patient. Physician gross incomes account for only (a small share) of total health care spending..., but physicians control or influence most of the rest. They admit people to the hospital, order tests, and recommend surgery and other costly procedures. Yet our system assigns them very little responsibility for the economic consequences of their decisions. Most physicians have no idea of the costs of the things they order — and no real reason to care.

Hospitals are paid on the basis of either their costs or charges based on costs. The net effect is that more costs mean more revenue. Those who make the decisions concerning the use of hospital services, doctors and insured patients, have no reason to be cost-conscious. Most medical bills are paid for by "third-party payors", insurance companies and government agencies that pay the bills after the care has been given and the costs incurred.... Consumers' insurance gives them free choice of doctor and hospital and little or no incentive to seek out a less costly doctor or style of care.... This system embodies many cost-increasing incentives and virtually no rewards for economy (Enthoven, 1980).

Enthoven's comments were addressed to the US system and not to this country's. However, his remarks apply with equal force here. Indeed, it can be argued that the incentive structure in the Irish health and medical care systems is in some respects even more perverse to economical resource use than in the United States.<sup>56</sup>

As we saw in Chapter 2, many of the problems referred to by Enthoven result from the unique economic character of the commodity, medical care. Uncertainty in the incidence and cost of medical care leads to a need for some form of insurance, public or private; and the character of medical care as a merit good

<sup>56</sup>Enthoven's scheme for controlling medical care cost and expenditure inflation is discussed in Chapter 8.

leads many societies to impose that insurance as compulsory. (It will be recalled from Chapter 2 that social provision of medical care through government can best be viewed as a form of compulsory health insurance.) Thus point-ofpurchase prices are often lower than average or marginal costs, and may even be zero, though time prices can be important. Usually we expect consumers of commodities to be economisers, carefully comparing benefits with costs at the margin; but that role is weakened because insurance drastically alters the usual market mechanism.

That role is further weakened by the presumed ignorance of consumers regarding medical care. Most consumers are forced to rely on providers, especially doctors, to make medical care utilisation decisions. This imposes two additional problems.

First, providers are typically paid not for results but for resources used. Outside of medical care, most producers enter commodity markets knowing that if they use fewer resources to produce a commodity, they will be rewarded with higher profits. There are positive incentives to economise. That is usually not the case with medical care, unless financing and delivery systems are carefully organised to achieve such a result. Instead, any increase in resources used tends to be associated with an increase in revenues of providers.

Second, some providers face what amounts to a conflict of interest. The doctor who economises on patient or public resources faces the prospect of thereby reducing his or her own income as a result. Professor A. J. Culyer has argued that "... the agency role of the doctor, if it is to operate most perfectly in accord with the health interests of patients, requires the clear separation of the exercise of professional judgement from the earnings of the professional's income" (Culyer, 1980). In a fee-for-service system, that separation does not exist.

The structure of Irish charges, fees, insurance, remuneration and budgets was laid out in detail in Chapter 4. Drawing on that background, let us review the incentive structure and cost-containment devices used in the Irish system of medical care, asking as we go along about each detail of the system, holding other influences constant, whether for any of the participants it provides a motive to *use* resources; is *neutral* with respect to resource use; or provides a motive to *economise* in resource use.

We will concern ourselves primarily, and in order, with general practitioners; pharmaceutical medicines; consultant specialists; hospitals and VHI cover.<sup>57</sup>

General practitioners are paid on a fee-for-service basis by the state for public (Category I) patients, and at a somewhat higher rate (on average 60 per cent higher) by the patient for private (Categories II/III) patients. This remuneration technique encourages GPs to increase resource use. In the next chapter we will review evidence that some Irish GPs apparently stimulate demand for their own services, in order to increase their own incomes. Not only are GPs provided

<sup>57</sup>Parts of the following discussion are based on Tussing, "Financing the Health Services", in McCarthy and Ryan (1982).

with incentives to increase numbers of GP consultations, but it appears likely that increased utilisation that is correlated with GP consultations, such as higher amounts of pharmaceutical medicines, laboratory tests and x-rays, should also be induced. To public patients, GP services are free, though there may be time costs. Thus at best these patients are not provided with incentives to economise on GP resources. Private patients, who do pay fees, do therefore have an incentive to economise on GP resources. If they have VHI cover, on the other hand, and have exceeded their annual deductible amounts, the incentive to economise disappears. No system in Europe or North America provides a greater incentive to resource use than that provided in the Irish system for Category I patients by the combination of services free to patients remunerated to providers on a feefor-service basis.

As far as their public patients are concerned, the method by which GPs are remunerated by the GMS (Payments) Board offers no incentive for them to use "physician extenders" or paramedical aides. The same can be said of private patients and reimbursement by the VHI.

Pharmaceutical medicines are furnished free to Category I patients and are subsidised for other patients. The nature of the latter subsidy (full reimbursement after a deductible is reached) is such as to provide little if any disincentive to use by patients. As will be seen in the next chapter, Category I patients have a significantly higher level of pharmaceutical consumption than other patients, even when we control for age, sex, social group and GP utilisation. This may be a consequence, at least in part, of the differences in patient incentives, but it is more likely to reflect physician than patient behaviour. Physicians, not patients, make most pharmaceutical use decisions (though they may, following an agency model of behaviour, take into account patient incentives), and in general physicians do not bear the costs of such decisions.<sup>58</sup> As noted in Chapter 2, there is strong evidence of higher prescribing in all those European systems where GPs are remunerated on a fee-for-service basis than in those where a capitation system is used, and here again the Irish system is predisposed to high resource use. Little in the Irish system encourages provider or patient to economise in the area of pharmaceutical medicines.

Specialists' incentive structures differ as between public and private care. For private patients, specialists are remunerated on a fee-for-service basis, which provides the doctor with no motive to economise, and is likely, on the contrary, to encourage the opposite behaviour. The VHI publishes a list of fee levels at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup>The reader can better understand what is meant by the concept of physicians bearing the costs of their decisions in such areas as the prescribing of pharmaceutical medicines by considering the HMO (Health Maintenance Organisation), discussed in Chapter 8. HMOs are organisations for the group practice of medicine usually owned by co-operating physicians. They charge their patients an annual fee and in exchange undertake to provide all required medical care, including primary physician care, specialist care, hospitalisation, pharmaceutical prescriptions, etc. Thus doctors who refer patients to specialists, prescribe medicines, or send patients to hospital, in effect bear the cost, collectively.

which they will remunerate specialists and evidently the large majority of specialists do charge the suggested fees. Thus patients have little opportunity to question charges and fee level is not an aspect in the choice of doctor. Patients covered by VHI are in general given first-penny, 100 per cent reimbursement for in-patient specialist charges. For out-patient services, those covered by VHI are reimbursed in full after a deductible is reached and it is the same deductible that applies to GP fees and prescription medicines. The level of the deductible is such that a patient who sees a specialist as a private out-patient is likely quickly to reach it, thus effectively cancelling any disincentive it provides.<sup>59</sup> On the other hand, for private patients not covered by VHI, there may be a substantial motive to economise on specialist services. However, there is reason to believe that this is a very small fraction of the population.<sup>60</sup> In sum, specialists have no motive to economise on the application of their services to private patients. Most private patients themselves have little or no motive to economise, though there will be a small motive for out-patient care for those covered by VHI and a substantial motive for all care for those not covered by VHI.

The private patients referred to in the preceding paragraph are a considerably smaller fraction of the population than private patients of GPs. They consist of those with Category III eligibility, together with such others, mainly in Category II, who prefer private care. Approximately 85 per cent of the population are hence eligible for free specialist care, both in- and out-patient. Specialists providing public care are remunerated on a salary basis. These doctors are, therefore, given an important motive to economise on their own resources. However, one might speculate that they are also encouraged by this incentive structure to apply more resources in the form of junior hospital doctors (a resource provided them without cost) to public patients, and to shift their own energies, at the margin at least, to fee-paying private patients. A 1975 Irish Medical Association Working Party claimed that public patients attending out-patient clinics "are often seen by residents who may not be competent to deal with their problems" (Mulcahy, *et al.*, 1975). This problem is discussed further in Chapter 8.

Public patients have an unusually strong motive to use specialist services. For approximately 50 per cent of the population with Category II eligibility, it is less expensive to see a specialist on an out-patient basis than to see a GP. This unfortunate incentive structure encourages patients to use higher cost specialist services and shifts the balance away from primary, community care.

Finally, it should be noted that GPs who refer patients to specialists, or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup>In 1980, the deductible amount was  $\pounds 60$  for a family or  $\pounds 40$  for an individual. If a patient saw his or her GP, was referred to a specialist, saw the specialist once or twice, was given a prescription for medicines or was referred for some other out-patient therapy, he or she would be well on his or her way to a  $\pounds 40$  deductible.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup>Our survey indicates that 77 per cent of persons with Category III eligibility have VHI cover. Persons with Category II eligibility can avail of completely free hospitalisation, but some of them may prefer private care. Only 17 per cent of these people have VHI cover. See Chapter 4.

specialists who refer patients to other specialists, bear none of the costs of so doing.

Hospitals are, as noted, the main resource users. There is little difference between the situation facing private patients who have VHI cover and that facing public patients. The former are guaranteed full first-penny cover of in-patient charges. The latter pay no charges. None of these patients has significant economic motive, apart from time costs, to question a decision to admit them to hospital; to compare hospitals as to charges; to question extra hospital services; or to resist what may seem to them to be over-long stays in hospital. Private patients without VHI cover, who are a very small fraction of the total, do have an incentive to economise, but even these motives are sharply reduced by the very considerable direct and indirect state subsidies to private care. These subsidies almost certainly induce higher demand for costly private as opposed to public care.

Doctors, rather than patients, make the main hospital utilisation decisions, and, in general, as they do not bear any of the costs, they have no motive to economise on hospital resources.

The most important hospital resource use decisions are made, however, when hospitals are provided their annual budgets by the state. How budget decisions are made is somewhat obscure.<sup>61</sup> The Department of Health provides operating budgets which are meant to cover costs of approved beds, equipment and personnel. Requests for new equipment, added capacity and new personnel are carefully and critically evaluated by the Department, on an individual basis. The Department resists unnecessary expansion and seeks economical resource use. However, the budgetary and political circumstances of the Government of the day are important and variable, which means that Department stringency vs. liberality must also vary. Further, it is widely believed that the negotiating skill, audacity and personal influence of hospital administrators, consultants and Health Board officers are also critical in the budgetary process. Though these budgetary methods are of uncertain effect, in terms of the set of incentives they provide for resource economy, the steady growth in hospital costs, both absolutely and as a proportion of Department of Health expenditures, do not provide strong testimony in favour of the ad hoc methods employed.

VHI is the subject of a final comment regarding the incentive structure found in the Irish medical care system. Currently, people are encouraged to purchase VHI cover, and hence to use costly private care, by the nature of the incentive structure. Substantial tax relief on premia, more favourable than that available for unreimbursed private costs, means that the exchequer pays one-third to onehalf of VHI costs indirectly. All of the subsidies to private care, especially those

<sup>61</sup>It must be emphasised that the procedure is obscure not because of any disposition of the Department of Health to make it so, or to withhold from the public or researchers vital information concerning the procedures or the outcomes. Instead, the procedures are *ad hoc* rather than automatic or formula-based and are inherently difficult to model. This budget process warrants research.

to private hospitalisation, also have the effect of lowering premium rates, by reducing claim payments, and these hence induce people to buy VHI cover. The net effect is that VHI is now too large, from an efficiency standpoint, and this translates into inefficiently high demand for costly private care.

A review of the incentive structure facing providers and patients reveals, then, very few instances in which participants have a significant motive to economise on medical care resources, public or private, and more than a few instances in which there are inducements to use resources.

#### Administrative Devices

In the case of medical care, the market, far from providing an institutional device for controlling costs and utilisation, appears to encourage expansion in these. The market often seems to be part of the problem, not the solution.

Most medical care systems employ a number of non-market administrative devices, to substitute for or supplement the market in rationing resources, limiting utilisation, achieving efficient resource use and achieving other objectives. We will discuss three types of administrative techniques: cash budget limits; supply or input restrictions; and quality review. In the process, we will note the techniques used elsewhere and those used in this country.

#### Cash Budgets Limits

One can distinguish between two types of health care financing systems: those in which services are mainly government financed, as in the United Kingdom or in most Scandinavian countries, and those where services are mainly insurance financed, as in Germany or France. The Irish system is mixed. In governmentfinanced systems, particularly centralised systems (e.g. the UK, but not Sweden), it is possible for the state to impose strict controls on the resources used in the medical care system. In the UK, for example, regional health authorities are provided with budget limits which cannot normally be exceeded; and UK governments have shown that they are prepared to stand by such limits in spite of widespread complaints. As a consequence, the UK stands out in international comparisons as one of very few countries in which health care costs have not exploded in recent years, in amount or relative to GNP. It is up to the regional authorities to determine expenditure priorities within the cash limits. Though restrictive budgets have been in effect since 1975/76, their effects on medical care delivery have not been fully evaluated. Some individual problems have appeared, but in general, evidence of harm to medical care is thus far lacking. However, some types of medical care are rationed (Aaron and Schwartz, 1984). The effect on expenditures are clear: costs have been controlled.

Few other countries have the degree of central control over expenditures necessary to impose such strict limits. At a recent World Health Organization workshop on health care cost control, in which experts from 17 countries (14 from Europe, plus the United States, Canada and Israel) took part, of the 17 only the UK, Hungary and Greece had the necessary degree of centralised

138 1

control<sup>62</sup> (World Health Organization, 1982). However, a number of other countries, including Ireland, exercised some degree of central control through cash budget limits.

In Ireland, the eight Health Boards, and as well 52 Voluntary Hospitals and others who deliver health services and related services are given budgets fixed in annual terms. Two differences between the Irish and British cases must be noted. First, in the case of Ireland, GPs and through them pharmacists have what amounts to an open-ended claim to funds for the Medical Card population, through the GMS (Payments) Board. Hence a budget for the General Medical Services is strictly speaking an estimate, not a cash limit. In capitation and salary systems, such as in the UK, it is possible precisely to budget GP expense; in feefor-service systems, it is not. There are other open-ended aspects of the Irish scheme: for example, the subsidy to prescription pharmaceuticals for Category II and III persons and the subvention to private hospitals. Secondly, it has been the practice frequently in Ireland (though less so in recent years) to provide supplementary funds during the year to Health Boards and voluntary agencies; hence the annual budgets cannot be and are not viewed in all cases as fixed cash limits.

In spite of these qualifications, budget limits do exist in Ireland, and they are said to have constituted the most effective control of Irish public health care expenditures.

As already noted, how budget decisions are made is obscure, and so necessarily is the degree of efficiency or rationality of the resulting mix of services.

#### Supply or Input Restrictions

Supply or input restrictions are particularly suited to insurance-based systems, where cash limits are not possible. France and the United States, for example, endeavour to control utilisation by such techniques. France's controls concentrate on the hospital sector. In that country,

in 1972, a "hospitalization map" was introduced which described both what existed and what was desirable as regards such factors as bed/population ratios, distribution of expensive capital equipment, etc. By 1979 the major goals had been achieved and the Ministry of Health began to restrict hospital investment and development. Planning of the system now includes, for example, the closing of beds or departments where excess capacity exists. Acute beds have also been reclassified as long-stay beds. In addition, consistent with the general approach of controlling inputs, entry to medical schools is controlled (WHO, 1982).

The aspect of control mentioned in the last sentence reflects changed thinking. Not long ago it was agreed that medical care costs might be controlled by *increasing* the numbers of physicians, while now some argue that *restricting* their num-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup>The author attended and took part in the conference.

bers is necessary in order to achieve the same objective. The rationale lies in the notions of a medical Parkinson's Law, as discussed in Chapter 2, as well as in the notion of physician-induced demand for medical care, discussed in Chapters 2 and 6.

The US system is less centralised than the French, and comparable controls are not possible, though a regulatory system exists to limit hospital construction and expansion. A change in both the United States and Canada of some significance to Ireland is that since the middle 1970s both countries have limited entry of foreign medical graduates. Both North American countries were important markets for the graduates of Irish medical schools. In this country, though medical school entering classes have been significantly reduced in recent years, the annual supply of new doctors is still excessive and there is continuing evidence of an oversupply.<sup>63</sup>

#### Quality Review

Quality review procedures are directed primarily at the appropriateness of medical (and other professional) judgements and only secondarily at resource use. The most extensive such set of procedures is in the United States, where Professional Standards Review Organizations (or PSROs) must be established by physicians to "apply professionally developed norms of care, diagnosis, and treatment ... as principal points of evaluation and review," to qualify for eligibility under major Federal government reimbursement programmes. It appears that the resource-saving implications of PSROs are less than had been at one time hoped. However, as a technique for establishing norms and standards for practice, and for resource efficiency, PSROs have been strongly endorsed by a well-known Irish consultant who has experience under both the American and the Irish systems (Kelly, 1976).

Many other countries, notably Austria, the Netherlands, France, and the German Federal Republic, maintain quality review procedures of a more or less

<sup>63</sup>The Royal College of Physicians in Ireland recently released results of a survey they had conducted of Irish medical graduates of 1971, 1973 and 1975. The following quotation is from a summary of their findings provided to the author by the RCPI: "Of all Irish doctors who responded to the survey, 63 per cent were living in the Republic of Ireland at the end of the survey; 21 per cent were in the United Kingdom and Northern Ireland; and 11 per cent were in North America.... At five, seven, and nine years after graduation, only 33 per cent, 61 per cent, and 80 per cent respectively of the graduates were in permanent posts. The remainder were still in post-graduate 'training' posts. ... Over one-third of the women doctors with children living in Ireland who responded to the survey are not in medical employment. A further 43 per cent are working parttime, usually on a sessional basis with poor career prospects. ... At present Irish Universities produce approximately 350 medical graduates each year, half of whom will eventually make a carcer in General Practice, although annual requirements at present for this speciality are only 75 doctors." Note that the most recent class in this study is that of 1975, prior to the cut-back in North American willingness to take Irish medical graduates. See also the discussion by the Working Party on the General Medical Services (1984), who recommend "that steps be taken as a matter of urgency to reduce substantially the annual intake of Irish students to medical school."

extensive sort. None of them reports significant resource savings, however (World Health Organization, 1982).

In addition, in most countries there are local and in-hospital review committees of physicians, e.g., bed utilisation committees, to monitor physicians' referral, prescribing, hospital bed utilisation and other practices.

In Ireland, quality review is quite limited. Only a small number of hospitals appear to have established drugs committees or bed utilisation committees of physicians.

The General Medical Services (Payments) Board reviews and disciplines general practitioners for violations, as we saw in Chapter 4, but there are limits to the scope of this type of review. The Voluntary Health Insurance Board, as was said in Chapter 4, does not engage in any form of medical audit, and does not question the need for or medical efficacy of any procedure for which they reimburse beneficiaries. There is no PSRO-like effort by the medical profession to devise even voluntary or suggested norms of care, diagnosis or treatment. There is room for expansion of this type of technique in Ireland and we will return to this subject in Chapter 8.

There are seemingly inevitable and irresistible aspects to the explosive rise in medical care costs and expenditures. Wages and salaries inexorably rise. Equipment, procedures and personnel training become more complex and costly. And yet it appears in Ireland as elsewhere that the system itself is a main reason for the rapidity with which expenditures and costs are rising. The market provides few incentives to economical and rational resource use. Both patients and providers, though in different ways, benefit from medical care outlays and both share in the decisions concerning utilisation. Yet neither bears a cost which comes close to reflecting the social cost of medical care utilisation. Moreover, the incentive structure in the Irish scheme in many instances favours physician care over equally effective but less costly care by other professionals and paraprofessionals; costly private care over public care; consultant specialist care over general practitioner care; and hospital care over community care. With the exception of cash limits from the exchequer, which have been inconsistently applied, there is little if any supporting system of administrative devices to supplement the market and compensate for its weaknesses. Unless there is some fundamental change in the system, it will undoubtedly continue to expand rapidly, both absolutely and as a share of GNP.

# Chapter 6

# UTILISATION OF GENERAL PRACTITIONER SERVICES

We saw in Chapter 5 that, of an estimated total medical care expenditure of  $\pounds745.1m$  in 1980, only  $\pounds38.5m$ , or 5.2 per cent, was devoted to General Practitioner services. (See Table 5.5; the summary data are repeated here, in Column (4) of Table 6.1). It would appear, on this basis, that General practitioner services are a relatively unimportant component of the Irish medical care system, at least with respect to economic impact.

Such a conclusion would be an erroneous one. GPs serve, as we saw in Chapter 4, as gatekeepers to the entire system of medical care. Not only do they deliver medical care services of the utmost importance themselves, but they prescribe medicines, suggest non-prescription medicines, prescribe other devices or implements, and refer patients to specialists and others and send them to hospital for out- or in-patient services. The amount of medical care services and expenditures they decisively influence vastly exceeds, in money measure, the amount they deliver directly.

Estimates of this influence are quantified in Table 6.1. In our survey, we asked respondents, with respect to each household member's most recent utilisation (of GP services, specialist services, out-patient hospital services, in-patient hospital services, dentists' services and prescription medicines) whose idea it was, or who first suggested that the service be utilised. (A return visit arranged at a consultation with a physician is deemed to be that physician's idea). The results of this question are spelt out in detail in Appendix Tables A.30 through A.35. They are summarised in Columns (1) and (2) of Table 6.1. The methods used in calculating Table 6.1 are set forth in Appendix II. General Practitioners were responsible for initiating nearly a third (32.7 per cent) of all GP consultations, mainly through arranging return visits; over half (51.6) of all specialist consultations; well over half (58.5 per cent) of all hospital admissions; and nearly all (94.5 per cent) prescription medicine items. Another doctor (typically a specialist) was responsible, as indicated in Column (2), for much of the remaining utilisation.

In Column (3), these figures are adjusted to take account of indirect GP influences as well. For obvious reasons, GPs can be deemed to be responsible for 100 per cent of GP services. For specialists, we attribute to GPs not only their direct share, as in Column (1), but an identical proportion of return visits. For

	(1) % of w	(2) iliantion	(3)	(4)	(5)
	for w for w doct respo	hich a or is nsible	GP's adjusted share	Total expenditure	GP share of expenditure
Type of Service	GP	Other		£m	£m
General Practitioner	32.7	0.5	100.0	38.5	38.5
Specialist	51.6	33.5	65.2		
Out-Patient Hospital	60.6	17.1	71.7	514.9	364.7
In-Patient Hospital	58.5	21.7	72.6		
Dentist	1.9	0.8	2.4	27.2	0.7
Prescription Medicine	94.5	4.9	97.7	72.9	71.2
Other				58.0	<u></u>
Overhead				33.6	22.4
Total Expenditure				745.1	497.4

 

 Table 6.1: General Practitioner responsibility for medical care utilisation and expenditures, 1980

Note: See Appendix II for methods of calculation.

the remaining kinds of utilisation, the proportion for which GPs are directly responsible is augmented to reflect their indirect responsibility for the services prescribed by the specialists to whom the GPs referred patients.

The adjusted shares in Column (3) are then applied to total medical care expenditures, as brought forward from Table 5.5 to Column (4) of Table 6.1. The results are given in Column (5), which show that GPs are directly and indirectly responsible for an estimated  $\pounds$ 497.4 million in medical care expenditures, or 66.8 per cent of the total public and private medical care expenditures of  $\pounds$ 745.1 million. The actual figure is undoubtedly higher, as we have used conservative assumptions, especially as regards the "other" category and by including dental expenditures in the denominator.

For these reasons, the utilisation of general practitioner services is itself an important subject for detailed review and is the subject of this chapter. Arguably, the influences which bear on GP utilisation in turn affect utilisation throughout the entire medical care system. We begin with the determinants of GP utilisation. We then look at the determinants of household (i.e., private) expenditures on GP fees. We also analyse the factors bearing on house calls (vs. office/surgery consultations) and the length of wait in GPs' waiting rooms. We conclude with an extended treatment of referrals by GPs, including referrals to themselves, i.e., return visit behaviour. In this last part we deal with the important and sensitive issue of physician-induced demand for their own services.

# A. Determinants of GP Utilisation

As Table 6.2 shows, GP utilisation varies with sex, age, category of Health Services entitlement, VHI cover, and whether the head of household is a mem-

	G	P consultatio	ons	
	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Prescription items per GP consultation
All persons	3,616	66.1	5.47	0.888
Males	3,186	61.3	5.20	0.813
under 65	2,630	58.4	4.45	0.648
65+	7,443	83.2	8.94	2.062
Females	4,036	70.8	5.70	0.962
under 65	3,417	67.8	5.00	0.846
65+	7,892	89.8	8.79	1.686
Category I	6,082	77.3	7.87	1.185
Categories II, III	2,450	60.8	4.01	0.748
VHI	2,270	74.2	3.54	0.929
No VHI	4,084	66.8	6.11	0.875
Farmer	3,138	60.8	5.16	0.701
Non-Farmer	3,370	67.8	5.55	0.952

Table 6.2: General practitioner utilisation, 1980, by sex, age group, category of health services entitlement, VHI cover and head of household farmer or non-farmer

Source: Appendix Tables A.1-A.5.

ber of the occupation group, farmer, farm worker, or fisher. Females have more than 25 per cent more GP consultations than men, a result both of a greater likelihood of any GP consultations and of more consultations among those who have any. Age is even more strongly associated with this form of utilisation. Men over 65 have nearly triple, and women over 65 double, the utilisation of their younger counterparts. Again, the higher utilisation arises both out of a greater likelihood of any contact and greater contact among those with any.

Category of entitlement also is strongly associated with GP consultations. Those with Category I entitlement, who have free GP services, had two and onehalf times as many GP consultations as those with Category II or III entitlement, who had to pay their GPs. Those with VHI cover had much fewer consultations than those without that cover. We also include in Table 6.2 the differences between the utilisation of those living in households headed by farmers and those headed by others. Farm household members use somewhat fewer GP services.

Table 6.2 also reports on the number of prescription items per GP consultation in 1980, for the same groups in the population. It will be seen that, in general, those with high utilisation of GP services also consume larger quantities of prescription items — females more than males, the aged more than the nonaged, those with Category I entitlement more than those with other categories and those from farmer households fewer than those from non-farmer households. The one exception is VHI cover: those with VHI cover consumed more prescription items per consultation, even though they were less likely to have consultations.

More detail on GP utilisation is to be found in Appendix Tables A.1 through A.6.

The relationships reported in Table 6.2 are "simple" or "gross." The population classifications are overlapping and it is hazardous to infer causation or influence. For example, it seems unlikely that those without VHI cover consume more GP services *because* they lack private, voluntary insurance; instead, the reason is more likely to lie in correlates of VHI cover. It is known that those with Category I entitlement are unlikely to have VHI cover, and this fact undoubtedly explains much of the difference shown in Table 6.2.

Though simple or gross relationships as shown in Table 6.2 are important, in that they tell us of the actual differential utilisation of groups in the population, for purposes of uncovering the net influence of such variables as age, sex, entitlement, etc., it is preferable to use some kind of multivariate analysis. Multiple regressions of GP utilisation, as a dependent variable, were run on a set of independent variables, including those found in Table 6.2. Before turning to those regressions, let us first sketch out the underlying theory.

## The Utilisation Model

The utilisation model employed here derives from the literature, which is discussed at length in Chapter 2. General practitioner utilisation,  $X_g$ , is subscripted for individual i. In general, medical care utilisation is taken to be a function of  $H_i$ , the individual's health status;  $Z_i$ , the individual's taste for medical care;  $P_i$ , the set of relevant medical care prices facing the individual;  $A_i$ , the availability of medical care services to individual i; and  $D_i$ , the individual's *doctor's* tastes, preferences, attitudes and philosophy. Regarding the last of these, as seen in Chapter 2, it is well established in the literature that doctors on occasion may pursue their own economic self-interests when making utilisation decisions for or suggesting them to their patients, in addition to which, quite apart from self-interest, individual doctors often have quite different approaches to medical care, reflecting differences in their training, backgrounds, expertise or ability and personal philosophies.

The price variable includes both money price and time price. The latter has frequently been shown significantly to influence the demand for medical care. Indeed, as noted in Chapter 2, it is not uncommon for time price to loom larger for many people than money price.

Our basic medical care utilisation model, then, as applied to GP services, is:

$$X_{gi} = X_{gi}(H_i, Z_i, P_i, A_i, D_i)$$

Because of data limitations and in some cases conceptual problems, proxy variables often have to be used to represent the independent variables. In regression analyses, where the dependent variable is patients' general practitioner utilisation, the following independent variables are used:

Sex: Table 6.2 shows more utilisation among females than males. It is well established in the literature that for many kinds of medical care, utilisation is greater amongst females, presumably reflecting morbidity patterns. Therefore, sex appears in empirical models mainly, in effect, as a proxy for health status.

Age and age-squared: Similarly, Table 6.2 and the relevant literature show utilisation to rise with advancing age. In addition, for some kinds of services, infants and/or young children appear also to be greater than average users. Including age-squared along with age permits the relationship to take a curvilinear form (including U-shaped where both the very young and the very old have higher than average utilisation). Age is also, then, mainly a proxy for health status.

Age and sex as proxies may represent other causal variables in our basic model, however, in addition to health status. Employed and self-employed persons may pay a higher time price for medical care than others. Persons with heavy household duties may, as well, pay a higher time price than retired persons or children. Age and sex may also represent the Z or taste variable. If males and females, or young and old traditionally have differing utilisation patterns, these may affect social expectations and ultimately attitudes and behaviour.

Head of household farmer or non-farmer: Occupation group, education and labour force status of head of household are characteristics presumed to be associated with Z, taste for medical care. In some literature, the higher the status of the head's occupational group, the greater the utilisation, other things being equal. Similarly, the more years of education the head has had, the greater the utilisation. These associations are usually presumed to reflect differences in outlook. Another interpretation sometimes offered is that higher-class or moreeducated persons have longer time horizons and are hence more apt to go for routine medical care, or attend to minor problems, before illness reaches crisis levels. Others note that these higher-class/more-educated persons and their doctors are more likely to be drawn from the same social classes, thus making medical care an easier and more comfortable experience than for the rest of the population. Those of lower occupation group status, and/or less education, tend to feel less comfortable in doctors' surgeries, hospitals and other care facilities, and limit utilisation accordingly. Labour force status - whether one is employed, unemployed, retired, has full-time home duties, etc. - may also reflect similar attitudes, but time price is likely to be involved as well.

These background or socio-economic variables, as is shown in the appropriate Appendix Tables (A.4–A.6) are related to several kinds of utilisation. Evidently, however, this is largely due to their correlation with other causal variables. When they were incorporated in our multiple regression models, which shows their *net* contribution to explaining utilisation, holding constant other influences, they are very rarely of significance, because of their collinearity with other model independent variables. The single most important exception is where the head of household is a farmer, a farm worker, a farmer's relative, or a fisher. That occupation group's utilisation, as will be seen, was frequently significantly different from those of other groups, even when other relevant causal variables (or their proxies) were controlled for. Consequently, in the final equation form estimated and reported here, these variables, except farmer, do not appear. This is also why farmer, and not the others, appears in Table 6.2.

Category of health services entitlement: Like several of the other variables discussed thus far, category of health services entitlement is a proxy for several of the causal variables in the basic model. First and foremost, it is a price variable. Those with Category I eligibility are entitled to all medical care services, including GP consultations, without charge, and they should hence be expected to consume more medical care services than those with categories II or III. Similarly, those with Category II eligibility should be expected to consume more of certain services (though not GP care) than those with Category III eligibility. In addition, category of eligibility, as it reflects income, may also represent health status (morbidity appears to move inversely with income, as noted in Chapter 3), and also, in the opposite direction, taste for medical care. Finally, as will be noted later, there are reasons to believe GPs may be more likely to attempt to induce medical care utilisation for their own economic ends among persons in Category I. Thus there are three causal forces pointing to higher utilisation among Category I persons - price, health status and doctor influence - and one pointing to lower utilisation - income-associated taste for medical care. Price is expected to dominate and the net association is expected to be positive.

GP fee: GP fee appears, presumably, both in patients' demand functions. where utilisation is a decreasing function of fee, and also in doctors' supply functions, where utilisation is an increasing function.<sup>64</sup> Since we are in effect estimating reduced form equations, we face an identification problem: a priori, it is not obvious whether utilisation should vary positively or negatively with fee. If, for example, patients in the neighbourhood or area served by a given GP have in common a higher-than-average demand for relative to supply of medical care, because (e.g.) of Z or H reasons, both utilisation and fee may be high. In that case, as demand varies, we observe supply. On the other hand, if physician density (the ratio of general practitioners to population) varies from place to place (relative to demand), fees will vary, and to the extent the public responds with varying utilisation to such fee differentials, we observe a negative association between fee and utilisation, i.e., we observe the demand curve. GP fees are, one would suppose, considerably more significant economically to doctors than to patients, and, on that ground at least, are intuitively more likely to affect doctors' than patients' behaviour. That would argue for a positive association.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup>In the case of Category I patients, fee charged the patient is nil, and that is the amount used in this variable, whilst the fee received by the physician, while significantly lower than that received for Category II/III patients, is positive. Thus to the extent the equation represents a supply function, it is somewhat mis-specified.

There is still another possibility. Suppose GPs engage in compensatory demandinducing behaviour. This possibility will be dealt with more extensively in a later section. For now we will only note that if physician density is high, we would expect, *ceteris paribus*, lower fees and physician incomes. But if GPs are able and willing to stimulate demand — arrange for extra return visits, etc. — in order to maintain target incomes, so that a lower patient-to-doctor ratio is compensated by higher utilisation per patient, then we may observe no clear correlation or association between fee and utilisation. Supply variation will be matched, more or less, by demand variation, and the relationship between utilisation and fee will depend on the degree or extent of compensatory demand stimulation. (This discussion is continued later in the chapter.)

*House call fee:* We also include as an independent variable the house call fee, the amount normally paid for a home as opposed to office/surgery consultation. For patients who are infirm, indisposed, etc., and who require a home visit by the GP, the house call fee arguably influences demand. However, it also may appear in the physician's supply function.

No VHI: GP fees and other out-patient care are covered by VHI, but only after a deductible is reached.<sup>65</sup> Hence VHI cover is a proxy for price in patients' demand functions. As such, VHI cover should be positively associated with utilisation. (Note that this is counter to what is reported in Table 6.2.) Those with VHI cover may differ in important respects from other people, and this variable may hence reflect more than merely price. For example, as is shown in Appendix Table A.2, those with VHI cover have considerable more dentist visits than those without, even when one controls for category of health services eligibility and hence (broadly) for income group. This is so despite the fact that dental care is not covered by VHI. Perhaps those people who buy voluntary health insurance are more health-conscious, or have longer time horizons, or have greater taste for medical care, than those who do not.

As the variable in the empirical model is "no VHI," a negative association is hypothesised. Because of the deductible, this variable is expected to be only weakly associated with GP utilisation, or indeed with other out-patient utilisation. VHI cover does not causally affect doctors' incomes, so there is no identification problem here.

*Distance:* Distance from the patient's home to the GP's office/surgery is included as a measure of time-price. GP utilisation should vary inversely with distance.

*Density:* Density is defined as the ratio of general practitioners to population in a Health Board area. If demand is given, higher density should result in lower fee and higher utilisation. If GPs in high-density areas engage in compensatory demand stimulation to maintain incomes in the face of these tendancies, as discussed later in the chapter, still higher utilisation will result. Thus in both circumstances, in the absence or presence of physician-stimulated demand, there

<sup>65</sup>See Chapter 4.

should be a positive association between density and utilisation, and the presence of the variable in this model does not provide a test of physician-induced demand. There are reasons, however, not necessarily to expect significant results. Density is measured within Health Board areas. While it is suspected that between-area variation in density exceeds within-area variation, the latter is none the less important and will weaken the estimated relationships. Variability in demand will also influence utilisation and may overwhelm the influence of density. A superior test of physician-induced demand appears later in the chapter.

*Medical Card ratio:* The proportion of the population in a Health Board area with Category I entitlement, or Medical Card ratio, plays a part in our test for physician-induced demand, and will be discussed in more detail later. Briefly, the higher is this proportion, the higher will be average utilisation levels, and, other things equal, the higher will be GP workloads and incomes. Consequently, the higher this ratio, the less the need for demand stimulation, and the lower will be the utilisation of the ith patient,  $X_{gi}$ . Thus we hypothesise a negative relationship. As with density, we expect stronger and more relevant results in a somewhat different test, later in the chapter.

Other help: As noted in Chapter 5, some respondents reported that they received help with their medical care expenditures from their employer or some other group. Other help is included as a dichotomous variable, for control purposes.

*Persons in household:* Because each person's chance of being selected in our sample depended on the number of persons in the household, and because one's utilisation arguably is influenced by numbers of persons in the household, persons in the household was included as a control variable.

Other household members' GP utilisation: It was hypothesised that any individual's utilisation of medical care services would be positively associated with that of other household members. There are many reasons for this hypothesised relationship, and unravelling them statistically seems virtually impossible. First, household members frequently share the same tastes for medical care, so this variable is in effect a proxy for Z. Indeed, the household member making or most strongly influencing utilisation decisions may be the same for several household members. (A mother who is concerned with routine preventive care for one of her children, for example, will be likely not only to be concerned with it for other children, but also for herself and she may also urge it on other adult household members as well.) Secondly, several household members will frequently see the same GP, and consequently will be similarly affected by his or her tastes, attitudes, philosophy and/or economic needs. Hence this variable may also be a proxy for D. Third, this variable may also stand in for H, as there are likely to be positive correlations among the health statuses of household members because of infective illnesses and because they share many of the same genetic and environmental influences.

It might be objected that other household members' GP utilisation is endo-

genous — that is influenced by many of the same variables, such as eligibility, VHI cover, GP fee, farmer-non-farmer, as are already in the model. This is not always the case; most of our variables vary by individual, even within the household. Including the variable permits us to control for some important background and doctor variables. We deal with this possible econometric objection, here and in other models reported later, by reporting regressions both including and excluding other household members' GP utilisation.

Interactions: Because relationships amongst our independent variables may be multiplicative rather than additive, we have included a number of interactions in the model, as discussed in Chapter 1. In preliminary work, we tested a large number of two-, three-, and even four-way interactions, and found, in general, two types to yield good results frequently enough to be included in our models. One is an interaction between sex, age, eligibility Category I and no VHI cover, a dichotomous variable. For example, Woman-I-No VHI carries the value of one where the person is female, aged 45–64, has Category I eligibility, and does not have VHI cover. The other is an interaction amongst the regional variables in the model. In the present model, the only regional variables are Density and Medical Card Ratio; their interaction is included as an independent variable. (Other regional variables included in other models are the Consultant Density and an Index of per capita Income.)

Other variables: Other variables were included in versions of the estimating equation not reported here. In general, they did not improve results (i.e., they did not contribute except trivially to R<sup>2</sup>s and t-statistics were low.) These other variables included Health Board area of residence. Appendix Table A.3 shows differences in GP utilisation among Health Board areas, with persons in the Southern area averaging only 3.4 consultations per year, whilst those in the North-Western area averaged 4.0. But these differences are apparently due to such influences as age and category of entitlement, as Health Board variables (introduced as seven dichotomous variables) were almost never significant. The same is true of occupation of head of household, as noted, with the exception of the farmer category. And the same is true of the year of age the head of household completed his or her full-time education. It was decided that it would add little if anything to publish these equations in full.

#### The Results

The analysis was done on all persons and on seven major sub-groups in the population, the members of which arguably might be expected to have different utilisation behaviour. Those with Category I eligibility do not have to pay for medical care, including GP services. Those with Categories II and III pay for varying proportions of their medical care, but they are all alike in having to pay GPs.

"Mothers" are female adults who are parents of other household members. Their morbidity patterns, and hence their utilisation, varies from that of the rest of the population. Separate equations are also estimated for males only, females only, the elderly (persons aged over 64) and children (persons aged under 16), because the literature indicates different morbidity and utilisation patterns among these groups.

For all persons and for each sub-group, three tables are reported. The first (e.g., Table 6.3), reports on a logistic regression in which the dependent variable is dichotomous, whether the person had any GP consultations at all in 1980. As noted in Chapter 1, the left-hand side of these logistic regressions is equal to log (p/1-p), where p is the probability that a person had a GP consultation. Thus the parameters do not have a direct, common-sense interpretation, as those in OLS (ordinary least squares) regressions, for example, do, though signs and significance levels have the same meaning as elsewhere. Therefore, we report a second table (e.g., Table 6.4), based on the first, which uses the logistic regression results to calculate probabilities based on specified values of the independent variables. The third table (e.g., Table 6.5) reports on OLS regressions of the numbers of GP consultations, for those persons having any. Because there is a chance of sample selection bias, we have included the inverse of the Mills ratio as an independent variable, as discussed in Chapter 1.

In both logistic and OLS regressions, we report on both a "full model", in which all independent variables for which relationships are hypothesised are included, and a "5% version", in which only those variables from the full model meeting a 5 per cent significance test are included. The variables significant in the former may vary somewhat from those in the latter, mainly because of colinearity amongst independent variables. We also report on the significance of the whole equation (a  $\chi^2$  test in logistic regressions, an F test in OLS regressions), and on  $\mathbb{R}^2$  (adjusted in all cases for degrees of freedom), which measures the percentage of the variance in the dependent variable explained by the equation. In general, our equations are very significant but the  $\mathbb{R}^2$ s are low. This can be interpreted as meaning that economic and demographic variables have a relatively small effect on utilisation — generally 10 per cent or less — but that they have effects is statistically quite certain.

Results are given in Tables 6.3-6.26. Note that where a variable is dichotomous, representing a quality, the absence of that quality is reflected in the intercept term. For example, sex = female is a variable. Sex = male is included in the constant term. Likewise, included in the constant term are eligibility = Category II, VHI cover = yes, other help with medical costs = no, and occupation of Head of Household = non-farmer. Where sex-age-eligibility-VHI cover variables are included in the Model, the absence of the specified properties is included in the intercept term. For example, in Tables 6.3-6.5, the intercept term includes utilisation of persons with VHI cover, in Categories II/III, aged 0-4 or 18-39.

We will first discuss the results for all persons, i.e., Tables 6.3, 6.4, and 6.5. We will then review the results for sub-groups in the population, by comparing them with the experience of all persons.

Table 6.3 shows sex to be a very significant influence, in all versions, on

	Full M	odel <sup>(b)</sup>	5% Version <sup>(b)</sup>	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
R <sup>2(c)</sup>	.059	.070	.058	.063
N	1,068	1,068	1,068.00	1,068
Equation $\chi^2$	122.69**	139.51**	91.30**	112.00**
Intercept <sup>(d)</sup>	-2.645	-3.544	1.430	2.703**
	(.24)	(.42)	(2.66)	(8.05)
Sex = Female	.476**	.514**	.481**	.499**
	(9.31)	(10.63)	(11.57)	(12.76)
Category III	571**	555**	437	`43́7*
	(6.44)	(5.99)		(3.97)
Category I	.205	.172	.845**	.687**
	(.11)	(.08)	(23.40)	(15.78)
Persons in household	067*	056	. ,	. ,
	(3.73)	(2.56)		
Age	020	-0.21		
5	(2.38)	(2.49)		
Age squared $\div$ 1,000	.311	.347*	.174**	.196**
<b>.</b>	(3.01)	(3.71)	(17.05)	(23.17)
No VHI	557**	610**	<b>、</b>	<b>560**</b>
	(7.10)	(8.31)		(8.21)
Distance to GP	.025	.026		· · /
	(.27)	(.27)		
GP Fee	.019	<b>.</b> 039		
	(.10)	(.40)		
House Call Fee	.051	.043		
	(2.05)	(1.43)		
GP Density	8.121	9.442	-4.013*	-5.359**
	(.44)	(.58)	(4.52)	(8.21)
Other Help	.277	.277	. ,	
-	(1.09)	(1.06)		
Medical Card Ratio	14.301	15.991		
	(1.27)	(1.56)		
Farmer	284	236	334*	
	(2.21)	(1.51)	(4.54)	
Category I - No VHI	.330	.342		
	(.23)	(.25)		
Girl-I-No VHI <sup>(e)</sup>	363	326	830*	
	(.62)	(.49)	(4.03)	`
Woman-I-No VHI <sup>(c)</sup>	1.271*	1.219*	. ,	•
	(5.83)	(5.31)		,
Lady-I-No VHI <sup>(e)</sup>	.748	.661		
·	(2.05)	(1.44)		
Boy-I-No VHI <sup>(e)</sup>	.155	1.72		
•	(.10)	(.12)		
Man-I-No VHI <sup>(e)</sup>	1.300*	1.243*		
	(5.14)	(4.63)		

Table 6.3: Logistic regression of any general practitioner consultations in 1980(dichotomous variable) on selected independent variables, all persons<sup>(a)</sup>

	Full M	lodel <sup>(b)</sup>	5% Version <sup>(b)</sup>	
$ar{R}^{2^{(c)}}$ N Equation $\chi^2$	<i>(1)</i> .059 1,068 122.69**	<i>(2)</i> .070 1,068 139.51**	<i>(3)</i> .058 1,068 91.30**	<i>(4)</i> .063 1,068 112.00**
Gent-I-No VHI <sup>(e)</sup>	1.116 (4.22)	.951 (3.05)		
GP Density-Medical Card Ratio Interaction	-30.745 (1.19)	-34.544 (1.47)		
Household GP Utilisation		`.083** (13.68)		.091** (16.94)
Joint Tests				
Age GP Density Medical Card Ratio	(3.11) (4.85)* (1.53)	$(4.29)^{*}$ $(5.54)^{*}$ (1.79)		

## Table 6.3 (contd.)

*Notes:*  ${}^{(a)}\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates.  ${}^{(b)}$ Columns (1) and (3) exclude, and Columns (2) and (4) include, household GP utilisation variable in model.  ${}^{(c)}\mathbb{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom.  ${}^{(d)}$ Intercept term includes in full model: sex = male; eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = yes; other help = no; head of household a farmer = no; and age = 0-4, or 18-39.  ${}^{(e)}$ "Girl", "Boy" = age 5-17; "Woman", "Man" = age 40-64; "Lady", "Gent" = age 65+. *Significance:* \*0.01 \leq 0.05; \*\*p  $\leq$  0.01.

whether a person saw a GP in 1980, females being more likely to have consultations than males. Category of eligibility is also quite significant. Category I eligibility is significantly positive in the 5 per cent versions, whilst the Category I - No VHI interactions are significant in the full models. Category III is significantly negative in most cases (Category II being reflected in the intercept term). As persons in both Categories II and III are ineligible for free GP services, this latter difference in utilisation cannot be attributed to price. Rather, it must reflect either health status or background (income, class) differences. This suggests that the higher utilisation of persons in Category I, where there is a price effect, may also reflect similar non-price differences.

Age is negative but not significant, while age squared is significant and positive, suggesting a U-shaped relationship.

However, the appropriate significance test where two versions of a variable (in this case age and age squared, in other cases main effects and interaction) are included in the model is a joint test, as discussed in Chapter 1 and such a test has been performed and is reported at the foot of the table.

No VHI is negative and significant in most models, which is the same as saying that persons with VHI cover are *more* likely to have GP consultations, where the other variables in the model are controlled for.

GP density is positive and insignificant in the full model, but negative and significant in the 5 per cent version. If the latter is credited, it runs counter to the

		Probabilities			
	Household utilisation is	Exc	luded	Incl	uded
		Full	5%	Full	5%
		Model	Version	Model	Version
*Baseline probability	Baseline probability*	.63	.69	.64	.67
applies when the following					
variables are set equal to their	Other probabilities**				
means, as below: <sup>(b)</sup>	Sex = male	.51	.58	.51	.55
Agc = 38.5	Age =				
Distance to $GP = 2.6$	$\min = 1$	.70	.63	.70	.60
GP fee = $f_{2,43}$	10	.66	.64	.66	.61
House call	20	.64	.65	.64	.62
fee = $42.78$	30	.63	.67	.63	.64
GP density = $.462$	40	.63	.69	.64	.67
Medical Ćard	50	.65	.73	.66	.71
ratio = .370	60	.68	.76	.70	.75
Household GP	70	.72	.80	.75	.80
utilisation $= 3.34$	$\max = 95$	.85	.89	.88	.90
Persons in household = $4.23$	Eligibility =				
and when the following	Category I	.74	.84	.70	.80
qualities obtain: <sup>(b)</sup>	Category III	.49		.50	.57
sex = female	$VHI \ cover = yes$	.75		.76	.78
eligibility = Category II	Distance to GP				
VHI cover = no	min = under 1 mile	.61	_	.62	—
other help = no	max = more than 10 miles	.65		.66	
farmer = no	GP fee				
	$\min = \pounds 0$	.62		.61	
** Other provabilities	$\max = \frac{1}{2}7$	.65	—	.68	
apply when variables are	House call fee				
changed, one by one (the	$\min = \hat{L}0$	.60		.61	
others held constant as above)	$\max = \pounds 10$	.71	—	.71	
to the values and/or qualities	GP density				
indicated.	$\min = 0.429$	.67	.72	.68	.71
	max = 0.555	.58	.60	.59	.55
	Other help = yes	.69		.70	
	Medical card ratio				
	min = 0.232	.65		.66	
	max = 0.586	.66		.66	—
	Farmer = yes	.56	.61	.58	
	Persons in household				
	min = 1	.68	—	.68	
	$\max = 14$	.47		.50	
	Household GP utilisation				
	$\min = 0$			.57	.60
	$\max = 40$			.97	.98

Table 6.4: Probability of any GP consultations, all persons, 1980 (based on logistic<br/>regression)<sup>(a)</sup>

*Notes:* <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 6.3. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model; for household utilisation, applies only to model including that variable.

	Full	Model <sup>(b)</sup>	5%	Version <sup>(b)</sup>
= a(b)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
$R^{2(6)}$	0.185	0.220	0.185	0.225
N	729	729	729	729
Equation F	10.219**	12.437**	55.01**	23.19**
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	0.903	0.766	-2.795	-0.354
Sex female	0.547	0.896	·····	
	(0.799)	(1.439)		
Age	-0.029	-0.046	_	
	(0.580)	(1.011)		
Age squared $\div$ 1,000	0.405	0.729		0.549**
	(0.603)	(1.243)		(3.922)
Category I	1.891	2.327*		2.129**
	(1.618)	(2.185)		(2.950)
Category III	-0.196	-0.292	_	
	(0.205)	(0.332)		
No VHI	1.663(*)	1.237	2.268**	1.310(*)
	(2.039)	(1.684)	(3.718)	(2.032)
GP Fee	-0.290	-0.181	· _ /	
	(1.218)	(0.787)		
House Call Fee	0.287	0.307 <sup>*</sup>		0.225*
	(1.965)	(2.234)		(2.182)
Other help	-0.636	-0.470		· ′
	(0.630)	(0.495)		
Farmer	-1.357	-1.371*	_	-1.635*(*)
	(1.995)	(2.311)		(2.827)
Persons in household	-0.136	-0.189		
	(0.931)	(1.476)		
Girl-I-No VHI <sup>(d)</sup>	-3.189(*)	-3.219	_	
<i>(</i> 1)	(1.705)	(1.769)		
Woman-I-No VHI <sup>(d)</sup>	4.275	5.413**		5.654**
	(1.780)	(3.920)		(5.511)
Lady-I-No VHI <sup>(d)</sup>	0.369	0.521	-2.154*	´
(1)	(0.191)	(0.341)	(2.272)	
Boy-I-No VHI <sup>(d)</sup>	-2.771	-3.135	· _ /	
	(1.399)	(1.617)		
Man-I-No VHI <sup>(d)</sup>	3.325	3.876*	_	3.403*(*)
	(1.618)	(2.409)		(2.602)
Gent-I-No VHI <sup>(d)</sup>	3.224	3.275(*)	<del></del>	2.580 <sup>*</sup>
	(1.601)	(2.097)		(2.406)
Inverse Mills	0.450	0.017	1.860**	
	(0.795)	(0.295)	(10.955)	

Table 6.5: Regression of annual numbers of general practitioner consultations, 1980, on selected independent variables, ordinary least squares, persons with any consultations  $only^{(a)}$ 

Table 6.5 continued

	Full	Model <sup>(b)</sup>	5% Version <sup>(b)</sup>	
R <sup>2(b)</sup> N Equation F	<i>(1)</i> 0.185 729 10.219**	<i>(2)</i> 0.220 729 12.437**	<i>(3)</i> 0.185 729 55.01**	(4) 0.225 729 23.19**
Household Utilisation		0.271** (4.281)		0.285** (5.775)
Joint Tests: Age	(1.847)	(1.795)		

Table 6.5 (contd.)

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup> Figures in parentheses beneath parameter estimates are t-statistics. Columns (1) and (3) include, and Columns (2) and (4) exclude, household utilisation (GP utilisation of other household members). <sup>(b)</sup> $\mathbb{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in Full Model includes sex = male; eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = yes; Other help = no; Household Head a Farmer or Fisher = no. <sup>(d)</sup> "Girl", "Boy" = 5-17; "Man", "Woman" = 40-64; "Lady", "Gent" = age 65+. Significance: \*0.01 < p < 0.05. \*\*p < 0.01.

(\*)Parentheses around asterisk indicate parameter did not pass t-test adjusted for heteroscedasticity; see Chapter 1.

	Full Model <sup>(b)</sup>		5% Version <sup>(b)</sup>	
	(1)	(2)	(3) (4	9
R <sup>2(c)</sup>	.079	.095	.093	.106
N	556	556	556	556
Equation $\chi^2$	79.51**	90.61**	56.08**	65.28**
Intercept <sup>(d)</sup>	.581	-2.484	.014	258
	(.01)	(.09)	(.01)	(1.38)
Sex = Female	.166	.179		
	(.15)	(.18)		
Category I persons in household	.005	025		
	(.01)	(.18)		
Age	.003	.006	.031**	.030**
	(.02)	(.04)	(50.28)	(47.89)
Age squared $\div$ 1,000	291	295		
	(.88)	(.89)		
No VHI	730	820		
	(2.79)	(3.50)		
Distance to GP	129	124		
	(2.52)	(2.25)		
GP Density	6.771	10.671		
	(.14)	(.34)		
Other help	423	585		
	(.69)	(1.29)		
Medical Card Ratio	7.516	12.303		
	(.16)	(.42)		

Table 6.6: Logistic regression of any general practitioner consultations in 1980 (Dichotomous Variable) on selected independent variables, persons in category I only<sup>(a)</sup>

	Full Me	Full Model <sup>(b)</sup>		5% Version <sup>(b)</sup>	
	(1)	(2)	(3) (*	4)	
$\mathbf{\bar{R}}^{2(c)}$	.079	.095	.093	.106	
N	556	556	556	556	
Equation $\chi^2$	79.51**	90.61**	56.08**	65.28**	
Farmer	.462	.531			
	(2.49)	(3.25)			
Girl <sup>(e)</sup>	563	504			
	(1.54)	(1.21)			
Woman <sup>(e)</sup>	2.224**	2.089**			
	(7.83)	(6.82)			
Lady <sup>(e)</sup>	2.854**	2.683**			
	(6.98)	(6.12)			
Boy <sup>(e)</sup>	598	593			
	(1.84)	(1.75)			
Man <sup>(e)</sup>	2.030**	1.842*			
	(6.77)	(5.42)			
Gent <sup>(e)</sup>	2.733**	2.411*			
	(7.13)	(5.50)			
GP Density-Medical Card	-18.306	-28.75 <sup>5</sup>			
Ratio Interaction	(.20)	(.47)			
Household GP Utilisation	— ,	.113**		.095**	
		(8.43)		(7.21)	
Joint Tests:					
Age	(2.14)	(1.87)			
GP Density	(.27)	(.64)			
Medical Card Ratio	(.53)	(.74)			

# Table 6.6 (contd.)

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup> $\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates. <sup>(b)</sup>Columns (1) and (3) exclude, and Columns (2) and (4) include, household GP utilisation variable in model. <sup>(c)</sup> $\mathbb{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(d)</sup>Intercept term includes in full model: sex = male; VHI cover = no; other help = no; head of household a farmer = no; and age = 0-4, or 18-39. <sup>(e)</sup> "Girl", "Boy" = age 5-17; "Woman", "Man" = age 40-64; "Lady", "Gent" = age 65+. Significance: \*0.01 \leq 0.05; \*\*p  $\leq 0.01$ .

physician-induced demand thesis, as discussed in Chapter 2, where a positive relationship between the two is hypothesised. However, GP density is not only not significant, but a long way from being so, in all the regressions reported below for sub-groups in the population. A more direct and apposite test of the thesis appears later in this chapter.

Finally, in those versions including other household members' GP utilisation, this has an extremely significant association with the dependent variable.

As noted, the values of the parameters of Table 6.3 are incapable of straightforward interpretation. The regressions reported in that table are used in calculating Table 6.4, where we report probabilities of any GP consultation, based on specified values of the independent variables. (Similar calculations are
reported in this chapter and the next wherever a logistic regression function is used, i.e., wherever the dependent variable is dichotomous.)

The first figure reported is the "baseline probability". This is the probability (0.63 in the full model, with household utilisation excluded) where *quantitative* variables are set equal to their *mean* values and where the following *qualities* are specified: The person is female, with Category II eligibility, no VHI cover, no other help, and not a member of a farming or fishing household.

In the remainder of Table 6.4, these specifications are changed, one by one, to determine their effects on the probabilities. For example, where we change sex from female to male, leaving all else unchanged, the probability of any GP consultations drops very considerably from 0.63 to 0.51. Similarly, where we change eligibility to Category I, the probability jumps to 0.74; where we change it to Category III, it drops to 0.49.

The U-shaped effect of age shows clearly in those probabilities. The positive effect of VHI cover proves to be a large one. On the other hand, the effects of many of the variables, including GP fee, and density, and the Medical Card ratio, appear to be quite small.

Table 6.4 reports only a small fraction of all possible probabilities. For example, the reported probability for males is only for males of average age and other characteristics measured by quantitative variables, with Category II eligibility, no VHI cover, no other help, and not a member of a farming/fishing family. Information is provided in Table 6.4 which the reader can use in conjunction with Table 6.3 to calculate any desired probability. The procedure, regrettably somewhat laborious, is to multiply the coefficients in Table 6.3 by the chosen specified values of the variables (the means, minima and maxima, are found in Table 6.4). The total will equal log (p/1-p). The last step is to solve for p, the desired probability. (All dichotomous variables are 0, 1, except for sex male = 1, female = 2 and VHI cover yes = 1, no = 2.)

Table 6.5 reports on OLS regressions of the numbers of GP consultations amongst persons with any in 1980. Because we have excluded all persons with no GP consultations, we have a non-randomly selected sample. A technique which tests for sample selection bias, and corrects for it if it exists, is to include as an independent variable in the OLS regression an "Inverse Mills ratio", derived from a probit regression. This technique is discussed more fully in Chapter 1. (The Inverse Mills ratio is included in the full models in Table 6.5 and other OLS regressions; it is included in 5 per cent versions only if it satisfies the 5 per cent inclusion criterion.)

According to a Goldfeld-Quandt test, the error terms in the OLS regressions reported in Table 6.5 are heteroscedastic. Accordingly, we have increased by 10 per cent the critical values of t for 5 per cent and 1 per cent significance levels. One and two asterisks indicate 5 per cent and 1 per cent significance levels, using unadjusted critical t values; but where a parentheses has been placed around an asterisk, as (\*), the interpretation is that the parameter did not pass the adjusted t-test. This correction is also discussed in Chapter 1. The R<sup>2</sup>s are relatively high for this kind of analysis and the equations are quite significant. None the less, few parameters in the full models are significant, presumably because of multicolinearity. In the model including household utilisation, that variable is quite significant and positive and several other variables are significant. Persons with Category I eligibility have about two more consultations per year, when other influences are held constant, than those with Cate-

	<u> </u>		Proba	bilities	
	Household utilisation is	Exc	luded	Incl	luded
		Full	5%	Full	5%
		Model	Version	Model	Version
*Baseline probability	Baseline probability*	.54	.82	.58	.83
applies when the following					
variables are set equal to their	Other probabilities**				
means, as below:( <sup>b)</sup>	Sex = male	.48	—	.88	_
Age = 48.26	Age =				
Distance to $GP = 2.66$	$\min = 1$	.66	.51	.67	.53
GP density = .468	10	.53	.58	.56	.60
Medical Card ratio = .396	20	.65	.65	.67	.67
Household GP utilisation = 3.7	76 30	.62	.72	.65	.73
Category I persons in	40	.93	.78	.93	.79
household = 2.60	50	.91	.83	.92	.83
and when the following	60	.89	.87	.89	.87
qualities obtain: <sup>(b)</sup>	70	.91	.90	.92	.90
sex = female	$\max = 95$	.96	.95	.79	.95
VHI cover = no	VHI cover = yes	.71		.76	
other help = no	Distance to GP				
farmer = no	min = under 1 mile	.62		.66	
** Other probabilities	max = more than 10 miles	.43		.48	
apply when variables are	GP density				
changed one by one (the	min = 0.429	.56		.61	
others held constant as above)	max = 0.555	.54	—	.59	_
to the values and/or qualities	$Other \ help = yes$	.43	—	.44	—
indicated	Medical Card ratio				
indicated.	$\min = 0.232$	.59	*******	.65	
	max = 0.586	.50		.55	—
	<i>Farmer</i> = yes	.65	_	.70	_
	Persons in Category I				
	in household				
	$\min = 1$	.54		.59	
	$\max = 11$	.55		.53	
	Household GP utilisation				
	$\min = 0$		—	.48	.77
	max = 36			.98	.99

 Table 6.7: Probability of any GP consultations, 1980, Category I only (based on logistic regression)<sup>(a)</sup>

*Notes:* <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 6.3. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model; for household utilisation, applies only to model including that variable.

gory II eligibility, represented in the intercept term. Women aged 40-64, with Category I eligibility and no VHI cover, have about 5.5 more consultations per year.

There is a significant positive relationship between the house call fee and utilisation, a result evidently due to Category II/III persons in the sample. (In the various analyses which follow, relating to partitioned sub-groups in the population, in only the version including only those persons is this variable significant, and in that version it is quite significant.) The positive association is as hypothesised earlier. In this set of regressions and elsewhere, house call fee usually has a better fit than usual GP fee, suggesting that it is more sensitive to market conditions.

Many variables are included in the full models because of a desire to test hypotheses. The 5 per cent versions presumably reduce multicollinearity and to that extent reflect more accurately the significance of the individual variables in the model. Note that both  $\mathbb{R}^2$ s and equation Fs rise in the 5 per cent versions, as compared with the full models. For every 10 GP consultations of other household members, one's own GP consultations rise by nearly 3. Controlling for household utilisation also improves the performance of several other variables.

The Inverse Mills is significant only in the 5 per cent, no household utilisation model, suggesting that in the other variables in the full model, and in the household utilisation, we control for factors associated with whether persons will see their GPs, i.e., with selection.

Category I eligibility is consistently strong, in its main effects and/or in interaction terms, both in influencing *whether* a person sees his or her GP, and, among those who do, *how many* visits there are.

Tables 6.6 through 6.26 report similar results for various sub-groups in the sample: persons with Category I eligibility only, who can avail of free general practitioner care; persons with category II or III eligibility, who must pay for GP services; mothers; males; females; persons aged 65 years and over; and children aged under 16 years.

Table 6.27 summarises the results of the 5 per cent versions of these regressions, with respect to sign and significance. The most striking thing in Table 6.27 is the consistency with which Category I eligibility influences GP utilisation. In every regression in which the variable appears (it is excluded, of course, in Category I and Category II/III partitions), either Category I, or (in the case of females) Category I — no VHI interaction, positively and significantly influences the probability of any GP contact. With the further exception of children aged under 16, it also invariably positively and significantly influences numbers of visits for those with any.

The significantly negative effect found for Category III in the all-persons case is not repeated for any of the sub-groups.

Age in some guise (age, age squared, and/or age-sex-Category I-No VHI interaction) influences GP utilisation in every ćase as well. Either GP fee or House Call fee (but never both) positively influences utilisation in many cases, as

	autoge			
	Full	Model <sup>(b)</sup>	5%	Version <sup>(b)</sup>
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
R <sup>2(0)</sup>	0.095	0.145	0.095	0.152
N	312	312	312	312
Equation F	3.520**	4.769**	10.75**	13.84**
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	3.664	-1.349	4.717	3.172
Sex female	2.791	1.705	_	
	(0.897)	(0.654)		
Age	-0.268	-0.126	0.085**	0.078**
0	(1.414)	(0.875)	(4.009)	(3.77)
Age squared $\div$ 1,000	3.059	0.976	` — ́	`_
	(1.288)	(0.700)		
No VHI	4.055	3.399	—	_
	(1.540)	(1.327)		
Other help	0.283	-0.174	_	
•	(0.097)	(0.063)		
Farmer	-4.417**	-2.587*	-2.770**	-2.505*
	(2.512)	(2.380)	(2.516)	(2.345)
Girl <sup>(d)</sup>	-7.051*	-4.883	· /	`_'
	(2.032)	(1.744)		
Woman <sup>(d)</sup>	6.775	6.793	3.953**	4.243**
	(1.904)	(1.997)	(2.987)	(3.303)
Lady <sup>(d)</sup>	6.180	3.570	`_'	· /
	(1.292)	(0.819)		
Boy <sup>(d)</sup>	-3.984	-3.673	_	
	(1.261)	(1.216)		
Man <sup>(d)</sup>	6.738*	6.247		
	(1.933)	(1.841)		
Gent <sup>(d)</sup>	`9.050 <sup>′</sup> ∗	6.570	—	_
	(2.032)	(1.594)		
Inverse Mills	-2.192	-0.353	_	_
	(1.508)	(0.747)		
Household Utilisation		0.418 <sup>**</sup>		0.386**
		(3.939)		(4.584)
Joint Tests:				
Age	(1.122)	(1.079)	—	—

Table 6.8: Regression of annual numbers of general practitioner consultations, 1980, onselected independent variables, ordinary least squares, persons with any consultations only -Category I only<sup>(a)</sup>

*Notes:* <sup>(a)</sup>Figures in parentheses beneath parameter estimates are t-statistics. Columns (1) and (3) include, and Columns (2) and (4) exclude, household utilisation (GP utilisation of other household members). <sup>(b)</sup> $\overline{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in Full Model includes sex = male; VHI cover = yes; Other help = no; Household Head a Farmer or Fisher = no. <sup>(d)</sup>"Girl", "Boy" = age 5-17; "Man", "Woman" = age 40-64; "Lady", "Gent" = age 65+. *Significance:* \*0.01 \leq 0.05. \*\*p  $\leq$  0.01.

<u> </u>	Full Model <sup>(b)</sup>		5%	Version <sup>(b)</sup>
5.9(c)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
R <sup>2(0)</sup>	.040	.051	.034	.048
IN Equation $\chi^2$	803	803	803	803
		50.00	-15.10	05.05
Intercept <sup>(a)</sup>	1.420	1.726	522	720
	(.05)	(.08)	(3.23)	(4.21)
Sex = Female	.895**	.955**	.575**	.623**
	(14.30)	(15.83)	(14.94)	(16.89)
Category III	508*	502*		
	(5.06)	(4.87)		
Category II, III persons	063	030	082*	
in household	(2.22)	(.46)	(5.06)	
Age	060**	062**		039**
-	(9.53)	(10.17)		(7.34)
Age squared $\div$ 1,000	.953**	1.035**		.644**
	(9.39)	(10.90)		(10.39)
No VHI	507**	578**		, <i>,</i>
	(6.34)	(8.02)		
Distance to GP	<b>.07</b> 9	<b>.</b> 081		
	(2.02)	(2.11)		
GP Fee	.138*	<b>.</b> 152*	.170**	
	(4.65)	(5.51)	(12.18)	
House Call Fee	<b>.</b> 029	<b>.</b> 017	· · ·	
	(.65)	(.23)		
GP Density	-2.096	-3.686		
,	(.02)	(.07)		
Other help	.541*	.535		
e mer nerp	(3.75)	(3.61)		
Medical Card Ratio	2.704	1.561		
	(.04)	(.01)		
Farmer	- 557**	509*	- 555**	547**
i uniter	(6.83)	(5.60)	(11.29)	(10.42)
Household GP Utilisation	(0.05)	075**	(11.20)	074**
Household Gr Chilstition		(10.42)		(11.46)
Girl <sup>(e)</sup>	- 697*	- 705*		(11.10)
GIII	(4 32)	(4 37)		
Woman <sup>(c)</sup>	- 738	_ 799*		
() Onlan	(3.20)	(3.69)		
Lady <sup>(e)</sup>	_1 111	-1 937		
Lauy	(1.64)	(2.01)		
Boy <sup>(c)</sup>	_ 404	- 374		
2007	(1.94)	(1.55)		
	(1.01)	(1.00)		

Table 6.9: Logistic regression of any general practitioner consultations in 1980(Dichotomous Variable) on selected independent variables, persons in Categories II and IIIonly<sup>(a)</sup>

	Ful	l Model <sup>(b)</sup>	5%	Version <sup>(b)</sup>
$\overline{R}^{2(c)}$ N Equation $\chi^2$	(1) .040 803 83.65*	<i>(2)</i> .051 803 96.66**	<i>(3)</i> .034 803 45.18**	(4) .048 803 65.09**
Man <sup>(e)</sup>	039	060		
Gent <sup>(e)</sup>	649	(.02) 707 (.79)		
GP Density-Medical Card Ratio Interaction	(.01) -5.482 (.03)	(.72) -2.696 (.01)		
Joint Tests: Age GP Density Medical Card Ratio	(10.17)** (2.34) (.10)	(11.37)** (2.73) (.15)		(12.54)**

# Table 6.9 (contd.)

 $\label{eq:solution} \hline $Notes:^{(a)}\chi^2$ in parentheses beneath parameter estimates. $^{(b)}Columns (1) and (3) exclude, and Columns (2) and (4) include, household GP utilisation variable in model. $^{(c)}R^2$ adjusted for degrees of freedom. $^{(d)}Intercept term includes in full model: sex = male; eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = no; other help = no; head of household a farmer = no; and age = 0-4, or 18-39. $^{(c)}."Girl", "Boy" = age 5-17; "Woman", "Man" = age 40-64; $^{(c)}Lady", "Gent" = age 65+. $$Significance: *0.01$ 

		Probabilities			
	Household utilisation is		luded	Incl	uded
		Full	5%	Full	5%
		Model	Version	Model	Version
*Baseline probability	Baseline probability*	.70	.70	.70	.65
applies when the following					
variables are set equal to their	Other probabilities**				
means, as below:(")	Sex = male	.49	.57	.47	.50
Age = 31.77	Age =				
Distance to $GP = 2.61$	$\min = 1$	.85		.85	.77
GP fee = $\pounds 3.18$	10	.64		.64	.71
House call fee = $\pounds 3.64$	20	.72	—	.72	.67
GP density = .458	30	.70		.70	.65
Medical Card ratio = .357	40	.54		.53	.67
Household GP utilisation = 3.1	18 50	.60	—	.61	.71
Category II/III persons in	60	.70		.72	.77
household $= 3.79$	70	.76		.77	.84
and when the following	max = 84	.91		.93	.92
qualities obtain: <sup>(b)</sup>	<i>Eligibility</i> = Category III	.58		.58	—
sex = female	VHI cover = yes	.79	—	.80	
eligibility = Category II	Distance to GP				
VHI cover = no	min = under 1 mile	.65		.65	
other help = no	max = more than 10 miles	.75	—	.75	—
farmer = no	GP fee				
** 0.1 . 1 . 1 . 1 . 1	$\min = \pounds 0$	.60	.58	.59	.54
** Other probabilities	$\max = \frac{1}{2}7$	.80	.82	.80	.77
apply when variables are	House call fee				
changed, one by one (the	$\min = \pounds 0$	.68		.68	—
others held constant as above)	$Max = f_{10}$	.74	<u> </u>	.72	
to the values and/or qualities	GP density				
indicated.	$\min = 0.429$	.73		.73	
	max = 0.555	.62	—	.60	—
	Other help = yes	.80	-	.80	
	Medical Card ratio				
	min = 0.232	.70		.69	
	max = 0.586	.71		.72	
	Farmer = yes	.57	.58	.58	.52
	Persons in Categories				
	II/III in household				
	$\min = 1$	.74	.75	.72	
	max=11	.60	.57	.65	
	Household GP Utilisation				
	$\min = 0$			.65	.60
	max = 52	_		.99	.99

 Table 6.10: Probability of any GP consultations, 1980, Categories II and III only (based on logistic regression<sup>(a)</sup>)

*Notes:* <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 6.9. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model; for household utilisation, applies only to model including that variable.

	Full	Model <sup>(b)</sup>	5% Version <sup>(b)</sup>		
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	
$R^{2(0)}$	0.064	0.078	0.064	0.075	
N	416	416	416	416	
Equation F	2.784**	3.072**	7.06**	6.69**	
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	6.119	2.151	-0.863	-0.478	
Sex female	2.141*	1.423*		1.144*	
	(2.115)	(2.082)		(2.512)	
Age	-0.180**	-0.130***			
	(2.847)	(2.934)			
Age squared $\div$ 1,000	2.376*	`1.835 <sup>*</sup>			
	(2.417)	(2.399)			
Category III	-1.466	-0.553			
	(1.640)	(0.932)			
No VHI	0.293	0.774	1.312**	0.936**	
	(0.410)	(1.475)	(2.905)	(2.00)	
GP Fee	-0.541*	-0.326	(1000)	(2.00)	
	(2.339)	(1.685)			
House Call Fee	0.360**	0.296**	0.231**	0 251**	
	(3.349)	(2.957)	(2.740)	(2 978)	
Other help	-0.142	-0.388	(4.110)	(2.570)	
1	(0.192)	(0.541)			
Farmer	-0.962	-0.425			
	(1.450)	(0.756)			
Girl <sup>(d)</sup>	-3.862**	-2.675**		_9 179**	
	(3.119)	(3,030)		(9.78)	
Woman <sup>(d)</sup>	0.361	0.088		(4.70)	
	(0.326)	(0.080)		_	
Ladv <sup>(d)</sup>	1 165	-0.858			
	(0.470)	(0.395)	_	_	
Boy <sup>(d)</sup>	-1.862*	-1 370			
/	(1.937)	(1.514)	_		
Man <sup>(d)</sup>	1 614	1.903			
	(1.991)	(1.007)		_	
Gent <sup>(d)</sup>	0.396	-1 559	9 961*		
	(0.154)	(0.706)	(1.970)	<u>Andrea</u>	
Inverse Mills	-1 159	-0.084	0.021**		
	(1.349)	(0.942)	(2 622)		
Household Utilisation	(1.014)	0.343/	(5.055)	0 149**	
		(9 707)		(9.702)	
		(4.707)		(2.193)	
Joint Tests:					
Age	(3.488)**	(3.707)**		_	

 Table 6.11: Regression of annual numbers of general practitioner consultations, 1980, on selected independent variables, ordinary least squares, persons with any consultations only – Categories II and III only<sup>(a)</sup>

*Notes:* <sup>(a)</sup>Figures in parentheses beneath parameter estimates are t-statistics. Columns (1) and (3) include, and Columns (2) and (4) exclude, household utilisation (GP utilisation of other household members). <sup>(b)</sup> $\overline{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in full model includessex=male; eligibility = Category II; VHI cover= yes; Other help = no; Household Head a Farmer or Fisher= no. <sup>(d)</sup>("Girl", "Boy" = 5-17; "Man", "Woman" = 40-64; "Lady", "Gent" = age 65+. *Significance:* \*0.01 \leq 0.05. \*\*p  $\leq$  0.01.

	Full Model <sup>(b)</sup>		5% Version <sup>(b)</sup>		
/ .	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	
R <sup>2(c)</sup>	.032	.036	.036	.045	
N	766	766	766	766	
Equation $\chi^2$	60.39**	65.87**	35.73**	45.17**	
Intercept <sup>(d)</sup>	019	-1.115	.643**	.458*	
	(.00)	(.03)	(12.73)	(5.78)	
Category I	1.803	1.826	1.162**	1.006**	
8 7	(2.57)	(2.62)	(26.01)	(18.83)	
Category III	332	304			
5 /	(1.43)	(1.19)			
Mothers in household	263	274			
	(.42)	(.46)			
Age	119**	104*			
5	(7.17)	(5.46)			
Age Squared ÷ 1,000	`1.010*	.883*			
	(4.96)	(3.78)			
NoVHI	`08 <sup>8</sup>	<b>`</b> 090			
	(.11)	(.12)			
Distance to GP	`.1İÓ	<b>.</b> 107			
	(2.84)	(2.66)			
GP Fee	.072	.085			
	(.67)	(.92)			
House Call Fee	.099*	.087*	.114**	.105**	
	(4.80)	(3.74)	(10.21)	(8.60)	
GP Density	8.978	10.280		. ,	
	(.35)	(.46)			
Other Help	.496	.482			
ether melp	(2.04)	(1.90)			
Medical Card Ratio	12.973	14.127			
Medical Oard Mado	(.67)	(.79)			
Farmer	465	447	553**	511**	
ranner	(3.54)	(3.26)	(8.34)	(7.02)	
Category I-No VHI	(0.01)	(	()	· · · · · /	
interaction	-1.045	-1.089			
meración	(.78)	(.84)			
Woman-I-No VHI(c)	.910	798			
1,0mail-1-140 + 111	(3 43)	(2.60)			
Lady-LNo VHI(c)	894	707			
Lacy 1-110 VIII	(1.61)	(1.17)			
Medical Card Ratio-GP	-30 087	-32.724			
Density Interaction	(74)	(.87)			
Household GP Utilisation	(*/ 1)	081*		.105**	
HOUSCHOID OF OTHISATION		(4.54)		(7.49)	
Joint Tests:		· ·			
Δ	(11 17)**	(8.43)**			
GP Density	(*****/	(0.10)			
	(1.87)	(1.89)			

 

 Table 6.12: Logistic regressions of any general practitioner consultations in 1980 (Dichotomous Variable) on selected independent variables, mothers only<sup>(a)</sup>

*Notes:* <sup>(a)</sup> $\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates. <sup>(b)</sup>Columns (1) and (3) exclude and Columns (2) and (4) include, household GP utilisation variable in model. <sup>(b)</sup> $\mathbb{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term includes in full model: eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = no; other help = no; head of household a farmer = no; and age = 18-39. <sup>(c)</sup> Woman'' = age 40-64; "Lady'' = age 65+. *Significance:* \*0.01 \leq 0.05. \*\*p  $\leq$  0.01.

		Probabilities			
	Household utilisation is	Exc	luded	Included	
		Full	5%	Full	5%
		Model	Version	Model	Version
*Baseline probability	Baseline probability*	.68	.73	.69	.75
applies when the following					
variables are set equal to their	Other probabilities**				
means, as below: <sup>(b)</sup>	Age =				
Age = 45.82	min = 18	.90		.90	_
Distance to $GP = 2.63$	20	.95		.88	_
GP fee = $\pounds 2.77$	30	.80		.80	
House call fee = $\pounds 3.21$	40	.72		.73	_
GP density $= 0.460$	50	.66		.68	
Medical Card ratio = .366	60	.64		.66	_
Household GP utilisation = 2.8	l 70	.67		.68	_
Mothers in household = 1.001	max = 88	.81		.80	
and when the following	Eligibility =				
qualities obtain: <sup>(b)</sup>	Category I	.92	.90	.92	.89
eligibility = Category II	Category III	.60		.63	_
VHI cover = no	VHI cover = yes	.70		.71	
other help = no	Distance to GP				
farmer = no	min = under 1 mile	.61	_	.63	
** 0.1	max = more than 10 miles	.75		.77	
• • Other probabilities	GP Fee				
apply when variables are	$\min = f_0$	.63		.64	
changed, one by one (the	$\max = f_{0}6$	.73		.75	_
to the surface and (surface)	House call fee				
to the values and/or qualities	$\min = \tilde{f}_{0}$	.61	.66	.63	.68
indicated.	$\max = f_1 10$	.80	.86	.81	.86
	GP density				
	$\min = 0.429$	.71		.73	
	max = 0.555	.66		.68	
	Other help = ves	.78		.79	
	Medical Card ratio	•			
	$\min = 0.232$	.72		.74	
	max = 0.586	.66		.67	
	Farmer = yes	.57	.61	.59	.64
	Mothers in household				
	$\min = 1$	.68	_	.70	
	max = 2	.62		.63	
	Household GP utilisation				
	$\min = 0$		_	.64	.69
	max = 39.66	_		.98	.99

Table 6.13: Probability of any GP consultations, 1980, methers only (based on logistic<br/>regression)<sup>(a)</sup>

*Notes:* <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 6.3. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model; for household utilisation, applies only to model including that variable.

	Full	Model <sup>(b)</sup>	5% Version <sup>(b)</sup>		
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	
$R^{2(6)}$	0.147	0.166	0.175	0.173	
N	151	151	151	151	
Equation F	3.166**	3.314**	15.75**	15.58**	
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	9.188	5.797	4.934	4.853	
Age	-0.271	-0.026	_		
-	(0.861)	(0.747)			
Age squared $\div$ 1,000	3.021	2.416			
	(0.863)	(0.873)			
Category I	7.790*	7.126*	8.681**	—	
	(2.074)	(2.228)	(5.613)		
Category III	-2.333	-1.914	· /		
	(0.935)	(0.800)			
No VHI	0.563	<b>`</b> 0.770 <sup>´</sup>			
	(0.255)	(0.366)			
GP Fee	0.003	0.094			
	(0.005)	(0.144)			
House Call Fee	0.448	0.332	_	_	
	(1.159)	(0.909)			
Other help	0.144	0.179			
•	(0.053)	(0.068)			
Farmer	-2.114	-1.693	_		
	(1.133)	(1.053)			
Woman-I-No <sup>(d)</sup>	3.382	<b>`</b> 1.973 <sup>´</sup>	_	8.015**	
	(0.710)	(0.573)		(4.785)	
Lady-I-No <sup>(d)</sup>	-6.130	-7.497	-6.161**	` —´	
•	(1.437)	(1.779)	(2.850)		
Inverse Mills	-0.329	-0.053	·		
	(0.282)	(0.623)			
Household Utilisation	· · ·	0.428		0.352**	
		(1.625)		(2.492)	
Joint Tests:					
Age	(2.652)**	(1.944)*			

Table 6.14: Regression of annual numbers of general practitioner consultations, 1980, on selected independent variables, ordinary least squares, persons with any consultations  $only - mothers only^{(a)}$ 

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>Figures in parentheses beneath parameter estimates are t-statistics. Columns (1) and (3) include, and Columns (2) and (4) exclude, household utilisation (GP utilisation of other household members). <sup>(b)</sup> $\bar{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in full model includes eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = yes; Other help = no; Head of Household Farmer or Fisher = no. <sup>(d)</sup>"Woman" = age 40-64; "Lady" = age 65+. Significance: \*0.01 \leq 0.05. \*\*p  $\leq$  0.01.

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Full Model <sup>(b)</sup>		5% Version <sup>(b)</sup>		
5 9(c)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	
R <sup>207</sup>	.068	.061	.063	.073	
IN Remetien w <sup>2</sup>	975	975	975	975	
Equation $\chi^2$	115.87**	120.55**	92.58**	109.99**	
Intercept <sup>(d)</sup>	6.533	6.718	.988**	1.199**	
	(1.44)	(1.50)	(8.20)	(10.65)	
Category I	1.442	1.447	.940**	1.047**	
	(1.77)	(1.79)	(29.25)	(26.55)	
Category III	452*	420			
	(3.92)	(3.37)			
Males in household	105	086			
	(3.50)	(2.32)			
Age	042**	043**	033**	037**	
	(9.21)	(9.62)	(7.04)	(8.50)	
Age Squared $\div$ 1,000	.638**	.665**	.613**	.618**	
`	(11.04)	(11.87)	(13.57)	(13.46)	
No VHI	550**	581**	-,344*	418**	
	(6.96)	(7.69)	(4.18)	(6.27)	
Distance to GP	077	081		094	
	(2.45)	(2.69)		(5.12)	
GP Fee	.099	.111			
	(2.37)	(2.91)			
House Call Fee	015	024			
	(.19)	(.45)			
GP Density	-11.277	-12.097			
	(.84)	(.96)			
Other Help	.341	.341			
	(1.73)	(1.71)			
Medical Card Ratio	-5.764	-6.663			
	(.21)	(.27)			
Farmer	092	032	344*		
	(.24)	(.03)	(4.89)		
Household GP Utilisation		.061**		.065**	
		(9.23)		(10.89)	
Category I-No VHI	452	479			
(a)	(.16)	(.18)			
Boy-I-No V'HI'e	376	407		698*	
(a)	(.83)	(.96)		(3.91)	
Man-I-No V'HI'''	.724	.669			
	(2.69)	(2.27)			
Gent-I-No V'HI'"	.422	.256			
	(.71)	(.26)			
GP Density-Medical Card	14.865	16.770			
Ratio Interaction	(.28)	(.35)			
Joint Tests.					
Age	(11.23)**	(12.23)**	(95 53)**	(18 37)**	
GP Density	(4.06)*	(4.12)*	(40.00)	(10.07)	
Medical Card Ratio	(1.39)	(1.35)			

Table 6.15: Logistic regressions of any general practitioner consultations in 1980 (Dichotomous Variable) on selected independent variables, males only<sup>(a)</sup>

 $\overline{Votes}$ :  ${}^{(a)}\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates.  ${}^{(b)}Columns$  (1) and (3) exclude, and Columns (2) and (4) include, household GP utilisation variable in model.  ${}^{(c)}\overline{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom.  ${}^{(d)}Intercept term includes in full model: eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = no; head of household a farmer = no; and age = 0-4, or 18-39. <math>{}^{(c)}$ "Boy" = age 5-17; "Man" = age 40-64; "Gent" = age 65+. Significance:  $*0.01 . <math>**p \le 0.01$ .

		Probabilities			
•	Household utilisation is	Exc	luded	Included	
		Full	5%	Full	5%
		Model	Version	Model	Version
*Baseline probability	Baseline probability*	.43	.47	.43	.45
applies when the following	-				
variables are set equal to their	Other probabilities**				
means, as below: <sup>(b)</sup>	Age =				
Age = 36.91	$\min = 1$	.60	.57	.60	.58
Distance to $GP = 2.64$	10	.52	.51	.52	.51
GP fee = $\pounds 2.50$	20	.46	.47	.46	.46
House call fee = $\pounds 2.894$	30	.43	.46	.43	.45
GP density $= .462$	40	.44	.49	.44	.46
Medical Card ratio = .371	50	.47	.54	.48	.51
Household GP utilisation	60	.54	.62	.55	.58
= 3.74	70	.64	.72	.65	.68
Males in household = 2.33	$\max = 90$	.85	.90	.87	.88
and when the following	Eligibility =				
qualities obtain: <sup>(b)</sup>	Category I	.67	.70	.67	.70
eligibility = Category II	Category III	.33		.33	
VHI cover = no	VHI cover = ves	.57	.56	.58	56
other help = no	Distance to GP				
farmer = no	$\min = under 1 mile$	.48		49	52
** 0.1	max = more than 10 miles	.37	_	.37	.38
** Other probabilities	GP Fee				100
apply when variables are	$\min = 40$	.37	_	.37	_
changed, one by one (the	$\max = \frac{\pi^2}{47}$	.54		.56	
others held constant as above)	House call fee				
to the values and/or qualities	$\min = I_0$	.44	_	45	_
indicated.	$\max = f[0]$	40		39	
	GP density				
	$\min = 0.429$	.47		.47	_
	max = 0.555	.30	_	.30	
	Other help = ves	.52		52	_
	Medical Card ratio	104		.04	
	$\min = 0.232$	.38	_	38	
	max = 0.586	.48	_	.00	
	Farmer = ves	41	39	43	
	Males in household		.00	. 10	
	$\min = 1$	47	_	46	
	$\max = 9$	.11		30	
	Household GP Utilisation	• • •			
	$\min = 0$			38	39
	max = 80	<u> </u>	_	96	97

Table 6.16: Probability of any GP consultations, 1980, males only (based on logistic<br/>regression)<sup>(a)</sup>

*Notes:* <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 6.15. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model; for household utilisation, applies only to model including that variable.

	Full	Model <sup>(b)</sup>	5% Version <sup>(b)</sup>		
<b>न</b> 2(b)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	
R <sup>2(0)</sup>	0.258	0.3031	0.233	0.287	
	322	322	322	322	
Equation F	9.620**	11.004**	32.28**	32.06**	
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	5.295	3.117	-0.181	1.503	
Age	-0.136(*)	-0.098	_	_	
0	(2.082)	(1.732)			
Age squared $\div$ 1,000	2.082 <sup>*</sup>	1.475(*)		0.613**	
	(2.177)	(1.954)		(3.480)	
Category I	2.218	`1.139 <sup>´</sup>		`3.908 <sup>*</sup> **	
	(1.442)	(0.916)		(5.083)	
Category III	-0.413	-0.081		``	
	(0.341)	(0.071)			
No VHI	0.624	0.601	1.629(*)		
	(0.625)	(0.648)	(2.066)		
GP Fee	-0.321	-0.382	-0.500*(*)	_	
	(1.059)	(1.329)	(2.702)		
House Call Fee	0.240	0.196			
	(1.296)	(1.098)			
Other help	1.898	1.580			
	(1.513)	(1.308)			
Farmer	-1.901*	-1.020		_	
	(2.247)	(1.424)			
Boy-I-No VHI <sup>(d)</sup>	-2.730	-2.612		-4.440*(*)	
	(1.463)	(1.477)		(2.765)	
Man-I-No VHI <sup>(d)</sup>	5.685**	4.452**		·	
(1)	(3.244)	(2.858)			
Gent-I-No VHI <sup>(a)</sup>	4.516*(*)	3.159			
	(2.532)	(1.851)			
Inverse Mills	-0.571	0.099	1.585**	_	
	(0.897)	(0.610)	(6.970)		
Household Utilisation		0.252*(*)		0.336**	
		(2.782)		(5.380)	
Joint Tests:			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Age	(3.520)**	(3.794)**			

Table 6.17: Regression of annual numbers of general practitioner consultations, 1980, on selected independent variables, ordinary least squares, persons with any consultations  $onlv - males onlv^{(a)}$ 

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>Figures in parentheses beneath parameter estimates are t-statistics. Columns (1) and (3) include, and Columns (2) and (4) exclude, household utilisation (GP utilisation of other household members). <sup>(b)</sup> $\mathbb{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in Full Model includes eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = yes; Other help = no; Household Head a Farmer or Fisher = no. <sup>(d)</sup>"Boy" = age 5-17; "Man" = age 40-64; "Gent" = age 65+. Significance: \*0.01 \leq 0.05. \*\*p  $\leq$  0.01.

(\*)Parentheses around an asterisk indicated parameter did not pass t-test adjusted for heteroscedasticity; see Chapter 1.

	Full	Model <sup>(b)</sup>	5% Version <sup>(b)</sup>		
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	
R <sup>2(c)</sup>	.049	.059	.058	.066	
N	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000	
Equation $\chi^2$	93.48**	106.91**	82.75**	89.09**	
Intercept <sup>(d)</sup>	-2.887	-2.941	.463	.341	
	(.25)	(.26)	(2.88)	(1.86)	
Category I	256	234			
	(.22)	(.19)			
Category III	228	178			
	. (.94)	(.57)			
Number of Females in	184**	170**	209**	200**	
household	(8.96)	(7.62)	(14.26)	(13.16)	
Age	020	020			
	(2.10)	(1.99)			
Age Squared ÷ 1,000	.310	.322			
	(2.53)	(2.73)			
No VHI	075	084			
	(.12)	(.15)			
Distance to GP	.118*	.119	.118*		
	(4.63)	(4.63)	(4.93)		
GP fee	.132*	.168*	.172**	.189**	
	(3.70)	(5.84)	(10.47)	(12.47)	
House Call Fee	.041	.029			
	(1.15)	(.57)			
GP Density	8.025 7.3	67			
	(.38)	(.32)			
Other Help	.598*	.600*	.602*	.590*	
	(4.08)	(4.03)	(4.25)	(4.21)	
Medical Card Ratio	12.265	11.721			
	(.82)	(.74)			
Farmer	596**	543**	561**		
	(8.18)	(6.74)	(8.20)		
Household GP Utilisation		.083**		.086**	
		(10.59)		(12.14)	
Category I-No VHI	1.386*	1.355*	1.570**	1.418**	
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	(4.65)	(4.41)	(41.63)	(34.23)	
Girl-I-No VHI <sup>e</sup>	905*	874*	-1.333**	-1.237**	
	(4.41)	(4.08)	(15.37)	(13.13)	
Woman-I-No VHI <sup>C7</sup>	.366	.293			
(a)	(.66)	(.42)			
Lady-I-No VHI'''	.489	.351			
	(.82)	(.42)			
GP Density-Medical Card	-26.216	-25.072			
Ratio Interaction	(.76)	(.69)			
Joint Tests:					
Age	(2.57)	(2.95)			
GP Density	(1.89)	(1.92			
Medical Card Ratio	(1.00)	(.90)			

Table 6.18:	Logistic regre	ssions of any	, general pr	ractitioner	consultations	in 1980
(Dichoto)	mous Variable	) on selected	independer	nt variables	s, females onl	$v^{(a)}$

 $\label{eq:constraint} \begin{array}{l} \hline \mathcal{N} otes: \ ^{(a)}\chi^2 \ in \ parentheses \ beneath \ parameter \ estimates. \ ^{(b)} Columns \ (1) \ and \ (3) \ exclude, \ and \ Columns \ (2) \ and \ (4) \ include, \ household \ GP \ utilisation \ variable \ in \ model. \ ^{(c)} R^2 \ adjusted \ for \ degrees \ of \ freedom. \ ^{(d)} \ Intercept \ term \ includes \ in \ full \ model. \ ^{(b)} \ Columns \ (1) \ and \ (3) \ exclude, \ and \ columns \ (2) \ and \ (4) \ include, \ household \ GP \ utilisation \ variable \ in \ model. \ ^{(c)} \ R^2 \ adjusted \ for \ degrees \ of \ freedom. \ ^{(d)} \ Intercept \ term \ includes \ in \ full \ model. \ ^{(b)} \ Columns \ (1) \ and \ (3) \ exclude, \ and \ columns \ (3) \ exclude, \ and \ (4) \ include, \ household \ GP \ utilisation \ variable \ in \ model. \ ^{(c)} \ R^2 \ adjusted \ for \ degrees \ degrees \ for \ degrees \ for \ degrees \ for \ degrees \ degrees \ for \ degrees \ degrees \ for \ degrees \ degrees \ for \ degrees \ degrees \ degrees \ degrees \ degrees \ for \ degrees \ degrees \ for \ degrees \ for \ degrees  

		Probabilities					
	Household utilisation is	Exc	luded	Inci	luded		
		Full	5%	Full	5%		
		Model	Version	Model	Version		
*Baseline probability	Baseline probability*	.66	.68	.66	.66		
applies when the following	1 2						
variables are set equal to their	Other probabilities**						
means, as below: <sup>(b)</sup>	Age =						
Age = 38.66	$\min = 1$	.72		.72			
Distance to $GP = 2.60$	10	.69		.69	_		
GP fee = $f_{2.50}$	20	.67		.67			
House call fee = $f_{2.87}$	30	.65		.66			
GP Density $= .461$	40	.66		.66	_		
Medical Card ratio = .367	50	.67		.68	_		
Household GP utilisation = 3.4	4 60	.70	_	.71	<u></u>		
Females in household = $2.24$	70	.74		.76			
and when the following	$\max = 95$	.86	_	.88			
qualities obtain: <sup>(b)</sup>	Eligibility =						
eligibility = Category II	Category I	.85		.86			
VHI cover = no	Category III	.60		.62	_		
other help = no	VHI cover = ves	.67		.68			
farmer = no	Distance to GP						
** 01	min = under 1 mile	.58	.60	.59			
**Other probabilities	max = more than 10 miles	.74	.76	.75			
apply when variables are	GP Fee						
changed, one by one (the	$\min = f_0$	.58	.57	.56	.55		
to the velues and (an analytic	$\max = \frac{1}{5}7$	.78	.82	.81	.82		
indicated	House call fee						
indicated.	$\min = \tilde{f}_{0}$	.63		.64			
	$\max = f_1 l 0$	.72		.71	_		
	GP density						
	$\min = 0.429$	.69		.69	_		
	$\max = 0.555$	.64	_	.64			
	Other help = yes	.78	.79	.78	.78		
	Medical Card ratio						
	$\min = 0.232$	.67		.68			
	max = 0.586	.68		.69			
	Farmer = yes	.51	.54	.53			
	Females in household						
	$\min = 1$	.70	.73	.71	.71		
	$\max = 9$	.35	.34	.38	.33		
	Household GP Utilisation						
	$\min = 0$		_	.60	.59		
	$\max = 40$	_	—	.98	.98		

Table 6.19: Probability of any GP consultations, 1980, females only (based on<br/>logistic regression)<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 6.18. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model; for household utilisation, applies only to model including that variable.

#### IRISH MEDICAL CARE RESOURCES

	Full	Model <sup>(b)</sup>	5% Version <sup>(b)</sup>		
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	
$\overline{\mathbf{R}}^{2(\mathbf{b})}$	0.142	0.1702	-0.148	0.166	
N	406	406	406	406	
Equation F	6.174**	6.984**	23.27**	26.76**	
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	1.601	0.550	-0.757	3.803	
Age	0.010	-0.006			
-	(0.120)	(0.099)			
Age squared $\div$ 1,000	0.052	0.377	_		
	(0.044)	(0.427)			
Category I	2.641	3.226	_		
	(1.324)	(1.911)			
Category III	-1.046	-0.856		_	
<i>. .</i>	(0.762)	(0.664)			
No VHI	1.462	1.340	2.204*		
	(1.184)	(1.189)	(2.371)		
GP Fee	-0.197	-0.031	· _ /		
	(0.547)	(0.087)			
House Call Fee	0.330	0.325	—		
	(1.536)	(1.601)			
Other help	-2.030	1.823	_		
1	(1.354)	(1.279)			
Farmer	-1.759	-1.794(*)			
	(1.584)	(1.934)			
Girl-I-No VHI <sup>(d)</sup>	-3.883	-3.983	_		
	(1.656)	(1.760)			
Woman-I-No VHI <sup>(d)</sup>	4.620	4.544 <sup>*</sup>	3.473*(*)	7.801**	
	(1.716)	(2.420)	(2.629)	(7.095)	
Lady-I-No VHI <sup>(d)</sup>	0.854	0.161		4.082**	
,	(0.383)	(0.075)		(4.102)	
Inverse Mills	0.125	-0.010	0.985**	`'	
	(0.180)	(0.177)	(4.194)		
Household Utilisation	()	0.290**	× 7	0.277**	
		(3.048)		(3.776)	
Joint Tests:		<u>, ,,,</u>			
Age	(0.682)	(0.962)			

Table 6.20: Regression of annual numbers of general practitioner consultations, 1980, on selected independent variables, ordinary least squares, persons with any consultations only – females  $only^{(a)}$ 

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>Figures in parentheses beneath parameter estimates are t-statistics. Columns (1) and (3) include, and Columns (2) and (4) exclude, household utilisation (GP utilisation of other household members). <sup>(b)</sup> $\mathbb{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in Full Model includes eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = yes; Other help = no; Household Head a Farmer or Fisher = no. <sup>(d)</sup>"(Girl" age = 5-17; "Woman" = age 40-64; "Lady" = age 65+. Significance: \*0.01 \leq 0.05. \*\* $\leq 0.01$ .

(\*) Parentheses around an asterisk indicated parameter did not pass t-test adjusted for heteroscedasticity; see Chapter 1.

	Full Model <sup>(b)</sup>		5%	Version <sup>(b)</sup>
= n(a)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
R <sup>2(0)</sup>	.038	.036	.049	.049
N N	374	374	374	374
Equation $\chi^2$	42.76**	43.90**	20.34**	20.34**
Intercept <sup>(d)</sup>	-45.025*	-46.873*	.021	.021
-	(5.50)	(5.87)	(.0)	(.0)
Sex = Female	.749*	.785*	.612*	.612*
	(5.30)	(5.75)	(4.30)	(4.30)
Category I	1.068**	1.007*	1.117**	1.117**
	(6.56)	(5.74)	(14.36)	(14.36)
Category III	-1.053	-1.032		
	(2.75)	(2.65)		
Aged Persons in Household	.00	116		
	(.00)	(.13)		
Age	1.302**	1.312**		
	(8.56)	(8.56)		
Age squared $\div$ 1,000	-8.591**	-8.658**		
	(8.67)	(8.66)		
No VHI	996	999		
	(3.27)	(3.31)		
Distance to GP	040	035		
~ D D	(.12)	(.09)		
GP Fee	194	186		
	(2.22)	(2.04)		
House Call Fee	.052	.052		
CD D	(.40)	(.39)		
GP Density	-2.640	.770		
	(.01)	(.0)		
Other Help	.862	.889		
Madia l Gaud Dadi	(.59)	(.62)		
Medical Card Katio	.800	4.041		
Farman	(.00)	(.02)		
Farmer	.049	.007		
CR Donsity Medical Cand	(.02)	(.03)		
Potio Internetion	-4.030	-11.313		
Household CP Litilisation	(.00)	(.04)		
riouscholu Gr Utilisation		.039		
		(.95)		
Joint Tests:				
Age	(8.63)**	(8.62)**		
GP Density	(.77)	(.75)		
Medical Card Ratio	(.40)	(.51)		

Table 6.21: Logistic regressions of any general practitioner consultations in 1980 (Dichotomous Variable) on selected independent variables, persons aged over 64 only<sup>(a)</sup>

 $\overline{Notes:}^{(a)}\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates. <sup>(b)</sup> Columns (1) and (3) exclude, and Columns (2) and (4) include, houchold GP utilisation variable in model. <sup>(c)</sup>  $\mathbb{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(d)</sup> Intercept term includes in full model: sex=male; eligibility=Category II; VHI cover= no; other help = no; and head of household a farmer = no. Significance: \*0.01 \leq 0.05; \*\*p  $\leq 0.01$ .

			Proba	bilities	
	Household utilisation is	Exc	luded	Incl	luded
		Full	5%	Full	5%
		Model	Version	Model	Version
*Baseline probability	Baseline probability*	.85	.78	.86	.78
applies when the following					
variables are set equal to their	Other probabilities**				
means, as below: <sup>(b)</sup>	Sex = male	.73	.65	.74	.65
Age = 72.6	Age =				
Distance to $GP = 2.74$	$\min = 65$	.70		.71	
GP fee = $f_{1.69}$	68	.79	—	.80	
House call fee = $f_{1.96}$	71	.84		.85	—
GP density = $0.46$	74	.86		.87	
Medical Card ratio = 0.393	77	.86		.87	_
Household GP utilisation = 3.8	4 80	.84		.85	
Persons over 64 in household	$\max = 95$	.21		.22	
= 1.31	Eligibility =				
and when the following	Category I	.94	.91	.94	.91
qualities obtain: <sup>107</sup>	Category III	.67	_	.69	
sex = female	VHI cover = ves	.94		.94	_
eligibility = Category II	Distance to GP				
VHI cover = no	min = under 1 mile	.87	_	.87	
other help = no	max = more than 10 miles	.84	_	.85	
farmer = no	GP fee				
** Other tradabilities	$\min = 0$	.89	_	.89	
··· Other probabilities	$\max = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty$	.71		.74	_
apply when variables are	House Call Fee				
changed, one by one (the	$\min - 0$	84	_	.85	_
others held constant as above)	$max = \frac{10}{10}$	90	_	90	_
to the values and/or qualities	CP density	.50			
indicated.	min = 0.429	87		88	
	max = 0.555	.07		.00	
	Max = 0.000	.00		.04	_
	Medical Card ratio	.55		.51	
	min a 0.929	97		80	
	mm = 0.232	.07		.05	
	max = 0.000	.00		.05	
	Parmer = yes	.00	_	.07	
	Persons over 04 in nousenoia	05		07	
	$\min = 1$	.80		.07 07	
	$\max = 3$	.80	_	.07	_
	Housenold GP utilisation			04	
	min = 0			.07 00	
	$\max = 60$	—		.90	—

Table 6.22: Probability of any GP consultations, 1980, persons aged over 64 only<br/>(based on logistic regression)<sup>(a)</sup>

*Notes:* <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 6.21. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model; for household utilisation, applies only to model including that variable.

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<u></u>			
	Full	Model <sup>(b)</sup>	5%	Version <sup>(b)</sup>
(1)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
$\bar{R}^{2(6)}$	0.070	0.139	0.078	0.163
N	176	176	176	176
Equation F	2.207*	3.377**	14.82**	16.95**
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	-153.677	-100.663	4.526	3.755
Sex female	-1.520	-0.500		
	(0.785)	(0.434)		
Age	4.180	2.710	_	
0	(1.730)	(1.218)		
Age squared $\div$ 1,000	-28.213	-17.909	<u> </u>	
	(1.705)	(1.206)		
Category I	3.016	3.820(*)	5.351**	4.271**
	(0.910)	(2.121)	(3.850)	(3.155)
Category III	1.380	0.597		(eee) —
<i>.</i>	(0.285)	(0.132)		
No VHI	3.966	2.355		
	(1.439)	(1.111)		
GP Fee	-0.517	-0.403		_
	(0.886)	(0.714)		
House Call Fee	0.165	0.323		
	(0.385)	(0.873)		
Other help	-2.477	-0.997		
•	(0.553)	(0.259)		
Farmer	-1.126	-1.728		_
	(0.657)	(1.434)		
Inverse Mills	0.427	-0.028	<u></u>	
	(0.388)	(0.735)		
Household Utilisation	· /	`0.383 <sup>′</sup> **		0.355**
		(3.289)		(4.204)
Joint Tests:				
Age	(3.950)**	(4.049)**		

Table 6.23: Regression of annual numbers of general practitioner consultations, 1980, on selected independent variables, ordinary least squares, persons with any consultations only. aged over 64 years only<sup>(a)</sup>

*Notes:* <sup>(a)</sup>Figures in parentheses beneath parameter estimates are t-statistics. Columns (1) and (3) include, and Columns (2) and (4) exclude, household utilisation (GP utilisation of other household members). <sup>(b)</sup> $\mathbb{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in full model includes sex = male; eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = yes; Other help = no; Head of Household a Farmer or Fisher = no.

Significance: \*0.01  $. **<math>p \le 0.01$ .

(\*) Parentheses around an asterisk indicates parameter did not pass t-test adjusted for heteroscedasticity; see Chapter 1.

	Ful	l Model <sup>(b)</sup>	5% Version <sup>(b)</sup>		
TD 2(c)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	
N N	.095	.110	.109	.131	
Equation $\chi^2$	99.66 <b>*</b> *	117.24**	90.61**	560 106.73**	
Intercept <sup>(d)</sup>	-1.279	007	2.027**	1.149**	
Sex = Female	(.03) .369	(.00) .422*	(20.83)	(6.28) .407*	
Category I	(3.61) 1.230** (11.74)	(4.55) .996** (7.60)	1.096**	(4.37) .513* (4.19)	
Category III	.154	.246	(15.57)	(4.18)	
Children in household	121	079	129*		
Age	133	111	(0.50)		
Age Squared $\div$ 1,000	-3.078	-4.013	10.704** (65.70)	-10.089**	
No VHI	292	267	(00.10)	(00.00)	
Distance to GP	010	011			
GP Fee	.011	.042			
House Call Fee	.081	.057	.091* (4 85)		
GP Density	8.108	3.654	(1.00)		
Other Help	139	092			
Medical Card Ratio	7.283	1.979	-1.792* (4.48)	-2.141** (6.39)	
Farmer	072	.002	(1.10)	(0.03)	
GP Density-Medical Card Ratio Interaction	-19.681	-8.239			
Household GP Utilisation	(.47)	.147** (13.13)		.158*** (15.60)	
Joint Tests:					
Age GP Density Medical Card Ratio	(63.04)** (.30) (2.01)	(56.43)** (.06) (2.08)			

Table 6.24: Logistic regressions of any general practitioner consultations in 1980 (Dichotomous Variable) on selected independent variables, persons aged under 16 only<sup>(a)</sup>

*Notes:* <sup>(a)</sup> $\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates. <sup>(b)</sup>Columns (1) and (3) exclude, and Columns (2) and (4) include, household GP utilisation variable in model. <sup>(c)</sup> $\mathbb{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(d)</sup>Intercept term includes in full model: sex = male; eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = no; other help = no; and head of household a farmer = no. *Significance:* \*0.01 \leq 0.05. \*\*p  $\leq$  0.01.

			Proba	bilities	
	Household utilisation is	Exc	luded	Incl	luded
		Full	5%	Full	5%
		Model	Version	Model	Version
*Baseline probability	Baseline probability*	.63	.65	.66	.73
applies when the following					
variables are set equal to their	Other probabilities**				
means, as below: <sup>(b)</sup>	Sex = male	.54	_	.56	.64
Age = 8.29	Age =				
Distance to $GP = 2.612$	$\min = 1$	.85	.79	.85	.84
GP fee = $\pounds 2.84$	4	.78	.76	.79	.82
House call fee = $\pounds 3.32$	7	.68	.70	.70	.77
GP density $= .460$	10	.55	.57	.58	.66
Medical Card ratio = .366	13	.40	.39	.43	.49
Household GP utilisation	$\max = 15$	.30	.26	.33	.36
= 3.19	Eligibility =				
Persons under 16 in househol	d Category I	.86	.85	.84	.82
= 2.50	Category III	.67		.71	
and when the following	$VHI \ cover = yes$	.70	—	.71	
qualities obtain: <sup>(b)</sup>	Distance to GP				
sex = female	min = under 1 mile	.64		.66	
eligibility = Category II	max = more than 10 miles	.62		.65	
VHI cover = no	GP fee				
other help = no	$\min = \pounds 0$	.62		.63	
farmer = no	$\max = \pounds 6$	.64	—	.69	_
** Other weekshilition	House call fee				
apply when variables are	$\min = \pounds 0$	.57	.58	.61	_
appry when variables are	$\max = f_1 10$	.75	.77	.74	
changed, one by one (the	GP density				
to the values and (an availties	$\min = 0.429$	.64		.66	
indicated	max = 0.555	.67		.68	
malcated.	$Other \ help = yes$	.60		.64	
	Medical Card ratio				
	$\min = 0.232$	.70	.70	.72	.78
	max = 0.586	.55	.56	.57	.63
	Farmer = yes	.62		.66	
	Persons under 16 in				
	household				
	$\min = 1$	.67	.69	.68	
	$\max = 8$	.47	.48	.55	
	Household GP Utilisation				
	$\min = 0$	_		.54	.62
	$\max = 32$		_	.99	.996

Table 6.25: Probability of any GP consultations, 1980, childreno aged under 16 only<br/>(based on logistic regression)<sup>(a)</sup>

*Notes:* <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 6.24. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model; for household utilisation, applies only to model including that variable.

### IRISH MEDICAL CARE RESOURCES

	Full I	Model <sup>(b)</sup>	5% Version <sup>(b)</sup>			
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)		
$\mathbf{R}^{2(b)}$	0.061	0.170	0.058	0.200		
N	147	147	147	147		
Equation F	1.868*	3.502**	9.03**	18.11**		
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	13.972	7.082	6.381	3.980		
Sex female	1.058	0.708	—	—		
	(0.534)	(0.645)				
Age	-0.962*	-0.837*	-0.337**	-0.325**		
-	(2.155)	(1.991)	(3.005)	(3.133)		
Age squared $\div$ 1,000	40.674	35.674				
	(1.407)	(1.312)				
Category I	5.462	1.740	—			
	(1.339)	(0.861)				
Category III	-2.665	-1.453		. <del></del>		
	(1.006)	(0.946)				
No VHI	-1.231	-1.106				
	(0.471)	(0.681)				
GP Fee	-0.083	-0.103		—		
	(0.155)	(0.211)				
House Call Fee	0.398	0.107		—		
	(1.301)	(0.397)				
Other help	4.026	2.085				
	(1.721)	(1.193)				
Farmer	-2.596	-1.203	—	—		
	(1.483)	(0.914)				
Inverse Mills	-4.211	-0.981				
	(1.031)	(0.972)				
Household Utilisation		0.781**		0.646**		
		(3.439)		(5.067)		
Joint Tests:						
Age	(5.282)**	(4.806)**				

Table 6.26: Regression of annual numbers of general practitioner consultations, 1980, on selected independent variables, ordinary least squares, persons with any consultations only – aged under 16 years only<sup>(a)</sup>

*Notes:* <sup>(a)</sup> Figures in parentheses beneath parameter estimates are t-statistics. Columns (1) and (3) include, and Columns (2) and (4) exclude, household utilisation (GP utilisation of other household members). <sup>(b)</sup> $\mathbb{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in full model includes sex = male; eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = yes; Other help = No; Head of Household a Farmer or Fisher = No.

Significance:  $*0.01 . <math>**p \le 0.01$ .

hypothesised. No VHI, wherever it has a significant effect, somewhat paradoxically reduces the probability of any visit, while raising the number of visits for persons with any.

Head of household, a farmer or fisher reduces utilisation for everyone except children and the aged.

Other household members' utilisation increases the probability of any visits for all except the aged, and as well increases the number of visits in every model.

Finally, the Inverse Mills is significant and positive, indicating (and correcting for) selection bias, only in two cases, the all-persons model and the males only version.

It should be added that heteroscedasticity was found in the OLS regressions for males, females and the aged, thus requiring the same adjustment as discussed earlier in critical t-values.

#### Household Expenditures on GP Fees

We saw in Chapter 5 that an estimated £19.7m was spent by households in 1980 on GP fees, as compared with £18.8 spent by the General Medical Service on the same service for persons covered by Medical Cards. This household or private expenditure averaged £20.69 per household and £5.68 per person.

GP fee expenditures per household and household per person<sup> $\hat{6}6$ </sup> are reported by a variety of characteristics of the households and household heads in Table 6.28. (More detail is provided in Appendix Tables A.16 through A.27).

It will be seen in Table 6.28 that category of health services eligibility has a marked effect on this type of expenditure. Households in Category I spent considerably less than other households; this is hardly surprising, as persons in Category I can avail of free GP care. Perhaps a little more surprising is that the figure was not nil.<sup>67</sup> Notable, too, is the extent to which households in Category III spent more than those in Category II. As this difference applies to household expenditures but not household per person, we can infer that household size varies between the two groups.

The figures given in Table 6.28 are gross, in the sense that VHI reimbursement is not deducted. Persons with VHI cover can gain reimbursement for outpatient care, including GP fees, only after a large deductible is reached, and it is not thought that VHI reimbursement looms very large in any case. Table 6.28 indicates that those with VHI cover spent about  $\pounds$ 10.00 more per household, and  $\pounds$ 3.00 more per person, than those without; but this difference is likely to reflect category of entitlement and socio-economic differences more than VHI cover itself.

<sup>66</sup>"Household per person" means household expenditures, divided by the number of persons in the household. We do not have data on expenditures for each individual in a household.

<sup>67</sup>One possible reason is that category of eligibility in Table 6.6 is that of the person reported as head of household. There are some households headed by persons with Category I eligibility, which contain persons with Category II or III eligibility and who therefore must pay their GPs.

	All be	rsons	Categ	orv I	Cat. I	I/III	Mot	hers	Ма	les	Fem	ales	Age	d 65+	Aged	0-16
	0,1	No.	0,1	No.	0,1	No.	0,1	No.	0,1	No.	0,1	No.	0,1	No.	0,1	No.
Sex female	++ ++				++ ++	+						A	+			
Age			++ ++	++ ++	-										+	
Age-squared	++ ++	++			++				++ ++	++			++			
Category I	++ ++	++					++ ++	++	++ ++	++			++	++ ++	++ +	
Category III																
No VHÍ		++ (+)				++ ++				(+)		+				
No. in household <sup>(b)</sup>		• • •								. ,					+	
Distance									-		+					
GP Fee					++	++ ++				-(-)	++ ++					
House Call Fee		+					++ ++			• • •					+	
Other help											++					
Farmer	_	-(-)							-							
Girl-I-No VHI <sup>(c)</sup>	-		-(-)													
Woman-I-No VHI <sup>(c)</sup>	++		( )	++ ++			++					+(+) ++				
Ladv-I-No VHI <sup>(c)</sup>		_										++				
Boy-I-No VHI(c)									-	-(-)						
Man-I-No VHI <sup>(c)</sup>		+(+)								( )						
Gent-I-No VHI(c)		+														
Category I-No VHI		++									++ ++					
Household utilisation	++	++	++	++	++	++	++	++	++	++	++	++		++	++	+++-
Medical Card Ratio														• •		•••
GP Density	+ ++															
Inverse Mills		++								++						

Table 6.27: Summary of logistic and OLS regression results, GP utilisation, 5% Version<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup> Based on Tables 6.3 through 6.26. 0, 1 Column summarises logistic regressions of any GP consultations; No. Column summarises number of consultations, persons with any. ++= significant at 1%, positive; += significant at 5%, positive; -== significant at 1%, negative; -= significant at 5%, negative. Second column includes household utilisation. <sup>(b)</sup> Number of persons, number of persons in Category I, number of males, etc., as appropriate. <sup>(c)</sup> Girl, Boy = aged 0-14; Woman, Man = aged 40-64; Lady, Gent = aged 65+. In Category I, Cat. II/III partitions, variables are Girl, Boy, Woman, etc. (rather than Girl-I-No VHI, Boy-I-No VHI, Woman-I-No VHI, etc.).

	Per household	Household per person <sup>(a)</sup>
	£	£
All Households	20.69	5.68
Category of eligibility: <sup>(c)</sup>		
Category I	4.58	1.29
Category II	28.96	8.55
Category III	36.60	8.31
VHI cover: <sup>(c)</sup>		
VHI	28.82	7.84
Non-VHI	18.04	4.98
Health Board area of residence:		
Eastern	29.11	7.97
Midland	11.06	3.06
Mid-Western	15.66	6.01
North-Eastern	20.13	5.23
North-Western	12.95	3.38
South-Eastern	14.94	3.32
Southern	21.94	5.87
Western	14.38	4.14
Occupation group: <sup>(c)</sup>		
Professional, managerial, or employer	28.09	7.34
Salaried or intermediate non-manual	22.41	6.98
Other non-manual	19.11	5.69
Skilled manual	24.45	5.80
Semi- or unskilled	19.38	4.79
Farmer, farm worker, or fisher	15.53	4.92

Table 6.28:	1980 hous	sehold expe	nditures	on general	practitioner	fees, per	household
and	household	per person	<sup>a)</sup> , by se	lected house	hold charac	teristics <sup>(b)</sup>	

*Notes:* <sup>(a)</sup>Household expenditure divided by number of persons in household. <sup>(b)</sup>Expenditures are gross in the sense that VHI reimbursements are not subtracted. <sup>(c)</sup>Characteristic pertains to head of household.

Table 6.28 also reveals large differences in average expenditures in the various Health Board areas, ranging from a low of  $\pounds 11.06$  in the Midland area to a high of  $\pounds 29.11$  in the Eastern area. (It is to be emphasised that we are referring to Health Board area as a matter of residential location; these are private, not Health Board expenditures.)

Finally, Table 6.28 reveals differences among social or occupation group of heads of household. The range is perhaps smaller than might be expected, from  $\pounds 15.53$  per household for farm households to  $\pounds 28.09$  for professional, managerial, or employer. The per-person range is from  $\pounds 4.79$  for semi-skilled or unskilled

manual worker households, to  $\pounds 7.34$  for professional, managerial, or employer.

Again, regression analysis permits us to determine the net or partial contribution of these and other independent variables to variability in the dependent variable, in this case household GP fee expenditures. Table 6.29 reports on such a regression equation, using ordinary least squares. The parameter estimates are in pounds and pence per household. Thus Table 6.29 tells us that households in the Eastern Health Board area spent £4.39 more than those in the Midland, Southern, or Western areas (whose expenditures are included in the constant term), and that the difference was not significant, statistically speaking when controlling for the other variables included in the model.

The significant variables in the model are the number of children aged 0-16 in the household (each child adds £3.34 to annual household GP expenditures in the full model and £3.83 in the 5 per cent version); the number of persons aged 17-64 (each adds £1.88 in the full model, £2.49 in the 5 per cent version); a dummy for an individual living alone (which reduces GP expenditures by £6.38 in the full model only); a dummy for other help with medical bills (which reduces expenditures by £9.58 or £9.85 — about half of average household expenditures); the index of per capita income (each one-point increase raises expenditures by 23p or 35p); and a dummy for the head of household having Category I eligibility without VHI cover (which reduced GP outlays by £19.52 or £20.42, very significantly).

There are few surprises in this regression. One might be that the number of persons aged over 64 reduced (though insignificantly) GP outlays. Another might be that per cent female of persons in the household also reduced (though also insignificantly) GP outlays.

Persons in Category I do not have to pay GP fees. In the regression reported in Table 6.30, we report on a household GP outlay regression for persons in Categories II and III only. In general, the results parallel those in Table 6.29.

The only significant variables in the model are the number of children aged 0-16 in the household (each child adds  $\pounds 5.04$  in the full model and  $\pounds 5.51$  in the 5 per cent version); the dummy variable for an individual living alone (which reduces expenditures by  $\pounds 13.62$  in the full model, where it is significant at a 6 per cent level, and by  $\pounds 16.17$  in the 5 per cent version); other help (which reduces expenditures by  $\pounds 11.40$  or  $\pounds 10.57$ ); and, in the 5 per cent version only, the index of per capita income (each one-point increase raises expenditures by 39p).

Possible surprises in Table 6.30 are, again, the negative but insignificant effects of numbers of persons aged over 64 and per cent female.

## House Calls

As Table 4.6 (in Chapter 4) indicates, 19.1 per cent of GP consultations in 1980 were domiciliary, or house calls, a figure slightly higher for Category I (23.1 per cent) and lower for Category II (15.5 per cent). As Table 4.5 (also Chapter 4) indicates, house calls vary in an inverted U-shaped manner with distance, peaking (at 27.0 per cent) in the three-to-five mile category. It is lowest for the over-ten-miles category, at 11.3 per cent.

	Full Model	5% Version
R <sup>2(0)</sup>	0.156	0.162
N	1,045	1,045
Equation F	10.652**	40.09**
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	-2.52	-13.82
Persons Aged Over 64	-1.58	_
_	(0.763)	
Persons Aged Under 17	3.34**	3.83**
	(4.472)	(5.536)
Persons Aged 17-64	1.88*	2.49**
	(2.249)	(3.49)
Dummy for Living Alone	-6.38	
	(1.459)	
Eastern Health Board Area	4.39	
	(0.974)	
Mid-Western Health Board Area	0.22	—
	(0.047)	
North-Eastern Health Board Area	0.78	—
	(0.191)	
North-Western Health Board Area	3.99	_
	(0.758)	
South-Eastern Health Board Area	-1.21	—
	(0.307)	
Per Cent Category III	6.80	
	(1.593)	
Per Cent No VHI	-0.97	—
	(0.267)	
Other Help	-9.58*	-9.85*
	(2.189)	(2.326)
Occupation of Head:		
Professional, Manager Employer	1.93	
	(0.406)	
Other Non-Manual	-1.23	
	(0.244)	
Skilled Manual	4.37	
	(0.937)	
Semi- or Unskilled Manual	6.16	
	(1.396)	
Farmer or Fisher	1.60	
	(0.361)	
Per Gent Female	-3.12	—
L L CD Coulte Lesson	(0.773)	0.9E**
index of Per Capita Income	0.23	0.35**
Used Osternov I No VIII	(1.075)	(4.61) 90.49**
nead Category I-INO V HI	-19.32**	-20.42**
	(0.000)	(0.29)

 Table 6.29: Regression of 1980 household general practitioner expenditures on selected independent variables – ordinary least squares<sup>(a)</sup>

*Notes:* <sup>(a)</sup>t-statistics in parentheses beneath parameter estimates. <sup>(b)</sup> $\overline{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(e)</sup>Intercept term in Full Model includes: individual living alone = no; Health Board Area = Midland, Southern or Western; other help = no; occupation of head = salaried employee or intermediate nón-manual worker; and eligibility of head = Category II or III, with VHI cover. In 5% version, intercept term includes: other help = no; and eligibility of head = Category II or III, with VHI cover.

Significance levels: \*0.01  $. **<math>p \le 0.01$ .

5 a(b)	Full Model	5% Version
R <sup>2(0)</sup>	0.079	0.089
	663	663
Equation F	3.996**	16.170**
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	3.43	-12.61
Persons Aged Over 64	-3.61	
	(1.040)	
Persons Aged Under 17	5.04**	5.51**
	(4.884)	(5.608)
Persons Aged 17-64	0.86	· _ /
	(0.727)	
Dummy for Living Alone	-13.62	-16.17**
-	(1.896)	(2.466)
Eastern Health Board area	5.47	
	(0.912)	
Mid-Western Health Board Area	-2.81	_
	(0.381)	
North-Eastern Health Board Area	0.53	
	(0.089)	
North-Western Health Board Area	3.15	
	(0.387)	
South-Eastern Health Board Area	-1.72	_
	(0.298)	
Per Cent Category III	5.00	
	(1.004)	
Per Cent No VHI	-0.25	_
	(0.057)	
Other Help	- <u>1</u> 1.40*´	-10.57*
·	(2.147)	(2.100)
Occupation of Head:		()
Professional, Manager, Employer	1.11	_
	(0.194)	
Other Non-Manual	-1.89	
	(0.284)	
Skilled Manual	<b>5.72</b>	_
	(0.923)	
Semi- or Unskilled Manual	<b>`</b> 9.57 ´	
	(1.575)	
Farmer or Fisher	0.43	
	(0.073)	
Per Cent Female	-6.03	
	(0.825)	
Index of Per Capita Income	0.20	0.39**
-	(1.046)	(3.818)

Table 6.30: Regression of 1980 household general practitioner expenditures on selected independent variables – categories II and III only – ordinary least squares<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>t-statistic in parentheses beneath parameter estimate. <sup>(b)</sup> $\overline{\mathbb{R}}^2$ -adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in Full Model includes: individual living alone = no; Health Board Area = Midland, Southern, or Western; other help = no; and occupation of head = salaried employee or intermediate non-manual worker. In 5% version, intercept term includes individual living alone = no; and other help = no.

Significance levels:  $*0.01 . <math>**p \le 0.01$ .

In Tables 6.31 (all persons), 6.32 (Category I only) and 6.33 (Categories II/III only), we report logistic regressions of a dichotomous variable, measuring whether the individual's most recent GP consultation was a home visit, on relevant independent variables. Because incentives affecting GPs vary considerably as between Category I and other patients, separate regressions are reported for the two groups. It can be argued, on plausible a priori grounds, that the probability that the most recent visit was a home visit will have a U-shaped relationship to age, being higher for small children and the aged, and smaller for those in-between. That surmise is borne out in Tables 6.31 and 6.32, which show both age (negatively) and age squared (positively) to be highly significant independent variables for all persons and persons in Category I. For persons in Categories II and III, while the signs are the same, the age variables are not significant. However, in that version, "Lady," a dummy for females aged 65+, is significant and positive.

Because persons in Category I do not pay GP fees, and are unlikely to have VHI cover, the variables No VHI, GP Fee and House Call Fee are most meaningful in the Category II/III version. No VHI is negative and very significant, indicating that persons with VHI cover are significantly more likely to have house calls than others with Category II/III eligibility, though the reason is not obvious. The most recent consultation, a home visit, was significantly negatively associated with usual GP fee and positively with house call fee. On first examination, these results appear to reflect physician self-interest and this may very well be correct. Assuming the usual and house call fees are set in a somewhat competitive process over which the individual physician has little control, doctors might well respond to the incentive structure they face by choosing to make more house calls, for which they are paid more, when usual GP fee is too low and when house call fee is high. But causation may run in the other direction as well: in markets in which the demand for house calls is high, the house call fee should be expected to be higher.

In all three versions, we have controlled for important marketwide supply and demand factors by including GP density, consultant density, and the Medical Card ratio (ratio of persons with Category I eligibility to total population), as main effects and in interactions. These are significant in the all persons model, nearly so in the Category I version, and not in the Category II/III version. Because of the interaction terms, interpretation is not straightforward, and we postpone discussion briefly.

When we control for other influences, members of farming and fishing families are less likely to have had house calls, possibly reflecting lack of access to a telephone, and in spite of the results of Table 4.5, discussed earlier, distance to GP proves to have no significant net effect on house calls.

Once again, the parameters of these logistic regressions cannot easily be interpreted, and the effects of variables included in interaction variables are hard to discern, so once again we report, in Tables 6.34, 6.35 and 6.36, on illustrative probabilities based on these regressions. It will be seen that the variables having

<u>ა</u>	Full Model	5% Version
K-**	0.087	0.084
	1,003	1,003
Equation X <sup>*</sup>	125.24**	83.64**
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	19.821*	-0.749**
	(3.75)	(13.05)
Sex Female	-0.055	
	(0.03)	
Age	-0.083**	-0.095**
	(21.52)	(48.56)
Age Squared $\neq$ 1,000	1.150**	1.307**
7	(29.02)	(63.77)
Lategory I	0.167	
Determony III	(0.38)	
Jategory III	0.437	_
	(2.14)	
YU Y 111	-0.211	
Distance to GP	0.00)	
Jatanee to Of	(1.81)	
CP Fee	-0.236**	
51 FC	(6.17)	
House Call Fee	0.166**	
iouse onit i ce	(7.68)	
Farmer or Fisher	-0.890**	_
	(11.92)	
GP Density	-41.423	
	(3.65)	
Medical Card Ratio	-52.592*	
	(4.61)	
Persons in Household Who Saw GP	0.036	_
	(0.40)	
Girl <sup>(a)</sup>	0.250	
	(0.45)	
Noman <sup>(d)</sup>	0.077	
	(0.03)	
Lady <sup>(a)</sup>	0.646	—
(4)	(2.09)	
Boy <sup>ter</sup>	0.199	—
- (4)	(0.26)	
Man'"	0.208	
	(0.33)	
Medical Card Ratio-GP Density Interaction	110.436*	
	(4.38)	
Consultant Density-GP Density Interaction	-10.194**	
N' 6 1 CD 1000	(7.51)	
1 imes Seen by GP in 1980	(0.62)	
A 1 1 1 1 1	\/	
foint 1 ests;	(20.00)**	· (76 DE)**
Age CB Daugity	(30.90)**	(10.03)**
Gr Density Medical Cand Paria	(7.00)"" (5.43)*	4
Medical Gard Kano	(5.45)	

 Table 6.31: Logistic regressions of most recent 1980 GP consultation a home visit

 (Dichotomous Variable), on selected independent variables<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup> $\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates. <sup>(b)</sup> $\overline{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(b)</sup>Intercept term in Full Model includes: sex=male; eligibility=Category II; VHI cover=no; other help=no; head of household a farmer = no; and age = 0-4, or 18-39. <sup>(d)</sup> Girl," "Boy" = age 5-17; "Woman", "Man" = age 40-64; "Lady" = age 65+. Significance: \*0.01 \leq 0.05. \*\*p  $\leq$  0.01.

ت و(b)	Full Model	5% Version
	0.130	0.155
Equation $v^2$	401 QQ 71**	401 75 22**
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	26.057	-0.920
	(3.08)	(3.67)
Sex Female	-1.229	
	(1.76)	
Age	-0.178**	-0.124**
	(22.21)	(24.62)
Age Squared $\div$ 1,000	2.115**	1.704**
	(28.42)	(35.90)
No VHI	0.769	
	(1.26)	
Distance to GP	0.209*	0.272**
	(4.25)	(8.37)
Farmer or fisher	-1.255**	-1.207**
	(11.69)	(11.71)
GP Density	-53.982	
	(2.98)	
Medical Card Ratio	-63.937	
	(3.31)	
Persons in Household Who Saw GP	0.057	_
$\alpha$ : $I^{(d)}$	(0.49)	
Jirl"	0.267	
(d)	(0.10)	
Woman'''	1.554	
<b>T</b> 1 (d)	(2.22)	
Lady	1.813	
n (d)	(3.28)	
воу		
λ.σ. (d)	(2.88)	
wian'	0.941	
Medical Cand Patio CP Density Interaction	(2.89)	
vience Gain Rano-GP Density Interaction	100.417	_
Consultant Density CP Density Interaction	(3.30) 10 797	
Consultant Density-GP Density Interaction	-10.747	
Times Seen by C.P. in 1080	(0.10)	
THIES SEEN BY GF III 1900	-0.010	
	(0.50)	
Joint Tests:		
Age	(31.03)**	(53.64)**
GP Density	(4.54)*	• •
Medical Card Ratio	(3.41)	
	· · ·	

 
 Table 6.32: Logistic regressions of most recent 1980 GP consultation a home visit
 (Dichotomous variable), on selected independent variables, persons in Category I only<sup>(a)</sup>

*Notes:* <sup>(a)</sup> $\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates. <sup>(b)</sup> $\overline{\mathbb{R}}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in Full Model includes: Sex = male; eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = no; head of household a farmer = no; and age = 0-4 or 18-39. <sup>(d)</sup>"Girl", "Boy" = age 5-17; "Woman", "Man" = age 40-64; "Lady" = age 65+.

Significance:  $*0.01 . <math>**p \le 0.01$ .

<u>17</u> 2(b)	Full Model	5% Version
K <sup>***</sup>	0.034	0.054
Equation $\chi^2$	002 55 31**	0UZ 39 73**
Intercept <sup>er</sup>	8.979	-0.581
	(0.34)	(1.08)
Age	-0.038	-0.016**
	(2.74)	(6.60)
Age Squared + 1,000	0.417	
	(1.78)	0.050**
NoVHI	-0.649**	-0.650**
	(6.49)	(7.18)
Jistance to GP	0.002	_
0 N II	(0.00)	0.050*
SP ree	~0.267*	-0.250*
	(4.67)	(4.55)
House Gall Fee	0.216**	0.213**
	(9.10)	(10.54)
GP Density	-13.064	
	(0.16)	
Medical Card Ratio	-29.320	
	(0.63)	
Farmer or Fisher	-0.764	
	(3.62)	
Sex Female	-0.131	_
	(0.11)	0.046*
Times Seen by GP in 1980	0.051*	0.046*
	(4.40)	(4.17)
Persons in Household Who Saw GP	-0.029	—
	(0.11)	
Girl <sup>a</sup>	0.513	
(d)	(1.34)	
Woman <sup>wy</sup>	0.115	
• • (d)	(0.05)	1 000**
Lady"	1.556*	1.939**
n (d)	(4.16)	(14.78)
Boy	0.489	<del></del>
a.e. (d)	(1.22)	
Man <sup>ar</sup>	-0.163	
	(0.09)	
Medical Card Ratio-GP Density Interaction	52.686	
	(0.43)	
Consultant Density-GP Density Interaction	-11.884*	—
	(4.36)	
Joint Tests:		
Age	(2.93)	
GP Density	(5.57)*	
Medical Card Ratio	(5.03)*	

Table 6.33: Logistic regressions of most recent 1980 GP consultation a home visit
(Dichotomous variable), on selected independent variables, persons in Categories II and II.
$only^{(a)}$ .

*Notes:* <sup>(a)</sup> $\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates. <sup>(b)</sup> $\overline{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in Full Model includes: sex = male; VHI cover = no; head of household a farmer = no; and age = 0-4 or 18-39. <sup>(d)</sup>"Girl", "Boy" = 5-17; "Woman", "Man" = age 40-64; "Lady" = age 65+. *Significance:* \*0.01 \leq 0.05. \*\*p  $\leq$  0.01.

		Probabilities	
		Full Model	5% Version
*Baseline probability applies when	Baseline probability*	.07	.08
the following variables are set			
equal to their means, as below: <sup>(0)</sup>	Other probabilities**		
Age = 39.64	Sex = male	.07	
Distance to $GP = 2.60$	Age =		
GP fee = $\pounds 2.43$	$\min = 1$	.24	.30
House call fee = $\pounds 2.80$	10	.17	.17
GP density $= .461$	20	.09	.11
Medical card ratio $= .369$	30	.07	.08
Persons in household who saw	40	.07	.08
GP = 2.86	50	.09	.10
Annual no. of GP consultations	60	.13	.15
= 5.86	70	.34	.27
and when the following qualities	$\max = 95$	.80	.89
obtain:	Eligibility =		
sex = female	Category I	.08	—
Eligibility = Category II	Category III	.10	
VHI cover = no	VHI cover = yes	.08	—
Farmer = no	Distance to GP		
<b>**</b> Other probabilities apply when	min = under 1 mile	.06	
variables are changed, one by one	max = more than 10 miles	.09	
(the others held constant as	GP fee		
above) to the values and/or	$\min = \pounds 0$	.12	_
qualities indicated.	$\max = \pounds7$	.02	
	House Call Fee		
	$\min = \pounds 0$	.04	
	$\max = \pounds 10$	.20	
	GP Density =		
	$\min = 0.429$	.06	_
	$\max = 0.555$	.04	
	Medical Card ratio		
	$\min = 0.232$	.06	
	max = 0.586	.04	_
	<i>Farmer</i> = yes	.03	
	Annual GP consultations		
	$\min = 1$	.07	
	2	.07	_
	6	.07	
	12	.07	_
	24	.08	
	$\max = 60$	.11	

Table 6.34: Probability that most recent GP consultation was home visit, all persons,based on logistic regression <sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 6.31. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model.

		Probabilities	
		Full Model	5% Version
*Baseline probability applies when	Baseline probability*	.02	.11
the following variables are set			
equal to their means, as below: <sup>(b)</sup>	Other probabilities**		
Age = 51.06	Sex = male	.08	_
Distance to $GP = 2.60$	Age =		
GP density =.471	$\min = 1$	.44	.42
Medical Card ratio = .403	10	.17	.22
Persons in household who saw	20	.06	.12
GP = 2.78	30	.03	.08
Annual no. of GP consultations	40	.02	.08
= 8.81	50	.02	.10
and when the following qualities	· 60	.04	.18
obtain: <sup>(b)</sup>	70	.10	.37
Sex = female	max = 88	.66	.89
VHI cover = no	$VHI \ cover = yes$	.01	_
Farmer = no	Distance to GP		
<b>**</b> Other probabilities apply when	min = under 1 mile	.02	.06
variables are changed, one by one	max = more than 10 miles	.05	.23
(the others held constant as	GP density =		
above) to the values and/or	min = 0.429	.02•	
qualities indicated.	max = 0.555	.02	
-	Medical Card ratio		
	min = 0.232	.01	
	max = 0.586	.02	_
	Farmer = yes	.01	.04
	Annual GP consultations		
	$\min = 1$	.03	
	2	.02	
	6	.02	
	12	.02	
	24	.02	
	$\max = 60$	.02	
	Number of persons in household		
	who saw GP		
	$\min = 1$	.02	_
	$\max = 14$	.05	_

Table 6.35: Probability that most recent GP consultation was home visit, Category Ionly, based on logistic regression<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 6.32. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model.

		Probabilities	
		Full Model	5% Version
*Baseline probability applies when	Baseline probability*	.07	.10
the following variables are set			
equal to their means, as below: <sup>(b)</sup>	Other probabilities**		
Age = 32.03	Sex = male	.09	
Distance to $GP = 2.60$	Age =		
GP fee = $\pounds 3.44$	$\min = 1$	.15	.15
House call fee = $\pounds 3.95$	10	.11	.13
GP density = .455	20	.09	.11
Medical card ratio = .346	30	.08	.10
Persons in household who saw GP	40	.07	.08
= 2.91	50	.07	.07
Annual no. of GP consultations	60	.08	.06
= 3.88	70	.09	.05
and when the following qualities	max = 95	.17	.04
obtain: <sup>(b)</sup>	VHI cover = yes	.14	.17
Sex = female	Distance to GP		
VHI cover = no	min = under 1 mile	.08	_
Farmer = no	max = more than 10 miles	.08	
**Other probabilities apply when	GP_fee		
variables are changed, one by one	$\min = \pm 0$	.17	.20
(the others held constant as above)	$\max = \pounds 6$	.04	.05
to the values and/or qualities	House call fee		
indicated.	$\min = \frac{1}{k}0$	.03	.04
	max = .23	.28	
	$GP \ density =$		
	min = 0.429	.06	
	max = 0.555	.08	
	Medical Card ratio		
	min = 0.232	.11	
	max = 0.586	.02	<u></u>
	Farmer = yes	.04	
	Annual GP consultations		
	$\min = 1$	.07	.09
	2	.07	.08
	6	.08	.11
	12	.11	.13
	24	.18	.21
	$\max = 50$	.46	.48
	Number of persons in household who		
saw GP			
	$\min = 1$	.08	
	$\max = 9$	.06	

Table 6.36: Probability that most recent GP consultation was home visit, Categories IIand III only, based on logistic regression (a)

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 6.33. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model.
the greatest absolute impact on house calls were age (especially for children); for Category I, GP density; and for Category II/III, GP fee, house call fee and annual GP consultations.

GP density has an ambiguous effect in these regressions. It is positively associated with the probability that the most recent visit was a house call in the all persons version, where the effect is small, and in the Category I version, where it is large. Its effect is negative, small and insignificant in the Category II/III version, though it is significant in the important joint test in this version. The positive relationship found in the former versions could reflect physician self-interest. By itself, high GP density should reduce fee levels and physician incomes. If physicians seek to compensate, in part, by seeking house calls, GP density will vary positively with the probability of house calls. A somewhat different interpretation is that where GP density is low, doctors will be less pressed for time, and will have more freedom to go on home visits, where these are indicated by other criteria.

The Medical Card ratio also has an ambiguous effect. It is significant in the joint tests in the all persons and Category II/III versions, but not in the Category I version. Tables 6.34 and 6.36 show that the effect is negative in both cases in which it is significant, but non-trivial only in the Category II/III version. Among other things, a high Medical Card ratio means higher demand for GP services in an area, given the higher utilisation of persons covered by Medical Cards. These findings tell us that where doctors have large numbers of patients covered by Medical Cards, they cut back considerably on their house calls to persons in Categories II and III, though house calls to persons in Category I are not affected. Where they have fewer patients covered by Medical Cards, they increase their house calls to patients in Categories II and III.

#### Comparisons with Britain

In 1979, the annual British GP consulting rate was 4.0, somewhat higher than our reported 1980 Irish rate of 3.6. The two countries have similar morbidity patterns, climates and cultures. Their medical care systems are different, in two important respects relevant to the present comparison. In Ireland, all but those in Category I must pay for GP consultations (excepting that those with VHI who have passed a significant deductible may also claim reimbursement). In Britain, the whole population can avail offree GP care. Secondly, British GPs are paid on a capitation basis, which means that their incomes are unaffected directly by their consulting rates, whilst Irish GPs for both public and private patients, are remunerated on a fee-for-service basis, which obviously means that their incomes are affected by their consulting rates. (This statement must be qualified somewhat, as British GPs are paid on a fee basis for certain services, such as night visits, immunisations, family planning services and others.)

Table 6.37 compares consulting rates by sex and age group. British rates are higher amongst both males and females. They are higher than Irish rates for males under age 65, and markedly lower amongst males 65 and older. They are higher than Irish rates for females under 45, but much lower for middle-aged and older

	Ireland <sup>(a)</sup>	Britain <sup>(b)</sup>
All Males	3.2	3.5
0-14	2.6	$3.4^{(c)}$
15-44	2.1	$2.7^{(d)}$
45-64	3.9	4.4
65+	7.4	4.7
All Females	4.0	4.5
0-14	2.4	$3.3^{(c)}$
15-44	3.4	$4.8^{(d)}$
45-64	5.3	4.3
65+	7.9	5.4
All Persons	3.6	4.0

 Table 6.37: Average annual general practitioner consultations by sex and age, Ireland vs.

 Britain

<sup>(a)</sup> 1980, present survey. <sup>(b)</sup> 1979, Office of Population Censuses and Surveys, *General Household Survey*. <sup>(c)</sup> In this case the age range is 0-15 instead of 0-14 as for Ireland. <sup>(d)</sup> In this case the age range is 16-44 instead of 15-44 as for Ireland.

women. Irish consulting rates for persons aged 65 and over are well over 50 per cent higher than British rates for the same age group. Since morbidity is presumably similarly high in this age group in both countries, a possible explanation lies in the fact that a large proportion of Irish persons in this group are eligible in Category I. (As noted earlier, the Category I consulting rate is 6.1, much higher than the overall British rate; the rate for the rest of the Irish population is only 2.5, much lower than the overall British rate.)

It is sometimes argued that the Irish Category I consulting rate is high in part because large numbers of aged persons are in this category. Comparison with Britain points up the possibility that the causation may work, in part, in the opposite direction: older Irish people have high consulting rates because they have Category I eligibility.

More light is shed on the comparison by Table 6.38 which reports on Irish and British consulting rates by social group (occupation group of head of household). In Ireland, consulting rates rise sharply, from 68 per cent of the national average to 144 per cent, as one goes down the socio-economic ladder. The only exception to a continuous rise in consulting rates with a fall in social group is the extraordinarily low consulting rates in Irish farming and fishing families. (The latter loom larger in the Irish than the British population and help explain the difference in overall consulting rates.) In Britain, there is little difference in consulting rates as one moves through the ranks of social groups. In particular, the lower social groups, corresponding to the Irish Medical Card population, have consulting rates approximately equal to the British average.

	Consultations	% of average
Ireland <sup>(a)</sup>	3.4	100
Professional, manager, or employer	2.3	68
Salaried employee, or intermediate		
non-manual worker	3.2	94
Other non-manual	3.7	109
Skilled manual worker	4.1	121
Farmer, farmer's relative, farm manager,		
other agricultural worker, or fisher	3.1	91
Semi-skilled or unskilled manual worker	4.9	144
Britain <sup>(b)</sup>	4.0	100
Professional	3.0	75
Employers and managers	3.5	88
Intermediate and junior non-manual	4.0	100
Skilled manual and own account		
non-professional	4.1	103
Semi-skilled manual and personal service	4.5	113
Unskilled manual	4.2	105

Table 6.38:	Average annual gener	al practitioner	consultations	by social	group,	Ireland
		vs. Britain				

<sup>(a)</sup> 1980, present survey. <sup>(b)</sup> 1979, Office of Population Censuses and Surveys, *General Household Survey*.

In short, Irish rates are lower, relative to the average, than British rates in the higher social groups, and higher in the lower social groups.

The reasons lie in part in the incentive structures in the two countries. The British professional, manager, and employer receives free GP care, whilst the Irish counterpart must pay. The Irish GP, unlike her or his British counterpart, is paid on a fee-for-service basis and has a motive to stimulate demand. It is sometimes argued that physicians working under a capitation system, as in Britain, not only have no motive to stimulate demand for their own services, but actually seek to reduce their workloads by referring their patients to others, mainly specialists. Comparison between Irish and British GP referral behaviour, discussed in a later section, does not appear to bear out this thesis. (See also McCormick and Allwright, 1977).

The Working Party on the General Medical Service, who had access to our data and to the comparisons discussed here between Ireland and Britain, read these numbers differently. They conclude that "Irish visiting rates by socio-economic group ... are not very different from those in Britain, but the visiting rates for the elderly are very much higher in Ireland" (Working Party on the General Medical Service, 1984). From this reading, they attach less significance to method of remuneration than we, or most economists, do.

196

### Wait for GP

In Chapter 4, it was seen that the length of time patients wait in GPs' waiting rooms varies considerably from region to region. Multiple regression analysis reveals that region-to-region variation in such factors as the ratio of physicians to population accounts for the regional differences.

In Table 6.39 wait up to one hour, a dichotomous (or dummy) variable, was regressed on a number of relevant independent variables. Note should be taken of the fact that respondents only are included in this particular analysis, and not other members of households, as with the utilisation analysis. These respondents were mainly women, usually housewives, and the waiting times of other household members might be different.<sup>68</sup> A negative coefficient means longer waiting times; a positive coefficient, shorter times.

The variables which seem most to influence utilisation — sex, age, time-price (distance) and category of health services eligibility — do not significantly affect waiting time. Instead, the significant variables are:

1. VHI cover: Those without VHI cover seem more frequently to have to wait more than one hour. For a discussion, see item 4 below.

2. GP density: It is far from surprising to find that areas with high ratios of GPs to population have short waiting times, whilst those with low ratios have longer waiting times. This is the most significant relationship found. It is reflected in interaction as well as main effects variables. For overall significance, see the joint tests.

3. Consultant density: consultants may here be regarded as substitutes (competitors) for GPs in the sense that a low consultant population ratio will help fill GP waiting rooms.

4. Occupation group: respondents from households headed by other nonmanual workers are significantly more likely to have to wait more than an hour. VHI (above) may also reflect social class. One explanation for this relationship may be that persons in lower social groups are less likely to have telephones, in which case they would be unable to make appointments.

The regression reported in Table 6.39 was also run adding Health Board areas as separate, additional dichotomous independent variables. These coefficients were consistently insignificant. This does not mean that waiting time does not vary from region to region; indeed, it has already been seen (Table 4.8, Chapter 4) that the variation is considerable. Instead, it means that the variation is explained by the variables in the model reported in Table 6.39.

The  $\mathbb{R}^2$  in Table 6.39, 0.004, is very low. While the five variables discussed above are significantly associated with waiting time, the equation as a whole only explains about 0.4 per cent of the person to person variability in the probability that one will have to wait more than (or less than) an hour. The 5 per cent version explains less than 2 per cent. Both equations are, however, very significant.

<sup>68</sup>It was assumed in designing the interviews that the housewife would be likely to know about the GP utilisation of other household members but not necessarily their waiting times.

	Full Model	5% Version
R <sup>2(0)</sup>	0.004	0.017
N	1,073	1,073
Equation $\chi^2$	36.30**	21.85**
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	-6.095	2.879**
	(2.43)	(52.40)
No VHI	-0.721**	-0.798**
	(7.37)	(14.18)
Distance to GP	-0.030	
	(0.29)	
GP Density	19.519**	
	(6.00)	
Category I	-0.006	
	(0.00)	
Category III	0.055	
	(0.03)	
GP Fee	0.061	
	(0.68)	
House Call Fee	-0.081	
	(3.39)	
Medical Card Ratio-GP Density Interaction	-0.596	
	(0.03)	
Consultant Density	31.055*	
	(3.69)	
Consultant Density-GP Density Interaction	-66.793*	
	(3.71)	
Fimes Seen by GP in 1980	0.006	
	(0.25)	
Executive, Professional, or Employer	-0.005	
	(0.00)	
Other Non-Manual Worker	-0.632	-0.508*
	(3.35)	(4.86)
Skilled Manual Worker	-0.095	
	(0.08)	
Semi- or Unskilled Worker	-0.229	
	(0.53)	
Farmer or Fisher	0.038	
	(0.01)	
Joint Tests:		
GP Density	(6.44)**	
Consultant	(3.71)*	

 Table 6.39: Logistic regressions of wait up to one hour (Dichotomous Variable) in GP's waiting room, most recent 1980 consultation, on selected independent variables<sup>(a)</sup>

*Notes:* <sup>(a)</sup> $\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates. <sup>(b)</sup> $\overline{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. "Intercept term in Full Model includes: eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = no; and occupation of head of household = salaried or intermediate non-manual employee. Significance: \*0.01 \leq 0.05. \*\*p $\leq$  0.01. We have used the regression reported in Table 6.39 to calculate illustrative probabilities, and these are reported in Table 6.40. The probabilities relate to wait *up to* one hour. Thus, a low probability corresponds to a greater likelihood of a long wait. Table 6.40 shows that while GP density's effect may be statistically significant, the strength of the effect is quite small.

		Proba	bilities
		Full Model	5% Version
**Baseline probability applies when	Baseline probability*	.80	.78
the following variables are set			
equal to their means, as below:	Other probabilities**		
Annual no. of consultations = $4.37$	Eligibility =		
Distance to $GP = 2.61$	Category I	.80	
GP Iee = 2.44	Category III	.81	
House call tee = $2.78$	VHI cover = yes	.89	.89
GP density = .461	Distance to GP		
Consultant density = $.271$	min = under 1 mile	.81	
and when the following qualities	max = more than 10 miles	.78	—
obtain: <sup>(3)</sup>	GP fee		
Eligibility = Category II	$\min = \pounds 0$	.78	******
VHI cover = no	$\max = \pounds 7$	.84	
Occupation of head = salaried	House call fee		
employee or intermediate	$\min = \pounds 0$	.83	_
non-manual employee	$\max = \pounds 10$	.69	
<b>**</b> Other probabilities apply when	GP density		
variables are changed, one by one	min = 0.429	.78	
(the others held constant as above)	max = 0.555	.80	-
to the values and/or qualities	Consultant Density		
indicated.	$\min = 0$	.78	
	max = .387	.79	_
	Annual GP consultations		
	$\min = 0$	.80	
	2	.80	
	6	.80	
	12	.81	
	24	.82	
	$\max = 52$	.84	
	Occupation of head		
	managerial/professional	.80	
	Other non-manual	.68	.68
	Skilled manual	.78	
	Semi- and unskilled	.76	
	Farmer, farm worker, fisher	.81	

 Table 6.40: Probability of wait up to one hour in GP's waiting room, based on logistic regression<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 6.39. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model.

#### GP Referrals and Revisits

As has been emphasised throughout this study, general practitioners are economically and medically important not alone for the significant primary care health service they provide to patients, but also for their roles as gate-keepers and decision-makers with respect to further utilisation of the system. It is to this function that we now turn.

Table 6.41 reports the coefficients of (simple) correlation among main types of medical care utilisation. The annual number of GP consultations correlates with other types of utilisation in the range, 0.209–0.484. All correlations are extremely significant (at the 0.0001 level).

The role of GPs in utilisation decisions was discussed above in connection with Table 6.1 (see also Appendix Tables A.30 through A.35). Another way of viewing GP referral behaviour is based on the following questions, asked in our household survey:

I want to ask you just one more question about the *most recent time* each member of the household was seen by a *general practitioner* in 1980. If you can, try to remember the outcomes of those visits — what further care or treatment the doctor prescribed, suggested, or ordered, or what he told the member to do as a result of the visit. *Did the doctor* ...

... arrange for a return visit — for the member to see the same doctor another time?

... refer the member to another doctor, such as a specialist?

and so forth, for seven additional categories or types of utilisation including "other". The answers to these questions provide a unique insight into GP consultations, and are given in detail, by Category of Health Services eligibility, and by VHI cover, in Appendix Table A.28, and summarised in Table 6.42. Of all persons' most recent GP consultations, 23.5 per cent resulted in a return visit being

	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
(1) GP consultations (2) Specialist	0.284	0.484	0.271	0.217	0.209
<ul> <li>consultations</li> <li>(3) Prescription items</li> <li>(4) Out patient baselial</li> </ul>		0.203	0.334 0.151	0.279 0.188	$0.335 \\ 0.190$
visits				0.180	0.202
<ul><li>(5) No. of times hospital in-patient</li><li>(6) Length of hospital stay</li></ul>					0.572

T-1-1-6 41.	Constation	Matuin	Medical	Cana	Indiantion	1000 <sup>(a)</sup>
1 able 0.41:	Correlation	Matrix:	Medical	Care	Utilisation.	1980 '

<sup>(a)</sup>All correlations significant at 0.0001 level. N = 4,522.

arranged with the same GP; 7.1 per cent resulted in a referral to another doctor, usually a specialist; 77.2 per cent in one or more pharmaceutical medicines being prescribed; 10.0 per cent in a referral to a hospital out-patient department; and 5.3 per cent in hospital admission.

All of these rates appear high. Indeed, British physicians, operating under a capitation system which is sometimes argued to encourage referral, appear to have much lower referral rates. British data are organised differently from ours, but the following per consultation referrals seem comparable: admission to hospital, Ireland, 5.1 per cent, Britain, 0.6 per cent; specialist and out-patient, Ireland 16.2 per cent, Britain, 6.9 per cent; and other health professionals, Ireland, 2.5 per cent, Britain, 0.1 per cent.<sup>69</sup> (British data from HMSO, Morbidity Statistics from General Practice, Second National Study, 1970–71, London, 1974.)

The high Irish referral rates warrant some comment. In Chapter 3, we quoted the Gowen Report, a self-survey of Irish general practice by the Royal College of General practitioners, as stating, "There are some indications, especially from referral rates, that the level of acute medical care is more haphazard than in the United Kingdom, and Irish doctors still having a too ready recourse to direct hospital admission to solve their patients' problems" (Gowen, 1972).

Lest one think this problem to be exclusively a rural one, we also quote a Dublin GP, from a survey of his own practice published in a leading medical journal: "Some of my general practitioner friends will consider that sending one in every five patients for investigations would seem to be overdoing it. It is possible that this reflects my lack of confidence in my clinical acumen" (Berber, 1974).

<sup>69</sup>In 1970/71, British persons saw their GPs an average of 3.2 times per year. There were 240 referrals per 1,000 population, which works out to .075 referrals per consultation. These referrals consist of the following: *in-patient* (direct admission to hospital), 18.2 per 1,000 population, and .006 per consultation; out-patient (where a patient was sent for specialist opinion or service), 92 per 1,000, and .029 per consultation; investigation (where the GP initiated or stipulated the investigation or service she or he required for the patient, irrespective of whether a specialist reported on the result), 115.9 per 1,000, .037 per consultation; local authority (where services run by a local authority were invoked on behalf of the patient), 6.5 per 1,000 and .002 per consultation; multiple (where two different referral codes were required for the same consultation, e.g., investigation and local authority), 3.5 per 1,000 and .001 per consultation; and other (e.g., optician, chiropodist, dentist, etc.), 3.9 per 1,000 and .001 per consultation. The Irish data cannot be derived directly from the tables published here because of overlapping categories. Differences between the Irish and British data should be noted. In our survey in Ireland, we asked about referrals at each household member's most recent GP consultation. British data provide consultations per 1,000 population and referrals per 1,000 population, and the referral rate is obtained by dividing the latter by the former. Irish respondents reported that 5.1 per cent of most recent GP consultations resulted in a referral to hospital for admission, even though in general GPs do not have this authority. It is likely that in certain instances, GPs made what amounted to *de facto*, but not de jure, referrals to hospital for admission; the lower British rate may reflect the fact that it is based on official data sources, and comes from GP rather than household records, and hence may reflect de jure rather than de facto referrals.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4) Ratio,
	Category I only	Categories II/III only	All persons	Col. (1) to Col. (2)
Return visit arranged	34.9	16.5	23.5	2.12
Referred to another doctor	5.6	8.0	7.1	0.70
Prescribed medicine(s)	84.1	72.9	77.2	1.15
Referred to out-patient department	9.8	10.3	10.0	0.95
Referred to hospital for admission	6.2	4.6	5.3	1.35

Table 6.42:	General	practitioner	referrals	and return	visits	arranged:	per cent	of
consultation	s (most :	recent visit)	resulting	in further	care or	treatment	ordered,	
		prescribe	d. or sug	gested, 198	80			

Source: Appendix Table A.31.

The situation of Irish general practice has undoubtedly improved since the early 1970s, but our results suggest that the problems referred to in these quotations still exist. One suspects that the underlying problem is more one of isolation and self-confidence than of competence on the part of Irish GPs. One possible solution is organisation of group practices wherever possible, so that GPs can more readily consult and interact with each other. We return to this problem in Chapter 8.

In Table 6.42, special interest attaches to the differences in physician behaviour as regards Category I patients, whose medical care (including GP services) is free to them, and other (Categories II and III) patients, who must pay something for medical care, including fees for GP services. Column (4) reports the ratio of the percentage for persons in Category I to that of persons in Categories II and III combined. It reveals a striking pattern. Among persons in Category I, 34.9 per cent of most recent GP consultations resulted in a return visit being arranged with the same GP; among persons in Categories II and III, only 16.5 per cent resulted in a return visit being arranged, giving a ratio of 2.12 to 1.

This ratio seems surprisingly high. It relates, of course, to the regression results reported in Tables 6.3–6.26 which showed that controlling for age, sex and other important variables, persons in Category I had significantly more GP consultations in 1980 than other persons. The possibility arises, of course, that persons in Category I, who are, in general, poorer in income terms and more likely to be aged, had more health problems requiring a succession of GP visits than had other people. For example, chronic conditions often require repeated consultations. But if illness and chronic conditions explained the high Category I return visit rate, one would expect similarly high ratios in Column (4) for other kinds of

utilisation. One would expect those in Category I to have appreciably more referrals to other doctors, such as specialists; more pharmaceutical medicines prescribed; more referrals to out-patient departments of hospitals; and more referrals to hospital, for admission, than those in Categories II and III.

This is not what one finds, however, in Column (4). Instead, there are *fewer* referrals to specialists for Category I than for Category II/III patients. This ratio, 0.70 to 1, is the lowest reported in Table 6.42. Pharmaceutical medicines are somewhat more likely to be prescribed (the ratio is 1.15 to 1),<sup>70</sup> and patients are more likely to be referred to hospital for admission (1.35 to 1), but there are slightly fewer referrals to out-patient departments (0.95 to 1). In short, some types of referral show more, and some less, for Category I than other patients, but for no type of referral does the ratio approach that found for return visits.

One possible explanation lies in the incentive structure in the Irish medical care system. Table 6.42 does not prove but it is consistent with the following:

1. GPs wishing to increase their incomes arrange for return visits by persons in Category I. Those in Categories II and III, who must pay for GP services, are more likely to resist extra visits and GPs may feel better about arranging extra visits for persons who are not charged for them. This point is developed further below.

2. Persons in Category II can avail of free out-patient hospital and specialist care, but must pay their GPs. For these patients, it is cheaper to be referred to a specialist or the out-patient department of a hospital than to return to their GPs. A physician acting in the manner predicted by the agency model (see Chapter 2) might refer patients in the manner described.

If they are true, both patterns of physician behaviour are uneconomic. The first results in increased return visits for persons in Category I, as well as in whatever other types of utilisation arise because of these return visits. (A discussion of "necessary" vs. "unnecessary" utilisation appears later in the chapter.) The second means that more costly specialist and hospital services are substituted for less costly primary GP care among persons in Categories II and III.

Taken together, they help us understand why Irish and British average GP consulting rates are similar overall but differ in detail. Irish rates are lower relative to the average than British for upper social groups and higher for lower social groups. The Category I rate exceeds and the Category II/III rate is exceeded by the overall British average. Though other explanations are possible, these patterns are precisely those one would predict on the basis of incentives.

The issue raised here is of medical as well as economic significance. Table 6.42 suggests that persons with Category I eligibility are more likely than others to be *kept* by the GP while those with Category II/III eligibility are more likely to be *referred on* to specialists and hospital. One wonders which, if either, are getting the medically most appropriate treatment.

<sup>70</sup>This ratio reflects the probability that *any* medicines were prescribed, rather than the number of items prescribed.

#### Physician-Induced Demand by Irish GPs

The following discussion of physician-induced demand by Irish GPs is based on a theoretical model published elsewhere (Tussing, 1983a, and Tussing and Wojtowycz, forthcoming). The reader is referred to those sources for the formal argument. The empirical results are presented here in full.

As we have seen in Chapter 2 and elsewhere, two types of study in the health economics literature point to self-interested physician-induced demand for their own services. One set of studies shows method of remunerating physicians influences utilisation. Where doctors are paid on a fee-for-service basis, utilisation rates are higher than where capitation or salary methods are used, even where similar or identical clientele are served. Another set of studies shows that where physician density (the ratio of physicians to population) is high, a relationship which by itself would depress physician incomes, high density is compensated for by higher per capita utilisation, believed to be physician-induced. This latter behaviour is called compensatory demand stimulation.

In Ireland, GPs are paid on a fee-for-service basis, so we have no opportunity to conduct the first type of study. We do, however, have data on physician density and relevant physician behaviour. Thus what follows is a test of compensatory demand stimulation by Irish GPs.

It will be recalled that Irish GPs do not have access to patients in hospital, do not perform significant amounts of surgery, do not have x-ray or pathology facilities as parts of their practices, and do not work in partnership with specialists or non-physician professionals. Hence if Irish GPs stimulate demand for their own services, it must be almost entirely by generating return visits.

It is important to note how much more limited the scope for physician-induced demand is in Ireland than in other countries using fee-for-service remuneration, particularly the USA and Canada, from which most of the relevant empirical literature emanates. To the extent that it exists, physician-induced demand is a much smaller problem in Ireland than other fee-for-service countries, though of course a larger one than in capitation countries.

In brief, the argument is as follows. Where the supply of GPs is high, other things being equal, physician incomes will be depressed. If physicians compensate for reduced income, they will attempt to generate additional demand, in the form of repeated return visits. Thus, we hypothesise a positive relationship between physician density and return visits. In addition, where the (unstimulated) demand for medical care is lower, again physician incomes will be low, and if they compensate, GPs will generate return visits. Therefore, where per capita income is relatively low, we would expect, other things equal, reduced demand and hence more return visits. Similarly, where the ratio of persons in Category I to population (the Medical Card ratio) is low, again we expect reduced demand for GP services and reduced GP incomes, and an effort to stimulate more return visits. Return visits should be positively related to GP density, and negatively related to per capita income and the Medical Card ratio.

In the analysis which follows, the dependent variable is a dichotomous one, set

equal to one where a future return visit was arranged at the present visit. The dependent variables are hypothesised to influence the *probability* that the present visit leads to a return visit.

The independent variables in the model are the following:

Age, and age squared; Distance to GP from patient's home; GP density; Medical Card Ratio; Area index of per capita income;<sup>71</sup> Women-Category I-No VHI (interaction); Per capita income-GP density (interaction); Per capita income-GP density-Medical Card ratio (interaction).

We will discuss the role of each of these variables in the model and its hypothesised sign.

Each independent variable relates to the agency model, the self-interest model, or both (see Chapter 2). The agency model states that physicians will take the patient's health status, preferences and economic circumstances into account in ordering medical care (such as return visits), acting on the patient's behalf as the doctor believes the patient would act if the latter had the doctor's knowledge, experience and authority. Therefore the agency model involves both health status variables (or their proxies) and economic variables (relating to patient preferences and economic circumstances).

We discuss the independent variables in turn.

Women-Category I-No VHI. As utilisation is typically significantly higher among females than males, sex is a health status and preference proxy and we hypothesise a positive sign for females. Sex may also be a proxy for lower time price, again arguing for a positive sign. Category I is both an agency and a selfinterest variable. Persons in Category I are poorer and, on average, older, and therefore should have higher morbidity. They should therefore have more return visits than the rest of the population. Moreover, they pay nothing for GP services; and therefore, a GP pursuing his or her agency function will order more services for them, other things being equal. Thus the agency model predicts a positive relationship between Category I and return visits. On the other hand, because they do not pay fees for GP services, persons with Category I eligibility are less likely to resist extra return visits than those in the population who do have to pay for them. Indeed, following Wilensky and Rossiter (1981), as discussed in Chapter 2, we might argue that physicians derive disutility (e.g., guilt) from undue demand generation; and in the Irish case disutility will certainly be less where the patient pays no fee. Hence the self-interest model also predicts a positive relationship between Category I and return visits. Because both agency and self-interest models predict a positive relationship, this variable is not useful

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup>The author is indebted to Dr. Miceal Ross of ESRI for this series.

in distinguishing between them. Women-Category I-No VHI performed better than sex and Category I separately, indicating an interaction among these three variables.

Age and age squared. Like sex female, age with age squared is first and foremost a health status proxy and secondarily a proxy for time price. The signs should be negative and positive, respectively, to yield a U-shaped relationship.

Distance to GP. This is a time-price variable, and a physician taking timeprice into account and pursuing an agency role will order more return visits for his or her more nearby patients. Hence a negative relationship is hypothesised. This variable assumes considerable importance in the present study, as a control variable. If it were not included, then physician density could conceivably act as a proxy for time-price (on the plausible assumption that the lower the physicianto-population ratio, the further, on average, each patient would have to travel to a GP).

*GP density.* This is the most important variable in the model. For reasons set forth above, we hypothesise a positive relationship on the basis of the self-interest model. However, such a positive relationship does not point uniquely to the self-interest model. If an area has a high demand for medical care (e.g., because of preferences, social class, income, or health status), it will be likely to have both more return visits and a higher GP density. Thus it is important to control for the factors which influence demand for medical care. One weakness in the present study is the lack of measures of health status. We are unable to state whether there are areas with, e.g., a high prevalence of chronic conditions which might explain a positive relationship between return visits and GP density without resort to physician-induced demand. We do have a number of proxies, however, as noted. Moreover, we have two other variables, *viz.*, Medical Card ratio and per capita income, which relate to the self-interest hypothesis.

Medical Card ratio. On the basis of the self-interest model, we hypothesise a negative relationship, for reasons stated earlier. It will be noted that Category I eligibility has quite different effects when viewed from the individual patient perspective and when viewed from the standpoint of the area average. A patient with Category I eligibility is a *more* likely candidate than those in Categories II or III for demand stimulation, while a high regional ratio of Category I patients to population *reduces* the probability that any given patient, whatever be his or her own eligibility, will be the target of demand-stimulating efforts.

Area index of per capita income. On the basis of the self-interest model, we also hypothesise a negative relationship here, for reasons stated earlier. Again, there is a difference between the effect of patient income and that of area per capita income. The higher is the patient's income, the more return visits will be predicted, on the basis of the agency model. However, high per capita income, by raising the demand for GP services, will reduce the need for and hence the probability of economically-motivated, physician-stimulated return visits.

Interactions. In addition, the regional variables - GP density, Medical Card ratio, and index of per capita income — were combined in two- and three-way

interactions, on the hypothesis that these variables may combine multiplicatively as well as (or instead of) additively, in their effects on return visit behaviour.

# Empirical Estimates

Because the dependent variable is dichotomous, it is interpreted as relating to probabilities, and the model was estimated using a logistic multiple regression model.<sup>72</sup> Regressions were run on six sets of cases, namely:<sup>73</sup>

All persons; All persons, except females aged 18-40 Males only; Females only; Persons with Category I eligibility only; and Persons with Categories II or III eligibility only.

Females aged 18–40 were excluded in one version in order to delete most series of obstetrical return visits.<sup>74</sup> The model was partitioned by sex because of the known differences in morbidity and medical care utilisation between males and females. As those with Category I eligibility have free GP care while those with Categories II and III eligibility do not, the two groups arguably have quite different return visit behaviour.

The results are given in Tables 6.43 through 6.54. In all instances, tables reporting logistic regression results are followed by tables reporting illustrative probabilities calculated from the regressions.

The results strongly support the hypothesis. GP density, Medical Card ratio, and index of per capita income are all statistically very significant and their signs are in the hypothesised directions (positive, negative and negative, respectively).

To assess the effects of these three critical variables in the model, it is not sufficient to examine the main effects alone; interactions must also be considered. An example is GP density. In the all persons version of the regression (Table 6.43) the sign of the GP density variable in the full model is negative, which would appear to run counter to the hypothesis. But GP density also appears in two interactions, per capita income — GP density (positive) and per capita income — GP density — Medical Card ratio (negative). The question is the net combined effect of GP density on the dependent variable, or in other words, the sign of the partial derivative of the probability that a return visit was arranged at the most recent GP visit with respect to GP density. That the sign is positive is clear when one examines the probabilities in Table 6.44: as GP density varies

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup>The model was estimated by the LOGIST procedure in SAS. See footnote 66, above. However, some OLS regressions were run on the same model, yielding essentially similar results. See Tussing, 1983a.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup>In addition, earlier versions of the same model were run for children aged 16 and under, and for persons aged 65 and over, with essentially similar results. <sup>74</sup>The author is indebted to his former colleague, Professor Stephen H. Long of Syracuse

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup>The author is indebted to his former colleague, Professor Stephen H. Long of Syracuse University, for suggesting this version.

₩ ₩ ₽ 2(b)	Full Model	5% Version
N	1 003	1 003
Equation $\chi^2$	183.70**	160.54**
Intercept	30.824	-9.313
Age	0.028*	0.021**
	(3.87)	(36.92)
Age Squared $\div$ 1,000	-0.083	
	(0.25)	
Distance to GP	-0.098	-0.112*
	(3.54)	(5.46)
GP Density	-86.887**	21.701**
	(12.62)	(36.35)
Medical Card Ratio	29.055**	
	(15.12)	
Category I	0.697**	0.680**
	(14.22)	(15.22)
Per Capita Income	-0.623**	
	(21.10)	
Interactions		
Woman <sup>(c)</sup> -Cat. I-No VHI	0.611*	0.711**
	(4.32)	(6.83)
P.C. Income-GP Density	1.629**	
	(21.89)	
P.C. Income-GP Density-	-0.967**	
Medical Card Ratio	(22.14)	(23.18)
Joint Tests:	- <u> </u>	
Age	(37.96)**	
GP Density	(49.35)**	(36.49)**
Medical Card Ratio	(38.94)**	
Index of Per Capita Income	(29.44)**	

Table 6.43: Was return visit arranged at most recent GP visit? - Dichotomous variable, logistic regression - all persons<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup> $\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates. <sup>(b)</sup> $\overline{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>"Woman" defined as female aged 40-64. Significance: \*0.01 \leq 0.05. \*\*p  $\leq$  0.01.

from its minimum value (0.429) to its maximum (0.555), holding constant other variables at their means (and qualitative variables at the values specified), the predicted probability varies positively, and quite considerably, from 0.08 to 0.91.

		Probabilities	
		Full Model	5% Version
**Baseline probability applies when	Baseline probability*	.20	.20
the following variables are set			
equal to their means, as below: <sup>(b)</sup>	Other probabilities**		
Age = 39.64	Age =		
Distance to $GP = 2.60$	$\min = 1$	.08	.10
GP density $= .462$	10	.11	.12
Medical Card ratio = .369	20	.14	.14
Index of per capita income	30	.17	.17
= 99.04	40	.20	.20
and when the following qualities	50	.24	.24
obtain: <sup>(b)</sup>	60	.28	.27
Eligibility = Category II/III	70	.31	.32
VHI cover = no	$\max = 95$	.40	.44
**Other probabilities apply when	Eligibility =		
variables are changed, one by one	Category I	.34	.33
(the others held constant as	$VHI \ cover = yes$	_	
above) to the values and/or	Sex-age-eligibility-VHI cover <sup>(c)</sup>		
qualities indicated.	Woman-I-no = yes	.54	.50
	Distance to GP		
	min = under 1 mile	.25	.25
	max = more than 10 miles	.15	.15
	Index of per capita income		
	$\min = 73$	.40	—
	$\max = 122$	.11	
	GP Density =		
	$\min = 0.429$	.08	.13
	$\max = 0.555$	.91	.53
	Medical Card ratio		
	$\min = 0.232$	.54	
	$\max = 0.586$	.01	

 Table 6.44: Probability that most recent GP visit resulted in a return visit being arranged, all persons, based on logistic regression <sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 6.43. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model. <sup>(c)</sup>"Woman" defined as female aged 40-64.

The appropriate significance test for this combined effect of GP density is the joint test, reported below the regression results in Table 6.43. The reported  $\chi^2$  value is extremely high, meaning that the effect is very significant indeed.

In the other, partitioned versions, GP density (main effects only) is always very significant, but in the full model it is sometimes positive and sometimes negative. However, the partial derivatives are always positive and in absolute values quite strong; and the joint tests show the effect of GP density to be considerable in all cases.

تې ۷(b)	Full Model	5% Version
R <sup></sup>	0.147	0.136
	863	863
Equation $\chi^2$	175.79**	156.79**
Intercept	30.598	-10.009
Age	0.031*	0.020**
	(4.29)	(32.99)
Age Squared $\div$ 1,000	-0.125	
	(0.49)	
Distance to GP	-0.102	-0.126*
	(3.25)	(6.01)
GP Density	-84.455**	24.187**
	(10.16)	(39.41)
Medical Card Ratio	26.386**	· · ·
	(10.90)	
Category I	<b>`0.79</b> 1**	0.772**
5 ,	(16.21)	(17.26)
Per Captia Income	`-0.61́5**	
I	(17.60)	
Interactions		
Woman <sup>(c)</sup> -Category I-No VHI	0.556	0.680**
0 7	(3.39)	(6.07)
P.C. Income-GP Density	`1.59́7**	
,	(18.00)	
P.C. Income-GP Density-Medical Card Ratio	o`_0.919**	-0.187**
	(17.62)	(27.37)
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Joint Tests:	(04 45)**	
Age	(34.45)**	/00 <b>/1</b> \**
GP Density	(47.01)**	(39.41)**
Medical Card Ratio	(38.21)**	
Index of Per Capita Income	(24.79)**	

Table 6.45:	Was return visit arranged at most recent GP visit? - Dichotomous
variable,	logistic regression – All persons except women aged 18–40 <sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup> $\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates. <sup>(b)</sup> $\overline{\mathbb{R}}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>"Woman" defined as female aged 40-64. Significance: \*0.01 \leq 0.05. \*\*p  $\leq$  0.01.

		Probabilities	
		Full Model	5% Version
*Baseline probability applies when	Baseline probability*	.21	.20
the following variables are set			
equal to their means, as below: <sup>(b)</sup>	Other probabilities**		
Age = 41.47	Age =		
Distance to $GP = 2.61$	$\min = 1$	.08	.10
GP density = $0.463$	10	.11	.12
Medical Card ratio = 0.373	20	.14	.14
Index of per capita income	30	.17	.17
= 98.53	40	.20	.20
and when the following qualities	50	.24	.23
obtain: <sup>(0)</sup>	60	.27	.27
Eligibility = Category II/III	70	.30	.31
Sex-age-eligibility-VHI cover	$\max = 95$	.36	.42
= not woman-I-no <sup>(c)</sup>	Eligibility =		
<b>**</b> Other probabilities apply when	Category I	.37	.35
variables are changed, one by one	Sex-age-eligibility-VHI cover <sup>(c)</sup>		
(the others held constant as	Woman	.50	.52
above) to the values and/or	Distance to GP		
qualities indicated.	min = under 1 mile	.26	.26
	max = more than 10 miles	.16	.14
	Index of per capita income		
	$\min = 73$	.41	.34
	$\max = 122$	.11	.10
	GP Density		
	$\min = 0.429$	.07	.12
	max = 0.555	.91	.56
	Medical Card ratio		
	$\min = 0.232$	.59	.42
	$\max = 0.586$	.01	.04

Table 6.46: Probability that most recent GP visit resulted in a return visit being arranged, females 18-40 excluded, based on logistic regression <sup>(a)</sup>

*Notes:* <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 6.45. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model. <sup>(c)</sup>"Woman" defined as female aged 40-64.

= ab	Full Model	5% Version
$\mathbb{R}^{25}$	0.146	0.147
N	453	453
Equation $\chi^2$	92.89**	83.35**
Intercept	-14.916	-7.930
Age	0.050*	0.029**
	(5.06)	(31.83)
Age Squared $\div$ 1,000	-0.272	· · /
	(1.07)	
Distance to GP	-0.163*	
,	(3.95)	
GP Density	30.777**	18.121**
•	(9.83)	(16.22)
Medical Card Ratio	3.508	-8.218**
	(0.20)	(26.41)
Category I	0.895**	0.782**
	(11.03)	(9.27)
Per Capita Income	0.025	
	(0.75)	
Interactions:	()	
P.C. Income-GP Density-Medical Card Ratio	-0.338	
,	(2.63)	
Joint Tests		
Age	(27.84)**	
GP Density	(16.64)́**	
Medical Card Ratio	(20.80)**	
Index of Per Capita Income	(3.55)	

Table 6.47: Was return visit arranged at most recent GP visit? - Dichotomous variable, logistic regression - Males only<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes:  ${}^{(a)}\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates.  ${}^{(b)}\overline{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. Significance:  $*0.01 . <math>**p \le 0.01$ .

		Proba	bilities
-		Full Model	5% Version
**Baseline probability applies when	Baseline probability*	.19	.18
the following variables are set			
equal to their means, as below: <sup>(b)</sup>	Other probabilities**		
Age = 37.72	Age =		
Distance to $GP = 2.62$	$\min = 1$	.05	.07
GP density $= .461$	10	.08	.09
Medical Card ratio $= .373$	20	.11	.11
Index of per capita income	30	.15	.15
= 98.07	40	.20	.19
and when the following qualities	50	.24	.23
obtain: <sup>(b)</sup>	60	.28	.29
Eligibility = Category II/III	70	.32	.36
VHI cover = no	max = 88	.34	.48
**Other probabilities apply when	Eligibility =		
variables are changed, one by one	Category I	.37	.32
(the others held constant as	VHI cover = yes		_
above) to the values and/or	Distance to GP		
qualities indicated.	min = under 1 mile	.27	_
	max = more than 10 miles	.12	_
	Index of per capita income		
	$\min = 73$	.31	—
	$\max = 122$	.08	
	GP Density		
	$\min = 0.429$	.10	.11
	max = 0.555	.53	.54
	Medical Card ratio		
	$\min = 0.232$	.51	.41
	$\max = 0.586$	.02	.04

Table 6.48: Probability that most recent GP visit resulted in a return visit being<br/>arranged, males only, based on logistic regression (a)

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 6.47. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model.

T 2 (b)	Full Model	5% Version
R <sup></sup>	0.135	0.111
Equation $x^2$	330 111 45**	02 06**
Equation X	111.43**	65.00**
Intercept	42.461	-6.971
Age	0.008	0.015**
	(0.15)	(11.99)
Age Squared $\div$ 1,000	0.112	
	(0.24)	
Distance to GP	-0.091	
	(1.64)	
GP Density	-118.999**	10.842**
	(13.80)	(17.09)
Medical Card Ratio	39.730**	· · ·
	(14.23)	
Category I	0.636*	0.632**
	(5.68)	(6.98)
Per Capita Income	-0.795**	· · ·
	(19.89)	
Interactions	<b>x</b> ,	
Woman <sup>(c)</sup> -Category I-No VHI	0.696*	0.707*
0 /	(3.99)	(5.80)
P.C. Income-GP Density	2.075**	
,	(20.25)	
P.C. Income-GP Density-Medical Card Ratio	-1.186**	
<b>,</b>	(17.08)	
** · , 77* ,		
Joint Lesis:	/19 0/\**	
Age	$(13.04)^{**}$	
Gr Density Medical Court Detie	(31.80)**	
Medical Gard Ratio	(19.89)**	
Index of Per Capita Income	(19.32)**	

Table 6.49: Was return visit arranged at most recent GP visit? – Dichotomous variable, logistic regression – females only<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes:  ${}^{(a)}\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates.  ${}^{(b)}\overline{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. (c)"Woman" defined as female aged 40-64. Significance:  $*0.01 . <math>**p \le 0.01$ .

		Proba	bilities
		Full Model	5% Version
*Baseline probability applies when the following variables are set	Baseline probability*	.19	.21
equal to their means, as below: <sup>(b)</sup> Age = $41.22$	Other probabilities** Age =		
Distance to $GP = 2.58$	$\min = 1$	.13	.13
GP density = $.462$	10	.14	.14
Medical Card ratio $= .366$	20	.15	.16
Index of per capita income	30	.17	.18
= 99.83	40	.19	.21
and when the following qualities	50	.22	.23
obtain: <sup>(b)</sup>	60	.25	.26
Eligibility = Category II/III	70	.30	.29
Age-eligibility-VHI cover	$\max = 95$	.45	.38
= Not Woman-I-No <sup>(c)</sup>	Eligibility =		
<b>**</b> Other probabilities apply when	Category I	.31	.33
variables are changed, one by one	Age-Eligibility-VHI cover <sup>(a)c</sup>		
(the others held constant as	Woman-I-No = yes	.47	.54
above) to the values and/or	Distance to GP		
qualities indicated.	min = under 1 mile	.23	
	max = more than 10 miles	.15	_
	Index of per capita income		
	$\min = 73$	.41	_
	$\max = 122$	.11	
	GP Density		
	$\min = 0.429$	.06	.16
	$\max = 0.555$	.95	.42
	Medical Card ratio		
	$\min = 0.232$	.48	_
	$\max = 0.586$	.00	

 Table 6.50: Probability that most recent GP visit resulted in a return visit being arranged, famales only, based on logistic regression<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 6.49. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model. <sup>(c)</sup>"Woman" defined as female aged 40-64.

<u>p</u> 2 (b)	Full Model	5% Version
N	401	401
Equation $\chi^2$	66.76**	49.44**
Intercept	40.363	-7.099
Age	-0.020	0.018**
	(0.71)	(14.78)
Age Squared $\div$ 1,000	0.441	· · ·
	(2.81)	
Distance to GP	0.143	-0.176**
	(3.48)	(6.75)
GP Density	-100.844**	18.174**
	(9.89)	(14.01)
Medical Card Ratio	23.685*	· · ·
	(5.50)	
Per Capita Income	-0.672**	
•	(14.26)	
Interactions:	<b>`</b>	
Woman <sup>(c)</sup>	0.962**	0.719**
	(8.98)	(7.14)
P.C. Income-GP Density	1.693**	· · ·
,	(13.80)	
P.C. Income-GP Density-Medical Card Ratio	-0.821**	-0.135**
	(8.87)	(9.24)
Joint Tests:		
Age	(19.10)**	
GP Density	(23.46)**	(14.01)**
Medical Card Ratio	(18.58)**	
Index of Per Capita Income	(16.68)**	

Table 6.51:	Was return visit arranged at most recent GP visit? - Dichotomou	s
	variable, logistic regression, Category I only <sup>(a)</sup>	

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup> $\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates. <sup>(b)</sup> $\mathbb{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>"Woman" defined as female aged 40-64. Significance: \*0.01 <sup>(a)</sup> $\langle p \leq 0.05. **p \leq 0.01.$ 

		Proba	bilities
		Full Model	5% Version
*Baseline probability applies when the following variables are set	Baseline probability*	.31	.39
equal to their means, as below: <sup>(b)</sup>	Other probabilities**		
Age = 51.06	Sex = male	·	<u></u>
Distance to $GP = 2.60$	Age =		
GP density = $.471$	$\min = 1$	.28	.21
Medical Card ratio = $.403$	10	.25	.24
Index of per capita income	20	.24	.27
= 94.63	30	.25	.30
and when the following qualities	40	.27	.34
obtain: <sup>(b)</sup>	50	.31	.38
sex = female	60	.37	.43
VHI cover = no	70	.46	.47
<b>**</b> Other probabilities apply when	$\max = 88$	.68	.55
variables are changed, one by one	VHI cover = yes		—
(the others held constant as	Distance to GP		
above) to the values and/or	min = under 1 mile	.40	.50
qualities indicated.	max = more than 10 miles	.22	.26
	GP Density =		
	$\min = 0.429$	.13	.27
	max = 0.555	.84	.66
	Medical Card ratio		
	$\min = 0.232$	.75	
	max = 0.586	.03	
	Index of Per Capita Income		
	min = 73	.49	
	max = 122	.18	

Table 6.52: Probability that most recent GP visit resulted in a return visit being<br/>arranged, Category I only, based on logistic regression<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 6.51. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model.

코 ρ(h)	Full Model	5% Version
$\mathbf{R}^{2(0)}$	0.067	0.075
N	602	602
Equation $\chi^2$	55.59**	52.31**
Intercept	-19.972	-11.478
Age	0.064**	0.062**
	(8.89)	(9.57)
Age Squared $\div$ 1,000	-0.508*	-0.489*
	(3.84)	(3.87)
Distance to GP	-0.035	~ /
	(0.24)	
GP Density	37.088**	25.247**
	(15.49)	(22.89)
Medical Card Ratio	12.412	
	(2.54)	
Per Capita Income	0.037	
L .	(1.90)	
Interactions	~ /	
Woman <sup>(c)</sup>	-0.171	
	(0.31)	
P.C. Income-GP Density-Medical Card Ratio	-0.500*	-0.185**
,	(5.99)	(13.97)
Joint Tests:		
Age	(21.52)**	(24.88)**
GP Density	(21.56)**	(23.26)**
Medical Card Ratio	(15.17)**	
Index of Per Capita Income	(8.02)**	
FF	()	

Table 6.53: Was return visit arranged at most recent GP visit? - Dichotomous<br/>variable, logistic regression, Categories II-III only<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup> $\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates. <sup>(b)</sup> $\overline{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>"Woman" defined as female aged 40-64. Significance: \*0.01 <sup>(a)</sup> $\langle p \leq 0.05. **p \leq 0.01.$ 

		Probabilities	
		Full Model	5% Version
*Baseline probability applies when	Baseline probability*	.20	.20
equal to their means, as below <sup>(b)</sup>	Other trobabilities**		
$\Delta q = \frac{32.03}{2}$	Age -		
$P_{\text{Distance to } CP = 2.61}$	Age =	06	06
CP density = 455	$\lim_{n \to \infty} = 1$	.00	.00
Medical Card ratio - 346	20	.09	.09
Index of per capita income	30	10	.14
- 101 98	40	.19	.19
and when the following qualities	50	.24	.24
obtain: <sup>(b)</sup>	60	.20	.47
Sex-age = Not Woman <sup>(c)</sup>	70	.2.9	.49
**Other probabilities apply when	max = 95	.25	.20
variables are changed one by one	Sex-age <sup>(c)</sup>	.40	.40
(the others held constant as	Woman = yes	94	_
above) to the values and/or	Distance to GP	.41	
gualities indicated.	min = under 1 mile	99	_
1	max = more than 10 miles	19	
	Index of per capita income		
	min = 73	.40	
	$\max = 122$	.08	
	GP Density		
	$\min = 0.429$	.11	.13
	max = 0.555	.58	.63
	Medical Card ratio		
	$\min = 0.232$	.40	
	$\max = 0.586$	.01	—

Table 6.54: Probability that most recent GP visit resulted in a return visit being<br/>arranged, Categories II/III only based on logistic regression (a)

*Notes:* <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 6.53. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model. <sup>(c)</sup>"Woman" defined as female aged 40-64.

A similar story can be told concerning the Medical Card ratio and the index of per capita income. Both are hypothesised to vary inversely with the dependent variable. When we look at the main effects, these variables sometimes have a positive effect. But again when we look at the partial derivatives, as indicated by the probabilities inferred from the regressions, the effect is always strongly negative.

When these regressions were run without interactions (not reported here), the signs of the coefficients of GP density, Medical Card ratio, and index of per capita income were as hypothesised — i.e., positive, negative, and negative respectively — and they were significant at better than the 5 per cent level, usually at better than 1 per cent.

When one compares the full models with the 5 per cent versions, one sees a similar effect. In all three instances in which GP density (main effects) has a negative sign in the full model, i.e., in Tables 6.43, 6.45 and 6.49, it "turns around" and becomes positive, and still very significant, once the per capita income-GP density variable is eliminated.

It should be noted that, in each case, we are assessing the effects of each independent variable, assuming the others are held constant at their means even though in the real world they tend to vary together. For example, the Medical Card ratio and the index of per capita income have a zero-order correlation of -0.85. This explains how the predicted probabilities can vary so greatly. In the real world, the effects of these variables work against each other, more or less.

The other variables in the model may be of interest.

Age is always significant (when the joint test is noted) and positive. The magnitude of the effect is large, though least so in the Category II/III version.

Category I eligibility raises the probability of a return visit from 0.20 to 0.34 in the all persons version; the effects are almost identical in the other versions. This result is consistent with both agency and self-interest models of physician behaviour. If the person in Category I is a woman aged 40–64, without VHI cover, the probability in the all persons case rises to 0.54, again with similar effects in other versions of the model.

Excluding women aged 18-40 adds about ten points to the  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . Apart from that, the results of that version are virtually the same as in the all-persons version. Partitioning by sex seems to improve the regressions; partitioning by category of eligibility worsens them.

In general, these equations explain 10 to 15 per cent of the person-to-person variation in the probability that his or her most recent GP consultation led to a return visit being arranged. Of course, if we had health status information on the patient, or information on the doctor, these R<sup>2</sup>s would be higher. None the less, using essentially demographic, economic and market-related data, we are able to explain an important part of physician behaviour. We are left with the conclusion that Irish GPs do engage in compensatory demand stimulation.

## "Necessary" vs. "Unnecessary" Utilisation

All of the foregoing discussion of self-interested demand stimulation by Irish GPs may leave the impression that much unnecessary utilisation — GP consultations and other utilisation correlated with them — must be taking place.

The notion that there is a dichotomy between "necessary" and "unnecessary" utilisation is based on a simplistic and excessively mechanical interpretation, both of medicine and of economics. When a doctor orders a return visit which he or she would not have ordered under other incentive arrangements, it would be wrong to conclude that the visit can have no medical value, or perhaps it should be said no *probability* of any medical value. Medical value is not an either-or quality, but a question of degree and of judgement. A major problem in health care systems, not only in Ireland but around the world, is the tendency, arising out of moral hazard and provider incentive structures, to push medical care utilisation beyond the point where its benefits are as great as its costs. In most systems, that in Ireland included, decision makers in medical resource utilisation — mainly patients and physicians — do not bear the costs, individually, of their decisions. Unless other checks are introduced, excessive utilisation results. In feefor-service systems, as in Ireland, incentives are actually perverse, encouraging still further excessive utilisation.

This excessive utilisation might best be described as *uneconomic* rather than unnecessary. Individual consultations arising out of self-interested demand stimulation by GPs may sometimes be of medical value; taken together in aggregate, all such visits almost certainly are. But it is almost certain that they are not worth their cost. The same resources, devoted to medical care elsewhere in the system, will yield significantly more medical value.

Having said this, it is important to add that *some* physician-stimulated utilisation is probably actually unnecessary. Indeed, because in medical care it is not always true that "more is better", some such utilisation may actually be harmful. Presumably, this is the rare exception, rather than the rule.

# Conclusion

In Chapter 5, we discussed the reasons for believing the incentive structure in the Irish medical care system to be often perverse. Those a priori propositions have been borne out in this chapter. Consumer incentives are perverse, in the sense that persons in Categories II and III are encouraged to make excessive use of high cost specialist and hospital services, which are often cheaper to the patient than GP care. Provider incentives are perverse, in the sense that they induce GPs to generate excessive<sup>§</sup> return visits, particularly amongst the Category I population. A systematic review by policymakers of this incentive structure is appropriate. Some suggestions are made in Chapter 8.

First, however, we turn to utilisation of services other than general practitioner care.

# Chapter 7

# UTILISATION OF OTHER MEDICAL CARE SERVICES AND PREVENTION-ORIENTED CARE

In Chapter 6, we reviewed the utilisation of general practitioner services, including household expenditures on GPs, and the issue of physician-induced demand for medical care by GPs. In this chapter, we examine the utilisation of medical care other than general practitioner services: specialist care; pharmaceutical prescriptions; out-patient and in-patient hospital care and services; and dental care. All except the last, as will be seen, are strongly linked to the utilisation of GP services. In a second section, we examine the determinants of household expenditures on medical care services. In a third and final section, we review the utilisation of prevention-oriented care.

## A. Utilisation of Other Medical Care Services

In Chapter 6, we introduced a general model for the demand for or utilisation of medical care services and applied it to GPs. The same model can be applied, in general, to other services. For GPs, individual utilisation is a function of his or her health status (H<sub>i</sub>); background variables affecting taste for or attitude to medical care (Z<sub>i</sub>); money-price (P<sub>i</sub>); time-price (T<sub>i</sub>); and availability of the service (A<sub>i</sub>). For services other than GP care, we add a fifth variable to the model, *viz.*, physician referral or prescription (R<sub>i</sub>). This is, of course, strongly correlated with H<sub>i</sub>, but it was thought to be better to indicate it specifically and separately, as health status and referral are not the same, and the latter deserves explicit reference. Thus, for pharmaceutical prescription medicines (for example), subscripted p, the model is written

$$X_{pi} = X_{pi}(H_i, Z_i, P_{pi}, T_{pi}, A_{pi}, R_{pi})$$

and for other services the subscripts merely change.

As before, we do not have health status data, and must use proxies, mainly sex and age. General practitioner (and in some equations specialist) utilisation, which mainly represent R, also indirectly reflect health status. Occupation group and education are the main Z variables. P is represented primarily by category of health services eligibility, VHI cover, and other help with medical bills, though usual GP fee levels are included in several equations. Time price is measured again by distance to GP, and in some cases by whether there is a large (300-bed) hospital nearby. Availability is also measured by the nearby hospital variable and by the ratio of persons eligible in Category I to the population. The "Nearby Hospital" variable is a dichotomous one: "Is there a 300-bed hospital within 10 miles?" On the theory that persons in Category I have higher utilisation levels for most medical care services, the ratio of those persons to population is an index of demand pressure on the available services and hence of availability. R is measured by GP utilisation and by specialist utilisation.

The results are reported in Tables 7.1 through 7.16, inclusive, for pharmaceutical prescription items, specialist consultations, out-patient hospital utilisation, in-patient hospital utilisation and dentist visits, respectively. For each type of utilisation (except dental visits for reasons to be noted), there are three tables. In the first, we report on a regression in which the dependent variable is dichotomous, taking the form, "Were there any pharmaceutical medicines prescribed (specialist consultations, dentist visits, etc.) in 1980?" As elsewhere in this study, where a dichotomous dependent variable is used, the form of regression analysis used is a logistic function. In the second table, following each logistic regression, there are reported illustrative probabilities, as in Chapter 6, because the parameters of the logistic regressions themselves are almost impossible to interpret intuitively. In the third table, we report on regressions in which only those persons with any 1980 utilisation are included, and the dependent variable is the number of pharmaceutical items prescribed, specialist consultations, etc., or in the case of in-patient admissions, the length of stay. The dependent variable is continuous and OLS (ordinary least squares) regression analysis is used. Because of the limited dependent variable, there is a chance of selection bias, and accordingly we include as an independent variable the inverse Mills ratio, as discussed in Chapters 1 and 6.

The tables reporting OLS regressions show both full models and 5 per cent versions, and also models including and excluding other household members' GP utilisation. See Chapter 6 for a discussion. This means there are four columns in each OLS table when the household utilisation variable is significant at the 5 per cent level or better, and three if it is excluded from the 5 per cent version.

The reader will find it instructive to compare the findings in Tables 7.1-7.16 with the data on utilisation found in Appendix Tables A.1 through A.6. Table 7.1 indicates that sex has essentially no *net* relationship to pharmaceutical prescriptions. This is in spite of the fact that Appendix Table A.1 shows that females had nearly 30 per cent more pharmaceutical prescription items per person in 1980, and indeed nearly 20 per cent more prescription items per GP consultation. Evidently, these male-female differences are completely explained by other variables in the model, especially GP utilisation.

The same can also be said for age. Appendix Table A.1 shows an important influence on pharmaceutical prescriptions for this variable, especially as between persons aged 65 and over, and the rest of the population. Part of this is due to higher GP utilisation among this part of the population, but Appendix Table A.1 also shows a very much higher number of prescription items per GP consultation — about twice as high — for aged persons as for the rest. Hence age has its own effect. In Table 7.1, where both GP and specialist consultations, as well as other variables correlated with age (such as category of entitlement), are controlled for, age does not significantly influence whether there were any prescribed pharmaceutical items in 1980. However, Table 7.3 shows age to influence the number of prescription items, for persons with any, in the 5 per cent version.

Appendix Table A.2 shows pharmaceutical prescriptions to be considerably higher for persons in Category I than for those in II or III; and the same holds true of prescription items per GP consultation. The logistic regression in Table 7.1 shows persons in Category I to be significantly more likely to have any prescriptions filled even where such other varibles as age and GP utilisation are controlled for. However, Table 7.2 shows the magnitude of this effect to be small. In Table 7.3, women aged 40–64, with Category I eligibility and no VHI, have nearly four more prescription items per year than other persons who have any, in the 5 per cent version.

Easily the most powerful effect on pharmaceutical prescriptions as judged by  $\chi^2$  and t-statistics, is, of course, GP utilisation itself. This leads us to note again the point made in Chapter 6, that general practitioner services are important not only in themselves but in the other resource-utilising medical care decisions linked to them causally and statistically. As might be expected, specialist consultations are also significantly associated with prescriptions, though less strongly than GP consultations.

Table 7.2 shows how strong the relationship between GP and specialist consultations and the likelihood of a prescription is. Table 7.3 shows that, amongst persons with any prescriptions, each GP consultation adds approximately 1.2 prescription items, and each two specialist visits add about one prescription item.

Table 7.3 shows the Inverse Mills ratio to be significant though small in magnitude.

The regressions reported in Table 7.3 suffered from heteroscedasticity in the error variance, leading us to adjust the critical values of the t-statistics, as discussed in Chapter 1.

The  $\mathbb{R}^2$ s shown in Tables 7.1 and 7.3 are higher than most of those reported in this volume, and are relatively high for this kind of microdata analysis. Our equations explain more than a third of the person-to-person variability in prescriptions.

Tables 7.4, 7.5 and 7.6 report on determinants of specialist consultations. A review of the three tables will quickly make clear that they are all dominated by the influence of GP consultations. This is not surprising and it again points up the crucial role of GPs in subsequent utilisation. However, Table 7.5 shows each GP consultation to have a relatively small effect on the probability of a specialist consultation and Table 7.6 shows that the *number* of specialist visits was not significantly influenced by the number of GP visits.

	Full Model	5% Version
$\mathbf{\bar{R}}^{2(6)}$	0.371	0.362
N	1,068	1,068
Equation $\chi^2$	532.35**	512.17**
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	0.132	-1.185**
-	(0.01)	(101.05)
Sex Female	0.238	
	(2.02)	
Age	-0.014	
ũ.	(0.98)	
Age Squared $\div$ 1,000	0.197	
	(1.19)	
Category I	0.469*	0.392*
0,	(4.91)	(4.63)
Category III	-0.008	`′
5 7	(0.00)	
No VHI	-0.143	
	(0.43)	
Other help	0.297	
1	(1.04)	
GP Density	-2.856	_
,	(0.74)	
Medical Card Ratio	-0.180	_
	(0.02)	
Consultant Density	0.259	_
, ,	(0.05)	
Woman-I-No VHI <sup>(d)</sup>	-0.261	
	(0.22)	
Times Seen by GP	0.799**	0.820**
	(150.82)	(164.45)
Times Seen by Specialist	0.112	<u> </u>
	(1.58)	
Foint Tests:		
Age	(1.25)	
	()	

Table 7.1: Logistic regressions of any prescribed pharmaceutical items in 1980<br/>(Dichotomous Variable)<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup> $\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates. <sup>(b)</sup> $\overline{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in Full Model includes: Sex = male; eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = no; and other help = no. <sup>(d)</sup> "Woman" = 40-64. Significance:  $*0.01 . <math>**p \le 0.01$ .

		Proba	Probabilities	
		Full Model	5% Version	
*Baseline probability applies when	Baseline probability *	.90	.91	
the following variables are set	1 2			
cqual to their means, as below: <sup>(b)</sup>	Other probabilities**			
Age = 38.50	Sex = male	.87		
$\overrightarrow{GP}$ density = .462	Age =			
Consultant density $= .462$	$\min = 1$	.92		
Medical Card ratio = .370	10	.91		
Annual no. of GP consultations	20	.90		
= .381	30	.90		
and when the following equalities	40	.90		
obtain: <sup>(b)</sup>	50	.90		
sex = female	60	.91		
eligibility = Category II	70	.92		
VHI cover = no	$\max = 95$	.94		
Other help = no	Eligibility =			
<b>**</b> Other probabilities apply when	Category I	.93	.94	
variables are changed, one by	Category III	.90		
one, (the others held constant as	VHI cover = yes	.91		
above) to the values and/or	$GP \ density =$			
qualities indicated.	$\min = 0.429$	.91		
	max = 0.555	.87		
	Consultant Density			
	$\min = 0$	.89		
	max = .387	.90	—	
	$Other \ help = yes$	.92		
	Medical Care ratio			
	min = 0.232	.90		
	max = 0.586	.89	·	
	Annual GP consultations			
	$\min = 0$	.23	.23	
	2	.60	.61	
	6	.97	.98	
	12	1.00	1.00	
	24	1.00	1.00	
	$\max = 60$	1.00	1.00	
	Specialist consultations			
	$\min = 0$	.89	_	
	2	.91		
	6	.94		
	12	.97		
- Taka 1	max = 25	.99		

Table 7.2: Probability of any prescribed pharmaceutical medicines in 1980, based on logistic regression <sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 7.1. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model.

	Full	Full Model	
= a(b)	(1)	(2)	(3)
R <sup>2</sup> <sup>(0)</sup>	0.373	0.375	0.382
	641	641	641
Equation F	28.263**	26.681**	78.61**
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	3.437	3.889	-2.394
Sex Female	0.440	0.317	_
	(0.493)	(0.355)	
Age	0.071	<b>`</b> 0.069 <sup>´</sup>	0.091**
-	(0.966)	(0.946)	(5.080)
Age squared $\div$ 1,000	0.206	0.204	
	(0.234)	(0.233)	
Category I	1.501	<b>`1.653</b> ´	
	(1.347)	(1.481)	
Category III	2.111	2.052	
	(1.410)	(1.373)	
No VHI	0.417	0.484	
	(0.338)	(0.393)	
Other Help	-0.243	-0.084	_
1	(0.154)	(0.053)	
GP Density	-17.674	-17.872	_
·	(1.139)	(1.153)	
Medical Card Ratio	<b>`</b> 1.677 <sup>´</sup>	1.937	
	(0.353)	(0.408)	
Persons in Household	-0.034	-0.028	_
	(0.161)	(0.133)	
Woman-I-No VHI <sup>(d)</sup>	3.470	3.359	3.950*(*)
	(1.900)	(1.841)	(2.466)
GP Visits	1.179 <sup>**</sup>	1.211**	1.200**
	(13.906)	(14.003)	(14.649)
Specialist Visits	0.529(*)	0.516	0.508(*)
•	(2.011)	(1.965)	(1.990)
Household Utilisation	`_'	0.163	(
		(1.769)	
Inverse Mills	-5.276*(*)	-0.000 <sup>(c)</sup> **	$-0.000^{(e)}$ *(*)
	(2.716)	(2.823)	(2.751)
Joint Tests:			
Age	(5.657)**	(3.981)**	

Table 7.3: Regression of annual number of prescribed pharmaceutical items, 1980, on selected independent variables, ordinary least squares, persons with any items only<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>Figures in parentheses beneath parameter estimates are t-statistics. Columns (1) and (3) include, and Column (2) excludes, household utilisation (GP utilisation of other household members). <sup>(b)</sup> $\overline{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in Full Model includes sex = male; eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = yes; Other help = no. <sup>(d)</sup>"Woman" = age 40-64. <sup>(e)</sup>Less than |0.0005| but not zero.

Significance: \*0.01  $. **<math>p \le 0.01$ .

(\*) parentheses around an asterisk indicates parameter did not pass t-test adjusted for heteroscedasticity; see Chapter 1.

	Full Model	5% Version
R <sup>2(b)</sup>	0.030	0.039
N	1.068	1.068
Equation $\chi^2$	49.00**	38.97**
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	-0.956	-2.176**
	(0.62)	(29.60)
Sex Female	0.535**	0.468**
	(7.44)	(6.10)
Age	0.022	
-	(1.73)	
Age Squared $\div$ 1,000	-0.353	
	(2.77)	
Category I	0.083	_
	(0.11)	
Category III	-0.120	_
	(0.16)	
No VHI	-0.341	—
	(1.78)	
Other Help	0.206	
	(0.41)	
Medical Card Ratio	-2.189	
<i>(</i> ),	(0.16)	
Woman-I-No VHI <sup>(d)</sup>	-0.551	
	(1.49)	
Medical Card Ratio-GP Density Interaction	-1.795	-4.144**
	(0.04)	(8.03)
Consultant Density	-1.927	
	(1.56)	
Times Seen by GP in 1980	0.063**	0.051**
	(25.46)	(22.33)
Joint Tests:		
Age	(4.05)*	
Medical Card Ratio	(5.79)*	

 Table 7.4: Logistic regressions of any specialist consultations in 1980 (Dichotomous Variable) on selected independent variables<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup> $\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates. <sup>(b)</sup> $\overline{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in Full Model includes: Sex = male; eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = no; and other help = no. <sup>(d)</sup>"Woman" = age 40-64. Significant: \*0.01 \leq 0.05. \*\*p  $\leq$  0.01.

		Probabilities Full Model 5% Version	
		Tutt Wiodet	J/o Version
*Baseline probability applies when B	Baseline probability*	.17	.15
the following variables are set		•	
equal to their means, as below: <sup>(0)</sup>	Other probabilities**		
Age = 38.50 S	ex = male	.10	.10
GP density = $.461$ A	lge =		
Consultant density $= .271$	$\min = 1$	.13	_
Medical Card ratio $= .370$	10	.15	
Annual number of GP	20	.16	
consultations = 4.24	30	.17	
and when the following qualities	40	.17	
obtain: <sup>(b)</sup>	50	.15	
sex = female	60	.13	
eligibility = Category II	70	.11	
VHI cover = no	$\max = 95$	.05	
Other help = no $E$	Sligibility =		
<b>**</b> Other probabilities apply when	Category I	.18	
variables are changed, one by one	Category III	.15	_
(the others held constant as V	'HI cover = yes	.22	
above) to the values and/or G	SP density = '		
qualities indicated.	$\min = 0.429$	.17	.16
•	max = 0.555	.16	.13
C	onsultant density		110
	$\min = 0$	.25	
	max = .387	.14	
0	Other help = ves	.20	
Λ	Aedical Card ratio	.=	
	$\min = 0.232$	.23	<u> </u>
	max = 0.586	.09	
А	nnual GP consultations	100	
	$\min = 0$	13	12
	2	15	13
	6	18	16
	12	25	21
	24	41	32
	$\max = 60$	87	75

Table 7.5: Probability of any specialist consultations in 1980, based on logisticregression<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 7.4. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model.
	Full	Model	5% Version
	(1)	(2)	(3)
R <sup>2(b)</sup>	0.246	0.2639	0.293
N	141	141	141
Equation F	4.544**	4.61**	58.00**
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	-2.953	-2.567	-1.280
*	(0.791)	(0.745)	
Sex Female	0.446	0.502	
	(0.747)	(0.889)	
Age Age squared ÷ 1,000 Category I Category III No VHI	0.045	0.048	
5	(0.997)	(1.106)	
Age squared $\div$ 1,000	-0.547	-0.564	
5 1	(0.934)	(0.983)	
Category I	0.013	-0.034	
5 .	(0.020)	(0.052)	
Category III	-0.641	-0.705	_
6 7	(0.795)	(0.886)	
No VHI	-0.111	-0.211	_
	(0.156)	(0.302)	
Age squared ÷ 1,000 Category I Category III No VHI Other help Medical Card Ratio Woman-I-No VHI <sup>(d)</sup>	-0.437	-0.384	<u> </u>
	(0.512)	(0.456)	
Medical Card Ratio	0.045	-0.096	_
	(0.010)	(0.023)	
Woman-I-No VHI <sup>(d)</sup>	-0.987	-0.913	
	(0.834)	(0.783)	
Persons in Household	-0.214	-0.149	
	(1.600)	(1.115)	
Specialist Density	3.250	3.012	
Specialist Density	(0.795)	(0.756)	
GP Visits	-0.008	-0.027	_
OI VIAIG	(0.102)	(0.405)	
Inverse Mills	7.012*(*)	6.114**	5.850**
inverse winis	(2.801)	(3,455)	(7.616)
Household Litilisation	(1.001)	0.043	
Thousehold Othisation		(0.548)	
Joint tests:			
Age	(0.632)	(1.142)	

Table 7.6: Regression of annual number of specialist consultations 1980, on selected independent variables, ordinary least squares, persons with any consultations only<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>Figures in parentheses beneath parameter estimates are t-statistics. Columns (1) and (3) include, and Column (2) excludes, household utilisation (GP utilisation of other household members). <sup>(b)</sup> $\overline{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in Full Model includes sex = male; eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = yes; Other help = no. <sup>(d)</sup>"Woman" = age 40-64. Significance: \*0.01 p  $\leq 0.05$ . \*\* $\leq 0.01$ .

(\*) parentheses around an asterisk indicates parameter did not pass t-test adjusted for heteroscedasticity; see Chapter 1.

Sex had an unusually potent influence on the probability of a specialist consultation (though not the number). Indeed, the "average" woman represented in the baseline probability in Table 7.5 had a 17 per cent probability of a specialist visit, whilst a man with the same characteristics had only a 10 per cent probability. This variable was quite significant.

The Medical Card ratio appears in the logistic regression in main effects and interaction versions and is significant in joint tests. Table 7.5 shows the effect to be negative. (This is the sign obtained for Medical Card ratio when no interaction terms are included, in regression results not reported here.) The interpretation is that the larger the percentage of persons in an area who have Category I eligibility the less likely *each* person is to see a specialist.

The  $\overline{\mathbb{R}}^2$  in the logistic regression is very small, while that in the OLS version is fairly high. In the latter, *only* the Inverse Mills ratio was statistically significant and again the error variance was troubled by heteroscedasticity.

Tables 7.7, 7.8 and 7.9, which report on utilisation of services of hospital outpatient departments, show a similar pattern. Tables 7.7 and 7.8 are dominated by GP consultations, again showing the importance of primary care, and equally by specialist consultations. A very interesting finding in this table is that the presence of a nearby large hospital *does* have a significantly positive effect on the probability of any utilisation, while distance to GP has a negative though insignificant relationship to number of visits. There may be some element of substitution between GP services and hospital out-patient clinic care, such that those who live far from GPs and/or near to hospitals use the latter in place of the former, and vice versa. It is notable that sex and category of eligibility have no influence on the probability of any out-patient utilisation, except that women aged 65 and over, with Category I eligibility and no VHI cover, are *less* likely to attend an out-patient department. Category I does strongly influence the number of out-patient visits, for those with any.

The regression reported in Table 7.9 suffers from heteroscedasticity in the error variance. The number of out-patient visits varies with the number of specialist visits and with the region's Medical Card ratio. The Inverse Mills ratio is also very significant.

We turn to Tables 7.10, 7.11 and 7.12, which deal with in-patient hospital care.<sup>75</sup> The equation reported in Table 7.10 is dominated by GP and specialist consultations, again pointing up the importance of the physician in medical care utilisation. Among persons with any hospital admissions, only Category I eligibility significantly influences length of stay, and its influence is very large. This could be the influence of diagnosis and severity, though it should be noted that we control for age, sex and GP and specialist visits.

Dentist care, reported in Table 7.13 for all persons and 7.15 for children,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup>As elsewhere in this study, if a hospital stay involved two different calendar years, i.e., the end of 1979 and the beginning of 1980, or the end of 1980 and the beginning of 1981, it is treated as a 1980 stay in hospital if the discharge occurred in 1980.

	Full Model	5% Version
$\overline{\mathbf{R}}^{2(b)}$	0.75	0.91
N	1,068	1,068
Equation $\chi^2$	97.78**	87.74**
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	-2.971**	-2.498
F	(7.20)	(273.08)**
Sex Female	0.154	``
	(0.54)	
Age	0.020	—
•	(1.36)	
Age Squared $\div$ 1,000	-0.166	
	(0.59)	
Category I	0.026	
	(0.01)	
Category III	0.051	
	(0.03)	
No VHI	0.030	
	(0.01)	
Distance to GP	-0.083	—
	(1.64)	
GP Fee	-0.018	
	(0.08)	
Other Help	0.223	
	(0.48)	
Medical Card Ratio	-0.713	—
	(0.30)	
Consultant Density	1.419	
	(1.07)	
Woman-I-No VHI <sup>(0)</sup>	-0.216	_
	(0.25)	1 000**
Lady-I-No VHI <sup>(3)</sup>	-1.601**	-1.300**
	(7.82)	(0.93)
Times Seen by GP in 1980	0.0/1**	0.073**
XY 1 TT 1.1	(27.34)	(33.33)
Nearby Hospital	0.343	(12.64)
	(Z.U3)	(13.04) 0.910**
Times Seen by Specialist in 1980	U.2U3** (11.07)	U.410"" (12.40)
	(11.97)	(15.40)
Joint Tests:		
Age	(3.20)	

 Table 7.7: Logistic regression of any visits in 1980 to hospital out-patient department

 (Dichotomous Variable)<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup> $\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates. <sup>(b)</sup> $\overline{\mathbb{R}}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in Full Model includes: sex = male; eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = no; other help = no; head of household a farmer = no. <sup>(d)</sup>"Woman" = age 40-64; "Lady" = age 65+. Significance: \*0.01 \leq 0.05. \*\*p  $\leq$  0.01.

		Probabilities	
		Full Model	5% Version
*Baseline probability applies when	Baseline probability*	.18	.19
the following variables are set			
equal to their means, as below: <sup>(b)</sup>	Other probabilities**		
Age = 38.50	Sex = male	.16	
Distance to $GP = 2.61$	Age =		
GP fee = $\pounds 2.43$	$\min = 1$	.12	
Consultant density $= .271$	10	.14	
Medical Card ratio =.370	20	.16	
Annual number of GP	30	.17	
consultations = 4.24	40	.18	
Annual number of specialist	50	.19	
consultations = .381	60	.20	
and when the following qualities	70	.19	
obtain: <sup>(0)</sup>	$\max = 95$	.17	
sex = female	Eligibility =		
eligibility = Category II	Category I	.19	
VHI cover = no	Category III	.19	
Other help = no	VHI cover = yes	.18	
Nearby hospital = yes	Distance to GP		
	min = under 1 mile	.22	
	max = more than 10 miles	.15	
	GP fee		
	$\min = \pounds 0$	.19	
	$\max = \frac{1}{2}7$	.17	
	Consultant density		
	$\min = 0$	.13	
	$\max = .387$	.21	
eligibility = Category II VHI cover = no Other help = no Nearby hospital = yes	$Other \ help = yes$	.22	
	Medical Card ratio		
	$\min = 0.232$	.20	
	$\max = 0.586$	.16	
	Annual GP consultations		
	$\min = 0$	.14	.15
	2	.16	.17
	6	.20	.22
	12	.28	.30
	24	.48	.51
	max = 60	.92	.93
	Specialist consultations		
	$\min = 0$	.17	.18
	2	.24	.26
	6	.41	.45
	12	.70	.75
	$\max = 25$	.97	.98
	Nearby hospital = no	.14	.11

Table 7.8: Probability of any visit in 1980 to out-patient department of hospital,based on logistic regression<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 7.7. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model.

		Full Model	5% Version
R <sup>2(b)</sup>	(1) 0.428	<i>(2)</i> 0.4321	<i>(3)</i> 0.473
N	153	155	153
Equation F	8.155**	7.849**	38.88**
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	0.861	0.173	-1.493
	(0.234)	(0.047)	
Sex Female	1.309	1.403	
	(1.470)	(1.577)	
Age	-0.020	-0.024	—
-	(0.282)	(0.343)	
Age squared ' 1,000	0.512	-0.596	<u> </u>
<b>G I</b> <i>i</i>	(0.568)	(0.663)	
Category I	-3.419*(*)	-3.292	_
3 .	(2.584)	(2.486)	
Category III	-1.136	-1.141	_
5 ,	(0.810)	(0.817)	
No VHI	0.085	-0.030	_
	(0.069)	(0.024)	
Distance to GP	-0.310	-0.310	_
	(1.090)	(1.094)	
GP Fee	-0.599(*)	-0.542	_
	(1.974)	(1,770)	
Other Help	-1.268	-1.224	atomat
Olici Melp	(0.911)	(0.883)	
Medical Card Ratio	6 770	7.400	8.804*(*)
Medical Card Matio	(1.527)	(1.664)	(2.514)
LadvaLNo VHI <sup>(d)</sup>	-0.132	-0 757	(======)
Lady-1-100 VIII	(0.055)	(0.311)	
CP Visits	0.027	0.004	
	(0.538)	(0.079)	
Nearby Hospital	-1 140	-1.052	
realby hospital	(1.045)	(0.966)	
Household Utilisation	(1.015)	0.121	_
Household Othisation		(1 303)	
Suggialist Visita	0.601**	0 508**	0 550**
Specialist visits	/2 995)	(2.990)	(3 110)
Persona in Household	(3.203)	-0.006	(0.110)
reisons in nousenoia	~0.004 (0.017)	~0,000	
Turner Mille	(U.UI7) 1.209##	(0.04 <i>3)</i> 1.252 <b>**</b>	1 270**
Inverse Mills	1.322**	1.000""	1.379"" (9.601)
	(0.810)	(0.940)	(0.001)
Toint tests:		16-16-17-17-17-17-17-17-17-17-17-17-17-17-17-	
Age	(0,107)	(1.123)	

Table 7.9: Regression of annual number of visits to hospital out-patient departments, 1980, on selected independent variables, ordinary least squares, persons with any visits  $onlv^{(a)}$ 

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup> Figures in parentheses beneath parameter estimates are t-statistics. Columns (1) and (3) include, and Column (2) excludes, household utilisation (GP utilisation of other household members). <sup>(b)</sup> $\mathbb{R}^2$  adjusted for degreess of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in Full Model includes sex = male; eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = yes; Other help = no. <sup>(d)</sup> "Lady" = age 65+. Significance: \*0.01 \leq 0.05. \*\*p  $\leq$  0.01.

(\*) Parentheses around an asterisk indicates parameter did not pass t-test adjusted for heteroscedasticity; see Chapter 1.

	Full Model	5% Version
$\overline{\mathbf{R}}^{2(6)}$	0.096	0.106
N	1,068	1,068
Equation $\chi^2$	92.85**	79.52**
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	-2.446**	-2.676**
	(9.70)	(387.72)
Sex Female	0.184	
	(0.65)	
Age	-0.033	
	(3.37)	
Age Squared $\div$ 1,000	0.340	—
	(3.48)	
Category I	0.131	
	(0.20)	
Category III	0.089	_
	(0.06)	
No VHI	0.010	
	(0.00)	
Other Help	-0.405	
	(0.79)	
Woman-I-No VHI <sup>(d)</sup>	0.142	
	(0.10)	
Boy-I-No VHI <sup>(d)</sup>	-6.965	
	(0.12)	
Times Seen by GP in 1980	0.045**	0.052**
	(11.33)	(18.99)
Nearby Hospital	-0.303	· · · ·
	(1.62)	
Times Seen by Specialist in 1980	0.438**	0.415**
	(38.53)	(37.72)
Joint Tests;		
Age	(3.50)	

 

 Table 7.10: Logistic regressions of any in-patient hospital utilisation (any discharges) in 1980 (Dichotomous Variable) on selected independent variables<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup> $\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates. <sup>(b)</sup> $\overline{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in Full Model includes: sex = male; eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = no; other help = no; and 300-bed hospital within 10 miles = no. <sup>(d)</sup>"Boy" = age 5-17; "Woman" = age 40-64.

Significance: \*0.01  $. **<math>p \le 0.01$ .

		Probabilities	
		Full Model	5% Version
*Baseline probability applies when	Baseline probability*	.06	.09
equal to their means, as below <sup>(b)</sup>	Other prohabilities**		
Age $= 38.50$	Sax - male	05	
Annual no. of GP consultations	Age -	.05	—
- 4 94	min = 1	19	
Annual no of specialist	10	.12	
consultations = 381	20	.03	
and when the following qualities	30	.07	_
obtain <sup>(b)</sup>	40	.07	_
sex = female	50	.00	
cligibility = Category II	60	.00	
VHI cover = no	70	.09	_
Other help = no	$\max = 95$	.18	_
<b>**</b> Other probabilities apply when	Eligibility =		
variables are changed, one by one	Category I	.07	
(the others held constant as	Category III	.07	_
above) to the values and/or	$VHI \ cover = yes$	<b>`</b> .06	
qualities indicated.	Other help = yes	.04	
•	Annual GP consultations		
	$\min = 0$	.05	.07
	2	.06	.08
	6	.07	.09
	12	.09	.13
	24	.14	.22
	$\max = 60$	.45	.64
	Specialist consultations		
	$\min = 0$	.05	.07
	2	.12	.16
	6	.44	.50
	12	.92	.93
	$\max = 25$	.99	.99
	<i>Nearby hospital</i> = no	.08	

Table 7.11: Probability of any in-patient visits to hospital (discharges) in 1980,based on logistic regression<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 7.10. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model.

·····	Full N	Aodel	5% Version
= a(b)	(1)	(2)	(3)
R <sup>2(0)</sup>	0.109	0.1003	0.177
N	111	111	111
Equation F	2.134*	1.952**	23.70**
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	11.043	10.951	6.950
Sex Female	0.989	1.075	_
	(0.285)	(0.303)	
Age	-0.034	-0.032	
3	(0.133)	(0.124)	
Age squared $\div$ 1,000	0.456	0.412	_
5	(0.146)	(0.131)	
Category I	12.757**	ì2.759 <sup>**</sup>	14.262**
	(3.068)	(3.053)	(4.868)
Category III	1.237	`1.172 <sup>´</sup>	
0 /	(0.198)	(0.186)	
No VHI	-0.120	-0.200	
	(0.022)	(0.036)	
Other Help	-0.045	-0.045	_
I	(0.006)	(0.006)	
GP Visits	0.057	0.047	_
	(0.269)	(0.212)	
Nearby Hospital	-3.681	-3.770	
, I	(1.087)	(1.092)	
Specialist Visits	-0.276	-0.271	
1	(0.313)	(0.307)	
Persons in Household	-1.007	-1.009	
	(1.228)	(1.224)	
Inverse Mills	0.737	0.765**	
	(0.287)	(0.296)	
Household Utilisation		0.060	_
		(0.147)	
Joint tests:			
Age	(3.993)**	(0.132)	_

Table 7.12: Regression of length of hospital stay, persons discharged from hospital in1980, ordinary least squares(a)

*Notes:* <sup>(a)</sup>Figures in parentheses beneath parameter estimates are t-statistics. Columns (1) and (3) include, and Column (2) excludes, household utilisation (GP utilisation of other household members). <sup>(b)</sup> $\overline{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in Full Model includes sex = male; eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = yes; Other help = no. *Significance:* \*0.01 \leq 0.05. \*\*p  $\leq$  0.01.

<u></u>	Full Model	5% Version
N	1.061	1.061
Equation $\chi^2$	160.26**	147.44**
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	-3.556**	-4.466**
	(15.82)	(45.06)
Sex Female	0.299*	0.347*
	(3.70)	(5.47)
Age	0.062**	0.056**
0	(18.96)	(16.11)
Age Squared $\div$ 1,000	`-1.17 <b>4</b> **	_1.12́1**
	(35.97)	(33.97)
Category I	0.220	
5 ,	(1.27)	
Category III	0.198	
3 /	(0.73)	
No VHI	-0.302	
	(2.31)	
Age Head Completed Education	0.152**	0.186**
	(12.31)	(25.02)
Boy-I-No VHI <sup>(d)</sup>	0.542	
	(1.44)	
Man-I-No VHI <sup>(d)</sup>	-1.884	_
	(3.30)	
Skilled Manual Worker	0.089	
	(0.18)	
Joint tests:	<u> </u>	
Age	(61.54)**	(68.05)**

Table 7.13: Logistic regressions of any dentist visits in 1980 (Dichotomous Variable) on selected independent variables, all persons<sup>(a)</sup>

*Notes:*  ${}^{(a)}\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates.  ${}^{(b)}\overline{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in Full Model includes: sex = male; eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = no; head of household a skilled manual worker = no.  ${}^{(d)}$  "Boy" = age 5-17; "Man" = age 40-64. *Significance:* \*0.01 \leq 0.05. \*\*p  $\leq$  0.01.

proves to be somewhat different from other types of utilisation, as one might expect. The only question our regression analysis was capable of answering was what determines whether someone sees a dentist. The equation reported in Table 7.14 explained about 11 per cent of the person-to-person variability in probability of seeing a dentist and that reported in Table 7.15 explained about 20 per cent amongst children. On the other hand, our OLS regressions, which do not seem worthwhile presenting, explained less than 1 per cent of the variation in

		Probabilities	
		Full Model	5% Version
*Baseline probability applies when the following variables are set	Baseline probability*	.36	.40
equal to their means, as below: <sup>(b)</sup>	Other probabilities**		
Age = 38.50	Sex = male	.29	.32
Age at which head finished	Age =		
full-time education = $15.44$	$\min = 1$	.24	.30
and when the following qualities	10	.33	.39
obtain: <sup>(b)</sup>	20	.39	.44
sex = female	30	.40	.44
eligibility = Category II	40	.35	.38
VHI cover = no	50	.25	.28
Occupation of head = not skilled	60	.15	.17
manual	70	.06	.07
**Other probabilities apply when	$\max = 95$	.00	.00
variables are changed, one by one	Eligibility =		
(the others held constant as	Category I	.41	
above) to the values and/or	Category III	.40	
qualities indicated.	$VHI \ cover = yes$	.43	<u></u>
	Age head completed education =		
	$\min = 13$	.28	.29
	$\max = 20$	.53	.61
	Occupation of head =		
	skilled manual	.38	

Table 7.14: Probability of any dental visits in 1980, all persons, based on logistic regression<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 7.13. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model.

numbers of visits amongst persons with any. Wiley, using our survey data, but employing techniques for analysis of dental utilisation which are beyond the scope of the present study, explained much more in her OLS regressions, and the reader is referred to her important study (Wiley, 1984).

Tables 7.13 and 7.14 show that females are significantly more likely to see their dentists than males. This is an interesting phenomenon, for which there is no ready physiological explanation. This result suggests the possibility that higher medical care utilisation of many types by females may be in part a cultural and attitudinal phenomenon. While pregnancy and the use of oral contraceptives reduce calcium and hence affect teeth, Table 7.15 shows that the difference applies amongst children. The sex female variable is positive but not significant; the interaction term, boy-Category I-No VHI is significant and negative, and in its absence the sex female term is significant and positive.

Age has the strongest effect in both versions (see especially the  $\chi^2$  statistics in the joint tests). Utilisation rises with age, peaks (between ages 20 and 30) and then declines. Social class, as measured by the age the head of household completed his or her full-time education, also has a major influence. Where the head of household left school at age 13, the probability of a dental visit is 0.28 (assum-

= a(b)	Full Model	5% Version
$\mathbb{R}^{2(0)}$	0.192	0.201
N	558	558
Equation $\chi^2$	152.89**	147.53**
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	-8.961**	-9.798**
	(31.09)	(59.14)
Sex Female	0.118	·
	(0.24)	
Age	1.076**	1.049**
	(44.95)	(43.83)
Age Squared $\div$ 1,000	-47.191**	-45.389**
	(32.00)	(30.99)
Category I	0.388	
	(1.40)	
Category III	0.307	
0,	(0.88)	
No VHI	-0.290	
	(0.89)	
Boy-I-No VHI <sup>(d)</sup>	-1.213*	-1.052**
,	(5.71)	(7.68)
Age Head Completed Education	0.221**	0.259**
5 I	(11.17)	(20.47)
Skilled Manual Worker	0.158	(10.17)
	(0.31)	
Number of Children in Household	-0.069	
	(0.83)	
Joint Tests:		
Age	(66.98)**	(67.16)**

Table 7.15: Logistic regressions of any dentist visits in 1980 (Dichotomous Variable) on selected independent variables, children under 16 only<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes:  ${}^{(a)}\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates.  ${}^{(b)}R^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. (c) Intercept term in Full Model includes: sex = male; eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = no; head of household a skilled manual worker = no.  ${}^{(d)}$  Boy'' = age 5-16. Significance: \*0.01 . <math>\*\*p = 0.01.

ing the other characteristics specified in Tables 7.14 and 7.16); but where the head remained in full-time education until age 20, the probability rises to 0.53 (0.65 for children).

Of persons in our sample, only 27 per cent saw their dentists in 1980. Among children aged under 15 years, this was only 26 per cent among boys and 34 per cent among girls. Those who did not see their dentists are evidently in the lower socio-economic groups. This constitutes an important national problem.

All of these tables, except the last four, show again the great importance of the

		Proba	bilities
		Full Model	5% Version
*Baseline probability applies when the following variables are set	Baseline probability*	.41	.45
equal to their means as below: <sup>(b)</sup>	Other probabilities**		
Age = 8.29	Sex = male	.39	
Age at which head finished	Age =		
full-time education $= 15.59$	$\min = 1$	.01	.01
Children in household = 2.51	4	.08	.09
and when the following qualities	7	.31	.34
obtain: <sup>(b)</sup>	10	.50	.55
sex = female	13	.50	.55
eligibility = Category II	$\max = 15$	.38	.44
VHI cover = no	Eligibility =		
occupation of head = not skilled	Category I	.51	
manual	Category III	.49	_
<b>**</b> Other probabilities apply when	VHI cover = yes	.49	
variables are changed, one by one	Age head finished education		
(the others held constant as above	min = 13	.28	.30
to the values and/or qualities	$\max = 20$	.65	.72
indicated.	Occupation of head =		
	skilled manual	.45	
	Children in household		
	$\min = 1$	.44	
	max = 8	.33	

Table 7.16: Probability of any dental visits in 1980, children aged 0-15 only, based on logistic regression <sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 7.15. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model.

general practitioner in influencing subsequent medical care. Table 7.17 reports on zero-order correlations among the types of further medical care utilisation arising out of each individual's most recent GP consultation, i.e., referrals by GPs. Return visit arrangements are correlated with the prescription of medicine, as discussed earlier; referral to a hospital out-patient department, presumably because x-rays and diagnostic tests lead to further consultations for interpretation and treatment; and referral to another doctor, such as a specialist.

### B. Household Expenditures on Other Medical Care

Tables 6.29 and 6.30, in Chapter 6, reported on household expenditures on general practitioner fees in 1980. This section reports on total household expenditures on medical care in the same year, inclusive of GP fees.

Table 7.18 shows that the average household spent £117.54 on medical care in 1980, or £32.88 per person. This amount varied considerably by the category of health services eligibility of the person identified as head of household, with the Category III household spending ten times as much as the Category I household and twice as much as the Category II household; and with the Category II household spending five times as much as the Category I household. The household whose head is covered by VHI spends very considerably more than the non-

	Return Visit	Another Doctor	Other Professional	R <sub>x</sub> Medicine	Non-R <sub>x</sub> Medicine	Other Device	Out- Patient	In- patient
Return Visit Arranged								
Referred to Another Doctor	0.153							
Referred to Other Professional	0.102	0.127						
Prescribed (R <sub>x</sub> ) Medicine	0.300	0.084	0.079					
Suggested Non-Rx Medicine	0.070	$0.022^{(c)}$	0.086	0.043				
Prescribed Other Device	0.066	0.095	0.130	0.039	0.042			
Referred to Out-Patient Dept.	0.167	0.243	0.111	0.081	0.052	0.068		
Hospital Admission	0.074	0.283	0.130	0.044	$0.014^{(c)}$	0.048	0.178	
Other Treatment	0.117	0.132	0.091	0.037 <sup>(b)</sup>	$-0.001^{(c)}$	0.102	0.110	0.128

Table 7.17: Correlation matrix: Further medical care utilisation arising out of most recent GP consultation<sup>(a)</sup>

<sup>a</sup>All correlations significant at 0.01 level except as indicated, N = 4,522. <sup>(b)</sup>Significant at 0.05 level. <sup>(c)</sup>Not significant at 0.05 level.

	Per household	Household per person <sup>(a)</sup>
	ſ	ſ
All households	117.54	<del>ہ</del> 32.88
Category of eligibility: <sup>(c)</sup>		
Category I	27.01	9.12
Category II	137.04	41.34
Category III	283.79	67.18
VHI cover: <sup>(c)</sup>		
VHI	223.28	60.19
Non-VHI	83.04	23.97
Health Board Area of residence:		
Eastern	161.39	44.65
Midland	65.70	18.39
Mid-Western	72.00	22.59
North-Eastern	116.79	29.48
North-Western	70.61	20.40
South-Eastern	88.25	23.44
Southern	120.09	31.94
Western	106.16	35.30
Occupation group: <sup>(c)</sup>		
Professional, managerial, or employer	242.33	71.06
Salaried or intermediate non-manual	150.37	46.92
Other non-manual	86.81	25.70
Skilled manual	109.75	27.64
Semi- or unskilled	72.95	18.83
Farmer, farm worker, or fisher	85.46	22.36

Table 7.18: 1980 household expenditures on medical care, per household and household per person<sup>(a)</sup>, by selected household characteristics<sup>(b)</sup>

*Notes:* <sup>(a)</sup> Household expenditure divided by number of persons in household. <sup>(b)</sup> Expenditures are gross in the sense that VHI reimbursements are not subtracted. <sup>(c)</sup> Characteristic pertains to head of household.

VHI household, but this probably reflects category of eligibility as much as or more than VHI cover. There is also considerable variability from Health Board area to Health Board area, with the Eastern at the high end, at £161.39 per household, and the Midland at the low, at an average of £65.70. Finally, Table 7.18 shows considerable variability by occupation group of household head, with white collar occupations in general spending much more than blue collar or farming households.

Tables 7.19 and 7.20 report on regressions in which these same variables, and some others, are used as independent variables in explaining household expendi-

Ξ a(b)	Full Model	5% Version
R <sup>210</sup>	0.107	0.119
N	1,061	1,061
Equation F	7.374**	23.84**
Intercent <sup>(c)</sup>	80.38	62.20
Persons Aged Over 64	9.98	04.20
	(0.841)	
Persons Aged Under 17	19 09**	11 16**
	(2.832)	(2.820)
Persons Aged 17-64	16 30**	15 59**
i chom i gea i i oi	(3 439)	(3.844)
Dummy for Living Alone	_14.09	(3.011)
Buinny for Enting Mone	(0.559)	_
Eastern Health Board Area	99 39	
	(0.866)	
Mid-Western Health Board Area	.1.09	
Mid Heatin Heatin Board Hica	(0.041)	
North-Eastern Health Board Area	3 76	
North Bastern Health Board Alea	(0.161)	—
North-Western Health Board Area	9.99	
North-Western Health Doard Mea	(0.075)	
South-Fastern Health Board Area	33.06	49 54*
Journ-Dastern Health Board Area	-33.00	-12.01
Par Cent Category III	64 40**	(4,114)
	(9.636)	(2.962)
Per Cent No VHI	0.66	(5.205)
	(0.464)	—
Other Help	90.97	
One hep	(1.901)	
Occupation of Hands	(1.201)	
Professional Manager Employer	20.96	57 11**
r tolessonal, wranager, Employer	(1 499)	(9.760)
Other Non-Manual	96.07	(2.709)
Suci Ron-Manual	(0.034)	—
Skilled Manual	90.09	
oxined Manual	(0.788)	—
Semis or Unskilled Manual	10.77	
Senn of Ohskiller Manual	(0.427)	_
Former or Fisher	-12.81	
	(-0.509)	
Per Cent Female	10.85	_
rer oem remaie	(0.390)	
Index of Per Capita Income	_0.225	
maca of yer oupling medine	(0.985)	
Head Category I-No VHI	_73 07**	-70 93**
richa callegory 1-100 vill	(4 454)	(4.899)
	(7.737)	(1.022)

Table 7.19: Regression of 1980 household medical care expenditures on selected independent variables – ordinary least square<sup>(a)</sup>

*Notes:* <sup>(a)</sup>t-statistics in parentheses beneath parameter estimates. <sup>(b)</sup> $\mathbb{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in Full Model includes: individual living alone = no; Health Board Area = Midland, Southern or Western; other help = no; occupation of head = salaried employee or intermediate non-manual worker; and eligibility of head = Category II or III, with VHI cover. In 5% version, intercept term includes Health Board Area = not South-Eastern; occupation of head = not professional, managerial, or employee; and eligibility of head = Category II or III, with VHI cover. With VHI cover.

Significance Levels:  $*0.01 . <math>**p \le 0.01$ .

	Full Model	5% Version
$\overline{\mathbf{R}}^{2(b)}$	0.046	0.061
N	676	676
Equation F	2.712**	10.87**
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	121.09	39.08
Persons Aged Over 64	10.38	
	(0.482)	
Persons Aged Under 17	18 85**	10 54**
reisons riged Onder 17	(2.054)	/2.009\
Damona Ared 17 64	(2.554)	(3.092)
reisons Aged 17-04	18.09**	18.07**
	(2.563)	(2.909)
Dummy for Living Alone	-39.60	—
	(0.856)	
Eastern Health Board Area	29.20	
	(0.781)	
Mid-Western Health Board Area	-2.51	
	(0.054)	
North-Eastern Health Board Area	-5.89	_
	(0.158)	
North-Western Health Board Area	-4.59	
	(0.090)	
South-Eastern Health Board Area	-54.57	
	(1.526)	
Per Cent Category III	55.69	63.90*
Ter cent category in	(1.701)	(9.211)
Per Cent No VHI	12.24	(2.311)
	(0.409)	—
Othen Hele	(0.492)	
Other Help	-34.90	
	(1.061)	
Occupation of Head:		
Professional, Manager, Employer	37.25	63.79*
<b>.</b>	(1.05)	(2.398)
Other Non-Manual	-34.10	_
	(0.823)	
Skilled Manual	-36.67	
	(0.947)	
Semi- or Unskilled Manual	-14.20	
	(0.372)	
Farmer or Fisher	-14.85	
	(0.407)	
Per Cent Female	15.68	
	(0.34)	
Index of Per Capita Income	-0.73	
oup a moome	(0.614)	
	(0.017)	

Table 7.20: Regression of 1980 household medical care expenditures on selected independent variables - Categories II and III only - ordinary least squares<sup>(a)</sup>

 $\overline{Notes:}^{(a)}$ t-statistics in parentheses beneath parameter estimates.  ${}^{(b)}\overline{R}^2$  estimates adjusted for degrees of freedom.  ${}^{(c)}$ Intercept term in Full Model includes: individual living alone = no; Health Board Area = Midland, Southern, or Western; other help = no; occupation of head = salaried employee or intermediate non-manual worker. In 5% version, intercept term includes occupation of head, professional, manager, or employer = no.

Significance:  $*0.01 . <math>**p \le 0.01$ .

tures, with results somewhat different from those shown in Table 7.18. The unit of analysis in these regressions is the household, rather than (as in utilisation regressions) the person. Separate regressions are reported for all households and for households in which the person identified as head of household had either Category II or III eligibility. Persons with Category II or III eligibility are likely to have more household medical care expenditures than persons with Category I eligibility. Note, however, that not all persons in a household will necessarily have the same eligibility; hence there will be persons in Category I even in the households reported on in the regression Table 7.20.

The number of persons aged under 17, and the number of persons aged 17–64, significantly influenced expenditures; the number of persons aged over 64 did not. The three coefficient estimates, though two of them were significantly different from zero, were not significantly different from each other, at the 5 per cent level. Similarly, the fact that a household consisted of a single person living alone did not separately affect expenditures significantly, apart from the effect of number of persons.

Though Table 7.18 shows major differences among Health Board areas of residence, Tables 7.19 and 7.20 indicate that there was no significant *net* influence of Health Board area. In other words, the differences shown in Table 7.18 are accounted for by other influences, such as age, eligibility, etc. The single exception to this statement is that, in the 5 per cent version of the all persons model (Table 7.19), after 14 variables are eliminated from the full model, households in the South-Eastern Health Board area spend significantly less than the areas (Midland, Southern, Western) included in the intercept term — £52.54 less.

The proportion of the household with Category III eligibility had a strong influence on expenditures. (Category II is included in the constant term.) A household in which *all* the members had Category III eligibility spent £64.40 more than the all-Category II family. In the Category II/III-only model (Table 7.20), the difference is £63.20 — approximately the same. The dummy variable Head Category I-No VHI produced better fits than per cent Category I to represent the expenditure behaviour of that group. A household whose head had Category I eligibility and no VHI cover spent £73.07 less than the Category II household. No-VHI does not significantly affect expenditures except in the interaction term Head Category I - No VHI. This appears to validate our surmise, stated above, that the simple relationship shown in Table 7.18 between VHI cover and medical care expenditures reflects other influences (such as eligibility) and not VHI cover.

The influence of social group (occupation group of head of household) as shown in Table 7.18 shows up again in the net or *ceteris paribus* relationships of Tables 7.19 and 7.20. Only one such relationship is significant: Persons in "professional, manager, employer" households spend significantly more than others. It is to be noted that this is a net influence of social group, controlling for numbers of persons and their ages, category of eligibility, VHI cover, Health Board area of residence, etc., and hence appears to reflect social group only.

### C. Prevention-Oriented Care

"An ounce of prevention is worth a pound of cure", states an old proverb. The ratio is surely even higher today, given the cost of hospitalisation and specialist care. Prevention can save money: measures taken to prevent, or to detect early, illnesses and injuries, can in many instances cost far less than treating them. More important, prevention can save needless pain, discomfort, economic loss and death.

Ireland appears to be behind many other countries in Western Europe and North America in prevention-oriented measures and programmes. Cigarette consumption is high by world standards, and non-smokers are forced to become captive, "passive smokers" in cinemas, pubs, buses and other places. Automobile and bus emissions, trash burning, and the use of soft coal and turf as heating fuels have made Dublin as polluted as several highly industrialised cities in Britain and Europe (Medico-Social Research Board, 1977; Walsh and Bailey, 1979). Motor vehicle laws seem only sporadically enforced, and pedestrians and cyclists are at extreme risk. Motorcyclists lose their lives more frequently in accidents than in most other countries. There is no requirement of child-resistant containers for medicines and hazardous household products, though such requirements have saved lives in other countries.

Health education seems to be having a minor impact on cigarette consumption, obesity, tooth decay, etc., at least in part because so little money is spent. Similarly, any national campaign of prevention must be based on better epidemiological data than are collected in this country.

Our concern in this study is not so much with nutrition, fitness, personal care, safety, or the like, however, as with medical care. Prevention-oriented medical care consists primarily of appropriate routine screening or examinations, and secondarily of immunisations, especially of children, against infectious illnesses. In our survey, we collected data on several types of prevention-oriented care. We asked, with respect to each household member, when he or she was last seen by a doctor. We asked who, in the previous year, had had a physical examination when he or she did not suspect an illness or pregnancy; had been immunised for any illness; had had a blood pressure test; or (for adult women only) had had a cervical cancer smear ("pap") test. By including these types of prevention-oriented care, we are not suggesting that they are, in all cases, efficient or cost-effective methods. They are indices of preventive care which could conveniently and usefully be studied on the basis of a household sample survey. In addition to these variables, our results on dental care reported above (see Table 7.13–7.16) might be considered reflective of prevention-oriented care.

The results are given in full in Appendix Tables A.10–A.15. It will be seen that approximately one-third of the population did not see a general practitioner in the past year, of whom half had not seen a GP in the past two years; and that 7.6 per cent had not seen a GP within the past five years (including never). Men are more likely to fail to see their GPs than women; 13.7 per cent of men aged 15–44 and 9.4 per cent of men aged 45–64, had not seen a GP in the past five years (in-

cluding never). For women, the corresponding percentages were 6.8 and 7.5. Those most likely to fail to see a GP for long periods of time were: persons with Category II eligibility (9.5 per cent); persons in the North-Eastern Health Board area (14.7 per cent); persons in households headed by unemployed persons (9.7 per cent) and farmers, agricultural workers, or fishers (9.9 per cent).

Similar statistics emerged concerning physical examinations. These rise consistently with age, as is appropriate. Persons with Category II eligibility are the least likely to have had a physical examination, as are persons in households headed by the unemployed or semi-skilled or unskilled workers, and persons living in the North-Western Health Board area. Only 1.7 per cent of those living in that area reported a physical examination in 1980, compared with 8.1 per cent for the country as a whole, in spite of the North-West's high concentration of aged persons.

Immunisations follow a pattern opposite to age, as is appropriate. Only one child in six, aged 0-14, was immunised against any disease in 1980, a figure which seems low, though of course every child does not need immunisation in any given year.

Blood pressure tests rise with age in a striking fashion. Among men, 60 per cent of those aged 65 and over had a blood pressure test in 1980; 47 per cent of those aged 45-64; and 16 per cent of those aged 15-44. Among women, the corresponding figures were 71, 54 and 32. Overall, women were about 50 per cent more likely to have blood pressure tests than men, even though men are more likely to be victims of high blood pressure and stroke. Most disturbing is the low rate for men aged 15-44, slightly less than half the rate for women at the same age. Blood pressure tests do not have to be administered by a physician or even a registered nurse, and there appears to be a need for free blood pressure clinics, conducted perhaps at places of work. Occupational and regional differences in blood pressure tests seem minimal, or related to age and/or sex. Public (Category I) patients are nearly twice as likely to have blood pressure tests as private (II/III) patients.

Only one adult woman in ten had a cervical smear test in 1980, which is an unfortunately low ratio. The percentage falls from about 15 (ages 15-44), the years of child-bearing and frequent gynaecological examinations) to 2.5 (ages 65 and over), which is too low. The most important influence on this form of preventive care appears to be social class. The likelihood of an adult woman having a smear test rises with the years of education of the household head, from under 2 per cent (head completed full time education at age under 14) to over 25 per cent (age 19). Those from households headed by white-collar workers were about twice as likely to have smear tests as the rest of the population. Similarly, those with VHI were nearly twice as likely as those without, and the likelihood rose with category of entitlement, from 6 per cent (Category I) to 10 per cent (II) to 19 per cent (III) — clearly a reflection of income rather than price. Given the importance of these examinations, more effort must be made to reach working class women.

Another way of looking at the same data is with the aid of multiple regression

analysis, using a model similar to that used earlier in this chapter and in the previous chapter. Table 7.21 reports on a logistic regression of no GP consultation within the past 5 years (including never) on selected independent variables. The equation explains only a small part of the variability in the dependent variable, but a number of significant influences were none the less found, including negative relationships with Category I eligibility and house call fee premium. Persons in Category I are less likely not to have seen their doctors. We have found previously that the house call fee premium appears on occasion to reflect the ratio of GP demand to supply. Since the dependent variable measures the failure to see one's GP over long periods of time, the negative sign, again, indicates a positive relationship between the independent variable and preventive care. Table 7.22 shows the magnitude of both effects to be moderate. Category I reduces the probability from 0.10 to 0.02 that one did not see a GP.

Table 7.21 shows GP density and the Medical Card ratio, as main effects and in an interaction term, very significantly to affect the individual's probability of not seeing a GP for 5 years. Table 7.22 shows the net effect of GP density to be positive and large, a somewhat paradoxical effect: the *higher* the ratio of GPs to population, the *more* likely it is that a person will fail to see his or her GP for extended periods. Medical Card ratio proves to have a negative effect, which is much more understandable: the higher the Medical Card ratio in an area, the greater the overall demand for GP services and the less time is available for each person in the community.

Tables 7.23-7.32 report on logistic regressions of the other forms of prevention-oriented care: physical exminations, immunisations (separate regressions are reported for all persons and children under 16 only), smear tests (adult women only) and blood pressure tests (persons aged over 15 only). These equations explain a larger fraction of the variability in the dependent variable than that reported in Table 7.21, particularly immunisation (20.7 per cent) and blood pressure tests (14.1 per cent). Probabilities based on these regressions appear in Table 7.17.

Sex female significantly influences blood pressure tests considerably raising the calculated probability from 29 to 43 per cent. Age is important for all types of utilisation. Table 7.30 shows the probability of a pap test to rise with age to about age 40 and then to decline rapidly. Category of eligibility is significant only for blood pressure tests. No VHI has a significantly negative effect, as might be expected, on the probability of a blood pressure test. Girl (age 5–15)-Category I-No VHI has a significantly positive effect on immunisation amongst children. Paradoxically, the *more* adult females there are in a household, the *less* likely each is to have a pap test.

Through main effects and/or interactions, GP density and the Medical Card ratio significantly affect some types of preventative care. The higher is GP density, the lower, oddly, is the likelihood of an asymptomatic physical examination (though the magnitude of the effect is small), and the higher is the probability of a women having a pap test (the magnitude of the effect is large). On the other

	Full Model	.5% Version
$\overline{\mathbf{R}}^{2(\mathbf{b})}$	0.046	0.054
Ν	1.068	1.068
Equation $\chi^2$	50.29**	32.61**
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	-40.007**	-1.737**
	(11.59)	(84.57)
Sex Female	-0.266	、 <i>、</i>
	(1.08)	
Age	0.027	
	(1.30)	
Age Squared $\div$ 1,000	-0.411	
	(1.74)	
Category I	-1.714**	-1.784**
	(15.97)	(23.95)
Category III	0.061	
	(0.03)	
No VHI	0.092	
	(0.08)	
Distance to GP	0.033	
	(0.17)	
GP Fee	-0.066	
	(0.45)	
House Call Fee	-0.123*	-0.164**
	(4.31)	(11.85)
Other Help	0.199	
	(0.23)	
GP Density	86.892**	
	(10.46)	
Medical Card Ratio	84.770**	
	(9.31)	
Medical Card Ratio-GP Density Interaction	-191.980**	
	(9.33)	
Joint Tests:		
Age	(1.97)	
GP Density	(11.29)**	
Medical Card Ratio	(9.33)**	

 Table 7.21: Logistic regression of no GP consultation within past 5 years, including never (Dichotomous Variable), on selected independent variables<sup>(a)</sup>

*Notes:*  ${}^{(a)}\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates.  ${}^{(b)}\overline{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in Full Model includes: sex = male; eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = no; other help = no.

Significance:  $*0.01 . <math>**p \le 0.01$ .

		Probabilities	
		Full Model	5% Version
*Baseline probability applies when	Baseline probability*	.10	.10
the following variables are set			
equal to their means, as below: <sup>(b)</sup>	Other probabilities**		
Age = 38.50	Sex = male	.12	
Distance to $GP = 2.61$	Age =		
GP fee = $\pounds 2.43$	$\min = 1$	.07	_
House call fee = $\pounds 2.78$	10	.08	
GP density $= 0.462$	20	.09	—
Medical card ratio $= 0.370$	30	.10	
and when the following qualities	40	.10	
obtain: <sup>(b)</sup>	50	.09	_
sex = female	60	.07	_
eligibility = Category II	70	.06	
VHI cover = no	$\max = 95$	.02	
Other help = no	Eligibility =		
<b>**</b> Other probabilities apply when	Category I	.02	.02
variables are changed, one by one	Category III	.10	
(the others held constant as	VHI cover = yes	.09	
above) to the values and/or	Distance to GP		
qualities indicated.	min = under 1 mile	.09	
	max = more than 10 miles	.11	
	GP fee		
	$\min = \pounds 0$	.11	
	$\max = £7$	.07	
	House Call Fee		
	$\min = \pounds 0$	.13	.15
	$\max = \pounds 10$	.04	.03
	$GP \ Density =$		
	$\min = 0.429$	.10	
	$\max = 0.555$	.46	
	$Other \ help = yes$	.11	
	Medical Card ratio		
	$\min = 0.232$	.25	_
	$\max = 0.586$	.08	

Table 7.22: Probability of no GP visit in 5 years (including never), based on logistic regression <sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 7.21. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model.

	Full Model	.5% Version
$\overline{\mathbf{R}}^{2(\mathbf{b})}$	0.078	0.056
Ν	1,068	1,068
Equation $\chi^2$	77.18**	39.01**
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	34.932**	-3.555**
-	(17.84)	(177.67)
Sex Female	0.002	
	(0.00)	
Age	0.057**	0.028**
с С	(6.55)	(35.33)
Age Squared $\div$ 1,000	-0.311	
	(1.73)	
Category I	0.194	
5 .	(0.37)	
Category III	-0.538	—
	(1.50)	
No VHI	-0.495	
	(2.48)	
Distance to GP	0.106	
	(2.32)	
GP Fee	-0.104	
	(1.03)	
House Call Fee	0.028	—
	(0.20)	
Other Help	0.684	—
*	(2.63)	
GP Density	-86.778**	_
	(21.42)	
Medical Card Ratio	-91.387**	-
	(22.43)	
Medical Card Ratio-GP Density Interaction	203.975**	
,	(23.01)	
Joint Tests:		
Age	(27.81)**	
GP Density	(23.05)**	
Medical Card Ratio	(23.57)**	

 

 Table 7.23: Logistic regression of any asymptomatic physical examination in 1980 (Dichotomous Variable) on selected independent variables<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup> $\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates. <sup>(b)</sup> $\overline{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in Full Model includes: sex = male; eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = no; other help = no. Significance: \*0.01 \leq 0.05. \*\*p  $\leq$  0.01.

		Probabilities	
<u>.</u>		Full Model	5% Version
*Baseline probability applies when	Baseline probability*	.07	.08
the following variables are set			
equal to their means, as below: <sup>(b)</sup>	Other probabilities**		
Age = 38.50	Sex = male	.07	_
Distance to $GP = 2.61$	Age =		
GP fee = $\pounds 2.43$	$\min = 1$	.01	.03
House call fee = $\pounds 2.78$	10	.02	.04
GP density $= .462$	20	.03	.05
Medical card ratio $= .370$	30	.05	.06
and when the following qualities	40	.07	.08
obtain: <sup>(b)</sup>	50	.09	.10
sex = female	60	.11	.13
eligibility = Category II	70	.13	.17
VHI cover = no	$\max = 95$	.14	.29
Other help = no	Eligibility =		
**Other probabilities apply when	Category I	.08	
variables are changed, one by one	Category III	.04	
(the others held constant as	VHI cover = yes	.10	_
above) to the values and/or	Distance to GP		
qualities indicated.	min = under 1 mile	.05	
	max = more than 10 miles	.09	
	GP fee		
	$\min = \pounds 0$	.08	—
	$\max = \pounds 7$	.04	
	House Call Fee		
	$\min = \pounds 0$	.06	
	$\max = \pounds 10$	.08	
	GP Density =		
	$\min = 0.429$	.05	
	$\max = 0.555$	.01	
	Other help = yes	.12	_
	Medical Card ratio		
	$\min = 0.232$	.03	—
	$\max = 0.586$	.07	

Table 7.24: Probability of asymptomatic physical examination in 1980. Based onlogistic regression (a)

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 7.23. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model.

	Full Model	5% Version
$\bar{\mathbf{R}}^{2(b)}$	0.166	0.207
N	1,068	1,068
Equation $\chi^2$	94.26**	88.92**
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	-21.126	-0.501*
	(2.67)	(3.84)
Sex Female	-0.020	·
	(0.00)	
Age	-0.208**	-0.202**
-	(60.41)	(64.68)
Age Squared $\div$ 1,000	`2.23 <sup>′</sup> 3**	2.158**
	(48.72)	(53.14)
Category I	-0.009	
	(0.00)	
Category III	-0.080	—
	(0.02)	
No VHI	-0.140	
	(0.09)	
Distance to GP	0.033	
	(0.11)	
GP Fee	-0.148	
	(0.98)	
House Call Fee	0.049	_
	(0.31)	
Other Help	-0.316	
-	(0.31)	
GP Density	49.320	
	(2.82)	
Medical Card Ratio	48.139	
	(2.45)	
Medical Card Ratio-GP Density Interaction	-112.124	
	(2.66)	
Joint Tests:		
Age	(66.56)**	(70.97)**
GP Density	(2.82)	, ,
Medical Card Ratio	(3.43)	

Table 7.25: Logistic regressions of any immunisations in 1980 (Dichotomous<br/>Variable) on selected independent variables, all persons

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup> $\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates. <sup>(b)</sup> $\overline{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in Full Model includes: sex = male; eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = no; other help = no. Significance: \*0.01 \leq 0.05. \*\*p  $\leq$  0.01.

254

		Proba	bilities
		Full Model	5% Version
*Baseline probability applies when	Baseline probability*	.01	.01
the following variables are set			
equal to their means, as below: <sup>(b)</sup>	Other probabilities**		
Age = 38.50	Sex = male	.01	
Distance to $GP = 2.61$	Age =		
GP fee = $\pounds 2.43$	$\min = 1$	.33	.33
House call fee = $\pounds 2.78$	10	.09	.09
GP density = $.462$	20	.02	.02
Medical card ratio $= .370$	30	.01	.01
and when the following qualities	40	.01	.01
obtain: <sup>(b)</sup>	50	.00	.01
sex = female	60	.01	.01
eligibility = Category II	70	.02	.02
VHI cover = no	$\max = 95$	.47	.45
Other help = no	Eligibility =		
Other probabilities apply when	Category I	.01	
variables are changed, one by one	Category III	.01	
(the others held constant as	$VHI \ cover = yes$	.01	
above) to the values and/or	Distance to GP		
qualities indicated.	min = under 1 mile	.01	
	max = more than 10 miles	.01	
	GP fee		
	$\min = \pounds 0$	.01	_
	$\max = \frac{1}{2}7$	.00	
	House Call Fee		
	$\min = \pounds 0$	.00	
	$\max = \pounds 10$	.01	
	GP Density =		
	$\min = 0.429$	.01	
	max = 0.555	.02	
	$Other \ help = yes$	.00	
	Medical Card ratio		
	$\min = 0.232$	.01	
	max = 0.586	.00	

Table 7.26: Probability of any immunisations in 1980, all persons, based on logistic regression<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 7.25. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model.

	Full Model	5% Version
$\mathbb{R}^{2(b)}$	0.133	0.161
N	560	560
Equation $\chi^2$	96.61**	86.62**
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	1.446	0.698*
1	(0.39)	(5.35)
Sex Female	0.372	
	(1.58)	
Age	-0.695**	-0.672**
0	(28.75)	(32.64)
Age Squared $\div$ 1,000	30.739**	30.037**
	(14.33)	(15.95)
Category I	-0.224	· _
0 /	(0.13)	
Category III	-0.773	
3 7	(3.45)	
No VHI	-0.414	
	(1.29)	
Distance to GP	-0.058	
	(0.53)	
GP Fee	0.029	—
	(0.04)	
House Call Fee	0.031	
	(0.19)	
Other Help	0.184	
	(0.16)	
GP Density	0.185	
	(0.00)	
Medical Card Ratio	-1.231	_
	(0.57)	
Children in Household	-0.039	—
(4)	(0.17)	
Boy-I-No VHI <sup>(0)</sup>	0.890	—
(4)	(1.30)	
Girl-I-No VHI <sup>(u)</sup>	1.847**	1.456**
	(8.44)	(14.57)
Joint Tests:		
Age	(63.52)**	(73.62)**

Table 7.27: Logistic regressions of any immunisations in 1980 (Dichotomous Variable) on selected independent variables, children aged under 16 years only<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup> $\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates. <sup>(b)</sup> $\overline{\mathbb{R}}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in Full Model includes: sex = male; eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = no; other help = no. <sup>(d)</sup>"Girl", "Boy" = age 5-15. Significance: \*0.01 \leq 0.05. \*\*p  $\leq$  0.01.

		Probabilities	
		Full Model	5% Version
*Baseline probability applies when the following variables are set	Baseline probability*	.06	.06
equal to their means, as below: <sup>(b)</sup>	Other probabilities**		
Age = 8.29	Sex = male	.08	
Distance to $GP = 2.61$	Age =		
GP fee = $\pounds 2.84$	$\min = 1$	.57	.51
House call fee = $\pounds 3.32$	4	.21	.18
GP density $= .460$	7	.08	.07
Medical card ratio = .366	10	.05	.05
Persons in household aged	13	.05	.05
under $16 = 2.51$	max = 15	.07	.07
and when the following qualities	Eligibility =		
obtain: <sup>(0)</sup>	Category I	.25	_
sex = female	Category III	.03	_
eligibility = Category II	VHI cover = yes	.09	
VHI cover = no	Distance to GP		
**Other probabilities apply when	min = under 1 mile	.07	
variables are changed, one by one	max = more than 10 miles	.05	_
(the others held constant as	GP fee		
above) to the values and/or	$\min = \pounds 0$	.06	
qualities indicated.	$\max = \pounds 6$	.07	_
	House call fee		
	$\min = \pounds 0$	.06	—
	$\max = \pounds 10$	.08	
	GP density =		
	min = 0.429	.06	
	$\max = 0.555$	.06	<u> </u>
	Medical Card ratio		
	$\min = 0.232$	.07	
	$\max = 0.568$	.05	_
	Persons in household		
	min = 1	07	
	max = 8	.07	
	Other help = ves	07	
	y = y = y = y	.07	

Table 7.28: Probability of any immunisation in 1980, children aged 0-15 only, based on logistic regression<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 7.27. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model.

	Full Model	5% Version
$\mathbb{R}^{2(b)}$	0.118	0.131
N	999	999
Equation $\chi^2$	104.10**	98.10**
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	-7.035**	-7.004**
	(10.33)	(11.62)
Age	0.203**	0.204**
	(12.75)	(13.49)
Age Squared $\div$ 1,000	-2.730**	-2.735**
	(16.52)	(17.70)
Category I	0.461	
	(1.54)	
Category III	0.374	
0 /	(1.46)	
No VHI	-0.250	
	(0.73)	
Distance to GP	0.043	
	(0.40)	,
GP Fee	0.025	
	(0.06)	
House Call Fee	0.018	
	(0.09)	
Other Help	0.414	
· A	(1.35)	
GP Density	17.188**	17.040**
	(12.43)	(12.44)
Medical Card Ratio	-10.672**	-10.617**
	(16.88)	(17.53)
Consultant Density-GP Density Interaction	-12.087**	-11.183**
	(7.64)	(6.90)
Number of Adult Females in Household	-0.728**	-0.751**
	(11.75)	(12.68)
Joint Tests:		
Age	(23.48)**	(26.04)**
GP Density	(14.48)**	(14.15)**

Table 7.29: Logistic regressions of any cervical cancer smear ("Pap") Test in 1980 (Dichotomous Variable) on selected independent variables, women aged over 15 years only<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup> $\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates. <sup>(b)</sup> $\overline{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in Full Model includes: eligibility = Category II; VHI cover ) no; other help = no. Significance: \*0.01 \leq 0.05. \*\*p  $\leq$  0.01.

258

		Probabilities	
		Full Model	5% Version
*Baseline probability applies when	Baseline probability*	.09	.12
the following variables are set	×		
equal to their means, as below: <sup>(b)</sup>	Other probabilities**		
Age = 44.61	Age =		
Distance to $GP = 2.59$	$\min = 16$	.03	.05
GP fee = $\pounds 2.51$	20	.05	.07
House call fee = $\pounds 2.87$	30	.09	.12
GP density = $.461$	40	.10	.14
Medical card ratio $= .368$	50	.07	.09
Women in household = 1.54	60	.03	.04
and when the following qualities	70	.01	.01
obtain: <sup>(b)</sup>	$\max = 95$	.00	.00
Eligibility = Category II	Eligibility =		
VHI cover = no	Category I	.13	
Other help = no	Category III	.13	—
**Other probabilities apply when	$VHI \ cover = yes$	.11	_
variables are changed, one by one	Distance to GP		
(the others held constant as	min = under 1 mile	.08	
above) to the values and/or	$\max = more \ than \ 10 \ miles$	.10	_
qualities indicated.	GP fee =		
	$\min = \pounds 0$	.09	_
	$\max = \frac{1}{2}7$	.10	_
	Women in household		
	$\min = 1$	.13	.17
	$\max = 7$	.00	.00
	House Call fee		
	$\min = \pm 0$	.09	
	$\max = \pounds 10$	.10	<u> </u>
	GP density		
	$\min = 0.429$	.06	
	$\max = 0.555$	.27	_
	Consultant density		
	$\min = 0$	.45	.36
	max = .387	.08	.07
	$Other \ help = yes$	.13	
	Medical Card ratio		
	$\min = 0.232$	.30	.37
	$\max = 0.586$	.01	.01

Table 7.30: Probability of cervical cancer smear ("Pap") test in 1980, women aged over 15 only, based on logistic regression <sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 7.29. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model.

Bert		
	Full Model	5% Version
$\mathbb{R}^{2^{(b)}}$	0.132	0.141
N	825	825
Equation $\chi^2$	176.57**	169.67**
Intercept <sup>(c)</sup>	3.289	-4.760**
1	(0.30)	(50.23)
Sex Female	0.603**	0.605**
	(14.21)	(14.59)
Age	0.106**	0.102**
5	(19.10)	(18.44)
Age Squared $\div$ 1.000	-0.698**	`0.66́6**
3 1	(8.23)	(7.80)
Category I	0.866*	0.815**
	(14.35)	(13.62)
Category III	-0.250	( )
	(0.80)	
No VHI	-0.445*	
	(3.95)	
Distance to GP	0.005	
	(0.01)	
GP Fee	0.107	0.139**
	(2.28)	(6.64)
House Call Fee	0.023	
	(0.30)	
Other Help	0.016	
F	(0.00)	
GP Density	-16.656	
	(1.46)	
Medical Card Ratio	-19.318	
	(1.86)	
Persons in Household	-0.079*	-0.080*
	(3.73)	(3.88)
Medical Card Ratio-GP Density Interaction	<b>4</b> 2.960	( )
	(1.85)	
Joint Tests:		
Age	(65.44)**	(64.99)**
GP Density	(2.24)	
Medical Card Ratio	(1.86)	

Table 7.31: Logistic regressions of any blood pressure test in 1980 (DichotomousVariable) on selected independent variables, persons aged over 15 years only<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup> $\chi^2$  in parentheses beneath parameter estimates. <sup>(b)</sup> $\overline{R}^2$  adjusted for degrees of freedom. <sup>(c)</sup>Intercept term in Full Model includes: sex = male; eligibility = Category II; VHI cover = no; other help = no.

Significance:  $*0.01 . <math>**p \le 0.01$ .

		Probabilities	
		Full Model	5% Version
*Baseline probability applies when	Baseline probability*	.43	.45
the following variables are set	1 5		
equal to their means, as below: <sup>(b)</sup>	Other probabilities**		
Age = 47.46	Sex = male	.29	.31
Distance to $GP = 2.59$	Age =		
GP fee = $\pounds 2.34$	$\min = 16$	.10	.11
House call fee = $\pounds 2.64$	20	.13	.15
GP density $= .462$	30	.23	.25
Medical card ratio = .372	40	.35	.37
Persons in household = 3.79	50	.45	.48
and when the following qualities	60	.53	.55
obtain: <sup>(b)</sup>	70	.57	.58
sex = female	max = 95	.51	.54
eligibility = Category II	Eligibility =		
VHI cover = no	Category I	.64	.65
Other help = no	Category III	.37	
<b>**</b> Other probabilities apply when	$VHI \ cover = yes$	.54	_
variables are changed, one by one	Distance to GP		
(the others held constant as	min = under 1 mile	.43	
above) to the values and/or	max = more than 10 miles	.44	
qualities indicated.	GP fee		
	$\min = f_0$	.37	.37
	$\max = \frac{1}{2}7$	.56	.61
	House Call Fee		
	$\min = f_0$	.42	
	$\max = f_1 l 0$	.47	_
	$GP \ Density =$		
	$\min = 0.429$	.41	
	max = 0.555	.39	_
	Persons in household		
	$\min = 1$	.49	.51
	$\max = 14$	.25	.27
	Other help = yes	.44	
	Medical Card ratio		
	$\min = 0.232$	.38	<u> </u>
	max = 0.586	.43	

Table 7.32: Probability of blood pressure test in 1980, persons aged over 15 only,<br/>based on logistic regression<sup>(a)</sup>

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>See Table 7.31. <sup>(b)</sup>For 5% version, applies only to variables in the model.

hand, specialist density is *negatively* and significantly related to pap tests. The higher is the Medical Card ratio, the more likely a person is to have a physical examination or a blood pressure test (the effects are small), and the less likely a woman is to have a pap test (the impact is great).

These statistics certainly indicate the presence of some problems. Too many people go too long without being seen by a GP. This is especially true of men aged 15-44, who also fail to have blood pressure tests in adequate numbers; of persons with Category II eligibility, who also fail to have physical examinations and blood pressure tests; and persons in households headed by the unemployed, farmers, or fishers. The results indicate a problem in the North-Eastern and North-Western Health Board areas where preventive care is less than elsewhere. There is a problem, as well, in getting working class women access to cervical cancer smear tests.

Not all of these characteristics show up as significant in the regressions, presumably because they are so strongly correlated with other variables. The statistics suggest a case for extending free GP care to the two-thirds of the population who now must pay for consultations, those in Categories II and III. This idea will be discussed further, Chapter 8.

In general, the aged (persons aged 65 and over) use prevention-oriented care more than the rest of the population. Hence it might appear that their situations are more satisfactory in this respect. This may not be correct. Only 3.8 per cent of aged men and 1.4 per cent of aged women report not having seen a GP in five years (including never). Irish health officials can take some satisfaction in the low level of these statistics. But there is evidence, to be cited presently, that outreach to the aged is none the less, inadequate. Fewer than a fifth of the aged received physical examinations in 1980. While there may be some doubt about the costeffectiveness of annual physical examinations for the whole population, there is less about routine examinations of the aged. Only 3.2 per cent of aged men, and 2.0 of aged women, report immunisations. These figures also seem too low, in light of the dangers posed by influenza to many aged. Medical authorities increasingly advocate a range of adult immunisations. Of aged men, 60.3 per cent had blood pressure tests and of aged women the figure was still higher at 71.4 per cent; but all persons in these years of age should have annual blood pressure tests. And while hysterectomies have reduced the numbers of women aged 65 and over at risk from cervical cancer, the number getting smear tests, 2.5 per cent, seems far too low.

A more telling study of the outreach of the medical care system to aged persons at risk is reported in Walsh (1980), which discusses what seems to be the first and only study of unrecognised treatable illness in any Irish population. Walsh and his team surveyed an elderly and, evidently, poor population in North Dublin. These persons were actually called upon in person, by doctors, and, with their permission, given medical examinations. The results are important and shocking. In 105 persons, there were 174 cases of undiagnosed treatable illnesses ranging from incontinence, visual impairment, mental impairment to hypertension and congestive heart failure. In addition to these, there was a large number of cases of previously diagnosed conditions not currently being treated or controlled. In some cases the person did not have a Medical Card to which she or he was entitled, and in other cases the person was not entitled to a Medical Card. Commenting on the latter, Dr. Walsh states, One feels that a more lenient attitude should be taken, especially as regards savings and pensions that exceed the stated limits, when assessing eligibility for Medical Cards of retired people because of the high prevalence of illness in this age group and of the obvious suffering endured by those who lose out on essential services.

A possible implication is that free GP services might well be extended to the entire aged population, a move which would not be extremely expensive. However, even this would not eliminate the problem. The 105 persons examined by Walsh were not, in general, persons "lost" to the health care system, or persons who failed in all cases to see GPs, or who were unknown to public health nurses. The findings point to a need for routine physical examinations for the aged, and perhaps others particularly at risk, especially those who are not institutionalised and who are living alone.

#### Conclusions

The results reported in this chapter are too many and too diverse to be meaningfully summarised in a concluding paragraph or two. A few concluding observations will have to suffice. One is that, once again, the significance of the physician in influencing other utilisation is underlined. General practitioners, and in many instances, specialists as well, have such a strong influence over utilisation that other influences are completely overshadowed.

Our analysis and that of others point to important problems in the area of routine screening, early detection and preventive care. Age was one important factor. Children seem not to receive adequate immunisation or, especially, routine dental care. The aged would profit from systematic, annual physical examinations. Social class also appears to be a factor. It strongly influences dental care, and for women, it influences utilisation of cervical cancer smear tests. Throughout the study we have found that members of farming and fishing families have received less medical care, controlling for other influences, than other members of the population. This is a problem requiring closer examination. We have also found that persons living in the North-Western and North-Eastern Health Board areas are less likely to obtain preventive care than persons in central and southern parts of Ireland, and this, too, is a problem deserving attention.

Some of these problems will receive further attention in the next chapter, where we offer concluding comments and recommendations arising out of the study as a whole.

## Chapter 8

## CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The Irish medical care system has served the needs of the Irish people. It has changed as times have changed, providing new, improved and expanded services. It has kept pace with the science and technology of medical care. It has earnestly sought to make "state of the art" care available to all, wherever they live, and whatever their incomes.

Today, there is need for further change. While the quality of medical care is generally very good, there are some weak spots which require attention. A conscious and honest effort is made to provide needed care to all, but in places there are problems with the amount and/or distribution of resources, with outreach to particular portions of the population, and with the patterns of eligibility for state-financed medical care. These problems deserve attention. The most urgent problems facing the Irish medical care system, and indeed almost every medical care system in Europe and North America, are the rapid growth and increasingly irrational allocation of medical care expenditures. The problems which generated this cost inflation and irrational mix are still in place, generating even more as these words are read. If none of the other problems is addressed, these must be, and indeed, in some way will be.

The author recognises that some readers will turn to this chapter without reading the preceding chapters in which the supporting evidence and analysis are developed in detail. Therefore, an effort has been made to make this chapter self-contained. But in fairness to our thesis, and indeed to our readers, it must be emphasised that this chapter cannot really stand alone, and that our argument is made in the volume as a whole, and not in a single, concluding chapter.

We will review four sets or types of problems in turn: weak spots in the quality of care and in outreach; problems in the amount and distribution of resources; anomalies in eligibility requirements; and exploding and irrational expenditures. We will then review four models for fundamental reform of the system. We conclude with our own vision for the Irish medical care system of the future, and needed first steps toward its achievement.

# A. Problem Areas

To simplify the discussion, problem areas have been sorted into four categories. Most of the problems that fall into one category affect other categories, and the classification should be viewed as primarily an expositional convenience.

#### 1. Weak Spots in the Quality of Care

As we saw in Chapter 4, reviews of general practice in Ireland by the GPs themselves, published in the 1970s, contained expressions of concern. The Gowan Report concluded, "There are some indications especially from referral rates, that the level of acute medical care is more haphazard than in the United Kingdom, and Irish doctors still having a too-ready recourse to direct hospital admission to solve their patients' problems." (Gowan, 1972). Another authoritative survey of Irish general practice concluded, "The isolation of the Irish general practitioner, both geographically and intellectually, needs urgent attention ..." (Shannon, 1976).

The required strengthening involves group and team practice and greater use of non-doctor personnel, including clerical staff, technicians, nurses, paramedical aides, midwives and social workers.

No financial incentives exist, in either General Medical Services methods of remuneration, or in the structure of VHI reimbursement, which would encourage any of these changes. Improvements in this area will strengthen medical care and in the long run save money as well.

These changes are easier to accomplish in more densely populated urban and suburban areas, but they are more vital in rural areas, especially in remote places, where doctors are more likely to be isolated. If group practice is impossible in some less populated regions, some means of routine physician interaction should be devised.

The use of "physician extenders" to economise on scarce physician time will require education of the general public. It would be no gain for patients to be seen, for example, by a nurse practitioner and *then* to be seen by a physician. While this process of education may take several years, that is no reason not to begin it.

Another weak spot in primary care is the evident failure of outreach to the aged poor, and possibly to other disadvantaged or handicapped populations, outside of institutions. Routine physical examinations for this group in the population are likely to be cost-effective (though some may wish a research basis for this conclusion) and as important as examinations of school children. While adequate care is available, usually without charge, to the aged and to other atrisk members of the population, it is evident that we cannot rely on self-reporting of suspected illnesses in this group. Regular physical examinations of the aged have a high priority in the development of the health services; only one aged person in five had an examination in 1980.

Other weaknesses in outreach suggested in our study (see Chapter 7) include the following. Persons with Category II eligibility used significantly less primary care, as evidenced by the large numbers who had not seen a GP in five years (including never), and had not had a physical examination or a blood pressure
test in 1980, or had their children immunised. This weakness seems to argue for extending free GP care to all. Working class women are much less likely to have cervical cancer smear tests and lower class children are much less likely to see their dentists. Preventative care seems less in the North-Eastern and North-Western Health Board areas, and among members of households headed by unemployed persons. Members of farming and fishing families seem to have significantly less utilisation of most kinds of medical care, controlling for other influences. All of these problems require attention.

A possible weak spot in secondary care concerns specialists. An Irish Medical Association Working Party has argued that public patients

... are less likely to have an operation performed by a consultant surgeon. They are more likely to receive their day-to-day medical attention from resident staff.... Patients attending out-patients' departments are treated less well, first because of long waiting and poor physical conditions, and secondly because they are often seen by residents who, in our opinion, may not be competent to deal with their problems (Mulcahy, *et al.*, 1975).

The IMA group has alleged three problems in this short quotation: inequality of care as between public and private patients; poor conditions in out-patient departments; and, most serious of all, incompetence to carry out their routine duties by junior hospital doctors. The third allegation should be investigated by physicians, and appropriate remedial action, relating to medical education, selection of residents, supervision, or any other aspect, should be taken. The second allegation can be reviewed by non-physicians. Physical conditions can be improved, even in older hospitals. Long waiting times are a function of the supply of physicians, dealt with in the next subsection.

The equity issue is a fundamental one. There seems to be substantial agreement among the political parties and the general public in Ireland that the same *quality* of care should be available to all, rich and poor, urban and rural, male and female, young and old. This consensus is lacking on whether this basic equality should extend to amenity levels or to waiting times. But the Working Party's allegation goes beyond these to the question of quality of care. Since this implies a fundamental defect in the structure of the Irish medical care system, it requires a structural response, and will be dealt with further in a later section.

Another possible weak spot in the quality of care at secondary level is the fact that some people are served by hospitals which are too small to provide an adequate medical staff. This problem will be discussed in the next subsection.

A final weak spot in the quality of care is the low ratio of dentists to population. A long-term programme, both to increase the numbers of dentists, and to increase dental utilisation, is required. The supply of Health Board dentists in particular needs attention.

### 2. Amount and Distribution of Resources

In general, problems of amount and distribution of medical care resources are

minor. While Ireland has smaller ratios of both physicians and acute hospital beds to population than most other European countries, there are more than enough of these resources, and the low ratios are a credit to the efficiency of the Irish system, rather than a reflection against it. Statistics are scanty, but there appear to be too few physician extenders or para-medical personnel in Ireland, meaning that physicians are often over-qualified for many of their tasks. In future, expansion of these non-doctor personnel should substitute, in part, for growth in the stock of physicians. There do appear to be too few dentists.

The Irish system is decentralised, and hence Department officials have little control over many aspects of resource distribution. There are, none the less, some distributional questions requiring attention.

There is no indication that Ireland has too few doctors, though there may be problems with distribution. Table 4.5 in Chapter 4 shows that in 1975 (the most recent year for which full information was available), general practitioners per 10,000 population ranged from 4.3 (in the Mid-Western area) to 6.0 (in the Midland area). The Midland figure is 25 per cent higher than the national average. Only the Mid-Western (at 90 per cent) and North-Western (at 94) had less than 95 per cent of the national average ratio.

Consideration of the medical care needs of the aged increases the significance of regional disparities somewhat. In 1980, those aged 65 and over have, on average, 78 per cent more GP utilisation than the rest of the population and 62 per cent more than the overall average. If we re-calculate the GP-population ratios for 1975, treating each aged person as 1.62 persons, the adjusted ratios are: Ireland as a whole, 4.5 GPs per 10,000 population; Eastern Health Board area, 4.7, or 104 per cent of the national average; Midland, 5.6, 124 per cent; Mid-West and North-West, 4.0, 89 per cent; North-East, 4.3, 96 per cent; Southern, 4.2, 93 per cent; and Western, 4.4, 98 per cent. Only the Midland, Mid-West and North-West ratios seem to require attention. Significant variation in GPpopulation ratios can deprive some of timely needed care; and, as we have seen, it helps account for unacceptably long time in GP waiting rooms in some underserved areas, and for compensatory physician-induced demand in areas with relatively high physician densities.

We have no data on the distribution of specialists as such, but the distribution of consultants for 1981 is available. There is considerably more variation in this ratio than for GPs. In the Eastern Health Board area, which had almost exactly half of the country's consultants (496 of 993), the ratio was 4.2 per 10,000 population. In the Southern area, the ratio was 3.1 per 10,000. In the rest of the country, the average was 1.9, and the range was from 1.5 (North-Eastern) to 3.0 (Western). While this pattern is explained, in part, by the concentration of more specialised hospital facilities in Dublin, and secondarily in Cork and Galway, the disparities appear excessive and some regions seem distinctly underserved.

In this connection, the comments by the IMA Working Party, quoted above, should be recalled. The IMA group claimed that out-patient clinic waiting times were frequently excessive. While we lack data on this point, waiting times

are presumably greatest in those areas with low ratios of specialist consultants, and presumably junior doctors working under them, to population.

Table 4.13 in Chapter 4 indicates wide disparities in the regional distribution of social workers and physiotherapists. The Eastern Health Board area had 311 of Ireland's 601 social workers in 1979, or 0.35 per 1,000 population, as against 0.09 per 1,000 for the rest of the country, taken as a whole. The Eastern region also employed 194 of 363 physiotherapists, or 0.17 per 1,000, as compared with 0.08 per 1,000 for the rest of the country.

Regarding dentists, there are problems both with overall numbers, especially of Health Board dentists, and with regional distribution, which favours the Eastern and Southern Health Board areas. The following are the numbers of persons served by each dentist: Eastern area, 2,700 persons; Southern area, 2,800 persons; and the rest of the country, 4,900 persons. It also shows eligible persons per Health Board dentist to be 4,200 in the Eastern area, 4,000 in the Southern area and 6,700 in the rest of the country. These are extremely large differences. There is a relationship between the low overall numbers and the geographic mal-distribution. While dentists have far less opportunity than doctors to generate demand for their own services to compensate for high ratios of population, excess demand for dental care gives dentists considerable lattitude in locating their practices. This does not adequately explain, however, the mal-distribution of salaried Health Board dentists. According to Table 4.2 in Chapter 4, Ireland and Britain had the lowest ratios of dentists to population in 1976 in the European Community. At 0.27 per thousand, the Irish ratio compared badly with the (unweighted) average of the other member states, at 0.48. To have raised Ireland's 1975 ratio of dentist to population to the level of that of the next highest country, Belgium (at 0.31 per 1,000), would have required 127 more dentists in Ireland in that year. The greatest need, however, is for Health Board dentists in the areas outside the Eastern and the Southern.

At in excess of 5.5 acute hospital beds per 1,000 population, Ireland has more than enough hospital beds. Only two regions had fewer than four per thousand, a ratio used elsewhere as a target maximum: the North-Eastern, at 3.85; and the North-Western at 3.51. Most of the North-Eastern region's population live within range of the many large County Dublin hospitals in the Eastern region (though at 10 per cent, a larger proportion of people in the North-Eastern region than anywhere else had to wait a month or longer to be admitted to hospital). The North-West, with its low population density, large proportion of aged population, and low ratio of beds to population, is the area most clearly underserved by general hospital facilities.

In 1968, the Fitzgerald Report recommended a policy that general hospitals have at least 300 beds, and argued that those with fewer than 200 beds are incapable of adequately meeting public needs. In 1979, eleven years later, only 13 of Ireland's 158 hospitals, accounting for 25 per cent of total acute beds, met the 300-bed standard, and 133 hospitals, accounting for approximately half of the country's acute beds, did not meet the 200-bed standard and the North-Western and South-Western and South-Eastern had none which meet the 300-bed one. Finally, we can note that in some areas, inadequate long-stay geriatric facilities mean that these patients use acute hospital beds, at high cost.

### 3. Eligibility

Elsewhere in this chapter, structural changes in eligibility patterns are suggested, including the extension of free general practitioner services to all. In this section we do not deal with such structural changes, but rather focus on anomalies in eligibility standards. We suggest three changes in the current arrangements.

First, we suggest that all eligibility standards, for Medical Cards and for Category II, be indexed to a national earnings index, and adjusted periodically, perhaps quarterly.<sup>76</sup> This would achieve two objectives. It would reduce the extent of gradual erosion of benefits in the period between adjustments. At present, these adjustments are large and discontinuous. It would also separate the correction of eligibility standards to adjust for inflation from real changes in those standards, reducing the confusion now existing between the two and taking the former out of the political process.

Second, we suggest that Category I entitlement be made a legal right for those meeting eligibility standards, while providing that Health Board Chief Executive Officers (CEOs) could continue to issue Medical Cards at their discretion to those not meeting those standards. At present, Category I eligibility is not a legal right, according to income, but is at the discretion of Health Board CEOs, while that for Category II is a legal right. In spite of agreement among CEOs on generally applicable guidelines for eligibility, it is possible for different standards to apply in the various Health Board areas. In a small country, there is no reason for horizontal inequities to exist in the form of regionally different standards for Medical Cards. This is all the more important as Medical Cards are increasingly used to qualify for non-medical benefits, e.g., free school bus services.

The third suggested change concerns Category II eligibility, which is determined quite differently from Category I. In effect, the unit considered for Category I is the family; that for Category II is the earner. This creates several anomalies and can account for different treatment of families with the same incomes. The appropriate revision is to make the family the basic unit in determining Category II eligibility. Eligibility should depend on family income, including earnings of both spouses and any other family members, and including unearned (i.e., property) income as well as labour income and an adjustment should than be made for family size.

#### 4. Exploding and Irrational Expenditures

Even one who does not read their language will understand and appreciate the word people in the Federal Republic of Germany have used to describe their medical care crisis: "*Kostenexplosion*". The rapid expansion of both utilisation

<sup>76</sup>Thanks to G. Hughes, who pointed out to me the superiority of an earnings index for this purpose over the Consumer Price Index, which I had previously proposed.

and price in recent years has not been limited to Ireland, but has affected, at least, all of Western Europe and North America. The details of the cost explosion in Ireland were laid out in Chapter 5.

There is a sense, however, in which the problem is more accurately described as one of economic inefficiency or irrationality, rather than of inflation or costs *per se.* Had the rise in costs been accompanied by widely perceived improvements in the range, reach, extent and quality of medical care, comparable for example to those which occurred when most infectious diseases were conquered in developed countries, there would be substantially less concern. But the cost increases have occurred with no corresponding gains. Barrett (1979) suggests the possibility of decreasing or even negative returns to further expenditures on the Irish health services. Moreover, the most rapid increases in outlays appear not to have occurred in the medical care areas most in need of expansion — preventative care, primary care, community care — but in the sectors which seem already to absorb too many resources — especially hospitals.

In other words, drawing on our analysis in Chapter 2, it is fair to say that the marginal contribution of medical care expenditures to human welfare in Ireland may now be less than the marginal contribution of other expenditures; and it is almost certain that the marginal contribution of medical care expenditures in Ireland is non-uniform across the system. Our analysis shows that there is no mechanism in Ireland which assures an efficient outcome and that existing mechanisms are often perverse to that goal.

Changes are required. The main objectives of these should be to bring increased efficiency and rationality. This means (1) reducing or eliminating uneconomic utilisation; and (2) shifting to lower cost forms of utilisation. Note that the former goal is expressed in terms of uneconomic, and not unnecessary, utilisation. As was noted in Chapter 6, the notion that there is a dichotomy between "necessary" and "unnecessary" utilisation is based on a simplistic and excessively mechanical interpretation, both of medicine and of economics. Much excessive utilisation of medical care may be of some medical value, or be undertaken with some positive probability of medical value; but that does not make it worth its cost. The same resources, devoted to medical care elsewhere in the system, might yield significantly more medical value; and it is possible that the same resources shifted outside of medical care, to nutrition, education, highway safety, etc., might yield significantly more social return. The second goal entails, among other things, a shift from costly in-patient hospital care to outpatient care (i.e., a reduction in admitting rates); a shift, within out-patient care, from hospital-based and specialist care to community-based, primary care, especially by general practitioners; and a shift, within primary care, from physician to non-physician care, wherever such shifts are appropriate. Ultimately, this entails a reduction in the number of acute hospital beds.

The heart of the problem lies in the incentive structure facing consumers (the demand side) and providers (the supply side). The nature of these incentives was spelt out in detail in Chapter 3, and summarised in Chapter 5 (in the sub-section,

"The incentive structure"); the reader is referred to those places for a fuller discussion of the problem. What appears here is, hence, a summary of a summary, in effect.

The main incentive problem is that those who make resource-using decisions concerning medical care — patients and providers — frequently do not individually bear the economic costs of those decisions. Hence they are not led systematically to compare the probable benefits of medical care services with their social costs. This incentives problem has a demand side and a supply side.

The demand side refers to the influence of price and other terms on patient demand for medical care. As we saw in Chapter 2, there is a nearly universal tendency for people around the world to deal with the unpredictability of their medical care needs by arranging for some kind of health insurance, either public or private, and either compulsory or voluntary. In this context, the provision of free or subsidised medical care by government or through government financing should simply be considered as compulsory, public insurance. By bringing down the point-of-purchase price of medical care services, in many cases to nothing, insurance increases the demand for those services. This problem is referred to as that of "moral hazard," which is defined as the general tendency of insurance to increase the likelihood of a contingency insured against, in this case medical care utilisation.

It is to be emphasised that the tendency to over-use medical care services because of reduced (or nil) point-of-purchase prices is not the result of government provision *per se*. It is a universal phenomenon that arises in wholly private, market-based medical care systems as well as in wholly public, national health services. It is a characteristic of medical care, not of socialism.

The solution most commonly offered to moral hazard is some form of costsharing, under which the patient pays at the point of use some part of the cost of providing the care, service, or product. Cost-sharing is often attractive to policy makers because it can achieve other objectives than combatting moral hazard. It can help hard-pressed health services in raising revenue, a far from unimportant property, in this age of fiscal crisis. It can also, it is asserted, help make patients and physicians more cost-conscious, by reminding them that medical care resources are not free. In addition, it can help in asserting social priorities among types of medical care services, an advantage to be discussed below.

There are a number of types of cost-sharing, most of them variants or combinations of the following: (1) *Deductible*. The patient pays all costs, up to a ceiling, figured on either a time or case basis. Beyond that ceiling, the third-party payor (public or private insurance) pays the cost. The VHI applies this approach to cost-sharing for out-patient care; the Health Services apply it to pharmaceutical prescriptions for persons in Categories II and III. (2) Flat rate charge for each unit of service. A nominal charge — say, 50p for each visit to the GP — is imposed, irrespective of number of services or their cost. A flat rate charge is a variant of the deductible. The former is applied to each unit of service, while the latter is applied, as noted, on a time or case basis. (3) A maximum limit on

*benefits.* This form of co-payment is usually found only in private insurance; its purpose is to limit the liability of the insurer. (4) *Percentage charges.* The patient is required to pay some set percentage, e.g., 15 per cent.

These four types can exist in combination. For example, there may be a deductible, beyond which the patient pays a percentage, up to a maximum money amount which the pateint has to pay.

The various forms of cost sharing serve different purposes. Deductibles in private insurance limit administrative costs by avoiding large numbers of small claims. In public provision, they serve the equity objective of aiding only persons with large expenses. From an incentive standpoint, they discourage use except when it is clearly important. Their contribution to reducing moral hazard is questionable, however. After the deductible is reached, they make no contribution to this objective. Before it is reached, sums concerned are usually small and incentive effects are small as well. Flat rate charges and percentage charges apply on every unit and can continue to influence utilisation at all levels of use. Flat rate charges are administratively simpler and are appropriate where cost variation is small. The maximum limit on benefits serves only the business needs of the insurer, and unless supplemented by some kind of public or private catastrophic coverage, can leave people vulnerable to economic ruin arising from large medical care costs.

In spite of the attractions of cost-sharing, there is a large body of opinion which is either sceptical of the alleged gains or is opposed to general application of the technique. This point of view, which the author shares, is based primarily on two considerations. First, physicians make most utilisation decisions, and cost sharing merely punishes the patient for the physician's lack of cost consciousness. While physicians who act as "agents" of their patients (see Chapter 2) may take into account patient cost in making such utilisation decisions, imposing costs on patients can be an indirect, inefficient, unsatisfactory and unfair way of attempting to change physician behaviour. Second, the single area where costsharing might have an influence on utilisation is in the patient-initiated, first physician contact, for a suspected illness, or for preventative care. Within that area, the greatest impact would be on initial contacts by lower income persons. "Nothing should be done which would discourage people from early access to professional services ... Attempts to exempt the poor from cost-sharing are never wholly successful and insofar as they are successful they further stigmatize the poor" (World Health Organisation, 1979). There may be important places for cost-sharing within a medical care system, as will be noted presently; but as a general technique for limiting utilisation it is liable to have the undesirable effect of limiting mainly or only the types of care which we least want to limit, viz., selfinitiated primary care.

In addition to the general problem of moral hazard, we find on the demand side another important genus of problem, where a system imposes fees or charges in a manner that does not correspond with social priorities or costs. In many instances, the structure of prices in the Irish system is such as to encourage utilisation of the higher-cost resources rather than the lower-cost ones. There are instances in which the Irish incentive system encourages in-patient hospital care over out-patient care, specialist care over GP care and physician care over nonphysician care. Subsidies to private care and, indirectly, to VHI, have encouraged overexpansion of both, which makes national medical care costs higher than they should be. These demand-side anomalies are discussed at length in Chapter 5. One useful contribution of cost sharing can be to shift utilisation from high-cost and/or low-priority uses to their opposites. For example, if it is desirable to encourage the expansion of primary care relative to secondary, that objective might be achieved by reducing the price of GP services, perhaps to nil, for the portion of the population who currently must pay, while imposing charges, perhaps nominal, flat-rate fees, on out-patient specialist care, or inpatient hospital care, for the same population.

The supply side refers to the influence of remuneration techniques and other incentives on resource-using medical care utilisation decisions made by providers. It is generally conceded in health economics that supply side incentives are more crucial than demand side incentives in influencing utilisation. Two arenas dominate the discussion: physician remuneration; and hospital budgeting or reimbursement.

Physician remuneration has been discussed frequently in this volume. The general argument, supported both by theory and by considerable statistical evidence, is that the fee-for-service method of physician remuneration in general use in Ireland not only fails to make physicians cost-conscious but on the contrary provides them with incentives for utilisation beyond levels which are efficient and economical. Modification of the fee-for-service system is at the heart of any serious effort to control costs and bring economic rationality to the Irish medical care system.

The main alternative to fee-for-service is capitation, under which physicians are paid according to the number of patients they have, rather than the number of times they see them, or the number of services they provide. There is considerable evidence (see Chapters 2 and 5) on a world-wide basis that capitation reduces utilisation and further that it reduces pharmaceutical prescribing rates as well.

In the Irish context, one difficulty (in addition to possible physician opposition) confronts any attempt to apply capitation to general practitioner care. Capitation is not applicable to physician services purchased for a fee at the point of use. Hence as the Irish medical care services are organised at present, it could apply only to Category I care, and not to Categories II and III care. In the Netherlands, GPs are remunerated on a capitation basis for public patients and on a fee-for-service basis for private patients; thus there is precedent for such an arrangement. Some observers have expressed fears that if physicians were to be paid on a capitation basis for Category I patients and on a fee basis for Categories II and III patients, that would create (or perpetuate) two classes of care. GPs, it is alleged, would spend less time with lower income, Category I patients, because consultations with them would bring in no cash income.

It should be noted that similar allegations are made concerning the present

system, under which the GMS (Payments) Board pays GPs for services to Category I patients, at fee levels considerably below those prevailing for private patients. Capitation might, however, aggravate this effect, particularly where physicians have target incomes. To combat this effect, it would be necessary that patients on whose behalf capitation payments might be made be able to change GPs easily, thus bringing market forces into play. Patients who felt they were not adequately cared for could then deny their doctors their own and family members' annual capitation fees, which might be a serious penalty.

The only certain way to insure one class of GP care is to pay GPs in the same way for all patients. There are strong arguments for the application of capitation remuneration to the whole population and not merely to persons covered by Medical Cards. Not only would such a technique avoid the tendency of capitation remuneration to create two classes of care, but it would extend the desirable incentive effect of the reform to the whole population. There are two ways in which capitation remuneration could be extended to patients in Categories II and III. One would be to extend free GP care to the entire population. There are other arguments for this change, to be discussed later. But it is not necessary to provide free GP care in order to adopt capitation remuneration. The second technique would be for patients (or the VHI, on their behalf) to pay GPs on a capitation basis. Not only would such a reform alter provider incentives in favour of primary care, an objective which is desirable in its own right.

There are remuneration techniques intermediate between fee-for-service as currently practised and capitation as described. One is to pay physicians on a *case basis*. The other is to pay them on the basis of *prospectively negotiated ceilings* on total physician remuneration.

Under the case basis, physicians would be paid per case, rather than per unit of service. If desired, fees could vary, according to case diagnosis. Under this technique, a doctor would receive the same amount for each case, or each case with a particular diagnosis, regardless of the number of consultations, and regardless of the mix of services provided at those visits. Cases requiring morethan-average and less-than-average care and attention would average out. In effect, physicians would be paid for their output — treatment of a given problem — rather than their input — resources used; hence their remuneration would more closely resemble that of other producers in the marketplace.

Under prospectively negotiated ceilings, representatives of physicians would negotiate with third-party payors (the Department of Health, or the GMS, and the VHI) prior to each year a ceiling on overall payments in that year for general practitioners' and possibly other classes of physicians' services. As this technique is now applied in Germany, the current year's expenditures are used, together with a growth factor (8 per cent in Germany). If physicians provide more services than can be paid for within the ceiling, in a three-month period, each doctor's reimbursement is cut back uniformly, *pro rata* (Stone, 1980). The advantage of this technique is that the costs of physician services are limited and can be precisely budgeted. It seems to have worked reasonably well in Germany. The disadvantage is that it provides no incentive to limit utilisation (as opposed to outlay), and indeed may encourage enhanced utilisation (if doctors seek to offset prospective cuts in fee levels) and hence increase forms of utilisation correlated with physician utilisation.

Another alternative is the reorganisation of medical care delivery into prepaid group plans (PPGPs) such as health maintenance organisations (HMOs), under which patients purchase all medical care, and not merely physician services, on a capitation basis. Pre-paid group plans and HMOs will be discussed later.

Methods by which hospitals are budgeted or reimbursed are as important as, or more important than, the ways in which physicians are remunerated. Hospitals are the main resource users in the Irish medical care system; and while physicians determine the extent of patient use of hospitals, they have less control over the per day or per case cost of that care.

Simplifying considerably, there are four ways in which hospitals' incomes can be determined: (1) Retrospective reimbursement of costs. Hospitals are paid, either by patients or by third party payors, according to activity and costs. For example, the state can pay hospitals on a patient-day basis, adjusted perhaps for severity of case mix. This is the rough equivalent of paying physicians on a fee-for-service basis. It assures hospitals that whatever costs they incur will be reimbursed, and thus provides them with no motive to economise. It encourages resourceutilising, rather than resource-saving, decisions. (2) Prospective budgeting on an individual hospital basis. Hospitals receive annual budgets from the state or other third party payors. They have an opportunity to explain and defend their budgets, and to use whatever political strength and/or negotiating skill they possess. While prospective budgeting is generally thought to be superior, on economic grounds, to retrospective reimbursement, when it takes the form of review on an individual hospital basis, it may provide virtually the same result: whatever costs are incurred are reimbursed and incentives to economise are lacking.

The other two techniques provide for no negotiation between payor and hospital, and are hence impersonal, arms'-length techniques. (3) *Prospective budgeting on a per capita basis.* Hospitals receive budgets according to the size of the populations to be served, as adjusted, perhaps, for age composition, other structural properties bearing on potential hospital use, and possibly differences in each area's morbidity patterns from the national average. In short, hospitals are paid according to formulae. Variants of such a system are used in centralised systems and national health services. They encourage efficient resource utilisation by hospitals by imposing on them, in effect, the full costs of all resource use. Any unneeded expenditure adds to hospital costs without adding to revenues; any economy reduces costs without reducing revenues. Because this method can provide very different income amounts from those provided under either of the first two methods, a transition from these to formulae-based budgeting needs to be gradual. (4) *Diagnosis-related groups*. The final method reimburses hospitals on the basis of activity, but on a case basis, rather than a costs-incurred, or patientday, basis. In the US, where this method is used to reimburse hospitals for care of the aged under a social security system, hospitals are paid an amount equal to the average per case cost of all hospitals, adjusted for case diagnosis (under 437 separate diagnosis-related groups, or DRGs).<sup>77</sup> Like the formula system, this one separates hospitals' resource-using decisions from factors influencing their incomes, and hence rewards them for economies and penalizes them for inefficiency.

As noted in Chapter 5, the Department of Health makes its budget decisions affecting hospitals on an *ad hoc* basis in ways which are, to the analyst, obscure.<sup>78</sup> It is difficult to evaluate the present technique precisely because its incentive and allocational implications are not obvious without further research. Other scholars are strongly urged to take up this subject, which seems to the present writer to be the most important single item on the Irish health economics research agenda. The present system appears to resemble the second model, above; arms'-length methods, such as the third and fourth above, would be likely to provide far stronger incentives for efficient utilisation. Any change to such methods would have to be very gradual, and would probably have to be linked to further decentralisation of administrative decision making.

In addition to altering the incentive structure on the demand and supply sides, authorities can seek to control medical care costs by two additional techniques, both discussed in greater detail elsewhere in this study.

The first is the imposition of firm cash limits on annual expenditures. Cash limits are easiest to impose where the system is centralised, as under a national health service. They are hardest to impose where the system is decentralised, market and insurance-based. In Ireland, cash limits could be applied even within currently government-financed aspects of medical care only if the current method of GP remuneration were modified, by adoption of capitation, or by moving to a system of prospectively negotiated ceilings.

The second is by adoption of medical audit and peer review. Medical audit is normally conducted by a third party payor (the State or the VHI), and involves review, by physicians, of services provided or ordered by physicians, to determine whether they are medically necessary, efficacious and cost-effective.<sup>79</sup>

<sup>77</sup>"Outliers," cases which deviate significantly from the norms, are reimbursed at cost. Separate norms have been established for urban and rural hospitals. Several years are allowed for transition.

<sup>78</sup>It is appropriate to reiterate what was said in footnote 63 to Chapter 5, namely that the procedure is not obscure because of any disposition of the Department of Health to make it so, or to withhold from the public or researchers vital information concerning the procedures or the outcomes. Instead, the procedures are *ad hoc* and are inherently difficult to model without specific research into the statistical determinants of budgetary allocations.

<sup>19</sup>Cost-effectiveness analysis compares the costs of alternative ways of achieving similar results, or compares results for identical cost. As noted in Chapter 2, true cost-benefit studies are not ordinarily possible in the area of health and medical care, because there is no acceptable measure of "benefit" comparable with cost. Where an Irish Medical Association Working Party is quoted, below, as advocating the use of cost-benefit analysis, it is assumed that they really mean costeffectiveness analysis. Peer review is normally based in hospitals (where it is often called bed utilisation review, though more than bed use is at issue) and in medical societies. It, too, involves evaluation of services provided or ordered by physicians. In some countries, it involves the writing of guidelines or standards, to state currently preferred methods of treatment, lengths of hospital stay, and the like. Experience in other countries suggests that these review procedures do not save much money, but that they can be useful in bringing uniformity in standards and policing for less competent or careful practitioners.

## B. Models for Reform

In this section we review and assess four alternative models which have been or might be offered for the Irish medical care system: the insurance model; the incremental growth model; the competitive prepaid group plan model; and the national health service model. After each is discussed, we will conclude this section with an overall assessment.

1. The Insurance Model. A number of years ago, an Irish Medical Association Working Party, consisting of four prominent specialist consultants, developed a discussion document on the feasibility of a "compulsory specialist and hospital insurance scheme" as an alternative to the present system (Mulcahy, *et al.*, 1975). While the proposed scheme does not seem to have been strongly advanced in recent years, it does provide a worked-out example of an insurance-centred scheme, similar to some found in Western Europe, designed by Irish physicians for the Irish situation.

What is set out is evidently not a complete system, and is called "compulsory institutional and specialist insurance system." It is silent on such subjects as general practitioner care and pharmaceutical medicines. It is fair to assume that its authors tacitly accepted continuation of the current scheme for these: fee-forservice remuneration of GPs; free GP care and medicines for the Medical Card population, financed through the General Medical Services (Payments) Board; and payment of somewhat higher GP fees from their own resources by other patients.

The operative part of the written proposal is brief and can be quoted in full:

- 1. A standard premium is to be paid by each person or family, along the lines of the present VHI arrangement. For the indigent the premium would be paid by the state. For the middle income group the premium might be paid partly by the individual and partly by the state, and for the high income group by the person or family themselves. Premium payments might be subject to relief of income tax as exists at present with VHI premiums.
- 2. Patients requiring special accommodtion could pay an extra premium.
- 3. A schedule of fees would be established and would be fixed in relation to all patients, whether receiving standard or private treatment. This schedule of fees would require to be reviewed annually.
- 4. Out-patients' services as we know them now would be abolished and patients

would see consultants in their hospital or private offices. A clear schedule of fees for out-patient consultations would exist for such visits.

- 5. The income from insurance premiums would require to cover maintenance costs of hospitals and payment of all staff. The capital cost of building and the equipping of hospitals would require to be funded by the state. Services for the chronic ill, for geriatric and some psychiatric patients, and for other special cases would also require to be supported by central funds.
- 6. The system would involve a change from the present Voluntary Health Insurance/client relationship to a Health Insurance/Hospital/Doctor relationship.
- 7. The system would incorporate medical audit, cost benefit analysis and peer review to ensure optimum use of hospital facilities, the most useful and efficient employment of limited resources, and the avoidance of abuse of the schedule-of-fee system. A compulsory insurance system would facilitate medical audit and cost-benefit analysis, and would also facilitate the supervision of standards of medical treatments.
- 8. Waiting lists would probably not exist under such a system.

The authors state that the scheme resembles those in place in Belgium and in Canada.

There are some attractive features of this insurance model. One is that distinctions among patients would disappear. For example, all patients would evidently become private patients, in effect, of consultant specialists. At present, as noted in Chapter 4, and discussed earlier in this chapter, public and private patients receive somewhat different care, to the disadvantage of the former.

Another attractive feature of the proposed model is part 7, above, which calls for medical audit, cost-benefit analysis, and peer review.<sup>80</sup> At present the last of these is rare and limited in its application in Ireland, and the first two are wholly absent. Their purpose in the present proposal is to assure that costly, timeconsuming, and sometimes possibly hazardous medical and surgical procedures are medically necessary and useful, are efficacous and are the most cost-effective treatments available. As noted in Chapter 4, the VHI state that medical audit is useful mainly to deal with fraud, which they believe to be rare in Ireland.<sup>81</sup> However, that is a limited view of medical audit, and this part of the Working Party scheme should not be dismissed without careful investigation. What seems appropriate is a research project, examining the range of treatments in Ireland for the same diagnosis, including lengths of hospital stays, to determine whether indeed no need, apart from fraud, exists for this kind of review.

<sup>80</sup>As noted in footnote 79, above, it is assumed that the authors have in mind cost-effectiveness rather than cost-benefit analysis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup>The VHI may be correct that fraudulent claims are rare in Ireland. However, Mr. Tom Ryan, chief executive of the Voluntary Health Insurance Board, recently criticised and questioned the legality of what he described as a widespread practice of hospitals charging VHI subscribers semiprivate room rates when they are actually accommodated in public wards (*Irish Times*, October 18, 1984).

In spite of these two attractive features, the insurance model is in general an unconstructive suggestion. It does nothing, really, to deal with the sources of either cost inflation or irrational allocation in Irish medical care. The present incentive structure is retained: physicians are remunerated on a fee-for-service basis, and indeed this is extended into areas where it does not now exist. On the basis of experience elsewhere, reviewed in Chapters 2 and 6, one might predict an increase in utilisation, especially of surgery and other in-patient procedures, as a consequence of a shift to the insurance model. Similarly, there is no change in patient incentives. Moral hazard, which is a problem in market-type medical care systems where care is free or nominally priced at the point of purchase, would persist.

Later in this section, a modified version of Working Party's insurance proposal will be suggested, which will deal with some of these incentive objections.

2. The Incremental Growth Model. A second model would aim the Irish Medical care system toward the goal of a system with all services free at the point of use, as an ultimate goal; and would move toward that goal incrementally, by providing free, one by one, services heretofore charged for. This was previously the policy of the Irish Congress of Trade Unions and was set forth and defended in Cassells (1980). Revised Congress policy will be noted presently. The incremental growth model seems also to be a description of the actual development of the Irish system in recent years, as further extrapolated into the future. Thus, even though it is no longer advocated by Congress, it is worth a review in this section.

Under the incremental growth model, Congress established as its "first priority" a "free hospital service for the entire population," which, it stated, "could be achieved by the abolition of the income limit for limited [Category II] eligibility ..." (Ibid.)

For a number of years, the Irish Congress of Trade Unions has been on record as advocating a national comprehensive health service which is free for all at the point of use, a position which underpins both its old and its new policies. Congress's approach was to press for incremental changes which, bit by bit, would move the health services toward that long-run goal. Within the structure of incremental change, Congress chose to concentrate on the income limit for Category II. From the mid-1970s, the approach was to seek increases in the upper-income limit for eligibility. In 1980, Congress adopted the position that there should be no upper-income limit, i.e., that Category III should be abolished and Category II eligibility should be extended to all (other than those covered under the more liberal Category I). As seen in Chapter 4, the major difference between the present Categories II and III concerns consultant specialist services, which are available free to those covered under the former but not to those under the latter. Hence the main effect of the ICTU proposal would be extend free consultant services to the approximately 15 per cent of the population not entitled to these at the present.

This proposal also has some attractive features. It moves the health services in

the direction of comprehensive care, free to all. At present, all persons, whatever their incomes, have a right to free hospital care; and those in Categories I and II have free consultant services while in hospital. Thus the proposal would close the last gap in coverage of expensive hospital care for all in Ireland. It would make it unnecessary for anyone in the country to buy Voluntary Health Insurance cover, though of course those wishing private as opposed to public care would still do so. Since the large majority of people in Category III might be expected to continue to prefer private care, and not to avail of the new service, the proposal need not be expensive to administer.

None the less, the disadvantages of this approach outweight its advantages. Like the IMA Working Party proposal, it envisions no fundamental change in the incentive structure of the Irish medical care system. It does involve three changes, none of them fundamental, in these incentives. First a reduction in the private use of specialist services involves a marginal shift from fee-for-service to salary remunertion. Second, it increases slightly the moral hazard inherent in the system, to the extent that services once charged for, to uninsured persons in Category III, are now provided free. Uninsured persons in Category III are few, however. These two incentive changes are in opposite directions, and as each is small, the net change is still smaller, and of uncertain direction.

The third incentive change inherent in the incremental growth model is a change in the relative costs of primary care from GPs and hospital care, both inand out-patient. This is a rather more serious consequence than the two just cited. Persons in Category III would join those in Category II in finding it cheaper to use hospital services than GP care, thus encouraging a further shift away from community care and toward hospital care.

There are other objections to the proposal. An important one is distributional. The essence of the proposal is to shift services already provided from the private fee category to the public, free category. Thus public funds for medical care would be used in a way that results in no net increase in resources for medical care. To the extent that persons in Category III avail of these services, the money they save on medical care is released for other purposes — holidays, automobiles, recreation and other private goods. When it is recalled that those in Category III are the (approximately) top 15 per cent of the income distribution, it will be seen that the proposal involves an effective upward redistribution of disposable income.

If Ireland is ever to move from a multi-tiered system in which some benefits are means-tested, to a system in which basic care is free to all, then just exactly this type of upward redistribution of income will be necessary at some point in time. Its regressive redistributional consequences can be neutralised, however, by financing such expension out of savings arising out of cutting back on the many and substantial subsidies to private care. We will return to this subject later in the chapter.

A final criticism is of the contention cited above, that a free hospital service for the entire population is a "first priority". It is argued that there are higher priorities. These will also be discussed later in the chapter.

1

Congress now advocates (Irish Congress of Trade Unions, 1984) a comprehensive national health service. They do not spell out the features of such a sercice, but call for a government White Paper on the subject. The national health service model is discussed later in this section. Congress states that, "in the phasing in of a national health service, free primary care should have priority," and they call for capitation remuneration of primary care doctors.

3. The Competitive Pre-Paid Group Plan Model. Pre-paid group plans (PPGPs) operate in the private sector. They are organisations established for the purpose of providing comprehensive medical care to their clients. Pre-paid group plans either employ doctors or they are associations of doctors. Depending on their size and method of organisation, they may also employ other health professionals and ancillary personnel. They usually own and operate x-ray and pathology facilities. Some even own their own hospitals, or are owned by hospitals, which amounts to the same thing. For a set annual pre-paid fee, comparable to an insurance premium, PPGPs undertake to provide for all of a patient's medical care needs. Services they do not themselves provide are purchased by them for their patients.

The best known and most common type of PPGP in the United States, where this form of arrangement was first begun and where it enrols about 10 per cent of the population, is the Health Maintenance Organisation, or HMO. Health Maintenance Organisations are private businesses, owned by doctors, engaged in the corporate practice of medicine. Other PPGPs are owned differently, but most other features are similar.

Two characteristics of HMOs and other PPGPs stand out: they have an incentive to keep their clients healthy. And they have an incentive to use resources efficiently.

Pre-paid group plans emphasise preventative care and periodic, routine examinations. It is in their economic interest to avoid delay in diagnosing illness, as delay may require more and more expensive treatment.

When PPGP patients are seen by a primary care physician, that physician may prescribe medicines, or refer the patient to a specialist, or order x-rays or tests, or send the patient to hospital, just as in any ordinary pattern of organisation. But when the doctor does so, the cost is borne by the PPGP. Indeed, as many HMOs are organised, the cost is covered from a budgeted fund for that physician. Thus the PPGP and, usually, the physician herself or himself, bear a cost when resource-using decisions are made.

It will be noted that this sub-section is entitled, "*The competitive* pre-paid group plan model." Many attractive features of this technique depend essentially on the patient having alternatives to the PPGP, possibly including conventional (insurance-cum-fee-for-service) care, other PPGPs and other arrangements. Since the patient pays an annual fee and leaves all care in the hands of PPGP physicians, a profit seeking monopoly PPGP might mis-use that trust. It might not provide all needed care, saving money at the expense of the patient's health. Or it might leave the patient to sit long hours in waiting rooms of primary care physicians and specialist out-patient clinics. Or, if it had the unchecked economic power, it might squander resources and simply increase the level of the annual charge.

In the United States, the experience with PPGPs, and in particular HMOs, has been consistently very good, according to evaluation studies.<sup>82</sup> Cost savings are in the range of 20–33 per cent and are concentrated in hospitalisation. The health of HMO clients seems actually to be better than that of similar populations receiving more conventional care, as measured by work-days lost due to ill health. Consumer satisfaction, according to surveys, is high. In the US, HMOs operate in a very competitive, market type of environment.

It is worth noting that American HMOs realise their savings entirely from the effects of altered provider incentives. There are no deductibles or co-payments whatever; one's pre-payment premium covers everything. This should create considerable moral hazard, especially by comparison with private insurance, which in the US inevitably involves both deductibles and co-payment; but moral hazard is obviously not an important factor. This is evidence for the proposition that provider incentives are vastly more important than consumer incentives in the quest for economy and rationality in the provision of medical care.

Competing "Consumer Choice Health Plans", or CCHPs, a type of PPGP, are the central reform proposed for the US by conservative Stanford University economist Alain Enthoven, in his book, Health Plan (1979), cited in Chapter 5, above. Enthoven has sufficient faith in the market that he proposes only that enrolment in a CCHP be made available as an option to all consumers, as an alternative to private insurance and fee-for-service care. He is confident that the economic superiority of CCHPs would readily be established through competition. An Irish equivalent of this proposal would call for the creation of health plans which, like HMOs, CCHPs and other PPGPs, would guarantee to provide all needed care, in exchange for a predetermined advance capitation payment. Persons in Category I could choose to enrol with such a health plan, as an alternative to care as now provided; the Health Board would pay the capitation fee in full, and would have no other responsibility to the patient (other than, perhaps, monitoring the quality of care provided by the plan). Persons in Categories II and III would have partial payments made in their behalf by the state, and would pay the balance themselves, as an alternative to purchasing VHI cover.

A more thorough going reform would substitute such plans for all existing care, for all patients. Such a scheme would amount in effect to a modification of the IMA Working Party proposal, above. It would achieve most of that plan's advantages, and specifically it would remove the differences which now exist between care of public and private patients; and it would do so while avoiding

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup>Luft (1978) reviews approximately 50 evaluation studies of PPGPs in the preceding two decades and finds costs savings ranging from 10 to 40 per cent, attributable in the main to hospital utilisation 25 to 45 per cent lower for similar populations using conventional, fee-for-service care. See also Enthoven (1979).

most of that plan's disadvantages, and specifically its uneconomic incentive patterns. The result would be a voucher type of medical care system, one in which (a) the annual cost could be determined in advance, as based on the prepaid fee levels; and (b) the incentive structure would be revised, to provide a strong incentive in favour of resource savings.

Who would organise PPGPs? Groups of physicians, for private gain; hospitals; voluntary organisations; employers; possibly the VHI; or even Health Boards themselves. Plans could be organised by private, public, or non-profit voluntary bodies. Presumably, the state would have to pass on capitation fee levels and keep an eye on the quality of care. As the Irish system is so hospitals-oriented, and as most of PPGPs' savings are in the hospitals area, there would appear to be considerable latitude for profitable PPGPs in Ireland.

Pre-paid group plans are attractive in particular to those who favour markettype, or capitalistic, arrangments, the private practice of medicine, and decentralisation. In the conventional practice of medicine, as found in Ireland today, and in many other countries, the market yields distorted, inefficient, uneconomic results, as described in Chapter 2 and as shown throughout this study. Pre-paid group plans can revive the market and restore to it the potential for efficiency.

4. The National Health Service Model. There is much loose talk which equates a "national health service" with the provision of all care free to the user at the time of use. The meaning of national health service is rather more precise. As usually employed in the relevant literature, it refers to a centralised, non-market system in which resource-using decisions are made administratively at the macro level, and made, as now, by physicians, through referral, prescribing, etc., decisions, at the micro level. Primary care physicians are paid on a capitation basis. This creates no provider incentive to over-use, such as physician-induced demand. Indeed, it has been argued that it may have another type of uneconomic consequence, namely that primary care physicians, who bear the (time) cost of revisits, have a greater tendency to refer patients to specialists or others, just to get rid of them, though our findings (in Chapter 6) cast doubt on that thesis. Other physicians (for example, specialists and junior hospital doctors) may be paid by capitation, or they may be salaried, a situation which already prevails in Ireland, with respect to public patients. All services are provided on a free or heavily-subsidised basis to patients and the market is not used at all to ration care or resources,

In the NHS model, there is an opportunity to apply effective cash limits, as was discussed above. Because in such a centralised system it is possible to determine total medical care spending in advance, and as well to determine its regional and functional allocation, it is possible to limit spending, and its growth, to any level. This is not possible under decentralised models, such as the present Irish scheme, the insurance model, or the incremental growth model. (It would be possible, however, in the PPGP model.)

To summarise then, the most salient characteristics of the NHS model are (a)

free or heavily subsidised care to all members of the population;<sup>83</sup> (b) effective cash limits; and (c) an incentive structure which does not encourage excessive utilisation.

Britain of course uses a version of the NHS model and, indeed, is in effect the originator of the model. And Britain stands out in international comparisons as one of the very few countries whose medical care expenditures have not exploded in recent years. It is one of the crowning ironies of this subject area that the British "National Health", put in place by socialists committed to equity, has become the most effective device, due to its centralisation, for controlling cost expenditures on medical care.

Italy has also adopted a national health service in recent years, for the purpose of rationalising and controlling expenditures. One important feature of the changeover is shift from fee-for-service to capitation remuneration of primary care GPs. The changeover provides an example of a natural experiment, because we have an opportuntity to observe utilisation differences arising out of different systems, where the popultion served and the physician population are essentially unchanged. In areas where the change from fee-for-service to capitation has taken place, consulting rates have fallen (Abel-Smith and Maynard, 1978).

# C. First Steps to Reform: A Personal View

As noted in Chapter 1, the author hopes someday for cost-conscious, healthconscious, consumer-centred Irish health care system in which needed care of equal quality is provided to all, without the imposition of fees or charges on the occasion of use.

This is a long-run target. The need now is for efficiency and economy. It is to be emphasised strongly that these two objectives are not in conflict.

Two quite different models can realise the long-run objectives aduced above, and at the same time achieve enhanced efficiency through substantial change of incentives.

One is a voucher system, based on provision of care by pre-paid group plans, or PPGPs, as discussed in the previous section. In most parts of the country, people could choose from among a number of alternative plans; in less densely settled areas, there might be only one plan, but quality of care and cost standards established in the more competitive areas could be applied to these monopoly plans. Plans could be profit-seeking, except in rural, monopoly areas, or nonprofit. Economies would be achieved in this system through imposition of the costs of their decisions on the decision makers themselves, the primary care physicians, through their outright ownership of the plans, in the case of HMOs, or through some kind of profit-sharing and internal budgeting system. In addition, medical care costs would cease to be open-ended, as now.

<sup>83</sup>This refers to care as public patients. Typically private care is also available, without subsidy.

The group plan would be an ideal locus for the practice of group medicine, the use of medical auxiliaries, expanded use of social workers and use of a team concept in primary care, developments which are meritorious in their own right, irrespective of financing reforms.

A beginning could be made with optional PPGP selection by consumers, with the state paying fully for people in Category I and partially for those in Categories II and III. Further development of the health services could take the form of (1) expansion in the numbers of PPGPs available; (2) increase in the range and quality of services they provide, as medical science develops; and (3) increase in the portion of the capitation fee paid by the state. Thus development would be wholly evolutionary.

The other model is the national health service type of scheme. It would derive its economies, on the one hand, from use of capitation remuneration and other important incentive reforms (which would be less important, however, than the incentive reforms in the previous model), and, on the other hand, from the use of absolute budget ceilings, combined with administrative allocation of resources at a macro level. It seems likely that administrative allocation would significantly increase the efficiency of resource use in the Irish medical care system, as compared with the result of today's combination of distorted market allocation and *ad hoc* administrative allocation. If knowledgeable people, including a significant number of doctors, sat down to plan the use of medical care resources, and to apply them according to need and likely return, can it be doubted that the result would be a substantial improvement over the present system?

Needless to say, what is described above is the skimpiest of outlines. The development of new forms of medical care delivery and finance is a major study in itself. The choice is essentially a social one, in which political and ideological preferences, as well as economic ones, will play a major role.

If either a PPGP-voucher system or a naional health service is described as a long-run target, what are the steps which should be taken now? The following package of changes, designed for more or less immediate adoption, is consistent with both of the above target models, and with the present system of *ad hoc*, iterative and expedient development. In other words, no choice regarding radical restructuring of the medical care system would be implied by the adoption of the following plan.

The plan consists of ten points. Some points involve greater exenditure; some involve reductions. It is beyond the scope of the present study to estimate precisely the exchequer implications of the proposals, but it is not the spirit of the plan that it either save or cost money. Instead, it is meant to involve simultaneously a redistribution in the use of public money, and a change in the incentive structure facing patients and providers. For this reason, the precise levels of new fees and charges have been left unspecified. The intended net exchequer effect is nil.

1. Provide everyone with free general practitioner care and remunerate GPs

on a capitation basis. (The former would be contingent on the latter.) As part of the package, give GPs some income security, provide them with paid medical leave and annual holiday leave, and pensions, according to years of practice in the scheme. Some increases in GP incomes may be necessary as well, to overcome doctors' reluctance to go over to a capitation scheme. Because GP fees are a small part of present medical care costs, such income increases, if necessarily, need not be unduly costly. It must be relatively easy for consumers to change from one GP to another, in order that the market provide some discipline. Our estimates, reported above in Chapter 5, are that private expenditure on general practitioner care in 1980 was £19.7m. The exchequer cost of this proposal may be more or less than that, though little if any social cost (e.g., increased percentage of GNP devoted to medical care) is envisioned. After some period of adjustment, increased availability of primary care should bring some budgetary savings in secondary and tertiary care, while the use of capitation remunmeration will lower overall GP utilisation, and should hence bring some savings, e.g., a reduction in over-prescribing and reduced future need for GPs.

2. Impose charges for out-patient hospital and consultant specialist services on those persons in Category II who currently receive these free. The charges may not necessarily be so high as to cover full costs. Charges at approximately the current level of private GP fees would, more or less, off set the exchequer costs of free GP services to those with Category II and III eligibility.

3. Impose charges for in-patient hospital care on persons in Categories II and III. Charges should be significantly less than the full bed-day costs, but should be high enough to assert social priorities in favour of out-patient over in-patient care and of primary care where possible. Therefore, consideration should be given to the desired incentive effects. For example, a flat fee per admission would discourage unnecessary one-day admissions for investigations, though it would do nothing to discourage excessively long stays.

The first three points, taken together, are intended to shift both provider and patient incentives in the direction of lower cost care and primary care in particular.

4. Reduce the remaining subsidies to private care, especially hospital care; charge private hospital patients the costs of all services provided to them; abandon tax relief for VHI premiums. This point has three purposes; (1) it is meant to save money, to help finance the first point; (2) it will improve equity; state money should be used to finance the kind of care available to all, not to subsidise care which is superior, from any standpoint, for any kind of elite; and (3) it will improve efficiency, by raising the price of high-cost medical care services, relative to lower-cost services.

5. Establish systems of medical audit in Health Boards and the VHI, and peer review machinery amongst physicians and within hospitals, as suggested by the IMA Working Party.

6. Create financial incentives for establishment of group practice, use of physician auxiliaries, etc. If fee-for-service is retained, even for a transition

period, one important incentive would be for third-party payors (the GMS (Payments Board and the VHI) to pay GPs when patients are seen only by nurse practitioners, medical auxillaries, or other non-doctor colleagues. If capitation is adopted, a larger list limit could be allowed GPs who work in groups and use ancillary staff. Help with capital costs for the establishment of medical centres would also be important.

7. Enable the creation of pre-paid group plans, and establish capitation rates which the state would pay on behalf of patients in each category of eligibility.

8. Encourage the expansion of dental resources, especially in the Health Boards. Ideally, dentists and dental auxiliaries would practise in the medical centres referred to above; and dental care would be included in the list of services provided by PPGPs.

9. Expand the conception of, and increase resources devoted to, health education. Health education must have a central role in an up-to-date health care system. We cannot spell out this role fully in the present study, which is devoted to medical care; health education requires a study in itself. But three important responsibilities of health education can be noted. First, primary responsibility for care of their own health must be laid at the feet of individuals. They need to be better informed. Hence health education must be informational and not only persuasive. Second, as noted earlier, the public will need to be educated to accept the substitution in many contexts of nurse practioners and medical auxiliaries for physicians and to deal with other non-doctor staff. And third, people need educating in cost-consciousness. This includes understanding the costs to them of their own lifestyle decisions, as well as the cost to them and society at large of medical care.

10. Finally, the Irish health services are in need of considerably expanded funds for research. We do not refer to basic medical research; others more qualified than this writer to address that issue will have to speak to it. Instead, our concern is with three other kinds of research. First is research into what might be labelled generally as prevention. The Department of Health should have a continuing research concern with air quality, occupational health and safety, prevention of poisoning in the home, road safety and other aspects of prevention. Second is improved collection of epidemiological data, which is the necessary foundation on which both improved prevention and improved care must rest. This too should be a continuing concern of the Department. There should be more routine collection of morbidity data from general practioners, as well as periodic in-depth studies. And third, Ireland needs health economists and other social scientists trained in such disciplines as social policy analysis relating to health and medical care. As this is written, there are no health economists, *per se*, in Ireland.<sup>84</sup> One could not read this study from beginning to end without con-

<sup>84</sup>Since this was written, Mr. Eamon O'Shea, who had completed an M.S. in Health Economics at the University of York, took up a position at the Institute of Public Administration, with duties including but not limited to work in health economics. In addition, there are a number of economists without specific health economics training who work at times in health-related areas.

cluding that there is a vast research agenda, which needs to be addressed by economists and other social scientists, so that we can be informed when we address the vital policy issues which arise in this area, rather than merely guessing, or being guided only by our pre-conceptions. That there are no health economists to study systematically and regularly a sector using as much as a tenth of GNP is, or should be, a scandal. Doctors, too, need to know some health economics; and for that reason, it is argued that trained health economists should be on medical as well as arts and commerce faculties in Irish universities.

These ten points are in addition to the miscellany of changes discussed earlier in the chapter, such as more hospital beds for the North-West region, basing Category II eligibility on the family unit, arms'-length budgeting of hospitals, and better outreach for primary care.

These proposals, we will readily concede, reflect opinion as well as analysis. Yet the author began the present study in 1979 with none of these views. They arose out of the study — the review of the structure of the system; discussions with physicians and others who participate in it; the conduct of a major nationwide survey; statistical analysis of the results of that study; and review of the international health economics literature in search of what is relevant.

Others, addressing the same problems, might develop different lists. Let them do so. That would mean two things. It would mean that they were addressing important problems and it is unlikely that any harm could come of that. And it would show once again that economics, like medicine, is an inexact science.

### REFERENCES

- AARON, H. J. and W. B. SCHWARTZ, 1984. The painful prescription: Rationing hospital care, Washington, D.C., The Brookings Institution.
- ABEL-SMITH, B., 1983. "Medical consumption value for money?" Trinity Trust/School of Pharmacy, Annual Lecture, Dublin.
- ABEL-SMITH, B. and P. GRANDJEAT, 1978. Pharmaceutical Consumption: Trends in Expenditure, Main Measures Taken and Underlying Objectives of Public Intervention in this Field, Brussels: Commission of the European Community.
- ABEL-SMITH, B. and A. MAYNARD, 1978. The Organisation, Financing, and Cost of Health Care in the European Community, Brussels, Commission of the European Community.
- ACTON, J. P., 1973. Demand for Health Care Among the Urban Poor, with Special Emphasis on the Role of Time, Santa Monica, Calif., Rand Corporation.
- ALDRICH, J.H. and F.D. NELSON, 1984. *Linear Probability, Logit, and Probit Models*, Beverly Hills and London, Sage Publications.
- ANDERSEN, R. and L. BENHAM, 1970. "Factors affecting the relationship between family income and medical care consumption". In H.E. Klarman, (ed.), *Empirical Studies in Health Economics*, Baltimore and London; The Johns Hopkins Press.
- ANDERSON, R.R., D. HOUSE and M.B. ORMISTON, 1981. "A Theory of physician behavior with supplier-induced demand", *Southern Economic Journal*, 48.
- ARROW, K.J., 1963. "Uncertainty and the welfare economics of medical care", American Economic Review, 53.
- AUSTER, R., I. LEVESON and D. SARACHEK, 1969. "The reproduction of health, an exploratory study" *Journal of Human Resources*, 6.
- BARRETT, S., 1979. "Social and economic aspects of the health services", Irish Banking Review, March.
- BARRINGTON, R., 1973. The Shaping of Policy on the Irish Health Services, 1961 to 1970. Minor thesis, Master of Arts, Department of Ethics and Politics, University College, Dublin.
- BERBER, M., 1974. "A survey of the clinical activity in a Dublin general practice", Irish Medical Journal, 67.
- BEST, G. and R. SMITH, 1980. "The economic evaluation of health policy". Discussion paper 78, Birkbeck College, University of London.
- BICE, T.W., R. EICHHORN and P.D. FOX, 1972. "Socio-economic status and use of physician services: a reconsideration", *Medical Care*, 10.
- BICE, T.W., et al., 1973. "Economic class and use of physician services", Medical Care, 11.
- BICE, T.W. and K.L. WHITE, 1969. "Factors related to the use of health services: an international comparative study", *Medical Care*, 7.
- BLACK, Sir D., et al., 1980. Inequalities in Health: Report of a Research Working Group, London: Department of Health and Social Services.
- BONAMOUR, P., 1983. "Le cout de la mort", Journal d'Economie Medicale, 1.
- CASSELLS, P. 1981. "Health Services". In D. Nevin, (ed), *Trade Union Priorities in Social Policy*, Dublin: Federated Workers Union of Ireland.

- CLARKSON, J.J., 1982. "Dental Manpower in Ireland", Journal of the Irish Dental Association, Jan-Feb.
- CULYER, A.J., 1971. "The Nature of the Commodity, 'Health Care' and its Efficient Allocation", Oxford Economic Papers, 23.
- CULYER, A.J., 1976. Need and the National Health Service. London: Martin Robertson.
- CULYER, A.J. 1980. "Health services in the mixed economy". In Lord Roll of Ipsden, (ed.), *The Mixed Economy*, Salford: British Association for the Advancement of Science.
- CUYLER, A.J. and A. MAYNARD, 1977. See NESC No. 29.
- CURRY, J., 1978. "Variation in the assessment of farm income in social administration", Irish Journal of Agricultural Economics and Rural Sociology, Vol. 7.
- DAVIS, K. and L.B. RUSSELL, 1972. "The substitution of hospital out-patient care for inpatient care", The Review of Economics and Statistics, 54.
- DEAN, G., H. DOWNING and E. SHELLEY, 1981. "First admissions to psychiatric hospitals in south-east England in 1976 among immigrants from Ireland", *British Medical Journal*, 282 (6June).
- DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE, 1984. Comprehensive Public Expenditures Programme, Dublin: Stationery Office.
- DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, 1980, 1981. Statistical Information Relevant to the Health Services, Dublin: Stationery Office.
- DOWLING, B., 1978. "Alternatives in health care financing". Paper read to Dublin Economics Workshop Conference on Economic Policy, Renvyle, Co. Galway, 6 October.
- ENTHOVEN, A.C., 1980. *Health Plan*, Reading, Massachusetts and London: Addison-Wesley Publishing Co.
- EUROSTAT, 1977, 1980. Social Indicators for the European Community, Luxembourg: Statistical Office of the European Communities.
- EVANS, R.G., 1974. "Supplier-induced demand: some empirical evidence and implications". M. Perlman, (ed.), *The Economics of Health and Medical Care*. London: Macmillan.
- EVANS, R.G., 1976. Book review (of M. Perlman, (ed.), The Economics of Health and Medical Care, London, 1974). Canadian Journal of Economics, August.
- EVANS, R.G., E.M.A. PARISH and F. SULLY, 1973. "Medical productivity scale effects, and demand generation", *Canadian Journal of Economics*, 6.
- FELDSTEIN, M.S., 1967. Economic Analysis for Health Service Efficiency, Amsterdam: North Holland Pub. Co.
- FELDSTEIN, M.S., 1970. "The rising price of physicians' services", Review of Economics and Statistics, 52.
- FELDSTEIN, M.S., 1971. "An econometric model of the Medicare system", Quarterly Journal of Economics, 85.
- FELDSTEIN, M.S., 1971a. "Hospital cost inflation: a study of non-profit price dynamics", American Economic Review, 61.
- FELDSTEIN, M.S., 1974. "Econometric studies in health economics". In M.D. Intrilligator and D.A. Kendrick, (eds), Frontiers of Quantitative Economics, Vol. 2., Amsterdam: North-Holland.
- FELDSTEIN, P.J., 1979. Health Care Economics, New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- FUCHS, V.R., 1974. Who Shall Live? New York: Basic Books.
- FUCHS, V.R., 1978. "The supply of surgeons and the demand for operations", Journal of Human Resources, 13.
- FUCHS, V.R. and M. KRAMER, 1972. Determinants of Expenditures for Physicians' Services in the United States, 1948-1968. Washington, D.C., Department of Health, Education, and Welfare Publications, National Burcau of Economic Research, Occasional Paper 117.
- GENERAL MEDICAL SERVICES (PAYMENTS) BOARD, 1981. Report, Year Ending 31 December 1980, Dublin.
- GORMLEY, M., 1980. Guide to the Irish Health Services, Galway: Emerald Printers.
- GOWEN, J.F. 1972. (Recorder, the Research Committee, South of Ireland Faculty, the Royal College of General Practitioners). "A report from general practice in Ireland", *Irish Medical Journal*, 64, (1 April).

#### REFERENCES

- GRONAU, R. 1974. "Wage Comparisons A Selectivity Bias", Journal of Political Economy, Nov-Dec.
- HECKMAN, J.J., 1976. "The common structure of statistical models of truncation, sample selection, and limited dependent variables and a simple estimator for such models", Annals of Economic and Social Measurement, 5.
- HELD, P.J. and L.M. MANHEIM, 1980. "The effect of local physician supply on the treatment of hypertension in Quebec", *The Target Income Hypothesis*, Washington, D.C., Department of Health, Education and Welfare, publication HRA-80-27.
- HENSEY, B., 1979. The Health Services of Ireland, Dublin: Institute of Public Administration.
- HIXSON, J.S., et al., 1980. The Target Income Hypothesis and Releated Issues in Health Manpower Research, Washington, D.C.: Department of Health, Education and Welfare, publication HRA-80-27.
- HSMO, 1974. Morbidity Statistics from General Practice, London: Second National Study, 1970-71.
- JOINT COMMITTEE ON STATE-SPONSORED BODIES, 1980. Report: The Voluntary Health Insurance Board, Dublin: Prl. 8899, (26 March).
- KAIM-CAUDLE, P.R., 1969. Dental Services in Ireland, Dublin: The Economic and Social Research Institute, Broadsheet Series, No. 1.
- KAIM-CAUDLE, P.R., 1970a. *Pharmaceutical Services in Ireland*, Dublin: The Economic and Social Research Institute, Broadsheet Series, No. 3.
- KAIM-CAUDLE, P.R., 1970b. *Ophthalmic Services in Ireland*, Dublin: The Economic and Social Research Institute, Broadsheet Series, No. 4.
- KELLY, V., 1976. "Hospital stay in Ireland and the United States a comparison", Irish Medical Times.
- KIRKE, P., 1981. "Perinatal and infant mortality in Ireland and selected countries: Variations in underlying factors", Irish Medical Journal, 74:8.
- KIRKE, P. and T. BRANNICK, 1981. "Perinatal and infant mortality in Ireland and selected countries: Present levels and secular trends", *Irish Medical Journal*, 74:8.
- LEWIS, H.G., 1974. "Comments on Selectivity Bias in Wage Comparisons", Journal of Political Economy, Nov.-Dec.
- LUFT, H.S., 1978. "How do Health Maintenance Organisations achieve their 'savings'?", New England Journal of Medicine, 298 (June 15).
- LUFT, H.S., J.P. BUNKER and A.C. ENTHOVEN, 1979. "Should operations be regionalized?" The empirical variation between surgical volume and mortality", *New England Journal of Medicine* 301 (December 20).
- MAY, J.J., 1975. "Utilization of health services and the availability of resources", In R. Andersen, J. Kravits and O.W. Anderson, (eds) *Equity in Health Services*, Cambridge, Mass.: Ballinger Publishing Co.
- MAYNARD, A., 1976. Health Care in the European Community, London: Croom Helm.
- MAYNARD, A., 1979. "Pricing, demanders and the supply of health care", International Journal of Health Services, 9.
- MAYNARD, A., 1980. "Health care evaluation, incentives, and the training of doctors", Mimeographed. University of York.
- MAYNARD, A., and A. LUDBROOK, 1980. "Budget allocation in the National Health Service", *Journal of Social Policy*, 9.
- McCARTHY, C. and W.J.L. RYAN (eds.), 1982. Applied Economic Problems, Dublin: Helicon Ltd./Confederation of Irish Industry.
- McCORMICK, J.S. and S.P. ALLWRIGHT, 1977. "A comparison of general practice in Britain and Ireland", *Journal of the Royal College of General Practitioners*, 27 (May).
- McPHERSON, K., J.E. WENNBERG, O.B. HOVIND and P. CLIFFORD, 1982. "Small-area variations in the use of common surgical procedures: an international comparison of New England, England and Norway", *New England Journal of Medicine*, Nov. 18.
- MEDICO-SOCIAL RESEARCH BOARD, 1977. Annual Report, Dublin.
- MEDICO-SOCIAL RESEARCH BOARD, 1981. Activities of Irish Psychiatric Hospitals and Units 1980, Dublin.

MEDICO-SOCIAL RESEARCH BOARD, 1982. Annual Report, Dublin.

- MEDICO-SOCIAL RESEARCH BOARD, 1982. Termination of Pregnancy, England 1983, Women from the Republic of Ireland, Dublin.
- MITCHELL, J.B., J. CROMWELL and B. DUTTON, 1981. *Physician Indued Demand for Surgical Operations*, Washington, D.C.: US Dept. of Health and Human Services, Health Care Financing Administration, publication No. 03086.
- MICHEL, C., 1978. The Cost of Hospitalization: Microeconomic Approach to the Problem, Brussels: Commission of the European Communities.
- MONSMA, G.N. Jnr., 1970. "Marginal revenue and the demand for physicians' services", In H.E. Klarman, (ed.), *Empirical Studies in Health Economics*. Baltimore, Johns Hopkins Press.
- MULCAHY, R., I. GRAHAM, N. HICKEY and L. DALY, 1980. "Socio-economic factors and coronary heart disease", Paper read to the British Cardiac Society, London (April 1).
- MULCAHY, R., V. KELLY, E. TEMPANY and D. TYRRELL, 1975. *Discussion Document* by an Irish Medical Association Working Party on the feasibility of a Compulsory Specialist and Hospital Insurance Scheme as an Alternative to the Present Irish System. Dublin.
- MUSGRAVE, R.A., 1959. The Theory of Public Finance, McGraw Hill.
- NESC NO. 29, 1977. Some Major Issues in Health Policy, (Text by A.J. Culyer and A.K. Maynard), Dublin: National Economic and Social Council.
- NESC NO. 38, 1978. Universality and Selectivity: Social Services in Ireland, Dublin: National Economic and Social Council.
- NESC NO. 53, 1983. Economic and Social Policy 1980-83: Aims and Recommendations, Dublin: National Economic and Social Council.
- NESC NO. 73, 1983. Health Services: The Implications of Demographic Change, Dublin: National Economic and Social Council.
- NEWHOUSE, J.P., 1970. "A model of physician pricing", Southern Economic Journal, 37.
- NEWHOUSE, J. and C.E. PHELPS, 1976. "New estimates of price and income elasticities of medical care services". In R. Rossett, (ed.), *The Role of Health Insurance in the Health Services Sector*, New York.
- NOWLAN, D., 1977. "A guide to the Health Services: as good as the next", Special Supplement, *Irish Times* (6 July).
- O'DONOVAN, D.K., 1976. "The Medical Research Council of Ireland", Irish Medical Journal, 69:11 (26 June).
- O'HAGAN, J. and M. KELLY, 1984. "Components of growth in current public expenditure on education and health", *The Economic and Social Review*, Vol. 15.
- O'HARE, A. and D. WALSH, 1979. Activities of Irish Psychiatric Hospitals and Units, 1977, Dublin: Medico-Social Research Board.
- OFFICE OF HEALTH ECONOMICS, 1979. Scarce Resources in Health Care, London.
- PAULY, M., 1980. Doctors and their Workshops, Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- PAULY, M. and M.A. SATTERTHWAITE, 1980. "The effect of provider supply on price", In Hixson, et al., above.
- PHELPS, C.E. and J.NEWHOUSE, 1975. "Co-insurance, the price of time, and the demand for medical services", *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 57.

PINDYCK, R.S. and D.L. RUBINFELD, 1976. Econometric Models and Economic Forecasts, International Student Edition, McGraw Hill.

- POLICY AND PLANNING UNIT, 1980. Inequalities in Health, London: Department of Health an-d Social Services.
- RAPOPORT, J., R.L. ROBERTSON and B. STUART, 1982. Understanding Health Economics, Rockville, Maryland: Aspen Systems.
- RASKIN, I.A., R.M. COFFEY and P.J. FARLEY, 1980. "Controlling health care costs: an evaluation of strategies", *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 3.
- RAWLS, J., 1972. A Theory of Justice, New York: Oxford University Press.
- REINHARDT, U., 1978. "Comment". In W. Greenberg, (ed.), Competition in the Health Care Sector: Past, Present and Future. Washington: Bureau of Economics, Federal Trade Commission.

#### REFERENCES

- RUTTEN, F.F.H., 1978. The Use of Health Care Facilities in the Netherlands An Econometric Analysis, Doctoral dissertation, University of Leiden, Netherlands.
- SAMUELSON, P., 1954. "The pure theory of public expenditure", Review of Economics and Statistics, 36.
- SHANNON, W., 1976. "The General practitioner in Ireland present state and future needs", Irish Medical Journal, 69:11.
- SHELLEY, E., et al., 1979. "Farmer's lung: a study in North-West Ireland", Irish Medical Journal, 72 (30 June).
- SLOAN, F.A. and R. FELDMAN, 1978. "Competition among physicians", In W. Greenberg, (ed.), *Competition in the Health Care Sector: Past, Present and Future.* Washington: Bureau of Economics, Federal Trade Commission.
- STATIONERY OFFICE, 1966. The Health Service and their Future Development, White Paper laid by the Government before each house of the Oireachtas.
- STATIONERY OFFICE, 1968. White Paper laid by the Government before each house of the Oireachtas.

STATIONERY OFFICE, 1984. Building on Reality 1985-1987, Dublin.

- STONE, D.A., 1980. "Health care cost containment in West Germany". Discussion Paper (mineo.) DP-3, University Health Policy Consortium. Boston, MA.
- SWEENEY, G.H., 1982. "The market for physicians' services: theoretical implications and an empirical test of the target income hypothesis", Southern Economic Journal, 48.
- THEIL, H., 1978. Principles of Econometrics, Amsterdam: North-Holland Publishing Co.
- TUSSING, A.D., 1978. Irish Educational Expenditures: Past, Present and Future. Paper 92. Dublin: The Economic and Social Research Institute.
- TUSSING, A.D., 1980a. "What kind of health service do we really need?" Annual Conference, Irish Private Hospitals and Nursing Homes Association, Dublin: The Economic and Social Research Institute, Memorandum Series, No. 140.
- TUSSING, A.D., 1980b. "Health education in public policy", In Whither Health Education?, Dublin: Health Education Bureau.
- TUSSING, A.D., 1981a. "Poverty and the development of the health services". In Sister Stanislaus Kennedy, One Million Poor? The Challenge of Irish Inequality, Dublin: Turoe Press.
- TUSSING, A.D., 1981b. "Supply-demand interdependence in the delivery of medical care". Paper read to Irish Association of University Teachers of Economics, Annual Conference, Wexford, April 5.
- TUSSING, A.D., 1982a. "Financing the health services", In C. McCarthy and L. Ryan, (eds.) *Applied Economic Problems*, Helicon Ltd./Confederation of Irish Industry, Dublin: Pre-published in *New Exchange*, Spring, 1982.
- TUSSING, A.D., 1982b. "Health, education, and redistribution to the poor", In P. Berwick and and M. Burns, Conference on Poverty, 1981: Papers of the Kilkenny Conference, 6th-8th November, 1981. Council for Social Welfare, Blackrock, Co. Dublin.
- TUSSING, A.D., 1982c. "Health, health policy and poverty", In L. Joyce and A. Cashin (compilers) *Poverty and Social Policy*, The Irish National Report presented to the Commission of the European Communities, Dublin: Institute of Public Administration.
- TUSSING, A.D., 1982d. "Fee for service or capitation?", Irish Medical Times, November 12.
- TUSSING, A.D., 1983a. "Physician-induced demand for medical care: Irish General Practitioners", The Economic and Social Review, April.
- TUSSING, A.D., 1983b. "Why the Irish Health Service needs to be radically reformed", Seminar for Labour Party Councillors, Dublin, 14 May.
- TUSSING, A.D., 1983c. "The agency role of the physician in Ireland, Britain, and the USA", Paper read to Annual Meeting, American Political Science Association, Chicago, September 1.
- TUSSING, A.D., 1984a. "Physician behaviour in Ireland", Paper read to Health Economists' Study Group, Birmingham, January 5.
- TUSSING, A.D., 1984b. "Efficiency and control of Irish medical care expenditures," in K.A. Kennedy (ed.), Public Social Expenditures - Value for Money?, proceedings of a conference, November 20, Dublin: The Economic and Social Research Institute.

- TUSSING, A.D., 1984c. "A study of utilisation of preventative medical care." Paper read to conference, Health Education Bureau, Athlone, November 23.
- TUSSING, A.D. and M. A. WOJTOWYCZ (forthcoming). "Physician density and return visits: Physician-induced demand by Irish General Practitioners."
- VAN DER GAAG, 1978. An Econometric Analysis of the Dutch Health Care System, Doctoral dissertation presented to University of Leiden, Netherlands.
- WALSH, J.B., 1980. "Previously unrecognised treatable illness in an Irish elderly population", Irish Medical Journal, 73 (February).
- WALSH, J.J. and M.C. BAILEY, 1979. "Air pollution where we stand". In W.K. Downey and G. Ni Uid (Compilers) Air Pollution – Impacts and Control, Proceedings of a Seminar, Galway, November 1978, National Board of Science and Technology, Dublin.
- WARD, J.B., C. HEALY and G. DEAN, 1978. "Urban and rural mortality in the Republic of Ireland", Irish Medical Journal, 17 (28 February)
- WHELAN, B.J., 1979. "RANSAM: A random sample design for Ireland", The Economic and Social Review.
- WILENSKY, G.R. and L.F. ROSSITER, 1980. "The magnitude and determinants of physician initiated visits in the United States", Presented to World Congress on Health Economics, Leiden University, Netherlands (September 8-11).
- WILEY, M.M., 1984. The Irish Dental Care System: Utilisation, Financing, and Policy Options for the Future, Unpublished doctoral dissertation, The Florence Heller Graduate School, Brandeis University, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA.
- WORKING PARTY OF THE GENERAL MEDICAL SERVICE, 1984. Report, Dublin: Stationery Office.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION, 1979. Sharing Health Care Costs, Report of an international seminar held at Wolfsberg, Switzerland, March 20-23, 1979. Professor Brian Abel-Smith, general rapporteur. US Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Publication No. (PHS) 79-3256. Washington.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION, 1982. Control of Health Care Costs in Social Security Systems. Copenhagen: Report on a Workshop.

# Appendix I

# STATISTICAL TABLES 1980 ESRI NATIONAL HOUSEHOLD SURVEY OF MEDICAL CARE UTILISATION AND EXPENDITURES

The Appendix Tables report on the findings of the national household survey of health care utilisation and expenditures, conducted by the author and The Economic and Social Research Institute, as described in Chapter 1. A summary version of the survey questionnaire, with means and frequencies, is found in Appendix III. A list of tables follows this introduction and precedes the tables. Some explanation of the tables is required.

Tables A.1 through A.6 report on medical care utilisation; and Tables A.7 through A.9 report on utilisation of health professionals other than doctors or dentists. In these tables, we report, for each type of utilisation, (1) the number of units of utilisation — e.g., the number of general practitioner consultations, or the number of prescription items — per year, per 1,000 persons; (2) the percentage of persons with any utilisation — e.g., the percentage of persons who had any consultations with a general practitioner; and (3) the average number of units of utilisation among those who had any utilisation — e.g., the average number of GP consultations in 1980 among those who had any such consultations at all. Of these three, the first is a product of the second and third, in effect.

Medical care utilisation (A.1-A.6) includes general practitioner consultations, specialist consultations, out-patient visits, dentist visits, prescription items, hospital discharges, hospital nights and prescription items per GP consultation. "Hospital discharges" is a measure of the number of times a person was in hospital as an admitted in-patient. Where a stay in hospital began in one year and ended in another (began in 1979 and ended in 1980, or began in 1980 and ended in 1981), the stay is dated according to the date of discharge rather than the date of admission. "Hospital nights" refers to the annual average number of days in hospital — in effect, the average length of a stay in hospital, multiplied by the average number of stays (discharges). "Prescription items per GP consultation" is based on the general practitioner and prescription data elsewhere in the same tables. These tables also report the numbers of persons in our sample in each of the categories; the total number reported varies slightly from table to table, according to the response rates to the various questions in the sample.

Tables A.7 through A.9 report on utilisation of health professionals other than

	C pra cons	General actition aultatio	er ns	.S con	pecial sultat	ist ions	0	ut-pat visits	ient		Deni visi	ist ts	Pı	escript items	ion	a	Hospita lischarg	al ges		Hospi nigh	tal Is	Pro It GP	escripti ems pe consul tion	on r la-	Per sam	rsons in uple <sup>(1)</sup>
Sex and age	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, þer 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Number	%
All Males	3,186	61.3	5.20	368	12.3	2.98	438	14.0	3.14	601	23.6	2.54	3,963	53.1	7.46	122	9.7	1.26	1,791	9.7	18.45	.813	52.1	1.56	1,865	49.4
0-14	2,595	63.9	4.06	314	12.8	2.45	251	11.2	2.25	657	25.9	2.54	2,127	53.5	3.98	121	10.1	1.20	1,375	10.1	13.61	.577	53.0	1.09	600	15.9
15-44	2,107	51.1	3.94	360	10.2	3.54	526	13.6	3.86	821	31.2	2.63	1,744	43.4	4.02	74	5.9	1.26	805	5.9	13.64	.546	42.4	1.29	705	18.7
45-64	3,940	63.9	6.16	440	13.7	3.22	408	15.6	2.61	267	13.2	2.02	5,757	55.8	10.32	137	10.8	1.27	2,333	10.8	21.58	.984	54.1	1.82	343	9.1
65+	7,443	83.2	8.94	429	15.9	2.69	720	20.2	3.57	254	9.5	2.68	13,439	79.5	16.90	255	19.3	1.32	5,298	19.3	27.47	2.062	77.8	2.65	216	5.7
All Females	4,036	70.8	5.70	450	14.1	3.18	545	13.5	4.05	821	30.1	2.72	5,116	62.8	8.14	161	11.2	1.43	2,165	11.2	19.33	.962	62.0	1.55	1,090	50.6
0-14	2,407	66.3	3.63	252	11.3	2.22	253	10.5	2.40	826	33.5	2.46	1 <b>,94</b> 8	56.1	3.47	121	8.0	1.51	2,037	8.0	25.48	.569	55.3	1.03	601	15.9
15-44	3,362	66.2	5.08	586	17.3	3.38	593	15.2	3.91	1,158	40.3	2.84	3,678	57.2	6.43	215	15.1	1.42	2,069	15.1	13.69	.795	56.4	1.41	707	18.7
45-64	5,331	73.4	7.26	441	12.4	3.56	941	16.5	5.69	640	19.3	3.23	7,854	67.7	11.59	139	11.3	1.23	2,542	11.3	22.41	1.445	67.4	2.14	337	8.9
65+	7,892	89.8	8.79	552	14.3	3.86	579	11.7	4.96	139	7.1	1.96	12,675	87.0	14.57	135	8.1	1.66	2,232	7.9	28.40	1.686	85.3	1.98	264	7.0
All Persons	3,616	66.1	5.47	410	13.3	3.09	492	13.7	.3.59	712	26.9	2.64	4,546	58.0	7.83	142	10.5	1.35	1,980	10.5	18.93	.888	57.1	1.56	3,775	100.0

Table A.1: Medical care utilisation by sex and age of patient

	pro con	General actition sultati	l ner ons	cu	Specia nsulta	list tions	0	Dut-pai visit	tient s		Denti visit	st s	ŀ	<sup>p</sup> rescriț item	otion s		Hosp discha	ital rges		Hospi nigh	ital Is	P G	Prescrip Items P cons tion	tion ber ulta-	P sa	Persons in mple <sup>(a)</sup>
Entitlement and VHI Cover	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	<sup>p</sup> er Jear, per 1,000	6 with any	<sup>v</sup> er year, persons with any	<sup>3</sup> er year, per 1,000	% with any	<sup>2</sup> er year, persons with any	11	ó with any	Von-zero only	Vimber	18
All VHI	2,270	64.2	3.54	473	15.8	3.00	367	13.0	1.00	1,046	41.8	2.51	3,206	54.7	5.86	128	10.2	1.25	1,151	10.2	11.28	.929	53.1	1.75	956	25.5
All non-VHI	4,084	66.8	6.11	388	12.4	3.13	536	14.0	1.00	596	21.8	2.73	5,014	59.2	8.47	146	10.6	1.38	2,266	10.5	21.48	.875	58.5	1.50	2,794	74.5
All I	6,082	77.3	7.87	426	12.6	3.37	644	14.6	4.42	593	18.2	3.25	8,087	72.4	11.17	171	11.9	1.44	3.347	11.8	28 37	1 185	79 1	1 64	1 997	39 7
VHI	3,725	78.6	4.74	329	14.1	2.33	417	11.2	3.74	813	30.8	2.64	4,000	74.3	5.39	100	9.9	1.00	748	9.9	7.52	.775	71.9	1.08	57	1.5
non-VHI	6,197	77.2	8.02	430	12.6	3.42	655	14.7	4.44	583	17.6	3.31	8,286	72.3	11.46	174	12.0	1.46	3,474	11.9	29.22	1.205	72.2	1.67	1,170	31.2
All II	2,540	60.4	4.21	394	12.3	3.19	478	13.4	3.56	637	25.9	2.46	2,652	50.4	5.26	136	9.9	1.37	1.449	9,9	14.58	.693	49.3	1.41	1 832	48 9
VHI	2,373	64.6	3.67	568	15.3	3.71	486	12.6	3.87	840	33.0	2.55	2,760	53.3	5.18	165	11.4	1.45	1.381	11.4	12.13	.936	51.7	1.81	364	9.7
non-VHI	2,582	59.4	4.35	351	11.6	3.02	476	13.7	3.48	587	24.2	2.43	2,625	49.7	5.28	129	9.6	1.35	1,466	9.6	15.30	.633	48.7	1.30	1,468	39.1
All III	2,152	61.7	3.49	430	16.7	2.57	276	13.1	2.10	1,078	44.5	2.42	3,386	53.0	6.39	108	9.7	1.11	1.018	9.7	10.49	.891	51.2	1.74	692	18.5
VHI	2,028	61.9	3.27	431	16.4	2.62	285	13.5	2.12	1,197	48.8	2.45	3,441	53.1	6.48	108	9.6	1.12	1.064	9.6	11.11	.947	51.5	1.84	536	14.3
non-VHI	2,578	60.8	4.24	428	17.9	2.40	243	11.9	2.05	670	29.4	2.28	3,199	52.5	6.09	109	10.1	1.07	861	10.1	8.49	.700	50.4	1.39	156	4.2
All Persons	3,627	66.1	5.48	411	13.3	3.10	495	13.7	3.60	704	26.9	2.63	4,565	58.0	7.86	142	10.5	1.35	1,990	10.5	18.95	.891	57.1	1.56	3,750	100.0

Table A.2: Medical care utilisation by health services entitlement category and VHI Cover

APPENDIX I

	C pra cons	eneral ctition ultatio	l ner ons	Sj con	pecial sultat	ist ions	0	ul-pat visits	ient		Dent: visit	îst s	P	rescrip items	tion	a	Hospit lischar	al ges	Ŀ.	lospita nights	i	Pres item cons	cripti s per ultatio	on GP on	Person. sampl	s in e <sup>(2)</sup>
Health Board Area	Per year, þer 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Peryear, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	All persons	% with any	Persons with any	Nùmber	<i>%</i>
Eastern	3,559	68.1	5.23	539	16.1	3.36	640	18.8	3.41	895	35.0	2.56	4,928	59.9	8.22	125	10.2	1.23	1,398	10.1	13.86	1.000	58.3	1.71	1,198	31.7
Midland	3,780	57.3	6.60	188	8.3	2.25	200	9.1	2.19	273	18.5	1.36	5,935	52.4	11.32	114	10.5	1.09	2,094	10.5	19.99	.830	52.4	1.58	174	4.6
Mid-Western	3,853	66.5	5.80	242	12.1	2.00	273	11.6	2.35	620	14.5	4.29	3,833	59.3	6.46	133	10.1	1.32	1,395	10.1	13.84	.694	58.2	1.19	303	8.0
North-Eastern	3,403	66.3	5.13	376	14.6	2.58	608	16.1	3.79	861	29.8	2.89	4,956	56.7	8.73	177	13.0	1.37	3,058	13.0	23.56	1.021	56.3	1.81	389	10.3
North-Western	3,956	66.8	5.92	205	10.1	2.02	289	9.2	3.14	295	13.7	2.15	5,368	58.1	9.24	133	10.2	1.30	1,355	10.2	13.28	.992	58.1	1.71	221	5.9
South-Eastern	3,831	68.3	5.61	315	13.8	2.28	346	10.4	3.31	741	25.2	2.94	3,399	56.6	6.00	145	11.9	1.23	1,987	11.9	16.75	.718	56.1	1.28	421	11.2
Southern	3,409	63.4	5.38	576	12.5	4.60	609	12.4	4.91	759	29.1	2.61	4,545	56.7	8.02	169	9.9	1.71	2,733	9.9	27.65	.924	55.4	1.67	607	16.1
Western	3,640	65.0	5.60	262	9.4	2.78	344	8.6	3.99	457	20.0	2.28	3,810	58.4	6.52	135	9.2	1.47	2,226	9.2	24.30	.694	58.3	1.19	462	12.2
Ireland	3,616	66.1	5.47	410	13.3	3.09	492	13.7	3.59	712	26.9	2.64	4,546	58.0	7.83	142	10.5	1.35	1,980	10.5	18.93	.888	57.1	1.56	3,775	100.0

Table A.3: Medical care utilisation by Health Board Area of residence

	C pra cons	deneral ctition ultation	l ter ons	cor	special Sultat	ist ions	С	ut-pat visits	ient		Dent visit	ist s	Pı	escripi items	lion	ú	Hospi dischar	tal ges	1	lospit nights	al	Pre iten con	escripti 15 per sultati	on GP on	Pers san	ions in Sople <sup>(a)</sup>
Employment status	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per jear, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per_year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	All persons	% with any	Persons with any	Number	20
Employed (including self-employed)	2,825	63.6	4.44	396	13.7	2.89	411	13.6	3.03	777	30.9	2.51	3,155	54.3	5.82	137	10.1	1.36	1,655	10.1	16.44	0.747	53.4	1.40	2,723	72.2
Unemployed, seeking work	3,271	62.7	5.22	216	11.6	1.86	504	11.5	4.39	873	16.6	5.27	2,684	56.5	4.75	119	8.8	1.35	1,852	8.8	20.99	0.662	55.5	1.19	240	6.4
Retired	7,010	78.2	8.96	725	15.0	4.83	182	18.3	6.45	400	14.2	2.81	10,662	73.2	14.57	183	14.0	1.31	3,754	14.0	26.90	1.471	72.5	2.03	388	10.3
Household duties, full-time	5,392	74.1	7.28	267	9.7	2.76	411	11.8	3.48	342	14.7	2.33	8,983	69.9	12.85	139	9.9	1.40	2,772	9.9	27.97	1.367	68.5	2.00	236	6.3
Other <sup>(b)</sup>	3,194	78.4	4.11	80	5.7	1.22	76	5.8	1.16	924	45.5	2.07	2,800	66.0	4.21	36	3.3	1.02	492	3.3	13.44	1.110	51.4	1.53	187	5.0
All Persons	3,616	66.1	5.47	410	13.3	3.09	492	13.7	3.59	712	26.9	2.64	4,546	58.0	7.83	142	10.5	1.35	1,980	10.5	18.93	0.888	57.1	1.55	3,774	100.0

Table A.4: Medical care utilisation by Employment Status of head of household

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>Detail may not add to total because of rounding. <sup>(b)</sup>Includes 14 household heads not working because of long-term sickness or disablement.

	C pra cons	General actition aultatio	er ms	cor	pecial sultat	ist ions	O	ut-pat visits	ient ;		Dentis visits	1	Pi	rescript items	tion	d	Hospit ischar	al ges		Hospil night	al s	Pi iter co	rescripti ns per nsultati	on GP on	Perso samf	ns in ble <sup>(2)</sup>
Occupation	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	All persons	% with any	Persons with any	Number	%
Professional, manager, or employer Salaried employee	2,322	64.4	3.61	427	15.9	2.68	315	14.0	2.25	1,126	44.2	2.55	3,712	52.9	7.01	130	10.7	1.22	1,229	10.5	11.66	1.022	51.4	1.99	610	16.2
or intermediate non-manual worker Other non-manual worker	3,232	64.4 68.8	5.02	581 563	16.3	3.56 4.66	497 556	13.5	3.67 3.45	888 676	38.7 26 3	2.30	4,001 4 568	54.8 57 5	7.31 7 94	195	13.0	1.50	3,599	13.0	27.69	0.893	53.9 56 7	1.66	405	10.8
Skilled manual worker Semi-skilled or unskilled	4,146	67.2	6.17	415	16.1	2.57	676	16.4	4.12	771	24.7	3.12	4,776	61.1	7.82	162	11.0	1.47	1,210	11.0	16.73	0.764	60.1	1.27	569	15.1
manual worker Farmer, agricultural worker, or	4,900	72.1	6.80	379	12.2	3.09	782	16.3	4.78	519	17.8	2.92	6,205	66.3	9.35	149	11.1	1.34	2,852	11.1	25.68	1.084	65.4	1.66	826	21.9
All persons	3,612	66.0	5.16 5.47	294 411	10.1	2.92 3.09	229 493	9.0 13.7	2.55 3.59	524 712	20.5 26.9	2.55 2.65	3,746 4,546	55.8 58.0	6.97 7.84	142	8.8 10.5	1.32	1,424 1,984	8.8 10.5	18.93	0.701	53.3 57.1	1.32 1.56	975 3,767	25.9

Table A.5: Medical care utilisation by occupation of head of household

	¢	Gener vractiti vonsulta	al oner ints	c	Specia consult	list ants	6	hut-pa visit	tient s		Denti. visits	st s	Р	rescrip items	tion		Hosp discha	ital rges		Hospit night:	al s	Pi iter co	rescrip ms per nsulta	tion GP tion	Per sai	rsons in mple <sup>(a)</sup>
Age Completed Education	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any	All persons	% with any	Persons with any	Vumber	%
Under 14	5,473	72.4	7.56	370	14.5	2.55	1,216	15.4	7.92	936	17.4	5.38	6,563	65.9	9.95	156	11.7	1.34	3,567	11.7	30.58	0.865	64.1	1.35	222	5.9
14	3,962	65.0	6.10	396	10.0	3.94	491	13.8	3.56	566	21.1	2.68	5,058	56.9	8.89	131	9.6	1.36	2,062	9.6	21.41	0.885	56.3	1.57	1,476	39.4
15 16	3,641 3,266	64.1 66.2	5.68 4.93	288 391	12.3 13.1	2.33 2.98	349 390	13.2 13.3	2.64 2.92	492 663	21.3 25.5	2.31 2.60	4,757 3,765	55.5 60.3	8.58 6.24	141 163	11.1 10.3	1.27 1.58	1,246 2,653	11.1 10.2	11.23 26.05	0.894 0.827	55.1 58.5	1.62 1.41	408 669	10.9 17.8
17	3,288	66.9	4.91	494	19.7	2.51	382	13.7	2.79	903	33.3	2.71	2,813	55.6	5.06	144	11.3	1.27	1,229	11.3	10.87	0.648	55.2	1.17	280	7.5
18	2,756	64.3	4.28	481	17.0	2.83	566	12.9	4.39	955	39.9	2.40	5,078	56.2	9.04	115	9.8	1.17	1,283	9.8	13.03	1.088	55.6	1.96	355	9.5
19	4,729	74.2	6.37	700	25.5	2.75	291	9.1	3.20	917	33.0	2.77	5,342	60.3	8.87	156	13.1	1.19	1,150	13.1	8.78	0.979	60.3	1.62	73	1.9
Over 19	2,234	69.6	3.21	518	17.3	3.00	454	15.6	2.91	1,266	55.6	2.28	2,775	60.5	4.59	165	13.1	1.25	1,235	13.1	9.40	1.072	58.0	1.85	264	7.0
All Persons	3,621	66.1	5.47	412	13.3	3.10	493	13.7	3.60	715	27.0	2.65	4,562	58.0	7.86	142	10.5	1.35	1,956	10.5	18.68	0.891	57.1	1.56	3,748	100.0

Table A.6: Medical care utilisation by age head of household completed full-time education
doctors or dentists, namely opticians, audiometrists, midwives, nurses, social workers, chiropodists, psychologists, physio- or occupational therapists, and others.

Tables A.10 through A.15 report on preventative care utilisation, i.e., most recent general practitioner consultation, and whether one had the following in 1980: a physical examination when one was not ill or pregnant and did not think or suspect he or she was; an immunisation for any disease; a blood pressure test; and/or a cervical cancer smear ("pap") test (for adult women).

Tables A.16 through A.27 report on private (i.e., household) medical care expenditures, by major type. Figures are for the year 1980; that is, they relate to annual outlays, rather than unit charges. Tables A.16 through A.21 report on the averages of these per household, whilst Tables A.22 through A.27 report on the averages per person. Expenditures made by employers on behalf of their employees are not included. The reported amounts are gross, in the sense that VHI or, in the case of prescription medicines, Health Board reimbursements are not deducted.

Note that tables are organised by characteristics of head of household, and expenditures are for all persons in the household (in the case of average per household), or for all persons in the household divided by number of persons in the household (in the case of average per person). Households headed, for example, by persons with Category I eligibility (Medical Cards) may include persons with other categories of eligibility.

Tables A.28 through A.35 report on referral behaviour by doctors. Tables A.28 and A.29 report on the further care or treatment ordered, prescribed, or suggested, per most recent visit, respectively, to general practitioner or specialist. The figures in the tables are percentages, and they show, *inter alia*, that 23.5 per cent of all most recent visits to general practitioners, and 39.0 per cent of all most recent visits to specialist, resulted in a return visit being arranged. Tables A.30 through A.35 report on whose idea the most recent utilisation was, in the case of general practitioner or specialist consultations, out-patient hospital visits, dentist visits, and hospital admissions, and who prescribed pharmaceutical medicines. Respondents were asked (with slight variations in the form of the question, according to the type of utilisation): "About the most recent time each member was seen by a general practitioner in 1980: Whose idea was it, or who first suggested that they see the doctor? Was it — a return visit; a household member's idea; the general practitioner's idea; another doctor's idea; other; or don't know, or no visit in 1980?"

Tables A.36 and A.37 are concerned with the characteristics of persons in the three entitlement categories in the public health services, and with persons covered or not covered by Voluntary Health Insurance (VHI). Table A.36 reports on entitlement and VHI cover by age and sex, and Table A.37 reports on these by Health Board area of residence. Figures reported are, in all cases, percentages.

Table A.38 reports on average annual numbers of general practitioner con-

## APPENDIX I

sultations, by the usual fee charged by the general practitioner for a consultation in the GP's office or surgery, by Health Board area.

The remaining tables, A.39 through A.42, report on various hospital statistics from the survey. Tables A.39 and A.40 report on the numbers of beds in patients' hospital rooms, by patients' ages and sexes, and by category of health services entitlement and VHI cover. A room with only one bed is usually referred to as "private" accommodation; two to four as "semi-private"; and five or more as "public ward". Table A.41 reports on the Health Board area locations of hospitals, together with Health Board area places of residence of patients. Entries in the main diagonal show those patients who stayed in hospitals within their own Health Board areas. Other entries reflect instances in which patients living in one Health Board area travelled to other Health Board areas for inpatient hospital services. For example, in our sample of 394 hospital admissions in 1980, 19 persons who lived in the North-Eastern Health Board area stayed in (were discharged from) hospitals in the Eastern Health Board area, as compared with 30 who lived in and stayed in hospitals in the North-Eastern Health Board area. Of 394 hospital stays (discharges), 44, or 11 per cent, involved persons from one Health Board area using in-patient services in another; of the 44, 35 stayed in hospitals in the Eastern Health Board area.

Table A.42 reports, for each person discharged from hospital in 1980, how long he or she had to wait to be admitted, by category of entitlement and VHI cover. Only 7.8 per cent had to wait more than a month, and only 1.6 per cent more than a year. Health services entitlement and VHI cover do not appear to matter.

Type of health professional	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, • persons with any
Optician (vision examination)	118	10.0	1.19
Audiometrist (hearing examination)	21	1.6	1.30
Midwife <sup>(a)</sup>	41	1.8	2.31
Nurse	350	2.7	13.09
Social worker	10	0.4	2.05
Chiropodist	72	2.4	2.97
Psychologist	13	0.4	2.93
Physio- or occupational therapist	35	0.7	4.90
Other	8	0.2	3.50
Total, all health professionals	633	16.1	3.97

Table A.7: Utilisation of health professionals other than doctors or dentists, by typeof health professional, 1980

<sup>(a)</sup>Rates figured on women aged 18-44 rather than whole population.

Patient characteristic	Per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any
Sex and Age			
All Males	504	12.6	4.01
0-14	221	13.0	1.71
15-44	148	7.1	2.10
45-64	326	15.3	2.13
65+	2,727	25.1	10.85
All Females	759	19.2	3.94
0-14	278	12.2	2.28
15-44	523	17.6	2.98
45-64	959	26.6	3.60
65+	2,230	30.4	7.33
VHI Cover and Entitlement Catego	ory (I, II, or III)		
All VHI	374	18.3	2.04
All non-VHI	723	15.2	4.76
All Category I	1,225	21.0	5.83
VHI* ´	377	21.6	1.74
non-VHI	1,267	21.0	6.04
All Category II	323	12.6	2.64
VHI	321	19.5	1.65
non-VHI	335	10.9	3.08
All Category III	382	16.2	2.35
VHI	418	17.5	2.39
non-VHI	259	11.8	2.19
Health Board Area			
Eastern	586	16.9	3.46
Midland	762	16.9	4.51
Mid-Western	713	21.6	3.30
North-Eastern	1,043	19.6	5.32
North-Western	1,978	14.4	13.73
South-Eastern	356	18.1	1.97
Southern	335	11.0	3.04
Western	309	11.4	2.71
All Persons	633	16.1	3.97

Table A.8: Utilisation	of health professionals other than doctors or	dentists, 1980, by
patients' sex and age,	VHI Cover and Category of Health Services	Entitlement and
	Health Board area of residence <sup>(a)</sup>	

<sup>(a)</sup>For list of types of health professionals, see Table A.7. \*Absolute levels too low to establish meaningful rates.

## APPENDIX I

Head of household characteristic	per year, per 1,000	% with any	Per year, persons with any
Employment status			
Employed (including self-employed)	436	14.2	3.07
Unemployed, seeking work	448	13.6	3.30
Retired	1,999	26.0	7.70
Household duties, full-time	674	22.4	3.01
Other	190	13.4	1.36
Occupation			
Professional, manager or employer Salaried employee or intermediate	618	17.5	3.54
non-manual worker	584	17.0	3.43
Other non-manual worker	616	14.4	4.28
Skilled manual worker	483	16.7	2.89
Semi-skilled or unskilled manual			4100
worker	890	16.4	5.43
Farmer, agricultural worker, or fisher	543	14.3	3.78
Age Completed			
Full-Time Education			
Under 14	610	15.5	3.94
14	823	15.6	5.26
15	367	18.8	1.95
16	614	14.6	4.20
17	284	14.1	2.01
18	777	15.3	5.07
19	252	11.2	2.25
Over 19	380	21.8	1.75
All persons	633	16.1	3.97

Table A.9: Utilisation of health professionals other than doctors or dentists, byemployment status, occupation and age completed full-time education of head of<br/>household<sup>(a)</sup>

<sup>(a)</sup>For a list of types of health professionals, see Table A.7.

		Most recer consultat	nt general p ion (% dist	oractitioner ribution)			Per cent with following utilisation in 1980				
Sex and Age	Within last 4 weeks	Within last 12 months	Within last 2 years	Within last 5 years	More than 5 years or never	Physical exam. when not ill	Immunisa- tion (any disease	Blood pressure test	Pap smear test <sup>(a)</sup>		
All Males	22.2	40.0	18.3	9.8	9.7	8.5	6.7	22.1			
0-14	20.7	44.4	20.4	7.4	7.1	2.0	15.5	1.9			
15-44	14.5	37.6	20.0	14.2	13.7	9.6	2.5	15.6			
45-64	26.5	38.4	16.6	9.1	9.4	12.2	2.2	46.6			
65+	44.8	38.5	9.3	3.7	3.8	17.2	3.2	60.3			
All Females	28.0	43.4	16.0	6.9	5.7	7.7	6.8	31.8	9.8		
0-14	20.5	46.4	20.3	7.4	5.4	2.6	17.3	1.2			
15–44 <sup>,</sup>	22.1	44.8	18.0	8.3	6.8	6.5	1.8	32.2	14.8		
44-64	34.2	39.6	13.3	5.4	7.5	10.2	2.1	54.4	6.6		
65+	53.0	37.4	4.3	4.0	1.4	19.1	2.0	71.4	2.5		
All Persons	25.3	41.7	17.0	8.4	7.6	8.1	6.7	27.1	9.8		

Table A.10: Preventative care utilisation by sex and age of patient, 1980

<sup>(a)</sup>Rates based on women aged 18 and over.

		Most recer consultat	ıt general f ion (% dist		Per cent with following utilisation in 1980				
VHI Cover and Category of Entitlement (I, II, or III)	Within last 4 weeks	Within last 12 months	Within last 2 years	Within last 5 years	More than 5 years or never	Physical exam. when not ill	Immunisa- tion (any disease)	Blood pressure test	Pap smear test <sup>(a)</sup>
All VHI	21.6	43.8	18.4	7.9	8.4	7.7	7.7	24.7	15.2
All Non-VHI	26.5	41.0	16.6	8.5	7.4	8.2	6.4	27.9	8.0
All Category I	38.0	40.0	10.5	6.8	4.8	11.1	6.2	38.8	5.7
VHI*Č	30.7	51.7	10.9	1.3	5.4	6.4	4.0	27.7	7.1
non-VHI	38.3	39.4	10.5	7.1	4.7	11.4	6.4	39.4	5.6
All Category II	18.5	42.4	20.3	9.3	9.5	6.5	6.6	21.7	10.2
VHI	21.0	44.8	18.5	7.2	8.5	9.5	6.6	29.4	9.5
non-VHI	17.9	41.8	20.7	9.8	9.8	5.7	6.6	19.8	10.4
All Category III	20.3	42.7	20.5	8.9	7.5	7.0	7.9	20.4	19.3
VHIČÍ	20.9	42.1	19.2	9.1	8.7	6.8	9.0	21.1	22.6
non-VHI	18.4	44.6	24.8	8.5	3.7	7.9	4.2	18.0	9.4
All Persons	25.3	41.7	17.0	8.4	7.6	8.1	6.7	27.1	9.8

Table A.11: Preventative care utilisation by VHI cover and health services entitlement, 1980

\*Numbers too small to establish meaningful rates. <sup>(a)</sup>Rates based on women aged 18 and over.

		Most recen consultati	t general p ion (% dist		Per cent with following utilisation in 1980				
Health Board area	Within last 4 weeks	Within last 12 months	Within last 2 years	Within last 5 years	More than 5 years or never	Physical exam. when not ill	Immunisa- tion (any disease)	Blood pressure test	Pap smear test <sup>(a)</sup>
Eastern	25.2	43.7	19.6	6.7	4.9	7.1	8.4	26.0	14.5
Midland	33.1	24.2	27.8	7.8	7.0	8.7	2.0	38.1	21.1
Mid-Western	22.4	45.3	14.9	7.3	10.1	10.0	8.5	28.4	4.0
North-Eastern	29.3	37.5	12.4	6.1	14.7	3.9	8.5	24.5	9.4
North-Western	21.1	46.0	9.9	12.6	10.4	1.7	5.6	25.9	10.6
South-Eastern	28.8	40.3	14.0	9.8	7.1	4.9	9.3	24.9	8.3
Southern	22.7	41.5	16.4	8.4	10.9	7.4	3.5	26.5	7.3
Western	22.4	43.8	19.2	11.9	2.7	19.7	4.2	29.6	1.0
Ireland	25.2	41.7	17.1	8.3	7.7	8.1	6.7	27.0	9.8

Table A.12: Preventative care utilisation by Health Board area, 1980

<sup>a</sup>Rates based on women aged 18 and over.

		Most recer consultat	it general p ion (% dist	oractitioner ribution)			Per cent wit utilisation		
Employment status	Within last 4 weeks	Within last 12 months	Within last 2 years	Within last 5 years	More than 5 years or never	Physical exam. when not ill	Immunisa- tion (any disease)	Blood pressure test	Pap smear test <sup>(a)</sup>
Employed	<u>.</u>				/ / / /				
(including self-employed)	21.3	43.2	18.8	8.8	7.9	6.5	7.2	22.0	11.9
Unemployed,									00.0
seeking work	22.6	40.4	15.8	11.5	9.7	3.7	16.8	17.4	23.8
Retired	41.5	37.1	7.6	5.5	8.3	17.8	1.6	53.4	4.0
Household duties,									
full-time	34.7	39.9	13.3	6.7	5.4	11.5	2.0	40.8	3.1
Other <sup>(b)</sup>	10.4	68.1	16.0	5.3	0.3	15.5	7.6	20.1	5.7
All persons	25.2	41.7	17.1	8.3	7.7	8.1	6.7	27.0	9.8

Table A.13: Preventative care utilisation by employment status of head of household, 1980

<sup>a</sup>Rates based on women aged 18 and over. <sup>(b)</sup>Includes 14 household heads not working because of long-term sickness or disablement.

		Most recer consultat	nt general p ion (% dist	Per cent with following utilisation in 1980					
Occupation	Within last 4 weeks	Within last 12 months	Within last 2 years	Within last 5 years	More than 5 years or never	Physical exam. when not ill	Immunisa- tion (any disease)	Blood pressure test	Pap smear test <sup>(a)</sup>
Professional, manager, or employer Salaried employee or intermediate	22.6	42.8	18.0	8.6	8.1	7.6	9.3	24.6	14.3
non-manual worker	24.6	41.4	18.2	7.1	8.8	6.8	5.8	26.6	13.7
Other non-manual worker Skilled manual	22.4	46.9	15.2	7.9	7.6	6.7	9.2	24.8	14.0
worker Semi-skilled or imski	28.3	39.9	17.4	9.3	5.1	9.5	5.8	25.5	8.4
worker	32.0	40.5	14.9	6.5	6.1	9.8	6.3	30.7	7.8
All persons	20.5 25.2	41.0 41.6	18.7 17.1	9.9 8.3	9.9 7.7	6.9 8.0	5.5 6.7	27.1 27.0	6.1 9.8

Table A.14: Preventative care utilisation by occupation of head of household, 1980

<sup>a</sup>Rates based on women aged 18 and over.

		Most recen consultat	ent general practitioner Per cent wi ation (% distribution) utilisatio					th following n in 1980		
Age completed education	Within last 4 weeks	Within last 12 months	Within last 2 years	Within last 5 years	More than 5 years or never	Physical exam. when not ill	Immunisa- tion (any disease)	Blood pressure test	Pap smear test <sup>(a)</sup>	
Under 14	33.9	39.2	16.6	5.0	5.3	13.9	5.6	29.3	1.7	
14	25.4	40.2	17.8	9.4	7.3	8.4	5.9	27.4	7.4	
15	26.0	38.7	17.3	9.5	8.5	6.1	7.4	28.4	9.6	
16	25.8	41.0	18.1	7.0	8.1	5.8	6.7	24.6	9.6	
17	19.0	48.7	16.6	7.4	8.3	7.6	10.8	24.5	11.5	
18	21.9	42.5	15.6	10.0	10.0	11.1	6.8	31.0	13.6	
19	30.1	51.0	13.9	1.9	3.1	2.1	3.0	20.2	25.6	
Over 19	23.6	48.0	14.9	6.5	6.4	8.6	8.8	26.8	19.5	
All Persons	25.2	41.7	17.1	8.3	7.7	8.1	6.8	27.0	9.7	

Table A.15: Preventative care utilisation by age head of household completed full-time education, 1980

<sup>a</sup>Rates based on women aged 18 and over.

Sex and age of household head	GP fees	Specialist fees	Out-patient hospital charges	Dentists' fees and charges	Prescription medicines	Non- prescription charges	In-patient hospital charges including specialist	Other health professionals	Cost of eyeglasses	Other medical expenditures	Total
All Males	24.57	9.14	1.12	19.18	36.44	12.28	24.24	3.62	8.11	0.54	139.25
Under 45	36.46	15.62	1.21	19.71	42.54	16.46	27.18	4.00	6.85	0.23	170.24
45-64	21.41	5.88	1.15	25.50	38.11	10.99	29.17	3.95	11.03	0.31	147.50
65+	7.31	2.38	0.90	7.35	21.95	6.53	10.19	2.35	5.51	1.54	66.01
All Females	7.91	2.23	0.82	7.39	12.10	4.98	5.19	1.67	3.44	0.36	46.09
Under 45	4.03	7.08		17.54	4.43	3.02	_	2.11	1.99	_	40.19
45-64	12.41	1.67	2.31	14.21	20.15	6.99	13.35	2.63	5.24	0.60	79.57
65+	6.27	1.63	0.19	1.99	9.29	4.29	1.88	1.09	2.77	0.30	29.69
All households	20.69	7.53	1.05	16.43	30.77	10.58	19.80	3.17	7.02	0,50	117.54

Table A.16: Private medical expenditures, by type, 1980: average per household, by sex and age of head of household (f.)

VHI cover and entitlement category (I, II, or III) of household head	GP fees	Specialist fees	Out-patient hospital charges	Dentists' fees and charges	Prescription medicines	Non- prescription charges	In-patient hospital charges including specialist	Other health professionals	Cost of eyeglasses	Other medical expenditures	Total
All VHI	28.82	19.00	2.92	38.06	45.98	13.02	53.70	7.29	13.31	1.18	223.28
All non-VHI	18.04	3.79	0.44	9.38	25.80	9.79	8.74	1.82	4.97	0.28	83.04
All Category I	4.58	1.23	0.16	2.77	5.72	5.80	1.60	1.33	3.59	0.23	27.01
VHI* Č	2.70	5.65	_	10.14	3.10	4.32		3.45	4.48	_	33.84
non-VHI	4.64	1.09	0.17	2.54	5.81	5.85	1.65	1.26	3.56	0.23	26.79
All Category II	28.96	5.94	0.80	16.30	43.74	12.96	17.79	3.38	6.84	0.31	137.04
VHI	22.36	9.98	1.20	18.79	41.57	9.72	28.56	6.52	11.29	0.14	150.14
non-VHI	31.08	4.65	0.67	15.51	44.44	14.00	14.34	2.37	5.42	0.36	132.84
All Category III	36.60	27.49	3.95	49.23	55.39	15.66	70.44	7.17	16.13	1.73	283.79
VHIČÍ	36.84	28.50	4.77	57.16	54.07	16.79	82.05	8.46	16.17	2.23	307.05
non-VHI	35.75	24.01	1.15	21.92	59.95	11.80	30.51	2.70	15.97	—	203.76
All households	20.69	7.53	1.05	16.43	30.77	10.58	19.80	3.17	7.02	0.50	117.54

Table A.17: Private medical expenditures, by type, 1980: average per household, by VHI cover and category of health services entitlement of head of household  $(f_{c})$ 

Note: VHI cover and/or category of entitlement of household head may not pertain to all household members.

\*Absolute levels too low to establish meaningful averages.

			-							1.0/	
Health Board area	GP fees	Specialist fees	Out-patient hospital charges	Dentists' fees and charges	Prescription medicines	Non- prescription charges	In-patient hospital charges including specialist	Other health professionals	Cost of eyeglasses	Other medical expenditures	Total
Eastern	29.11	7.62	1.70	24.00	41.97	14.79	29.37	4.08	8.55	0.20	161.39
Midland	11.06	3.32	0.68	3.85	21.88	5.34	10.39	2.62	6.38	0.19	65.70
Mid-Western	15.66	7.60	0.21	4.76	20.91	6.63	8.67	1.90	5.29	0.38	72.00
North-Eastern	20.13	6.87	1.00	20.02	31.96	7.26	16.24	5.86	7.41	0.03	116 79
North-Western	12.95	6.76	1.47	4.95	21.59	10.56	7.02	1.66	3.50	0.15	70.61
South-Eastern	14.94	2.96	0.42	13.93	19.81	10.26	11.61	2.90	8.68	2.73	88.25
Southern	21.94	13.39	0.82	16.24	36.55	7.96	14.20	2.41	6.07	0.51	120.09
Western	14.38	6.70	0.73	16.02	17.96	11.04	32.04	1.58	5.72	_	106.16
Ireland	20.69	7.53	1.05	16.43	30.77	10.58	19.80	3.17	7.02	0.50	117.54

Table A.18: Private medical expenditures, by type, 1980: average per household, by Health Board area (f.)

Employment status of household head	GP fees	Specialist fees	Out-patient hospital charges	Dentists' fees and charges	Prescription medicines	Non- prescription charges	In-patient hospital charges including specialist	Other health professionals	Cost of eyeglasses	Other medical expenditures	Total
Employed (including self-employed)	27.86	10.91	1.43	23.43	41.56	13.40	27.01	4.06	8.83	0.70	159.20
Unemployed, seeking											
work	21.04	2.51	0.21	4.36	12.98	10.35		0.98	2.49	0.24	55.17
Retired	6.23	2.07	0.25	4.80	12.90	4.98	10.32	2.71	4.69	0.10	49.05
Household duties,											
full-tme	6.86	1.61	0.93	4.37	8.61	4.94	8.50	1.03	3.60	0.27	40.72
Other <sup>(a)</sup>	3.20	0.16	0.01	5.14	9.83	5.65	0.48	0.05	0.35	0.01	24.87
All Households	20.69	7.53	1.05	16.43	30.77	10.58	19.80	3.17	7.02	0.50	117.54

Table A.19: Private medical expenditures, by type, 1980: average per household, by employment status of head of household (f.)

<sup>a</sup>Includes 14 household heads not working because of long-term sickness or disablement.

Occupation of household head	GP fees	Specialist fees	Out-patient hospital charges	Dentists' fees and charges	Prescription medicines	Non- prescription charges	In-patient hospital charges including specialist	Other health professionals	Cost of eyeglasses	Other medical expenditures	Total
Professional, manager,	- 5						-				
or employer	28.09	18.96	3.81	38.06	45.10	13.65	73.78	7.78	12.47	0.63	242.33
Salaried employee or intermediate											
non-manual worker	22.41	8.44	0.65	25.36	37.24	12.93	28.88	4.00	10.30	0.14	150.37
Other non-manual											
worker	19.11	1.35	0.31	16.44	26.49	13.62	2.29	1.32	5.53	0.34	86.81
Skilled manual worker	24.45	10.14	1.68	9.22	33.40	8.55	12.07	3.39	6.84	0.02	109.75
Semi-skilled or unskilled manual											
worker	19.38	1.70	0.28	5.41	26.13	10.20	3.76	1.29	4.36	0.44	72.95
Farmer, agricultural											
worker, or fisher	15.53	6.42	0.21	13.46	24.09	8.15	8.90	2.32	5.43	0.96	85.46
All Households	20.77	7.56	1.05	16.49	30.88	10.61	19.88	3.18	7.04	0.50	117.97

Table A.20: Private medical expenditures, by type, 1980: average per household, by occupation of head of household (f.)

Age household head completed education	GP fees	Specialist fees	Out-patient hospital charges	Dentists' fees and charges	Prescription medicines	Non- prescription charges	In-patient hospital charges including specialist	Other health professionals	Cost of eyeglasses	Other medical expenditures	Total
Under 14	20.79	2.27	0.21	7.89	22.99	12.20	0.93	1.86	4.58	0.55	74.26
14	16.37	2.12	0.45	8.90	26.27	9.90	10.62	1.44	4.69	0.79	81.54
15	18.57	2.27	0.73	13.60	21.07	10.69	7.87	2.40	4.97	0.26	82.43
16	23.75	9.56	0.78	16.90	35.46	11.02	21.66	3.69	9.47	0.29	132.58
17	24.63	21.83	0.21	24.12	28.47	9.63	38.63	3.97	6.74	0.04	158.27
18	25.03	13.10	2.75	29.25	41.12	9.81	52.10	7.56	10.23	0.37	191.33
19	62.06	31.59	10.27	35.00	112.45	16.32	38.51	2.57	5.96	_	314.73
Over 19	23.46	17.36	2.73	37.34	39.51	13.28	31.19	6.63	15.20	0.52	187.23
All households	20.82	7.58	1.06	16.51	30.97	10.64	19.94	3.19	7.07	0.50	118.29

Table A.21: Private medical expenditures, by type, 1980: average per household, by age head of household completed full-time education  $(f_{n})$ 

Sex and age of household head	GP fees	Specialist fees	Out-patient hospital charges	Dentists' fees and charges	Prescription medicines	Non- prescription charges	In-patient hospital charges including specialist	Other health professionals	Cost of eyeglasses	Other medical expenditures	Total
Households with male											
heads	6.06	2.16	0.25	4.14	9.58	3.10	6.53	0.92	215	0.11	35.00
Under 45	8.39	3.63	0.23	4.68	10.00	3.68	6.57	0.86	1.65	0.04	39 74
45-64	5.25	1.15	0.19	4.57	9.39	2.44	8.01	0.87	2 64	0.06	34 58
65+	2.99	1.06	0.39	2.27	9.13	3.11	3.91	1 14	2.26	0.32	26.69
Households with										0.02	20.05
female heads	4.44	0.90	0.35	3.90	6.67	2.78	3.44	1.18	1.98	0.97	25 91
Under 45	2.52	3.54		12.71	2.95	2.28		2.01	1.99		28.00
45-64	6.70	0.49	1.06	6.58	10.06	3.47	10.13	1.59	2.31	0.60	43.00
65+	3.61	0.63	0.05	0.90	5.57	2.51	0.57	0.82	1.81	0.15	16.60
All households	5.68	1.86	0.28	4.08	8.90	3.02	5.81	0.98	2.11	0.15	32.88

Table A.22: Private medical expenditures, by type, 1980: average per person, by sex and age of head of household (f.)

VHI cover and entitlement Category (I, II, or III) of household head	GP fees	Specialist fees	Out-patient hospital charges	Dentists' fees and charges	Prescription medicines	Non- prescription charges	In-patient hospital charges including specialist	Other health professionals	Cost of eyeglasses	Other medical expenditures	Total
All VHI	7.84	4.72	0.69	9.57	13.78	3.48	14.64	1.93	3.27	0.27	60.19
All non-VHI	4.98	0.93	0.14	2.29	7.31	2.87	2.93	0.68	1.73	0.11	23.97
All Category I	1.29	0.39	0.04	0.70	1.74	2.12	0.54	0.69	1.48	0.14	9.12
VHI*	0.83	1.88		4.86	0.73	1.80		1.12	1.94	_	13.16
non-VHI	1.31	0.34	0.04	0.56	1.77	2.13	0.56	0.68	1.47	0.14	8.99
All Category II	8.55	1.66	0.26	4.71	13.46	3.64	6.01	0.94	2.02	0.09	41.34
VHI	7.90	3.53	0.31	7.91	16.15	3.36	8.59	1.89	3.32	0.12	53.07
non-VHI	8.76	1.07	0.24	3.69	12.59	3.73	5.19	0.64	1.60	0.08	37.58
All Category III	8.31	6.03	0.91	10.34	13.63	3.54	18.25	1.85	3.98	0.34	67.18
VHI	8.43	6.10	1.11	11.33	13.01	3.77	21.64	2.07	3.41	0.44	71.30
non-VHI	7.88	5.81	0.24	6.93	15.77	2.77	6.57	1.10	5.97	_	53.03
All persons	5.68	1.86	0.28	4.08	8.90	3.02	5.81	0.98	2.11	0.15	32.88

Table A.23: Private medical expenditures, by type, 1980: average per person, by VHI cover and category of health services entitlement of head of household (f)

Note: VHI cover and/or category of entitlement of household head may not pertain to all household members. \*Absolute levels too low to establish meaningful averages.

Health Board area	GP fees	Specialist fees	Out-patient hospital charges	Dentists' fees and charges	Prescription medicines	Non- prescription charges	In-patient hospital charges including specialist	Other health professionals	Cost of eyeglasses	Other medical expenditures	Total
Eastern	7.97	2.09	0.44	6.53	11.64	4.18	8.15	1.20	2.41	0.04	44.65
Midland	3.06	0.74	0.17	0.92	6.55	2.15	2.21	0.72	1.82	0.04	18.39
Mid-Western	6.01	1.29	0.04	1.07	7.29	1.92	1.61	0.70	2.29	0.38	22.59
North-Eastern	5.23	1.51	0.22	4.34	9.06	1.64	3.03	2.04	2.40	0.01	29.48
North-Western	3.38	1.42	0.24	1.27	8.19	3.53	1.02	0.36	0.94	0.04	20 40
South-Eastern	3.32	0.81	0.07	3.08	5.54	3.13	3.93	1.01	1.92	0.62	23 44
Southern	5.87	3.24	0.40	3.46	10.15	2.18	3.52	0.79	217	0.17	31 94
Western	4.14	1.89	0.15	4.18	5.41	2.99	14.32	0.41	1.82		35 30
Ireland	5.68	1.86	0.28	4.08	8.90	3.02	5.81	0.98	2.11	0.15	32.88

Table A.24: Private medical expenditures, by type, 1980: average per person, by Health Board area (f.)

						-				5	
Employment status of household head	GP fees	Specialist fees	Out-patient hospital charges	Dentists' fees and charges	Prescription medicines	Non- prescription charges	In-patient hospital charges including specialist	Other health professionals	Cost of eyeglasses	Other medical expenditures	Total
Employed (including	-				-i						
self-employed)	7.01	2.53	0.38	5.73	10.97	3.30	6.92	1.01	2.16	0.20	40.19
Unemployed, seeking											
work	4.54	0.49	0.04	0.77	2.78	2.14	_	0.34	0.83	0.06	11.97
Retired	3.07	0.82	0.06	1.71	6.04	2.61	3.96	1.46	2.20	0.03	21.96
Household duties,										0.00	
full-time	3.89	0.70	0.23	1.13	4.62	2.65	6.32	0 71	2 07	0.14	92 47
Other <sup>(a)</sup>	0.58	0.17	0.00 <sup>(b)</sup>	0.62	1.75	1.87	0.20	0.04	0 19	0 00 <sup>(b)</sup>	5 15
All persons	5.68	1.86	0.28	4.08	8.90	3.02	5.81	0.98	2.11	0.15	32.88

Table A.25: Private medical expenditures, by type, 1980: average per person, by employment status of head of household (f.)

<sup>a</sup>Includes 14 household heads not working because of long-term sickness or disablement. <sup>(b)</sup>Less than 0.005.

Occupation of household head	GP fees	Specialist fees	Out-patient hospital charges	Dentists' fees and charges	Prescription medicines	Non- prescription charges	In-patient hospital charges including specialist	Other health professionals	Cost of eyeglasses	Other medical expenditures	Total
Professional, manager or employer	7.34	4.68	0.90	8.73	14.74	3.98	24.32	2.31	3.95	0.11	71.06
Salaried employee or intermediate non-manual worker	6.98	2.48	0.46	7.22	12.56	3.44	8.78	1.70	3.19	0.11	46.92
Other non-manual worker	5.69	0.31	0.60	5.37	7.45	4.31	0.41	0.35	1.70	0.06	25.70
Skilled manual worker Semi-skilled or unskilled manual	5.80	2.44	0.38	2.94	8.31	2.60	2.12	1.14	1.89	0.01	27.64
worker Farmer, agricultural	4.79	0.45	0.06	1.33	6.56	2.88	0.84	0.34	1.32	0.25	18.83
worker, or fisher All Persons	4.92 5.70	1.45 1.87	0.04 0.28	2.54 4.10	6.89 8.94	2.16 3.03	2.00 5.83	0.61 0.99	1.54 2.12	0.21 0.15	22.36 33.00

Table A.26: Private medical expenditures, by type, 1980: average per person, by occupation of head of household (f.)

Age household head completed education	GP fees	Specialist fees	Out-patient hospital charges	Dentists' fees and charges	Prescription medicines	Non- prescription charges	In-patient hospital charges including specialist	Other health professionals	Cost of eyeglasses	Other medical expenditures	Total
Under 14	5.76	0.42	0.02	1.72	7.40	3.18	0.09	0.62	2.24	0.27	21.72
14	3.99	0.58	0.10	1.93	6.46	2.71	4.48	0.33	1.20	0.16	21.96
15	5.41	0.52	0.18	2.92	5.39	2.91	1.13	1.08	1.59	0.08	21.23
16	6.20	2.12	0.13	3.49	9.64	2.89	4.86	1.03	2.81	0.11	33.26
17	8.17	5.56	0.03	6.03	10.00	2.84	17.51	1.30	1.69	0.01	53 16
18	7.94	3.53	0.86	9.12	14.30	3.45	12.10	2.37	2.98	0.06	56 70
19	14.38	7.00	1.83	6.46	26.89	3.23	8.03	0.57	1 45		69.83
Over 19	6.90	4.35	0.99	10.93	15.05	4.72	6.26	2 33	5 39	0 42	57 33
All persons	5.72	1.88	0.28	4.10	8.96	3.04	5.85	0.99	2.12	0.15	33.10

Table A.27: Private medical expenditures, by type, 1980: average per person, by age head of household completed full-time education  $(f_{n})$ 

VHI Cover and Category of Entitlement (I, II, III)	Return visit	Refer to another doctor	Refer to other pro- fessional	Prescribe medicine(s)	Non- prescription medicine(s)	Surgical, nursing, other device	Out- patient dept.	Hospital admission	Other	Total visits in sample
All VHI	17.6	8.5	2.6	70.4	8.2	1.8	8.2	5.1	1.3	612
All Non-VHI	25.5	6.6	2.4	79.4	3.9	1.3	10.7	5.3	1.3	1,869
All Category I	34.9	5.6	3.6	84.1	3.4	1.6	9.8	6.2	1.6	948
VHI*	42.6	3.3	3.3	92.3	3.3	1.6	5.7	6.3	4.9	45
non-VHI	34.5	5.7	3.7	83.7	3.5	1.6	9.9	6.2	1.4	903
All Category II	17.8	8.0	1.6	73.2	6.7	1.0	11.6	4.6	1.1	1,106
VHI	17.8	8.8	2.5	65.7	14.4	0.7	10.8	5.6	0.8	235
non-VHI	17.8	7.8	1.4	75.2	4.6	1.0	11.7	4.4	1.1	871
All Category III	13.3	8.0	2.1	72.1	3.7	2.1	6.8	4.7	1.2	427
VHI	14.0	9.0	2.7	70.9	4.4	2.4	6.3	4.6	1.3	332
non-VHI	10.0	4.4	0.0	76.9	0.8	1.0	8.1	5.6	1.5	95
All persons	23.5	7.1	2.5	77.2	4.9	1.4	10.0	5.3	1.3	2,481

 Table A.28: Profile of a visit with the doctor (general practitioner): Further care or treatment ordered, prescribed, or suggested, per most recent visit, by VHI cover and Health Services entitlement, 1980 (per cent)

\*Absolute numbers too small to establish meaningful rates.

324

VHI Cover and Category of Entitlement (I, II, III)	Return visit	Refer to another doctor	Refer to other pro- fessional	Prescribe medicine(s)	Non- prescription medicine(s)	Surgical, nursing, other device	Out- patient dept.	Hospital admission	Other	Total visits in sample
All VHI	40.1	10.5	0.2	21.7	1.3	2.6	13.8	16.4	5.9	152
All non-VHI	38.3	15.9	3.2	30.1	2.3	4.9	28.7	22.6	5.2	345
All Category I	38.1	21.9	4.5	31.0	3.2	7.1	36.8	27.7	4.5	155
VHI*Č	37.3	31.8	0.0	30.9	0.0	0.0	9.1	5.5	13.6	8
non-VHI	38.2	20.8	4.6	31.5	3.5	7.8	37.8	29.2	3.9	147
All Category II	39.4	12.8	1.3	27.4	1.3	3.1	22.6	18.6	6.6	226
VHI	41.2	11.5	0.0	27.1	0.0	2.0	18.2	21.7	6.6	56
non-VHI	39.0	13.3	1.9	27.3	1.9	3.5	24.1	17.9	6.2	170
All Category III	38.8	6.9	3.9	23.3	1.7	2.6	10.3	15.5	4.1	116
VHI	39.9	7.5	4.0	18.6	2.5	3.0	11.2	14.8	4.2	88
non-VHI	37.4	5.2	3.9	39.6	0.0	0.0	5.9	18.0	2.6	28
All persons	39.0	14.1	2.9	27.7	2.1	4.3	24.0	20.9	5.1	497

 Table A.29: Profile of a visit with the doctor (specialist): Further care or treatment ordered, prescribed, or suggested, per most recent visit, by VHI Cover and Health Services entitlement, 1980 (per cent)

\*Absolute numbers too small to establish meaningful rates.

VHI Cover and Category of entitlement (I, II, or III)	Return visit	Household member's idea <sup>(a)</sup>	GP's idea	Another Doctor's idea	Other	Total doctor's ideas <sup>(b)</sup>	Total No. in sample
All VHI	19.8	75.3	3.4	0.2	13	93.4	609
All non-VHI	31.5	62.9	4.2	0.6	0.9	36.3	1 863
All Category I	39.8	53.9	4.6	1.2	0.6	45.6	946
VHI*	34.5	60.6	2.5	2.5	0.0	39.5	45
non-VHI	40.0	53.5	4.7	1.1	0.6	45.8	901
All Category II	24.2	71.0	3.5	0.1	1.2	27.8	1 101
VHI	24.5	70.7	3.3	0.0	1.5	27.8	232
non-VHI	24.1	71.1	3.5	0.1	1.1	27.0	868
All Category III	15.8	79.1	3.7	0.2	1.2	197	426
VHI	15.2	79.7	3.7	0.0	1.4	18.9	339
non-VHI	17.9	76.8	3.9	0.8	0.6	22.6	94
All persons	28.7	65.8	4.0	0.5	1.0	33.2	2,472

Table A.30: Whose idea was most recent GP consultation? - Per cent distribution by VHI Cover and Category of Health Services entitlement

<sup>a</sup>Includes patient, parent, etc. <sup>(b)</sup>Sum of return visit, GP's idea and another doctor's idea. \*Absolute numbers too small to establish meaningful rates.

VHI Cover and Category of entitlement (I, II, or III)	Return visit	Household member's idea <sup>(a)</sup>	GP's idea	Another Doctor's idea	Other	Total doctor's ideas <sup>(b)</sup>	Total No.
	20.7				Other	iaeus	in sample
	30.7	15.1	45.8	6.3	2.2	82.9	152
All non-VHI	24.5	9.9	53.9	7.3	4.4	85.7	348
All Category I	24.6	7.1	56.6	6.6	5.2	87.8	155
VHI*	13.6	21.8	50.9	13.6	0.0	78.1	8
non-VHI	25.2	6.3	56.9	6.2	5.5	88.3	147
All Category II	28.4	11.0	50.4	8.5	1.6	87.3	225
VHI	39.9	13.2	39.6	7.4		86.9	55
non-VHI	24.8	10.4	53.9	8.9	2.1	87.6	170
All Category III	25.5	18.4	47.2	4.7	4.2	77.4	116
VHI	26.9	15.8	48.5	5.0	3.7	80.4	88
non-VHI	21.0	26.7	42.9	3.9	5.5	67.8	28
All persons categorised	26.5	11.5	51.6	7.0	3.3	85.1	496

Table A.31: Whose idea was most recent specialist consultation? - per cent distribution by VHI Cover and Category of Health Services entitlement

<sup>a</sup>Includes patient, parent, etc. <sup>(b)</sup>Sum of return visit, GP's idea and another doctor's idea. \*Absolute numbers too small to establish meaningful rates.

VHI Cover and Category of entitlement (I, II, or III)	Return visit	Household member's idea <sup>(a)</sup>	GP's idea	Another Doctor's idea	Other	Total doctor's ideas <sup>(b)</sup>	Total No. in sample
All VHI	16.8	22.8	44.6	13.0	2.7	57.6	125
All non-VHI	24.3	11.7	47.8	13.2	2.9	61.0	394
All Category I	25.2	9.6	48.3	14.1	2.7	52.4	181
VHI*	43.1	22.4	34.5	0.0	0.0	34.5	6
non-VHI	24.6	9.1	48.8	14.6	2.8	63.4	175
All Category II	25.0	11.9	48.5	12.2	2.5	51.0	245
VHI	21.0	13.3	52.1	13.5	_	65.6	45
non-VHI	25.9	11.5	47.6	11.9	3.1	59.5	200
All Category III	10.9	30.8	39.8	14.3	4.2	44.0	91
VHI ·	12.3	29.3	39.5	14.2	4.7	53.7	72
non-VHI	5.8	36.5	40.9	14.5	2.3	55.4	19
All persons categorised	22.6	14.4	46.9	13.2	2.9	60.1	517

 Table A.32: Whose idea was most recent out-patient visit? - Per cent distribution by VHI Cover and Category of Health

 Services entitlement

<sup>a</sup>Includes patient, parent, etc. <sup>(b)</sup>Sum of GP's idea and another doctor's idea. \*Absolute numbers too low to establish meaningful rates.

.

VHI Cover and Category of entitlement (I, II, or III)	Return visit	Household member's idea <sup>(a)</sup>	Dentist's idea	Another Doctor's idea	Other	Total doctor's ideas <sup>(b)</sup>	Total No. in sample
All VHI	25.4	68.1	1.0	0.5	5.0	1.5	394
All non-VHI	26.6	64.3	1.6	0.6	6.9	2.2	594
All Category I	26.7	62.7	2.2	1.7	6.7	3.9	213
VHI*Č	25.4	72.1	2.5	0.0	0.0	2.5	18
non-VHI	26.8	61.9	2.1	1.9	7.3	4.0	195
All Category II	25.3	66.5	1.2	0.0	7.0	1.2	470
VHI	19.0	74.9	0.3	0.0	5.8	0.3	118
non-VHI	27.4	63.7	1.5	0.0	7.4	1.5	352
All Category III	27.1	67.6	1.1	0.6	3.6	1.7	305
VHI	28.8	65.4	1.3	0.7	3.8	2.0	258
non-VHI	17.5	80.2	0.0	0.0	2.4	0.0	47
All persons	26.1	66.0	1.4	0.6	5.9	2.0	988

Table A.33: Whose idea was most recent Dentist visit? - Per cent distribution by VHI Cover and Category of Health Services entitlement

<sup>a</sup>Includes patient, parent, etc. <sup>(b)</sup>Sum of dentist's idea and another doctor's idea. \*Absolute numbers too low to establish meaningful rates.

VHI Cover and Category of entitlement (I, II or III)	GP	Another doctor	Other	Total doctor's ideas <sup>(a)</sup>	Total in sample
All VHI	93.3	5.6	1.0	98.9	532
All non-VHI	95.0	4.7	0.4	99.7	1 659
All Category I	96.0	4.0	0.0	100.0	889
VHI*	97.9	2.1	0.0	100.0	42
non-VHI	95.9	4.1	0.0	100.0	847
All Category II	93.7	5.5	0.8	99.2	921
VHI	92.1	7.4	0.5	99.5	193
non-VHI	94.2	5.0	0.9	99.2	728
All Category III	93.0	5.8	1.2	98.8	370
VHI	93.3	5.2	1.5	99.5	288
non-VHI	92.0	8.0	0.0	100.0	82
All persons categorised	94.5	4.9	0.5	99.3	2 180

 

 Table A.34: Who prescribed most recent pharmaceutical medicine? - Per cent distribution by VHI Cover and Category of Health Services entitlement

<sup>(a)</sup>Sum of GP and another doctor.

\*Absolute numbers too low to establish meaningful rates.

VHI Cover and Category of entitlement (I, II, III)	Household member's idep <sup>(a)</sup>	GP's idea	Another doctor's idea	Other	Total doctors' idea <sup>(b)</sup>	Total in sample
All VHI	10.7	52.7	22.4	14.1	75.1	99
All non-VHI	7.4	60.5	21.4	10.8	81.9	294
All Category I	3.7	73.7	16.4	6.2	90.1	144
VHI*	19.4	57.4	15.5	7.7	72.9	6
non-VHI	3.1	74.4	16.4	6.1	90.8	138
All Category II	11.2	50.9	24.2	13.7	75.1	182
VHI	9.7	61.4	24.5	4.4	85.9	41
non-VHI	11.7	47.6	24.1	16.5	71.7	141
All Category III	9.8	46.8	26.0	17.4	72.8	67
VHI	10.7	44.8	21.7	22.8	66.5	51
non-VHI*	6.9	55.3	39.7	0.0	93.0	16
All persons	8.3	58.5	21.7	11.6	80.2	392

Table A.35: Whose idea was most recent hospital admission? - Per cent distribution by VHI Cover and Category of Health Services entitlement

<sup>a</sup>Includes patient, parent, etc. <sup>(b)</sup>Sum of GP's idea and another doctor's idea. \*Absolute numbers too low to establish meaningful rates.

	I	With VHI Cor	er.	W	ithout VHI Co	over		All	
Sex and age	I	II	III	Ι	II	III	- <u> </u>	II	III
Males	1.3	9.0	13.9	28.9	42.7	4.2	30.3	51.8	18.0
0-14	0.6	8.7	18.6	23.8	42.5	5.8	24.4	51.3	24.5
15-44	2.0	9.4	13.7	20.7	49.5	4.6	22.7	58.9	18.3
45-64	0.4	9.6	13.4	29.0	45.6	2.0	29.2	55.5	15.3
65+	2.4	7.6	1.9	69.4	17.0	1.7	71.8	24.5	37
Females	1.7	10.4	14.7	33.4	35.6	4.2	35 1	46 1	18.8
0-14	0.7	8.6	22.1	25.1	39.4	4.1	25.8	47.8	26.3
15-44	2.5	12.8	14.7	21.5	43.1	5.4	20.0	56 1	20.5
45-64	0.8	12.2	12.6	39.6	31.6	3.2	40.7	43.9	16.0
65+	3.2	6.0	0.6	75.8	12.2	22	78 7	18.3	2.0
All persons	1.5	9.7	14.3	31.2	39.2	4.2	32.7	48.9	18.4

Table A.36: Entitlement under the Health Services and VHI cover, per cent by age and sex, 1980

Detail may not add to 100 per cent because of rounding.

				H	ealth Board ar	ea			
VHI Cover and Category of entitlement (I, II, III)	Eastern	Midland	Mid- Western	North- Eastern	North- Western	South- Eastern	Southern	Western	Ireland
All VHI	34.3	21.6	7.0	32.4	10.2	20.4	25.7	22.2	25.5
All non-VHI	65.7	78.4	93.0	67.6	89.8	79.6	74.3	77.8	74.5
All Category I	19.8	38.8	46.0	38.6	41.6	35.3	26.6	51.3	32.7
VHI*Č	1.7	0.4	0.7	1.7	0.5	1.9	1.1	2.4	1.5
non-VHI	181	38.4	45.3	36.9	41.1	33.4	25.5	48.9	31.2
All Category II	53.9	53.6	44.7	37.6	49.9	50.3	51.0	41.5	48.8
VHI	10.0	14.9	3.9	12.5	3.2	8.2	9.6	13.1	9.7
non-VHI	43.9	38.7	40.8	25.1	46.7	42.1	41.4	28.4	39.1
All Category III	26.3	7.6	9.3	23.8	8.5	14.4	22.4	7.2	18.5
VHI	22.6	6.3	2.4	18.2	6.5	10.3	15.0	6.7	14.3
non-VHI	3.7	1.3	6.9	5.6	2.0	4.1	7.4	0.5	4.2
All Persons <sup>(a)</sup>	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Distribution <sup>(b)</sup>	31.8	4.6	8.1	10.4	5.9	11.1	15.8	12.3	$100.0^{(a)}$

Table A.37: VHI Cover and Health Services entitlement, by Health Board area, 1980 - Per cent distribution

<sup>(a)</sup>Detail may not add to total because of rounding. <sup>(b)</sup>Per cent of sample living in each Health Board area. \*Except for Ireland (last column), absolute levels too small to establish meaningful rates.

	Nîl (me	dical ca	rd) <sup>(a)</sup>		¢−£2.99		£3.(	00-£3.9	9	£4.0	00-£4.9	9	£5	.00-£5.99	)		(6.00+		All	persons	
Health Board area	Per year, per 1,000	Per cent with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	Per cent with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	Per cent with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	Per cent with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	Per cent with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	Per cent with any	Per year, persons with any	Per year, per 1,000	Per cent with any	Per year, persons with any
Eastern	5,236	73.5	7.13	2,957	59.9	4.93	3,077	62.7	4.91	3,377	68.7	4.92	2,639	64.7	4.08	2,498	83.8	2.98	3,559	68.1	5.23
Midland	6.568	62.7	10.48	_	_	_	1,763	51.5	3.42	2,057	55.7	3.69	_		_	_	_	_	3,780	57.3	6.60
Mid-Western	5,528	66.7	8.29	7,043	70.5 <sup>(b)</sup>	9. <b>9</b> 9	2,486	59.5	4.18	2,195	72.8	3.01	1,882	53.8	3.50 <sup>(b)</sup>	6,500 <sup>(b)</sup>	100.0 <sup>(b)</sup>	6.50 <sup>(b)</sup>	3,853	66.5	5.80
North-Eastern	3,943	71.3	5.53	2,578	84.2	3.06	2,767	59.3	4.67	3,385	62.7	5.40	3,448	68.5	5.03	_			3,403	66.3	5.13
North-Western	6,126	78.5	7.80	3,482	66.7	5.22	2,344	47.4	4.94	2,209	60.7	3.64	1,648	63.9	2.57	_	_	_	3,960	66.8	5.92
South-Eastern	5,994	76.2	7.87	2,027	56.8	3.57	2,567	60.0	4.28	2,830	69.5	4.07	2,709	60.6	4.47	1,000 <sup>(b)</sup>	50.0 <sup>(b)</sup>	2.00 <sup>(b)</sup>	3,831	68.3	5.61
Southern	4,495	68.4	6.57	6,806	47.2	14.41	2,024	49.9	4.06	3,129	66.4	4.71	3,282	68.2	4.81		_	_	3,408	63.4	5.37
Western	4,728	69.3	6.83	3,471	70.6	4.92	3,054	64.7	4.72	1,949	53.1	3.67	1,500 <sup>(b)</sup>	100.0 <sup>(b)</sup>	1.50 <sup>(b)</sup>	3,000 <sup>(b)</sup>	50.0 <sup>(b)</sup>	6.00 <sup>(b)</sup>	3,640	65.0	5.60
Ireland	5,616	71.1	7.26	3,698	66.6	5.56	2,677	58.9	4.55	2,995	65.9	4.55	2,691	64.8	4.15	2,577	79.4	3.25	3,616	66.1	5.47

Table A.38: General practitioner consultations, by usual GP fee, by Health Board area

Notes: <sup>(a)</sup>Persons with nil fees for reasons other than Medical Card excluded. <sup>(b)</sup>Fewer than 10 persons in category in sample.

## APPENDIX I

		Numbe	r of Beds	
Sex and age	Only 1	2-4	5 or more	Total patients <sup>(a)</sup>
All Males	6.0	12.8	81.3	100.0
0-14	4.6	9.3	86.2	100.0
15-44	6.3	12.9	80.8	100.0
45-64	10.8	17.2	72.0	100.0
65+	2.9	12.9	84.2	100.0
All Females	14.0	19.6	66.5	100.0
0-14	17.8	17.5	64.8	100.0
15-44	16.5	22.9	60.6	100.0
45-64	4.9	21.9	73.2	100.0
65+	11.4	0 <sup>(b)</sup>	88.6	100.0
All Persons	10.8	16.1	73.1	100.0

Table A.39: Number of beds in hospital room, by sex and age of in-patient, 1980, per cent distribution

<sup>(a)</sup>Detail may not add to total because of rounding. <sup>(b)</sup>Less than 0.05 per cent.

Table A.40:	Number of b	eds in hospital	room, by Cate	gory of Health	Services
en	titlement and	VHI cover, 19	980, per cent a	listribution	

Eligibility and VHI cover	Only 1	Number of Beds 2-4	5 or more	Total patients <sup>(a)</sup>
	 27.0	99.5	50.5	100.0
All non-VHI	5.5	14.0	80.4	100.0
All Category I	5.7	9.0	85.3	100.0
VHI*Č	0 <sup>(b)</sup>	6.5	93.5	100.0
non-VHI	5.9	9.1	85.0	100.0
All Category II	9.9	19.8	70.3	100.0
VHI	29.1	29.3	41.6	100.0
non-VHI	3.8	16.8	79.4	100.0
All Category III	22.8	23.1	54.1	100.0
VHI	26.2	19.1	54.7	100.0
non-VHI*	12.4	35.2	52.4	100.0
All Persons	10.8	16.1	73.1	100.0

<sup>(a)</sup>Detail may not add to total because of rounding. <sup>(b)</sup>Less than 0.05 per cent. \*Absolute levels too small to establish meaningful rates.

Health Board area location of hospital	Health Board area of residence									
	Eastern	Midland	Mid- Western	North- Eastern	North- Western	South- Eastern	Southern	Western	Total	
Eastern	120	5	I	19	2	5	1	2	155	
Midland	0	12	0	1	0	0	0	0	13	
Mid-Western	0	0	29	0	0	0	0	0	29	
North-Eastern	0	0	0	30	6	0	0	0	36	
North-Western	0	0	0	0	15	0	0	2	17	
South-Eastern	0	0	0	0	0	45	0	0	45	
Southern	0	0	1	0	0	0	59	0	60	
Western	0	_1	0	0	0	0		38	39_	
Total	120	18	31	50	23	50	60	42	394	

Table A.41:	Health Board area location of hospital and Health Board area re.	sidence
	of patient, 394 hospital admissions, 1980	

## APPENDIX I

	Up to 48 hours	Up to a month	Up to a year	More than a year	Total persons <sup>(a)</sup>
All VHI	70.8	22.5	4.5	2.2	100.0
All non-VHI	73.4	18.4	6.7	1.4	100.0
All Category I	70.7	22.1	5.4	1.9	.100.0
VHI*	50.3	49.7	0.0	0.0	100.0
non-VHI	71.5	20.9	5.6	2.0	100.0
All Category II	78.6	16.5	4.9	0 <sup>(b)</sup>	100.0
VHI	79.0	14.8	6.2	0 <sup>(b)</sup>	100.0
non-VHI	78.5	17.0	4.4	0 <sup>(b)</sup>	100.0
All Category III	71.2	22.2	4.7	1.9	100.0
VHIČÍ	69.4	25.3	5.2	0 <sup>(b)</sup>	100.0
non-VHI*	76.2	13.4	3.0	7.4	100.0
All Persons	72.8	19.4	6.2	1.6	100.0

 Table A.42: Length of wait to get into hospital as in-patient, by Category of Health
 Services entitlement and VHI cover, 1980, ber cent distribution

<sup>(a)</sup>Detail may not add to total because of rounding. <sup>(b)</sup>Less than 0.05 per cent. \*Absolute levels too low to establish meaningful rates.

•

,
#### Appendix II

### CALCULATION OF TABLE 6.1

Column (1) of Table 6.1 reports the per cent of each type of utilisation deemed to be the responsibility of (ordered, suggested, referred, or prescribed by) a general practitioner. The figures are taken from Appendix Tables A.30 through A.35. In line 1, return visits are treated as the GP's idea. Out-patient hospital (line 3) and dentist (line 5) figures are calculated on the basis of non-return visits only.

Column (2) reports the per cent of each type of utilisation deemed to be the responsibility of a doctor other than the patient's GP, usually a specialist. These figures are also taken from Appendix Tables A.30 through A.35. On line 2, return visits are treated as the other doctor's idea. As in Column (1), out-patient hospital (line 3) and dentist (line 5) figures are calculated on the basis of non-return visits only.

GP's adjusted share, Column (3) is calculated as follows. For general practitioner services, the adjusted share is 100 per cent. In other words, all of the cost of GP services is attributed to GPs. For specialists (line 2), the adjusted GP share is 51.6 per cent, from Column (1), plus 51.6 per cent of return visits (26.5 per cent), from Table A.31 for a total of 65.2 per cent. When a GP refers a patient to a specialist, the GP as gatekeeper is deemed responsible in Column (3) not only for the first but for the second, third, etc., specialist visits.

For the remaining types of utilisation in Column (3), the proportion for which GPs are directly responsible, as indicated in Column (1), is augmented by 65.2 per cent of the proportion for which another doctor was reported to be responsible, as indicated in Column (2). This adjustment is based on the estimate, as mentioned in the preceding paragraph, that GPs are deemed responsible for 65.2 per cent of specialist visits. GPs, as gatekeepers to the system, are indirectly responsible for the services prescribed by the specialists to whom the GP referred patients.

Column (4) brings forward totals from Table 5.5.

The adjusted shares in Column (3) are applied to total medical care expenditures in Column (4) to yield the estimates of GP responsibility in Column (5). Public sector data on hospital and specialist expenditures are not broken down as in Table 6.1, so it was necessary to weight the shares using private sector data

from the author's survey (see Table 5.4). The weights used are: specialist outpatient, 23.6 per cent; hospital out-patient, 3.6 per cent; and hospital in-patient, 72.8 per cent. (Because the range of GP's adjusted share for these three lines is small, from 65.2 per cent to 72.6 per cent, the result is not very sensitive to the particular weights adopted.)

No data were collected on doctor responsibility for the "other" category of utilisation and expenditure (line 7). In Column (5), GP responsibility is treated as nil, because of lack of information.

For calculation of overhead, see Table 5.5, note (d). GP share of overhead expenditure is assumed to be the same in proportion as GP share of all other items combined (66.8 per cent).

# Appendix III

# SUMMARY OF SURVEY QUESTIONNAIRE, WITH MEANS AND FREQUENCIES

*Note:* Letter "H" by question number indicates data were collected for entire household (either aggregate or head of household only); otherwise, data were collected on each individual. There were 1,069 households, and (using the reweighted data) 3,775 persons in the survey.

1H.	Number of persons in household.	
	Mean = 3.5	
la.	Sex.	
	Male = 1,866 Female = 1,909	
1b.	Age.	
	Mean = 31.2	
lc.	Relationship to head of household.	
	Self	1,072
	Spouse	659
	Son/daughter	1,819
	Son-in-law/daughter-in-law	58
	Other relative	153
	Not a relative	14
2H.	Employment status of head of household.	
	Employed (including self-employed)	665
	Unemployed, seeking work	47
	Retired	175
	Household duties, full-time	122
	Not working because of long-term sickness or disablement	56
	Other	4
3H.	Occupation group of head of household.	
	Professional, manager, or employer	165
	Salaried employee, or intermediate non-manual worker	122
	Other non-manual worker	105
	Skilled manual worker	153
	Semi-skilled or unskilled manual worker	240

	Farmer, farmer's relative, or farm manager; other agricul or fisherman	tural worker 280
	Unknown	4
4H.	Age head of household completed full-time education. Mean = 15.6	_
5.	Category of Health Services entitlement.	
	Category I	1.227
	Category II	1,833
	Category III	692
	Missing data	23
6.	VHI Cover.	20
	Yes	969
	No	2 802
	Missing data	2,002
7H.	Distance from home to GP	5
	Up to one mile	459
	Up to two miles	191
	Up to three miles	121
	Up to five miles	155
	Up to ten miles	150
	Over ten miles	107
	Missing data	52
8H.	Usual GP fee – surgery, your home.	0
	Surgery.	
	No fee 433	3 households
	Mean (>0 only)	£3.79
	Home.	
	Mean (>0 only)	£5.44
9H.	Does GP fee include all or most prescription medicines and pills?	
	Yes	17
	No	635
	No fee	433
10.	Most recent time each member was seen by GP.	
	Within past 4 weeks	948
	Within past 12 months	1,570
	Within past 24 months	644
	Within past 5 years	314
	Longer ago than that (or never)	289
	Missing data	10
11.	How many times each member seen by GP in 1980.	
	Nil	1,280
	Mean (>0 only)	5.5
12.	Place of each member's most recent GP visit.	
	Member's home	477

	Doct	or's office/surgery	1,982
	Anot	her place	35
	No v	isit/missing data	1,281
13.	Whos	re idea was each member's most recent GP visit?	
	Retu	rn visit	710
	A ho	usehold member's idea	1,640
	The	GP's idea	<b></b> 99
	Anot	her doctor's idea	13
	Othe	r	24
	Don'	t know/no visits/missing data	1,289
14H.	Total	household expenditure on $\check{GP}$ fees in 1980.	,
	None		463 households
	Mean	n (all 1,069 households)	£20.69
	Mea	n (>0  only)	$\widetilde{\pounds}36.50$
15.	At mo	ost recent GP visit, further treatment or care prescribed, su	uggested, or ordered
	by do	clor.	Vac
	15a	Return wist arranged	<i>I es</i> 596
	15a. 15b	Referred to another doctor	JOU 177
	150. 15c	Referred to a health professional other than a dester	1/1 total and develop
	150.	optician, midwife).	61
	15d.	Prescribed medicine.	1,927
	15e.	Suggested/ordered non-prescription medicine.	122
	15f.	Prescribed/suggested other device, appliance item (excl	luding
		contraceptives).	35
	15g.	Referred to hospital for out-patient service or treatmen	<i>t</i> . 249
	15h.	Referred to hospital for admission.	133
	15i.	Other.	32
16.	Any v	isits to specialist?	
	Yes		500
17.	How	many?	
	Mear	n (> 0  only)	3.1
18.	Whos	e idea was each member's most recent specialist visit?	
	Retu	rn visit	132
	A ho	usehold member's idea	57
	A GI	P's idea	257
	Anot	her doctor's idea	35
	Othe	r	19
	Don'	t know/no visits/missing cases	3,275
19H.	Total	household expenditure on (out-patient) specialist fees.	,
	None		898 households
	Mear	n (all 1,069 households)	£7.53
	Mear	h (>0  only)	£47.07
20.	At mo	st recent specialist visit, further treatment or care prescr	ibed, suggested, or
	ordere	d by doctor.	- 00 - 1

			Yes
	20a.	Return visit arranged.	194
	20b.	Referred to another doctor.	70
	20c.	Referred to a health professional other than a doctor.	15
	20d.	Prescribed medicine.	138
	20e.	Suggested/ordered non-prescription medicine.	11
	20f.	Prescribed/suggested other device, appliance, item (exclu	ding
	(	contraceptives).	21
	20g.	Referred to hospital for out-patient service or treatment.	120
	20h.	Referred to hospital for admission.	106
	20i.	Other.	25
21.	Any vis	its to hospital out-patient department?	
	Yes		517
22.	How m	any?	
	Mean	(>0  only)	3.6
23.	Whose	idea was each member's most recent specialist visit?	
	Returr	n visit	117
	A hous	sehold member's idea	75
	A GP'	s idea	244
	Anothe	er doctor's idea	68
	Other		15
	Don't	know/no visits/missing cases	3,255
24.	Total 1	980 household expenditure on out-patient hospital servic	es.
	None	1,0	01 households
	Mean	(all 1,069 households)	£1.05
	Mean	(>0  only)	$f_{16.51}$
25.	Any der	itist visits?	$\sim$
	Yes		1,017
26.	How m	any?	,
	Mean	(>0  only)	2.6
27.	If any a	visits, were dentures or bridgework supplied?	
	Ýes Í		106
28.	Was ho orthodos	usehold member referred by dentist to a doctor, a dental	specialist, or an
	Doctor	,	5
	Dental	specialist	15
	Ortho	lontist	19
	More	than one of these	10
	None (	of these	929
	No vis	its/missing cases	2 760
29	Whose	idea was each member's most recent dentist visit?	2,700
	Return	visit	260
		schold member's idea	656
	A GP'	s idea	14
	Anoth	er doctor's idea	5
			_

	Other	61
	Don't know/no visit/missing cases	2,779
30.	Treatment provided at each member's most recent dentist visi	t [enter only one].
	Check-up only	780
	X-ray(s)	12
	Filling(s)	418
	Extraction(s)	232
	Dentures/bridgework	95
	Other	58
	Don't know/no visit/missing cases	2,780
31.	Fee charged by dentist for each member's most recent visit in	<i>1980</i> .
	No visit	2.758 persons
	No fee	391 persons
	Don't know/no response	163 persons
	Fee paid $(>0)$	463 persons
	Mean $(>0)$ only	£16.02
32H.	Total 1980 household expenditure on dentists' fees.	~
	None	711 households
	Mean (all persons)	£16.43
	Mean $(>0 \text{ only})$	£49.06
33	How many prescription items each member received in 1980.	2
00.	None	1.584 persons
	Mean $(>0 \text{ only})$	7.8
34	Who prescribed each member's most recent prescription item	
01.	GP	2.073
	Another doctor	107
	Ather	12
	Don't know/no prescription/missing cases	1.583
35H	Total 1980 household expenditures on prescription and	on non-prescription
5511.	medicines	
	a Prescription medicines	
	None	488 households
	Mean (all households)	£30.77
	Mean (>0 only)	
	h Non-prescription medicines	200101
	None	233 households
	Mean (all households)	£10.58
	Mean (an households)	£13.53
26	Is any member in hospital nove?	210100
50.	Ver	22 persons
27	1 CS How long has member been in hospital?	La persono
57.	Mean > () only)	20.8 days
20	Who referred member to hachital or first suggested he or she	he admitted?
50.	A household member's idea	ິ <i>ວັ</i> ບ <i>ແພກແຫ່</i> ວແມ່ ຄ
	A nousenoid memori s idea	Ū

	A GP's idea	12
	Another doctor's idea	4
	Other	3
	Don't know/missing cases	3
39.	Number of beds in member's room.	0
	Only 1	4
	2 to 4	9
	More than 4	12
	Don't know/Missing cases	4
40.	Length of wait for admission.	1
	48 hours or less	11
	Up to a month	4
	Up to a vear	9
	More than a year	2
	Don't know/missing cases	2
41.	Name and locality of hospital.	5
42.	Members in hospital for at least an overnight stay in 1980	
	Yes	304
43.	How many times in hospital (discharges) in 1980?	551
	Mean $(>0 \text{ only})$	14
44.	Who referred member to hospital or first suggested be or she be	admitted?
	A household member's idea	29
	A GP's idea	930
	Another doctor's idea	250
	Other	46
	Don't know/missing data	10
45.	Length of member's stay.	1
	Mean $(>0 \text{ only})$	18.0
46.	Number of beds in member's room	10.5
	Only one	27
	2 to 4	50
	More than 4	964 964
	Don't know	201
47.	Length of wait for admission	54
	48 hours or less	979
	Up to a month	272
	Up to a vear	19
	More than a year	10
	Don't know	20
48.	Name and locality of hospital	25
49.	Total 1980 household expenditures on in-patient hospital care inc	luding charielist
	fees and any other related charges as well as hashital room char	raes
	None	203. 005
	Mean (all households)	000
		£13.00

## IRISH MEDICAL CARE RESOURCES

	Mean $(>0 \text{ only})$		$f_{251.98}$
50.	Any consultations, examinations, or treatment from healt	h care bro	ofessionals other
	than doctors or dentists.	r	J
	Yes		608 persons
	Mean, all kinds $(>0 \text{ only})$		4 0 visits
			Mean
		Yes	(>0  orly)
	a. Optician	271	( <i>&gt;</i> 0 0 <i>m</i> ( <i>y</i> )
	h Audiometrist	69	1.4
	c Midroife	04	1.3
	d Nurse	101	2.4
	a. Social worker	101	15.0
	c. Social worker	19	2.1
	n. Chiropoaisi	92	2.9
	g. Psychologist	17	2.6
	n. Physio- or occupational therapist	26	4.8
<b>7 ) ] ]</b>	1. Other	8	3.8
51 <b>H</b> .	Total 1980 household expenditures on health care profes.	sionals ot	her than doctors
	or dentists.		
	None	85	7 households
	Mean (all households)		£3.17
	Mean (>0 only)		£15.98
52.	Members supplied with eyeglasses.		
	Yes		350 persons
53.	How many pairs of eyeglasses.		
	Mean (>0 only)		1.2
54H.	Total 1980 household expenditures on eyeglasses.		
	None	85	6 households
	Mean (all households)		£7.02
	Mean $(>0 \text{ only})$		£35.23
55.	Members supplied with hearing aids.		~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
	Yes		8
56.	How many hearing aids.		
	Mean $(>0 \text{ only})$		1.0
57H.	Total 1980 household expenditures on hearing aids.		
	None	1.06	8 households
	Mean $(>0 \text{ only})$	-,00	(280.00
5861	In 1980 did member have		200.00
001 01			Yes
	58 Complete physical examination when not ill init	ired prea	nant? 305
	59 Immunisation for any disease?	ircu, prog	<i>nunii.</i> 505 954
	60 Blood pressure test?		1 010
	6] Cornical cancer smear ("hap") test (adult moment	n = an I a	1,019
69H	Any 1980 household medical enternditure not called in t	i uniy)! roviosio =	121
0411.	None	$\frac{1}{1}$	Lesitons.
		1,04	o nouseholds

	Mean (all households)	£0.50
63H.	Any other body or organisation (such as employer) that he medical care costs.	£22.27 elps household with
	Yes	75
64H.	(Asked for respondant only, not other household me	mber.)
	How long a wait in GP's waiting area and/or examination	n room (most recent
	visit).	
	Up to 30 minutes	573
	Up to 60 minutes	278
	Up to 2 hours	108
	More than 2 hours	37
	Don't know/no response	73
65H.	Did any member of household make gifts to doctor (excluding of	cases where doctor is
	close friend or relative)?	
	Yes	29
	Money	14
	Something else	15
	Value – mean (>0 only)	£9.31

348

Economic Growth in Ireland: The Experience Since 1947 Kieran A. Kennedy and Brendan Dowling Irish Economic Policy: A Review of Major Issues Staff Members of ESRI (eds. B. R. Dowling and J. Durkan) The Irish Economy and Society in the 1980s (Papers presented at ESRI Twenty-first Anniversary Conference) Staff Members of ESRI The Economic and Social State of The Nation J. F. Meenan, M. P. Fogarty, J. Kavanagh and L. Ryan The Irish Economy: Policy and Performance 1972-1981 P. Bacon, J. Durkan and J. O'Leary Employment and Unemployment Policy for Ireland Staff Members of ESRI (eds., Denis Conniffe and Kieran A. Kennedy) Public Social Expenditure - Value for Money? (Papers presented at a Conference, 20 November 1984) **Policy Research Series:** 1. Regional Policy and the Full-Employment Target M. Ross and B. Walsh 2. Energy Demand in Ireland, Projections and Policy Issues S. Scott 3. Some Issues in the Methodology of Attitude Research E. E. Davis et al. 4. Land Drainage Policy in Ireland Richard Bruton and Frank J. Convery Recent Trends in Youth Unemployment 5. J. J. Sexton **Broadsheet Series:** 1. Dental Services in Ireland P. R. Kaim-Caudle 2. We Can Stop Rising Prices M. P. Fogarty 3. Pharmaceutical Services in Ireland P. R. Kaim-Caudle assisted by Annette O'Toole and Kathleen O'Donoghue 4. **Ophthalmic Services in Ireland** P. R. Kaim-Caudle assisted by Kathleen O'Donoghue and Annette O'Toole 5. Irish Pensions Schemes, 1969 P. R. Kaim-Caudle and J. G. Byrne assisted by Annette O'Toole 6. The Social Science Percentage Nuisance R. C. Geary Poverty in Ireland: Research Priorities Brendan M. Walsh 7. 8. Irish Entrepreneurs Speak for Themselves M. P. Fogarty Marital Desertion in Dublin: An Exploratory Study 9. Kathleen O'Higgins Equalization of Opportunity in Ireland: Statistical Aspects 10. R. C. Geary and F. S. O Muircheartaigh 11. Public Social Expenditure in Ireland Finola Kennedy Problems in Economic Planning and Policy Formation in Ireland, 1958-1974 12. **Desmond Norton** 13. Crisis in the Cattle Industry R. O'Connor and P. Keogh A Study of Schemes for the Relief of Unemployment in Ireland 14. R. C. Geary and M. Dempsey E. Costa with Appendix

 15. Dublin Simon Community, 1971-1976: An Exploration
 Ian Hart

 16. Aspects of the Swedish Economy and their Relevance to Ireland
 Ian Hart

Robert O'Connor, Eoin O'Malley and Anthony Foley 17. The Irish Housing System: A Critical Overview

T. J. Baker and L. M. O'Brien

18.	The Irish Itinerants: Some Demographic, Economic and Educational	al Aspects psey and R. C. Geary
19.	A Study of Industrial Workers' Co-operatives	picy and the courty
20.	Robert O'Con Drinking in Ireland: A Review of Trends in Alcohol Consumption, A	nnor and Philip Kelly Alcohol Related Problems
	and Policies towards Alcohol	Brendan M. Walsh
21.	A Review of the Common Agricultural Policy and the Implice tems for Ireland R. O'Connor, C. Guion	nard and J. Devereux
22.	Policy Aspects of Land-Use Planning in Ireland	and A Allan Schmid
23.	Issues in Adoption in Ireland	Harold J. Abramson
	Geary Lecture Series:	
1	A Simple Approach to Macro-economic Dynamics (1967)	R. G. D. Allen
2	Computers, Statistics and Planning-Systems or Chaos? (1968)	F. G. Foster
3	The Dual Career Family (1970) Rhona	and Robert Rapoport
4	The Psychosonomics of Rising Prices (1971)	H. A. Turner
5	An Interdisciplinary Approach to the Measurement of Utility or W	elfare (1972)
υ.		J. Tinbergen
6	Econometric Forecasting from Lagged Relationships (1973)	M. G. Kendall
7	Towards a New Objectivity (1974)	Alvin W. Gouldner
γ. 8	Structural Analysis in Sociology (1975)	Robert K. Merton
0. Q	British Economic Crowth 1951-1973: Success or Failure? (1976)	
5.		R. C. O. Matthews
10.	Official Statisticians and Econometricians in the Present Day Wor	ld (1977)
		Curren Murdal
11.	Political and Institutional Economics (1910)	(1070)
12.	The Dilemmas of a Socialist Economy: The Hungarian Experience	(1979) Iános Kornaj
•••	$r=1$ $\alpha$ $\alpha$ $(1000)$	Janos Kornar
13.	The Story of a Social Experiment and Some Reflections (1980)	Robert M. Solout
• •		D L Borgon
14.	Modernisation and Religion (1981)	F. L. Derger
15.	Poor, Relatively Speaking (1983)	Amartya K. Sen
16.	Towards More Rational Decisions on Criminals (1984)	Daniel Glaser
Gen	eral Research Series:	
1.	The Ownership of Personal Property in Ireland	Edward Nevin
2.	Short-Term Economic Forecasting and its Application in Ireland	Alfred Kuehn
3.	The Irish Tariff and The E.E.C.: A Factual Survey	Edward Nevin
4.	Demand Relationships for Ireland	C. E. V. Leser
5.	Local Government Finance in Ireland: A Preliminary Survey	David Walker
6.	Prospects of the Irish Economy in 1962	Alfred Kuehn
7.	The Irish Woollen and Worsted Industry, 1946-59: A Study in S	tatistical Method
		R. C. Geary
8.	The Allocation of Public Funds for Social Development	David Walker
9.	The Irish Price Level: A Comparative Study	Edward Nevin
10.	Inland Transport in Ireland: A Factual Study	D. J. Reynolds
11.	Public Debt and Economic Development	Edward Nevin
12.	Wages in Ireland, 1946-62	Edward Nevin
	Ç -	

13.	Road Transport: The Problems and Prospects in Ireland	D. J. Reynolds
14.	Imports and Economic Growth in Ireland, 1947-61	C. E. V. Leser
15.	The Irish Economy in 1962 and 1963	C. E. V. Leser
16.	Irish County Incomes in 1960 E. A.	Attwood and R. C. Geary
17.	The Capital Stock of Irish Industry	Edward Nevin
18.	Local Government Finance and County Incomes	David Walker
19.	Industrial Relations in Ireland: The Background	David O'Mahony
20.	Social Security in Ireland and Western Europe	P. R. Kaim-Caudle
21.	The Irish Economy in 1963 and 1964	C. E. V. Leser
22.	The Cost Structure of Irish Industry 1950-60	Edward Nevin
23.	A Further Analysis of Irish Household Budget Data, 1951-52	$C \in V$ Leser
24.	Economic Aspects of Industrial Relations	David O'Mahony
25.	Phychological Barriers to Economic Achievement	P Pentony
26	Seasonality in Irish Economic Statistics	$C \in V$ Leser
27	The Irish Fromomy in 1964 and 1965	$C \in V$ Lesen
28	Housing in Ireland: Some Economic Aspects	P. P. Kaim Caudla
20.	A Statistical Study of Wagan Prime and Employment	F. R. Kalli-Gaudie
49.	A Statistical Study of Wages, Frices and Employment i	in the Irish Manufacturing
20	Find and Derum in Indexed Dant I. France Community in 10	C. St. J. O'Herliny
20. 91	Fuel and Fower in Ireland: Part I. Energy Consumption in 19.	J. L. Booth
31. 20	Determinants of vv age inflation in Ireland	Keith Cowling
02. 00	Regional Employment Patterns in the Republic of Ireland	T. J. Baker
33.	The Irish Economy in 1966 The Staff of The Eco	onomic Research Institute
34.	Fuel and Power in Ireland: Part II. Electricity and Turf	J. L. Booth
35.	Fuel and Power in Ireland: Part III. International and	Temporal Aspects of Energy
	Consumption	J. L. Booth
36.	Institutional Aspects of Commercial and Central Banking in Ir	eland John Hein
37.	Fuel and Power in Ireland: Part IV. Sources and Uses of Ener	gy J. L. Booth
38.	A Study of Imports	C. E. V. Leser
39.	The Irish Economy in 1967	
	The Staff of The Economic and	Social Research Institute
40.	Some Aspects of Price Inflation in Ireland R. C.	Geary and J. L. Pratschke
41.	A Medium Term Planning Model for Ireland	David Simpson
42.	Some Irish Population Problems Reconsidered	Brendan M. Walsh
43.	The Irish Brain Drain	Richard Lynn
44.	A Method of Estimating the Stock of Capital in North	hern Ireland Manufacturing
	Industry: Limitations and Applications	C. W. Jefferson
45.	An Input-Output Analysis of the Agricultural Sector of	the Irish Economy in 1964
	R, C	D'Connor with M. Breslin
46.	The Implications for Cattle Producers of Seasonal Price Fluctu	ations
	1 5	R. O'Connor
47.	Transport in the Developing Economy of Ireland	John Blackwell
48.	Social Status and Inter-Generational Social Mobility in Dublin	, John Duonven
10,	Sour Status and Antor Sonorational Social Insolitity in Dubli	Bertram Hutchinson
49	Personal Incomes by County 1965	Micea: Ross
50	Income Frhenditure Relations in Ireland 1965-1966	John L. Pratschke
51	Costs and Prices in Transportable Coods Industries	John E. Tradelike
51.	W/ Rlack I V.	Simpson D.C. Slattery
52	Certain Aspects of Non-Annicultural Unamployment in Ivaland	. Simpson, D. G. Slattery
	R C	Gearvand I G Hughes
	R, C	. Geary and J. O. Hughes

350

53.	A Study of Demand Elasticities for Irish Imports	Dermot McAleese
54.	Internal Migration in Ireland	R. C. Geary and J. G. Hughes
	with Appendix	C. J. Gillman
55.	Religion and Demographic Behaviour in Ireland	B. M. Walsh
БC	with Appendix	R. C. Geary and J. G. Hughes
<u> 90</u> .	Views on Pay Increases, Fringe Benefits and Low Pay	
57	H. Ben Views on Income Differentials and the Economic Situati	arend, A. Knowles and J. Davies
57.	Views on Income Differentials and the Economic Situati	urand A. Knowles and I. Davies
58	Computers in Ireland	E G Foster
59.	National Differences in Anxiety	Richard Lynn
60.	Capital Statistics for Irish Manufacturing Industry	C. W. Jefferson
61.	Rural Household Budget – Feasibility Study	Sile Sheehy and R. O'Connor
62.	Effective Tariffs and the Structure of Industrial Protect	ion in Ireland
		Dermot McAleese
63.	Methodology of Personal Income Estimation by County	Miceal Ross
64.	Further Data on County Incomes in the Sixties	Miceal Ross
65.	The Functional Distribution of Income in Ireland, 1938	<i>3-70</i> J. G. Hughes
66.	Irish Input-Output Structures, 1964 and 1968	E. W. Henry
67.	Social Status in Dublin: Marriage, Mobility and First	Employment
69	An Francis Englishing of Inish Salman Fishing I. T	Bertram Hutchinson
00.	An Economic Evaluation of Irish Salmon Fishing, 1: 1	R O'Corporand P I Whalan
69	Women and Employment in Ireland: Results of a Natio	nal Survey
001	Brendan M. Wa	ulsh assisted by Annette O'Toole
70.	Irish Manufactured Imports from the UK in the Sixties.	The Effects of AIFTA
	J I J	mot McAleese and John Martin
71.	Alphabetical Voting: A Study of the 1973 General Elec	tion in the Republic of Ireland
	Christopher	Robson and Brendan M. Walsh
72.	A Study of the Irish Cattle and Beef Industries	
-	Terence J. Baker, Rob	pert O'Connor and Rory Dunne
73.	Regional Employment Patterns in Northern Ireland	
74	William	Black and Clifford W. Jefferson
74.	Irish Full Employment Structures, 1968 and 1975	E. W. Henry
15.	An Economic Evaluation of Irish Salmon Fishing II: I	R I Whaten and A McCuchi
76	Factors Relating to Reconviction among Young Dublin	D. J. Whetan and A. McCashin Probationary Ion Hont
77.	The Structure of Unemployment in Ireland 1954-1979	Brendan M Walsh
78.	An Economic Evaluation of Irish Salmon Fishing. III:	The Commercial Fishermen
	B. I. Whelan,	R. O'Connor and A. McCashin
79.	Wage Inflation and Wage Leadership	
	W. E. J. McCarthy	, J. F. O'Brien and V. G. Dowd
80.	An Econometric Study of the Irish Postal Service	Peter Neary
81.	Employment Relationships in Irish Counties	
00	Te	erence J. Baker and Miceal Ross
82.	Irish Input-Output Income Multipliers 1964 and 1968	
02	J Church of the Church on J D to it is a fail	. R. Copeland and E. W. Henry
<i>о</i> э.	A Sundy of the Structure and Determinants of the	Benavioural Component of Social
	Annuaes in Irelana	E. E. Davis

84. Economic Aspects of Local Authority Expenditure and Finance

J. R. Copeland and Brendan M. Walsh 85. Population Growth and other Statistics of Middle-sized Irish Towns

D. Curtin, R. C. Geary, T. A. Grimes and B. Menton

- 86. The Income Sensitivity of the Personal Income Tax Base in Ireland, 1947-1972 Brendan R. Dowling
- 87. Traditional Families? From Culturally Prescribed to Negotiated Roles in Farm Families Damian F. Hannan and Louise Katsiaouni
- An Irish Personality Differential: A Technique for Measuring Affective and Cognitive Dimensions of Attitudes Towards Persons
   E. E. Davis and Mary O'Neill
- 89. Redundancy and Re-Employment in Ireland Brendan J. Whelan and Brendan M. Walsh
- 90. A National Model for Fuel Allocation A Prototype E. W. Henry and S. Scott
- 91. A Linear Programming Model for Irish Agriculture Robert O'Connor, Miceal Ross and Michael Behan
- 92. Irish Educational Expenditures Past, Present and Future A. Dale Tussing
- 93. The Working and Living Conditions of Civil Service Typists
- 94. Irish Public Debt Nóirin O'Broin and Gillian Farren Richard Bruton
- 95. Output and Employment in the Irish Food Industry to 1990

- 96. Displacement and Development: Class, Kinship and Social Change in Irish Rural Communities Damian F. Hannan
- 97. Attitudes in the Republic of Ireland Relevant to the Northern Problem: Vol. I: Descriptive Analysis and Some Comparisons with Attitudes in Northern Ireland and Great Britain E. E. Davis and R. Sinnott
- 98. Internal Migration Flows in Ireland and their Determinants J. G. Hughes and B. M. Walsh
- 99. Irish Input-Output Structures, 1976 E. W. Henry
- 100. Development of the Irish Sea Fishing Industry and its Regional Implications
- R. O'Connor, J. A. Crutchfield, B. J. Whelan and K. E. Mellon 101. Employment Conditions and Job Satisfaction: The Distribution, Perception and Evaluation of Job Rewards Christopher T. Whelan
- 102. Crime in the Republic of Ireland: Statistical Trends and Their Interpretation David B. Rottman
- 103. Measure of the Capital Stock in the Irish Manufacturing Sector, 1945-1973 R. N. Vaughan
- 104. A Study of National Wage Agreements in Ireland James F. O'Brien
- 105. Socio-Economic Impact of the Construction of the ESB Power Station at Moneypoint, Co. Clare R. O'Connor, J. A. Crutchfield and B. J. Whelan
- 106. The Financing of Third-level EducationA. C. Barlow107. An Input-Output Analysis of New Industry in Ireland in 1976E. W. Henry
- 108. Social Insurance and Absence from Work in Ireland
   Gerard Hughes
- 109. The Distribution of Income in the Republic of Ireland: A Study in Social Class and Family-Cycle Inequalities

David B. Rottman, Damian F. Hannan and Niamh Hardiman, Miriam M. Wiley

110 The Economic and Social Circumstances of the Elderly in Ireland

B. J. Whelan and R. N. Vaughan

A. D. O'Rourke and T. P. McStay

----

111.	Worker Priorities, Trust in Management and Prospects for Workers' Participation Christopher T. Whelan
112.	The Impact of Energy Prices on the Irish Economy during 1973-1981
	E. W. Henry
113.	Schooling and Sex Roles: Sex Differences in Subject Provision and Student Choice in Irish Post-Primary Schools
	D. Hannan, R. Breen and B. Murray, D. Watson, N. Hardiman, K. O'Higgins
114.	Energy Crops, Forestry and Regional Development in Ireland
	Frank J. Convery and Kathleen Dripchak
115.	Aggregate Supply, Aggregate Demand and Income Distribution in Ireland: A Macro- sectoral Analysis
116.	Social Mobility in the Republic of Ireland: A Combarative Perspective
	Christopher T. Whelan and Brendan I. Whelan
117.	Attitudes towards Poverty and Related Social Issues in Ireland
	E. E. Davis Joel W. Grube and Mark Morgan
118.	A Study of New House Prices in Ireland in the Seventies
110	lan J. Irvine
119.	Education and the Labour Market: Work and Unemployment Among Recent Cohorts of Irish School Leavers
	Richard Breen
120.	Payroll Tax Incidence, the Direct Tax Burden and the Rate of Return on State Pension Contributions in Ireland
	Gerard Hughes
121.	Crime Victimisation in the Republic of Ireland
	Richard Breen and David B. Rottman
122.	Medium-term Analysis of Fiscal Policy in Ireland: A Macroeconometric Study of the Period 1967–1980
123.	John Bradley, Connell Fanning, Canice Prendergast and Mark Wynne The Irish Wealth Tax A Case Study in Economics and Politics
140,	Cedric Sandford and Oliver Mornison
124	Ashects of Freight Transport in Ireland
	Jack Short
125.	Small-Scale Manufacturing Industry in Ireland
1401	Kieran A. Kennedy and Tom Healy
196	Irich Madigal Cara Pasawasan An Francomia Analysia
140.	A D. 1 T
	A. Dale Tussing

Printed in the Republic of Ireland by Criterion Press Limited, Dublin.